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Key figures

The 2024/25 financial year was very challenging for
all market participants, including the Otto Group,
due to the ongoing tense geopolitical situation and
the continued consumer restraint in important sales
markets. Nevertheless, the Otto Group was able to
stabilize revenues at the previous year’s level and
generate revenues of around EUR 15 billion. Continuing
prioritization of cost discipline produced a significant
improvement in earnings, which was reflected in the
reported EBITDA and, in particular, EBIT. Financial
performance - measured based on the debt service
ratio - also improved due to a significant reduction
in net financial debt in addition to increased profit-
ability. The 2024/25 financial year was also influ-
enced by a wide range of portfolio measures that
have already been implemented, are still ongoing
and are also in the pipelineg, as well as the optimiza-
tion of business processes and locations.

Key figures®” 2024/25 2023/24"
Revenue EUR billion 149 15.0
EBITDA EUR million 916 741
EBIT EUR million 276 8
EBT EUR million 311 -353
Profit/loss for the year EUR million 165 -412
Group equity EUR million 4,909 4,745
Group equity ratio in % 36.5 34.2
Free cash flow EUR million 1,254 679
Cash EBITDA EUR million 1,620 1,361
Net financial debt EUR million 2,095 2,674
Debt service ratio inyears 1.3 2.0
Debt to equity ratio ratio 0.4 0.6
Employees number 36,304 38,462

thereof domestic number 21,334 22,509

thereof foreign number 14,970 15,953
Sustainability indicators (selected goals from the CR strategy)? 2024 2023
Proportion of “preferred fibers” in % 66 59
Proportion of more sustainable wood in% 90 83
Proportion of more sustainable catalogue paper in% 96 94
Proportion of more sustainable packaging in% 98 94

Climate target (near-term science-based target)?

At the end of the

2024/25 financial year

Sub-target 1: Absolute scope 1 and 2 greenhouse gas emission reduction by 42%

by the end of the financial year 2030/31 (compared to financial year 2021/22) 57%
Sub-target 2 Supplier Engagement (until the end of the financial year 2024/25): At least 50%

third-party brands and marketplace partners by spend covering purchased goods and services 28%
set science-based target by the end of the financial year 2027/28%

Sub-target 3: Absolute reduction in scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions by 42% —16%

by the end of the financial year 2031/32 (compared to the financial year 2021/22)

1 The previous year's figures differ slightly from the Consolidated Financial Statements initially published for Otto (GmbH & Co KG). Refer to the foreword to the

Group Management Report for further details.
2l The Sustainability chapter contains a detailed description of the CR strategy.

3 Starting from the financial year 2025/26, we will report separately for third-party brands (target value 75%) and marketplace partners (target value 20%).
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Cur herftages
the future

With a strong heritage as a family business and deeply rooted values, the
Otto Group views the future with confidence. Over the past 75 years, the
company has evolved into a globally active digital retail and services group
with around 36,300 employees.

As the largest online retailer of European origin, the Otto Group is harnessing
its strength, market significance and values to shape the future of digital
retail and services. Driven by a passionate and entrepreneurial performance
culture, the Group leverages its long-standing market expertise and techno-
logical competence to inspire its many millions of customers with strong
quality products, unique product ranges and differentiating services.

With the strength of a family-run company, the Otto Group thinks and acts
with a generational perspective. In doing so, the Otto Group proves that
value-oriented action and economic success go hand in hand. Environmental
protection has been another corporate goal since 1986. We accept
ecological, social and digital responsibility — and will continue to do so.

Contents

10

11

12

12
18
24

32

38

49

50
62
71
82

86

87
141

150
250
254

257

Interview with Petra Scharner-
Wolff and Alexander Birken

Executive Board
Editorial by Prof. Dr. Michael Otto

Supervisory Board and
Shareholders’ Council

Corporate overview

Our future

Inspiring customers
Scaling and diversifying

Creating competitive
tech capabilities

Creating a culture of
performance

Chronicle

Sustainability

Our holistic view of sustainability
Eco shift

Business shift

Mind shift

Figures

Group management report

Consolidated financial
statements

Notes
Independent auditor’s report

Assurance report of the
independent german public
auditor

Legal notice



Otto Group 4
2024/25 Annual Report

Vaolues e
the best
compass

In times of war, uncertainty
and consumer restraint, the
Otto Group faces the chal-
lenge of becoming stronger
than ever before. In our inter-
view, the new CEO Petra
Scharner-Wolff and the new
Chairman of the Supervisory
Board Alexander Birken
explain the strategic tools
that will be used to continue
the journey under fresh
management and which
values should still play a role
in this.

O
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Ms. Scharner-Wolff, you have been at
the helm of the Otto Group for around
a hundred days. How does it feel?

Petra Scharner-Wolff: Excellent! On the
one hand, I've been with the Group for
over twenty years, so many things are
familiar to me. On the other hand,
though, | am currently touring the Group
companies to discuss our strategic
agenda with colleagues on site. | find
the process very refreshing, inspirational
and also challenging.

The political and economic environ-
ment remains challenging. What does
this mean for a retail and services
group like the Otto Group?

Petra Scharner-Wolff: We are keeping
a close eye on current developments. We
have experienced considerable political
and economic upheaval since the start
of the war in Ukraine. And current politi-
cal developments are, if anything, exac-
erbating the situation. There is a risk that
people’'s confidence in the future will con-
tinue to decline moving forward. So what
will this mean for our global business? We
will have to keep inspiring our customers
and at the same time deal with other
challenging circumstances such as dis-
rupted or altered supply chains and
increasingly fierce competition. We do

not expect the market to provide tailwind
in this year or the next. Instead we will
have to build our own success.

Under your aegis, Mr. Birken, the

Otto Group has consistently been
ahead of the competition with the
quality of its products and its enduring
commitment to the environment and
social issues. These days, many cus-
tomers have become more price-sensi-
tive than before, and companies are
quitting climate alliances and diversity
programs in droves. Are we experienc-
ing the end of the Otto Group’s suc-
cessful model?

Alexander Birken: Not in the slightest.
Climate protection is still the most press-
ing issue for humanity. And this truth will
remain, even in challenging times and
when people are having to count every
euro and cent. But the biggest problem
that society is facing right now are com-
pletely unnecessary culture wars and the
fight for interpretational sovereignty,
which are damaging us all. We are not
going to abandon our values now
because of political pressure from cer-
tain directions. The Otto Group's share-
holders, management and employees
have upheld these values for many
decades. They are firmly anchored in our
corporate culture and will remain so.

“We need
to keep
INspiring our
customers,
time and
again.”

Petra Scharner-Wolff
CEO of the Otto Group

How important are these
values to you personally?

Alexander Birken: They are the

Otto Group’s compass and have
pointed in the right direction for the
Group and, over the last eight years, for
me personally as Chairman of the Exec-
utive Board. This was true during the
great upheaval, the turmoil caused by
the COVID-19 pandemic and especially
during the last, very difficult three years
with their political and economic crises.
It is only because we have embraced a
shared set of values — entrepreneurship,
openness and trust — that we have been
able to overcome the important tech-
nological, structural and cultural trans-
formation processes in the Otto Group.

In what condition did you hand over
the Group?

Alexander Birken: Petra Scharner-Wolff,
the Executive Board and all employees
achieved an important turnaround over
the past financial year. In response to
the consumer crisis, we have led the
Group with a focus on earnings and
liquidity rather than on sales growth and
have again achieved very positive fig-

®
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ures at all earnings levels. This is a major
achievement and a solid foundation for
the tremendous journey that the

Otto Group will embark on under Petra.

Ms. Scharner-Wolff, you have a
strategic agenda in your bags. Is
there a goal to which you feel a
particular commitment?

Petra Scharner-Wolff: There is one
thing | try to make clear, especially at a
time of increased competition: Nothing is
possible without satisfied, even inspired
customers. Our marketplaces and brand
concepts are persuasive with their
strong quality products, unique ranges
and diversified services worldwide.
What is more, we continue to demon-
strate that value-based action and eco-
nomic success are not necessarily mutu-
ally exclusive and that value propositions
encourage customers to buy from us.

Will returns and liquidity remain
the priorities?

Petra Scharner-Wolff: Faced with
highly volatile markets, my clear goal is
to continue increasing our financial
robustness, which will enable us as a
Group to continue investing sustainably

“We will not
abandon
our values/

Alexander Birken
Chairman of the Supervisory
Board of the Otto Group

in the medium term. We will grow the
profitability of our individual business
units. Consolidation of the portfolio and
restructuring are therefore important
tasks and key factors to ensure the
future viability of our Group.

Will the previous “focused growth
strategy” continue?

Petra Scharner-Wolff: Our focused
growth strategy over recent years has
laid the foundation for the Group's cur-
rent strength. We are now placing an
even clearer focus on scaling relevant
and successful business models in
Europe and North America. These
include otto.de, Crate and Barrel in
North America and Eos worldwide. This
will deliver a growing share of interna-
tional business in the medium and long
term. And it is very clear: Growth will
then return - vigorously.

Can you describe the role of Al and the
company'’s cultural change?

Petra Scharner-Wolff: Generative Al
and technology as a whole are obvi-
ously changing the game. Competitive
technological expertise in all processes
and at all levels remains the key to
future success. We are particularly con-
cerned about the impact of technology
on business and the pace with which we
can upscale this area for our customers.
So this is where cultural change comes
into play. Even including the factors |

mentioned earlier, the focus will be on a
performance culture going forward.
Openness, honesty, creative leeway -
we are determined to create an emo-
tional image that informs the desire to
shape and develop our culture.

A final word on something that affects
you both, namely the generational
change at the Otto Group.

Alexander Birken: | am very much look-
ing forward to working with the share-
holders and the Executive Board in my
new role and am confident that we will
find the best way forward. | will certainly
support everyone involved to the best of
my ability.

Petra Scharner-Wolff: The effects of
the generational change are felt
throughout the Group and not just at
shareholder level and on the Executive
Board. In particular, a fresh generation
of bold and optimistic managers is
ready to take on the challenges we will
face in the years ahead. | am looking
forward to this joint work in particular.

The interview was conducted by
Thomas Voigt, Vice President Group
Corporate Communications & Public Affairs.
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The Executive

Petra Scharner-Wolff Dr.Marcus Ackermann Sergio Bucher

Chairwoman of the Member of the Member of the
Executive Board and Executive Board Executive Board
Chief Executive Officer Multichannel Distance Brands and Retail
(CEOQ) Selling

* since May 19, 2025; successor to Sebastian Klauke, Member of the Executive Board
E-Commerce, Technology, Business Intelligence and Corporate Ventures (until February 28, 2025)

Boared

Katy Roewer

Chief Financial Officer (CFO),
Member of the

Executive Board

Finance, Controlling,

Human Resources

Kay Schiebur

Member of the
Executive Board
Services

Mahbobeh Sabetnia*

Member of the
Executive Board
Technology & Retail
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Dear ladies and gentlemen,
dear friends,

The Otto Group achieved a turnaround
in the past financial year. After two
difficult years, the Executive Board and
employees have succeeded in achieving
a clearly and overwhelmingly positive
result and have increased important
core values for the company such as
cash flow and the equity ratio. Despite
facing a persistently challenging envi-
ronment in our key markets of Germany,
Europe and the USA, the Otto Group is
again in good health.
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Considerable investments in transfor-
mation, digitization and the correspond-
ing cultural change over recent years
have more than paid off. And it is reas-
suring to know that the Otto Group is
built on a strong foundation, especially
in times of immense geopolitical and
global economic uncertainty and
increasingly fierce price competition
from Asian providers.

This applies also and especially to our
values such as our commitment to
quality products and customer-centric
services, fair business relationships and
sustainable trade, which we will always
uphold, even in turbulent times.

| am personally delighted that | can
hand over the Group to the third gener-
ation with this economic stability and
value-oriented focus. Moreover, the
conversion of the Otto Group into a
partnership limited by shares is now
complete and has created a legal form
that ensures the necessary continuity
and flexibility for the future of our foun-
dation and family business.

As we all know, my son Benjamin will
take over as Chair of the Foundation and
Shareholders’ Council on March 1, 2026
and assume strategic oversight of the
Group. Together with long-standing
CEO Alexander Birken - who succeeded
me as Chairman of the Supervisory
Board on March 1, 2025 - there will be
strong and competent support from the
shareholder side.

| am also more than confident about
the Otto Group's Executive Board under
the new Chairwoman Petra Scharner-
Wolff. With her clear strategy, consider-
able expertise and immense drive, she
will tackle the challenges that lie ahead
together with the now very female-
dominated Executive Board.

We will successfully shape the future
with this strong commitment.

Yours,

et Ot

Prof. Dr. Michael Otto

Honorary Chairman of the Supervisory
Board

Chairman of the Shareholders’ Council

“The Otto Group
IS built on
a strong
foundation.”

Prof. Dr. Michael Otto
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The Supervisery Board

Alexander Birken
HAMBURG
Chairman, Businessman

Birgit Rossig

HITTBERGEN*®

Deputy Chairwoman

Works Council Member Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA

Frederic Arndts

HAMBURG

Managing Director KG CURA
Vermogensverwaltung G.m.b.H. & Co.

Jens Gerrit Becker
HAMBURG*
Joint Works Council Hermes Germany GmbH

Torsten Furgol

MAGDEBURG™

Division Manager ver.di Trade Union Saxony,
Saxony-Anhalt, Thuringia

Oliver Grund
HEINSBERG"*
Chairman of the General Works Council Hermes Germany GmbH

Dr. Rainer Hillebrand
HAMBURG
Independent management and strategy consultant

Dr. Nicolai Johannsen
HAMBURG*
Vice President Consumer Interactions Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA

Thomas Korn
HAMBURG
Chief of Staff Benjamin Otto

Heike Lattekamp
HAMBURG*

Deputy Regional Manager ver.di
Trade Union Commerce Hamburg

Frauke Mispagel
HAMBURG
Management Consultant and Business Coach

Thomas Mort
LUHE-WILDENAU*®
Deputy Chairman of the Works Council Witt Group

Alexander Otto
HAMBURG

Chairman of the Executive Board
ECE Group GmbH & Co. KG

Benjamin Otto
HAMBURG
Chairman of the Holistic Foundation Board

Sarah Reitemeyer
BAD SEGEBERG
Managing Director BPO Capital GmbH & Co. KG

Lars-Uwe Rieck

GRINAU*

Regional Specialist ver.di Trade Union Post and
Logistic Hamburg/North

Benjamin Schaper

HAMBURG

Managing Director GFH Gesellschaft fir
Handelsbeteiligungen m.b.H.

Dr. Winfried Steeger
HAMBURG
Attorney

Monika Vietheer-Grupe
BARSBUTTEL"*

Chairwoman of the Works Council
bonprix Handelsgesellschaft mbH

Inka Wolff
GUTENSWEGEN"*
Works Council Member Hermes Fulfilment GmbH

The Shareholders’
Council

Prof. Dr. Michael Otto
HAMBURG
Chairman, Entrepreneur

Alexander Birken
HAMBURG
Deputy Chairman, Businessman

Frederic Arndts

HAMBURG

Managing Director KG CURA
Vermogensverwaltung G.m.b.H. & Co.

Marius Marschall von Bieberstein
BERLIN

Managing Partner

evoreal Holding GmbH & Co. KG

Thomas Korn
HAMBURG
Chief of Staff Benjamin Otto

Alexander Otto
HAMBURG

Chairman of the Executive Board
ECE Group GmbH & Co. KG

Benjamin Otto
HAMBURG
Chairman of the Holistic Foundation Board

* Employee representative
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Corporcrie oVerview

Selected companies and brands

The Otto Group as a globally active retail and services
group is represented by major company groups primarily in
the three economic areas of Germany, the rest of Europe,

and the USA.
Platforms Brand Concepts Retailers Services Financial Services
About You Bonprix Baur Baur Fulfillment Solutions Eos Group
OTTO Crate and Barrel Frankonia Hermes Einrichtungs Hanseatic Bank™*
Service

Freemans Grattan

Witt Group
Hermes Fulfilment
Limango
Hermes Germany*
Manufactum
Otto International
Otto Austria Group
SupplyX
Headline™ Project A* Betterdoc Medgate Otto Group One.O

* .
Investment companies
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OTTO, Germany’s largest online
store, is continuously working to
better understand and meet the
needs of its over twelve million
active customers in the dynamic
e-commerce environment - with
considerable success: In the past
financial year, OTTO managed to
increase total revenue from the
marketplace and its own retail
(Gross Merchandise Value, GMV)
by nine percent to over seven
billion euros. OTTO inspires its
customers with strong quality
products, unique product ranges,
diversified services and a clear
sustainability strategy.

®
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Live shopping
createsa
tangible feel
for the product
and is a direct
connection to
the customer.

“We offer a
lot and
focus on our
customers.”

Marc Opelt
Chairman of the
Management Board of OTTO

“"Our development curve at OTTO illus-
trates the importance of viewing our
customers as a keystone of our vision
and not just understanding their needs,”
explains Marc Opelt, Chairman of the
OTTO Management Board. “We offera
lot and focus on our customers. They
have warmly received the live shopping
program and our assembly and connec-
tion service for furniture and large
kitchen appliances, for example.”

Creating a direct connection to the
product, inspiring and establishing
direct and personal contact with cus-
tomers - in the end, it is always about
understanding, serving and delighting
very different customer groups with
their specific needs.

No compromise on
quality

This claim is also reflected in the quali-
tative expansion of the product range.
In addition to our own retail business, it
also applies to the online retailer’s grow-
ing marketplace, which accounts for

around 40 percent of gross merchandise

value (GMV). “The following applies for
us and our over 6,000 partners: Quality
is non-negotiable.

This advantage is particularly persua-
sive in competition with new rivals. This
prompted us last year to conduct a
detailed review of the products offered
on our marketplace and make adjust-
ments when we found that a partner’s
quality standards differed from ours,”
says Opelt.

Sales of marketplace goods rose by

24 percent last year, which demon-
strates that customers appreciate the
selection of higher-quality products
and prestigious brands. OTTO managed
to increase the number of active cus-
tomers by four percent to 12.2 million
last year.

By engaging in this process, OTTO
proves on a daily basis that economic
success and value-oriented action can
go hand in hand. A value proposition
that creates incentives to buy and also
strengthens the relationship with cus-
tomers.

Millions of

active customers @
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The ground-breaking
ceremony in the Sernitz
Moor marked the start of
amodel rewetting
project. OTTO success-
fully tests shipping boxes
made from Paludi
biomass - to improve
climate protection and
biodiversity.

A shipping bag
that keeps the

environment clean
and is made from
100 percent
recycled wild
plastic.

Of particular concern is the introduction
of innovative concepts that reduce
packaging waste: Since the beginning
of 2024, all shipping bags at OTTO have
been made from 100 percent recycled
"wild plastic”, which is obtained from
plastic discarded in the environment.
The bags feature a QR code that cus-
tomers can use to trace the origin of the
plastic. OTTO is collaborating with the
Traceless Materials start-up to develop
biodegradable, plastic-free packaging
that will be tested in practice in the year
ahead.

Shipping boxes with
peatland biomass

At least 80 percent FSC-certified recy-
cled cardboard in shipping boxes has
long been standard at OTTO. But there
is something that's new: To reduce the
use of waste paper, all shipping boxes
should maximize the content of Paludi
biomass, which consists of raw materi-
als from moorland plants. The term
Paludi refers to the use of wet peatland
sites for agricultural and forestry pur-
poses.

Preserving intact peatlands and rewet-
ting drained peatlands for sustainable
use is important for climate protection
and the economy. Aside from the posi-
tive climate impact, OTTO is also pro-
moting new, near-natural peatland
habitats to increase biodiversity and is
hence creating incentives for farmers
to rewet drained peatlands. To trans-
form the Paludi biomass into a stable
packaging material, it is mixed with
paper fibers that are obtained from
responsible and resource-conserving
forestry and other controlled sources.

In an initial test in 2024, OTTO delivered
100,000 shipping boxes consisting of
90 percent recycled paper and 10 per-
cent Paludi fresh fibers to its customers.
The test was very successful: The boxes
fulfilled all expectations in regard to
stability in logistics and proved resistant
to the effects of the weather. A survey
revealed that customers were equally
satisfied with the quality. The aim now is
to continue the rollout: By 2028, all
OTTO shipping boxes will contain the
highest possible proportion of Paludi
biomass.

&
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Taking responsibility along the entire
value chain - whether socially, environ-
mentally or digitally — has been an inte-
gral part of the company’s identity for
almost four decades. This obligation
will also remain non-negotiable moving
forward.

Continuing to strengthen
sustainability

In the past financial year, for example,
the proportion of air freight fell to below
two percent, while the proportion of
biofuels used in shipping increased to
25 percent. OTTO intends to further
increase the proportion of products with
a higher sustainability standard over the
next three years, particularly in the fur-
niture and home & decoration ranges.
This is prompted mainly by the switch to
recycled fibers. OTTO has also been
using FSC®-certified wood for many
years. Last year, the proportion in own
and licensed brands was 98 percent -
and the aim is to increase this number
to 100 percent by 2028.

GCenerartion
“Noew nal™

How Witt learns
to understand
its customers
even better

Successfully
focused on the
50+ target
audience

Understanding begins with listening -
and this is precisely the mission that
the Witt Group has adopted. As a
long-standing fashion provider for the
50+ generation, Witt is concerned with
the realities of this audience’s lives and
not just fashion trends. And this is pre-
cisely the recipe for success of the
Weiden-based company: a clear focus
on the target audience combined with
profound expertise in regard to the
product range and the ambition to
continuously improve the shopping
experience for customers.

“We created our own study with the
Rheingold Institute to learn even more
about the needs of our customers. We
wanted to obtain evidence-based infor-
mation about how the 50+ generation
thinks, loves and lives. Now we have an

even better understanding of what this
generation really needs,” explains Patrick
Boos, Chairman of the Executive Board of
the Witt Group. Featuring in-depth psy-
chological interviews and a representa-
tive survey, the study provides authentic
insights into the attitude fueling the lives
of 50 to 70-year-olds — beyond the clichés.

What the Witt study reveals: The 50+
generation is extremely mobile — men-
tally and emotionally, not just physically.
Women in particular are open to new
things, enjoy their freedom and lead
impressively energetic lives. Instead of
withdrawing, many discover this phase of
life as an opportunity for self-realization.
They do not define themselves by their
age, but by their lifestyle - modern,
self-assured, independent.

Another striking feature is how clearly the
respondents distance themselves from
common impressions of old age. They find
terms such as “senior citizen” inappropri-
ate - and on average feel much younger
than their actual age would suggest. For
them, age is not a limit, but an invitation
to reinvent themselves. Included in this
are new hobbies, traveling - and even
video games: 38 percent of respon-

O,

dents are regular gamers.
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A 50+ attitude to life

Not only do the results of the study
confirm a changed self-image in the
50+ generation, they also underpin
the strategy that Witt has already
adopted. In recent years, the

Witt Group has shown how the right
combination of expertise and an
experimental approach can be suc-
cessful, even in challenging times -
for example, by expanding the shop-
ping app to include gamification
elements that are tailored to the
target audience and that make the
shopping experience more enter-
taining, intuitive and inspiring.

The current study now provides a
sound basis on which to develop
even more such innovations —
always with the aim of creating
programs that are well-matched
with the customers’ lives and every-
day routines. They benefit not only
from fashion that suits their style,
but also from a brand experience
that takes their joie de vivre, individ-
uality and yearning for fresh experi-
ences seriously.

Customer-centiiic=

INROVEICIOnS

Searching for
and finding the
“good things”

Anyone who has ever meandered
through one of the 15 Manufactum
department stores will be familiar with
the extraordinary range of products
and the high level of expert advice
available on site. Given the range of
carefully curated, premium products
that Manufactum has offered for over
30 years as an alternative to our
throwaway mentality, this brings
important added value for customers.
Customers can also order the “good
things” in the online store and the app.

But how can they find a solution to
their problem or an answer to their
guestion there? Not always by access-
ing the classic search function. This is
what prompted Manufactum to get
together with Otto Group One.O to

build the Al-powered “Shopping Advi-
sor”. Customers can use natural lan-
guage to ask the advisor a question
about the product range in the online
store and in the Manufactum app and
will receive Al-generated information.

One example: How do | find a “Flotte
Lotte” if | don't know what it is? Custom-
ers can now ask the “Shopping Advisor”
how to strain jam and receive suitable

Flotte Lotte

Good things like the
“Flotte Lotte” strainer ‘ 57,90 €
are high-quality
products that enrich e

< Pressen & Passiergerite (| <5

o

G ED

everyday life.

product recommendations. Not only
does the proprietary GenAl solution pro-
vide new and inspiring access to Manu-
factum’s world of products and themes,
it also delivers a meaningful digital take
on the familiar in-store advice — an
important enhancement of the shop-
ping experience and a relevant step for-
wards in Manufactum'’s digitization
strategy.
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Guest commen-
tary by Prof. Dr.

Tobias Woller-
mann, Group
Vice President
Corporate
Responsibility at
the Otto Group
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the 2024
Hamburgsy,
-‘Sustainability
Conference /%

Co-initiator of the HSC,
Prof. Dr. Michael Otto,
in conversation.
Stakeholders from
politics, science,
business and civil
society gather at the
conference to develop
solutions for the
challenges of our time.

The first Hamburg Sustainability Con-
ference (HSC) was held on October 7
and 8, 2024 - an impressive event that
epitomized the spirit of cooperation
and global dialog.

Around 1,600 participants from

102 countries came together to develop
sustainable solutions at a time when
climate change and social inequality
pose major challenges for humanity. Initi-
ated by the German Federal Ministry for
Economic Cooperation and Development
(BMZ), the UN Development Program
(UNDP), the Michael Otto Foundation and
the Free and Hanseatic City of Hamburg,
the HSC proved to be an important inter-
national platform for dialog between poli-
tics, business, science and civil society.

As Achim Steiner, the head of the UNDP,
aptly put it, the annual conference is a
sign of hope. His words that develop-
ment would never be possible without
peace and that no peace is possible
without development resonated
throughout the event and beyond.

Among the central concerns of the HSC
is to develop specific initiatives to drive
implementation of the UN Sustainable
Development Goals (SDGs). “High time
for action” was therefore the urgent
message from entrepreneur and founder

Prof. Dr. Michael Otto, who called on
companies to play an active role in solv-
ing global challenges.

The reality is clear: It will not be possible
to achieve the UN Sustainability Goals
jointly agreed by the Member States of
the United Nations without private
sector expertise and investment. The
economy therefore plays a vital role in
sustainable transformation. But this will
also require dialog with civil society, the
right political framework conditions and
innovative ideas from the scientific

community.

The HSC was not just a conference, but
a powerful call to action. It revealed
that there are many inspiring and cou-
rageous people around the world who
are committed to a sustainable future.
| am proud to be part of this movement
and look forward to the next steps we
will take together. Yes, climate protec-
tion and sustainability issues are pro-
tracted, complex and a major task. But
together we can do it.
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To ensure continued success
in a fundamentally changing
competitive environment,
the Otto Group invests selec-
tively in market-relevant
business models and Group
companies that are expected
to deliver particularly good
performance and high
growth. The aim is to then
scale these ventures to
increase market share
within targeted markets.

Crate and Barrel, the

Otto Group’s US-based
home furnishings and
lifestyle company,
exemplifies how using the
core strength of the
omni-channel experience
drives future viability and
enables growth. The secret
to its success: a passion for
sustainable products, stylish
designs and the ability to
surround the customer with
innovative services that
inspire.

®
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Crate and Barrel is impressive proof that
focus on the right strategy, talent and
tenacity can fuel growth. Founded in
1962, the Crate and Barrel brand has
evolved into Crate and Barrel Holdings,
and includes Crate and Barrel,

Crate and Kids, CB2, and Hudson Grace.
Today, the company has more than
7,500 employees who place customers
at the center of everything they do
through a very successful, omni-
channel network. For example, the
Crate and Barrel, Crate and Kids, and
CB2 brands are not only united in their
monogramming and wedding and baby

registry programs - they all offer free
personal design services onling, in-store,
and even in the customer’s home.
Designers align professional expertise
with customer preferences to create
personalized mood boards, floor plans,
and realistic 3D design previews for sin-
gle rooms or entire homes and busi-
nesses, using products from one or all
three of these brands.

Inspiring living spaces

Enter a Crate and Barrel, CB2, or Hudson
Grace store and you will find yourself
inspired by a variety of beautifully
arranged collections - over 80 percent
of which are vertically designed, manu-
factured, and therefore exclusive. There
are displays for every room inside and
outside of the home, radiating style,
quality, and comfort. This is exactly what
their customers are looking for — whether
in the company’s hometown of Chicago,
or in any one of the other more than one
hundred stores in the USA and Canada,
or in any of the franchise locations in
seven other countries. The extensive
in-store offerings and innovative services
are also available online through brand
websites in the USA, Canada, and select
franchise countries, as well as via mobile

1962

Founded

+10

Stores in the USA
and Canada

4

Employees
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“In our flagship

store in
New York, our
customers

experience our

brand in all
Its facets!”

Janet Hayes
CEO Crate and Barrel

applications for Crate and Barrel, Crate
and Kids, and CB2. All channels come
together to create a seamless, well-in-
tegrated omni-channel experience.

The 2024 Flatiron flagship store launch
in New York City exemplifies the

Crate and Barrel brand'’s innovative
advancements in customer centricity
within its scaled and diversified multi-
channel approach. The store blends the
strengths of virtual and physical envi-
ronments to offer a unique shopping
experience. On two floors and over
2,100 square meters, the store's product
assortment is specially curated for New
York customers and provides an array of
special events and personalized ser-
vices, including floral arrangements and
one-day delivery services. An accompa-
nying virtual store replicates the flag-
ship space, and invites online customers
to a magical multichannel experience
through augmented reality.

9

The New York flagship
storeis located ina
historic building and
former department
store dating back to
1868. Today, it's more
than just a place to
shop - it’s a space for
creativity and inspira-
tion, where home
dreams come true and
the brand’s values are
brought to life in a truly
unique way.

N
o
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Strong expertise for a
turnaround

For CEO Janet Hayes, this store rep-
resents the future of the company: “This
flagship store embodies our aspiration
to inspire and support customers at
every step of their shopping journey. The
ability to seamlessly experience our
brand and services physically and digi-
tally, is crucial for customers. It will
enable them to create a home tailored
to their individual needs. Regardless of
the sales channel, they will always
receive the same high level of service
and standard of product offering.”

Over the past five years, Crate and Barrel
has evolved further under Janet's lead-
ership, focusing even more strongly
today in the areas of product selection,
customer service, and operations. A new
strategy has been put into place to opti-
mize both store and online environments
with improved visual presentations and
a thoughtfully reduced curation of prod-
uct. On top of this, substantial invest-
ments have been made in the technical
and logistical infrastructure over the
past two years, successfully strengthen-
ing the company’s future viability. Alto-
gether, Crate and Barrel has been able
to achieve a turnaround - nearly dou-
bling its size.

"By scaling
Crate and Barrel’s
successful
business model,
we are further
expanding our
market share in
the USA

Sergio Bucher
Executive Board member for
Brands and Retail

Considerable expansion of the

Crate and Barrel and CB2 brands in the
USA is planned in the coming years by
increasing their store footprint in the
double-digit range, driving further
growth in the omnichannel business -
subject to the potential impact of the
current geopolitical turmoil. “Scaling the
successful Crate and Barrel business
model helps us to considerable further
expand our market share in the USA. It is
our goal to show growth in both the
medium and long term - particularly in
an international context such as North
America,” says Sergio Bucher, Executive
Board member for Brands and Retail,
outlining the Otto Group's strategic
direction.
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The Otto Group is now placing an even greater focus on
scaling business models that achieve substantial growth in
the medium and long term, especially at international
level. The Eos Group, for example, is raising the bar with its
investments in non-performing loans (NPLs). As an expert
in receivables management, Eos helps defaulting payers
worldwide to achieve a sustainable and responsible
reduction in outstanding debts.

€361 billion - this was the volume of
non-performing loans on the balance
sheets of European banks in the third
quarter of 2024. Banking regulators and
central banks in particular are urging
institutions to systematically reduce
risks. But many portfolios are complex
at the same time: Different types of
receivables, collateral structures and
property values make the portfolios dif-
ficult for banks to manage and compli-
cate their liquidation. But the liquidity
tied up in these non-performing loans is
crucial for new investments, lending and
a flourishing economy.

A responsible partner is needed in these
situations to reduce complexity and pro-
vide structured relief. The Eos Group -
the key player in the Otto Group’s Finan-
cial Services segment - is one of the
leading international investor in receiv-
ables and real estate portfolios. As an
expert in the processing of outstanding
receivables, Eos has been helping com-
panies and banks to reduce NPLs and
hence return liquidity to the economic
cycle for over 50 years.

O
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With locations in more than 20 countries
and over 6,000 employees, Eos offers
international and technology-based
receivables management services.

Trust is the key

Our presence on the national markets is
the basis for our end-to-end expertise:
from local regulatory requirements to
the structures required to purchase
large receivables packages, from con-
sumer loans and commercial receiv-
ables to the restructuring of real estate:
Eos has the know-how to understand a
portfolio’s history and the local market
conditions. “We will continue to focus on
investing in NPLs. They are the corner-
stone of our business,” explains CEO
Marwin Ramcke.

Trust is the key in receivables manage-
ment. As part of the Otto Group, Eos is
financially stable, maintains a long-term

strategy and is among the most reliable to focus on the better.
players in the European NPL market. This . . . ,,J!;’
is exemplified by the joint venture with INnvest ng N N PLS gt ]
the International Finance Cooperation Th ey are the

(IFC), a member of the World Bank T

"We will continue

cornerstone of

sible purchase of NPLs in Croatia, Serbia,
Romania, Poland, Bulgaria and Bosnia
and Herzegovina.

To ensure sustainable debt relief, Eos
not only buys receivables, but also takes
charge of servicing itself, i.e. the profes-
sional processing of portfolios. This
includes fair coommunication on an equal
footing with consumers as well as the
management of collateral and the
implementation of legal requirements.
“A high volume of NPLs is expected to
enter the market in the current 2025/26
financial year. This will present exciting
investment opportunities for the Eos
Group,” says Marwin Ramcke.

Chunging ;
finances for

The Eos Group is a
leading technology-
based investorin
receivables portfolios
Marwin Ramcke and an expert in the
CEO processing of out-
Eos Group standing receivables.

Group. The common goal is to improve . o
, . : our business:

corporate liquidity and the debt situa-
tion of consumers through the respon-
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The fueure

of retail

with artificial
intelligence

Artificial intelligence is the transformative force of our
time. The Otto Group is leveraging the associated oppor-
tunities at all levels - in marketing and customer care as
well as in logistics, process optimization and, above all, in
customer-oriented services. “We are convinced that we
can shape the future of retail with artificial intelligence.
Above all, though, we focus our innovations on offering
customers an inspiring and personalized shopping experi-
ence. We have a tradition of innovation,” emphasizes
Petra Scharner-Wolff, who sees technology as a relevant
part of her agenda as the new CEO of the Otto Group.
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Manufactum: Generative
Al for inspiration and
product advice

Al is already a relevant component of all
business processes; the e-commerce
platform OTTO alone uses more than
70 Al products across virtually all value
streams. The Otto Group harnesses
state-of-the-art technologies and artifi-
cial intelligence in particular to enhance
its business and make it more efficient.
This creates a long-term competitive
advantage. The Group responded to the
advent of generative Al (GenAl) by sys-
tematically expanding its innovative
strength in this area and has since
become a pacesetter in retail.

This applies all the more to customer-
oriented services such as Manufactum's
virtual “Shopping Advisor”. More than
almost any other retailer, Manufactum
stands for a particularly high level of
advisory expertise in its curated
"department stores of good things”.
This expertise is now being meaning-
fully adapted for the digital realm with
the new Al-powered Shopping Advisor. It
provides customers with a fresh and
inspiring introduction to Manufactum'’s
special world of products and themes.

/T\

Tailored to the
occasion: Shop-
ping with
generative

Al creates
inspirational
looks.

Witt Group: Better
search results with GenAl

The Witt Group uses generative Al to
exploit previously untapped SEO poten-
tial and provide customers with better
search results. Search engines have per-
sisted as a crucial success factor in
e-commerce. But the true potential of
relevant search terms has remained
unused so far as they are not explicitly
included in product titles or descriptions.
This applies in particular to narrower
audiences such as the over 50s that are
targeted by the Witt Group. One typical
example is a search term such as
“dresses for mothers of the bride”. The
first step is to analyze current product
data and SEO databases to identify rel-
evant terms with potential for vigorous

&

demand.
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Generative Al then automatically cre-
ates search engine-optimized product
descriptions, adapted to keywords,
product features and image content for
maximum relevance and impact. The
generated data feeds are integrated
directly, regularly and fully automati-
cally into the web store’s content man-
agement system. GenAl thus helps to
provide customers with more accurate
results for their search queries.

Bonprix: GenAl as an
inspirational tool in the
fashion design process

Customers benefit from innovations in
the development of new fashion styles
as well. Bonprix is focused on digital
product development and pursues the
goal of creating a fully digitized product
development process - from the design
idea to fitting in 3D and Al-powered
success forecasts to virtual dressing
rooms in the online store.

Doing so ensures resource-efficient
workflows while maintaining the same
high product quality and enabling Bon-
prix to respond more flexibly to trends.

A milestone on this path is the self-
developed “Fashion Creation App”,
which introduces generative artificial
intelligence into the time-consuming
and research-intensive design phase for
fresh styles.

The app uses text prompts and
uploaded images or sketches to gener-
ate photorealistic design proposals that
can then be refined within an iterative
workflow. Doing so allows designers and
product developers to transform their
creative ideas quickly and easily into
visual designs, which are then used as
the basis for briefings or ongoing discus-
sions. With success: The first Al-powered
styles are already available in the
Bonprix web store.

Fashion Creation App

Al-powered inspiration in
product development

Automated
prompt
generation with
attributes and
keywords

ideas

First
design

)

C—— ]

Selection and
editing

Selection and start
Product development

Custom design
options




Our future:

Creating competitive tech capabilities

Otto Group
2024/25 Annual Report

27

The number of
colleagues who

regularly use ogGPT

has more than

doubled since its

Introduction.

3,800

Colleagues per month
September 2023

Process optimization with Al

Artificial intelligence has immense
potential for process optimization

as well. Back in 2023, the Otto Group
was one of the first German companies
to build an internal, data protection-
compliant Al assistant - ogGPT. It fulfills
two purposes at once: On the one hand,
it is a practical tool in everyday working
life which, according to internal user sur-
veys, saves time and makes work more
enjoyable.

9,200

Colleagues per month
April 2025

More importantly, however, it provides
all employees with a safe framework to
acquire experience in handling genera-
tive artificial intelligence and develop-
ing a deeper understanding of the tech-
nology'’s possibilities and limitations.
Since its launch one and a half years ago,
more than 9,200 colleagues actively
have used ogGPT every month - and the
numbers are continuing to grow.

An interdisciplinary team is responsible
for the ongoing development of the Al
assistant and its adaptation throughout
the Group - an important contributor to
its success.

The Otto Group has always emphasized
the importance of bringing all employees
along on the journey into the age of Al
and enabling them to harness the tech-
nology responsibly and according to
their specific roles.

In addition to commitment at manage-
ment level, various training opportuni-
ties tailored to prior knowledge, roles
and learning styles are crucial.

The Otto Group has been offering its
employees a comprehensive, modular
training system on digitalization and
new technologies since 2019, which has
been specifically expanded to include
the topic of Al since 2023. In addition,
there are extensive information and
exchange opportunities, for example at
internal conferences, in workshops and
within the “DiscoverAl” community.

O
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The evolution of ogGPT

Development of the Otto Group’s proprietary data protection-
compliant Al assistant over the past two years

November 2023
September 18,2023 Projects can
Launch with be shared

conversational

chat and @
project function r\/

000
L ]
I

December 2023

Create custom
templates and
image generation

with Dall-E
I I I
Responsible
% innovation
March 2024
April 2024 Multimodal input: January 2024 The Otto Group is aware of the responsi-
Simple chat with a Image recognition Rollout at bility that comes with the development
single document, and analysis BetterDoc, Otto and use of Al. This is why it has devel-
rollout at Freemans International, oped strategic Al guides in addition to a
Grattan Holdings @ Medgate comprehensive cloud compliance
and Systoin review process that all new applications
| l | and technologies undergo prior to roll-
out. They are used as guidance in new Al
projects and include ethical consider-
May 2024 August 2024 ations, the declaration of Al-generated
Marketplace /N Smarter content and provisions on its use in
for templates IeI CustomGPTs accordance with data protection laws.
and audio "\—/ with agent The Otto Group and its Group compa-
transcription July 2024 Iogic September 2024 nies also work closely on these topics
P _Ié]IIOI’eCI ﬁ]ﬁ Integ ration I/vith Iong.ston.ding tech portrIers, are
@ ustomGPT in Microsoft involved in alliances and are in constant
I'_I_I rollout at Eos Teams as an app dialog with experts.




S,

Our future:

Creating competitive tech capabilities

Otto Group

2024/25 Annual Report

29

Orttoe Group One o
The powerhouse for
consulting and tech

Three become one: Otto Group One.O
is the new central service provider
within the Otto Group for technology
and strategy consulting along the
entire digital value chain. The com-
pany brings together the competencies
of the already internationally estab-
lished Otto Group Solution Provider
(OSP) and the Otto Group Holding
divisions Otto Group IT and Digital &
Consulting under one roof.

At eight locations in Germany, Spain,
India and Taiwan, One.O advises,
designs, develops and operates efficient
digital end-to-end services for all
Otto Group companies and external
companies. The global team of around
1,000 employees covers a broad
spectrum of expertise, including con-
sulting, software development,

SAP, data intelligence and artificial
intelligence.

This enables the company to realize
almost all IT and digitization projects —
from the support of legacy systems and
IT services to the development of new
applications and systems.

In doing so, the Otto Group has created
a central powerhouse that will provide
strategic advice to the entire Group and
guide it through the Al era and beyond.
One.O is managed by Katrin Behrens
and Dr. Stefan Borsutzky, who were
already managing directors of OSP.

Katrin Behrens emphasizes the mission
of One.O: “As an integral part of the
Group, we have profound knowledge of
the processes and business models and
develop reliable, innovative solutions for
the Group's long-term competitiveness
with a strong focus on profitability.”

Mdlaga

Hamburg

Altenkunstadt

otto group

dNe.

Madrid \
Valencia

Dresden

Taipei

Hyderabad
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The

future
of logistics

A lot is in motion. In
Altenkunstadt in
Upper Franconiaq, in
Haldensleben in Sax-
ony-Anhalt and in
ltowa in Poland, the
Otto Group is working
on the logistics of the
future. With state-of-
the-art distribution
centers and returns-
processing facilities as
well as new ways of
working. Al and robotics
work together with
humans to transform
customer wishes into
customer experiences.

Altenkunstadt, a
traditional logistics hub

Embedded in the existing infrastructure,
a state-of-the-art shuttle warehouse
with 34,541 square meters of floor
space began operations last year. The
distance from incoming goods to out-
going goods is eleven kilometers.
Around 1,000 shuttle vehicles navigate
the 24 aisles of the two shuttle blocks.

&
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The site has 1,400 employees. On aver-
age, it takes just four hours between
order transmission and handover of the
goods to the shipping service provider.
Speed is essential - the customers are
waiting.

The distribution center in ltowa, an
hour’s drive east of Cottbus, is one of the
largest and most modern logistics hubs
in Europe. Not without reason: A building
complex with a total of nine halls and
268,000 square meters of floor space
was opened here in October 2024. At
the heart of the facility is a pocket
sorter that transports up to 18,000 parts
per hour. Up to 110 million shipments a
year can be dispatched here by 1,900
employees, and 60 percent of orders
can be delivered the very next day.

At the heart of the new
warehouse in Howa is a
pocket sorter that
transports up to 18,000
parts per hour.

Altenkunstadt: A building
with alength of 216 meters,
a width of 74 meters and a
height of 23 is now used as a
warehouse for six million
items.

Rethinking logistics

These impressive figures are made pos-
sible by the Otto Group's logistics com-
panies Hermes Fulfilment, Hermes Ger-
many, Baur Hermes Fulfilment and by
SupplyX, the new global supply chain
management provider. “Excellent cus-
tomer experiences in retail can only be
achieved with strong global logistics.
The requirements that companies face
here are developing very dynamically,”
says Kay Schiebur, Otto Group Execu-
tive Board Member for Services, assess-
ing the development. This is also the
reason why the technological revolution
that is laying the foundation for out-
standing performance within the Group
is inseparably linked to people, a high
degree of automation and intelligent
systems for more effective and faster
processes.

The Otto Group's logistics specialists
rely on pioneering technology to make
everything run smoothly and counteract
the shortage of skilled workers. Al,
robotics and humans are working side
by side to rise to — and overcome - the
challenges of the future. Benefits
include, for example, relieving employ-
ees of physically demanding tasks,
increasing operational efficiency, but

also monitoring operating systems and
detecting hazards or damage at an
early stage. To this end, the Group
entered into a strategic partnership
with the US company Boston Dynamics
in 2023. The deployment of the four-
legged robot dog Spot was followed in
2024 by the commissioning of Europe'’s
first mobile unloading robot Stretch at
the Haldensleben distribution center: a
location where the Otto Group has been
harnessing innovation to revolutionize
logistics for 30 years.

“It's not just about improving the effi-
ciency of logistics,” says Kay Schiebur,
“but about exploiting the immense
potential of general Al” This prompted
the Otto Group in 2023 to enter into
strategic partnership with the Californian
start-up Covariant, which has devel-
oped a robotic station that uses Al to
recognize and prepare a wide variety

of products for shipping. Complex. Yes!
But after extensive tests with the Al sta-
tion in Haldensleben, the Al robots will
be gradually rolled out in all of the

Otto Group's logistics operations. The
human employees are eagerly waiting
to welcome their new robotic colleagues.
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The sustainable success of
any organization hinges on
the aspiration to continu-
ously develop the corporate
culture and remain perma-
nently open to change in
order to enhance perfor-
mance. Therefore, a decade
ago, the Otto Group initi-
ated a comprehensive
cultural change process
that laid the foundation for
the Group’s future viability.
A company’s ability to adapt
- flexibly to new market

\ situations is becoming more

and more important in a
persistently challenging
macroeconomic environ-
ment. Above all, this
includes the efficient and
focused use of resources.
What matters, therefore, is
to continue building a
clearly performance-
oriented corporate culture,
to encourage entrepreneurial
spirit, courage and decisive-
ness, and to promote and
develop employees accord-
ing to their individual skills

and strengths.
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More than ever before, this will require
inspiring managers with strong leader-
ship qualities. This focus on a fresh per-
formance culture is also underpinned by
the Otto Group's HR decisions as part

of the generational change, which is
not only evident at shareholder level
and the Group Executive Board.

There have also been new appointments
at the helm of many of the Group com-
panies, all of whom exhibit outstanding
leadership qualities and have one thing
in common: the conviction that a results-
oriented organizational culture with
significant entrepreneurial freedom is
the essence of sustainable success.

Good leadership means
caring

ATuesday in April. Dr. Boris Ewenstein,
who joined OTTO in May 2024 as Mem-
ber of the Management Board Retail
and Marketplace, strides purposefully
through the bright and spacious atrium
in the new main building of the

Otto Group's largest company. His most
important managers, who report directly
to him, are waiting in the meeting to dis-
cuss the current business situation with
the former McKinsey partner and top
manager at Zalando. Boris Ewenstein
seems very focused and prepared, with

“Leaders are at
the service of
those for
whom they
have accepted
responsibility. Not
the other way
around.”

Dr. Boris Ewenstein
Member of the OTTO
Management Board Retail
and Marketplace

his laptop and pages full of notes in
front of him. He asks his colleagues spe-
cific questions, maintains a clear and
direct approach while always being
polite. He also allows space for

responses.

This reflects the 47-year-old’s under-
standing of leadership: “Listening care-
fully is always helpful. You will only really
understand other people if you listen
attentively” And there is another aspect
that really matters to him: “Leadership
means responsibility - for issues, col-
leagues and customers. So good leader-
ship primarily means caring. Leaders are
at the service of those for whom they
have accepted responsibility. Not the
other way around.”

Passion for development

Andrea Becker, the second new member
of the OTTO Management Board and
responsible for Finance, Human
Resources and Customer Service,
expresses her idea of good leadership in
very similar terms. It's about really get-
ting to know and understand the other
person, being empathetic, and not just
trying to get your own message across.
“l am really passionate about developing
talent, identifying, encouraging and
developing potential future managers,”

"You need to

convey a
persuasive,
inspiring vision as
a manager.”

Andrea Becker
Member of the OTTO
Management Board Service & HR

says the business and finance expert,
who earned her spurs in senior positions
at Procter and Gamble and Zalando,
among others. To continue building a
genuine performance culture, it is
important that managers define clear

®
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“"Employees
will become
motivated if the
structure is right
and the results are
achieved.”

Matthias Wlaka
Chief Technology Officer (CTO)
Bonprix

expectations, communicate a persua-
sive, inspirational vision and explain why
a company will still be successful in ten
years'time. “This clarity motivates peo-
ple to work together towards a common

goal”

Leadership is not anend in
its own right

Switch in location. Matthias Wlaka
stands at the window of his office on
the top floor of Bonprix headquarters.
The IT graduate has been responsible
for the fashion company’s entire IT land-
scape as Chief Technology Officer (CTO)
since January 2024 - and is now looking
out onto a construction site.

Afitting image, because Bonprix is also
undergoing significant transformation:
Operating in more than 25 countries,
the company has optimized processes,
changed structures and continued to
develop over recent months to remain
successful in the face of increasingly
stiff competition. Matthias Wlaka is will-
ing to rise to the challenge.

He changed the entire organizational
structure of IT in March, rolled out a new
management model and recruited two
new Vice Presidents to work with him to

make the Bonprix IT of the future a redlity.
The 51-year-old seems very thoughtful in
discussions and focused on his counter-
part. He has a good grasp of human
nature, is quick to make decisions and is
direct and clear in his commmunication.

Matthias Wlaka is convinced that the
leadership style must always be adapted
to suit the situation. This is because
leadership is not an end in itself; it must
be goal-oriented: “It’'s about first consid-
ering what | want to achieve, and then
deriving which leadership model and
leadership personalities | need to get
there.” To enhance the performance of
the IT teams at Bonprix, the CTO pays
particular attention to the composition,
size, skills and diverse characters. “When
the structure fits and results follow,
then employees become engaged;
that'’s the foundation for ambition and

high performance.”
Enabling and coaching

His colleague Carolin Klar, Managing
Director Product, Sourcing and Corpo-
rate Responsibility, shares the belief that
a key to success is seeing teams as sys-
tems rather than merely the sum of indi-
vidual strengths. It is about consciously
combining diversity in the sense of

“l try to
provide support,
help with problems,
act transparently
and keep things
In the right
perspective.

Carolin Klar

Managing Director Product, Sourcing
and Corporate Responsibility

Bonprix
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different skills in teams. And this

approach yields outstanding results.

Her strengths as a manager include the
ability to listen, to show trust, apprecia-
tion and respect for others and to be
enthusiastic about new topics. “I try to
provide support, help with problems, act
transparently and keep things in the
right perspective. At the same time, | am
very clear in expressing my expectations,
but give my counterparts the freedom

“Good managers
remain confident,
even in difficult
situations.”

Katrin Behrens
Managing Director Otto Group One.O

and creative leeway to put them into
practice.” This is consistent with Carolin
Klar's fundamental understanding of
leadership: “Leadership should take
place at eye level. Directive leadership is
becoming less and less important in
favor of enabling and coaching.”

Motivation and
communication

Katrin Behrens would definitely agree
with this. Since March of this year, she
has been CEO of Otto Group One.O -
the Otto Group's central partner for
strategy consulting and technology -
where she manages around a thousand
employees at eight locations in Europe
and Asia.

Katrin Behrens highlights the impor-
tance of motivation, communication
and persuasion. What is more, good
managers must be able to remain con-
fident and make sound, clear decisions,
especially in fraught and stressful situa-
tions. "It takes courage. My positive
mindset helps me to radiate and convey
confidence and optimism. And let’s
not forget humor.”

“I always want to
engender a thirst
for performance.”

Dr. Nadja Grabenstréer
Chief Commercial Officer (CCO)
SupplyX

Transparency and empathy

Dr. Nadja Grabenstroer radiates posi-
tive energy as well. She smiles a lot in
conversation, while still appearing
unfailingly focused. She has been Chief
Commercial Officer (CCO) of SupplyX
GmbH since the end of 2024. The for-
mer Otto Group Logistics GmbH helps
retailers and platforms to organize
supply chain management.

A graduate of American studies and busi-
ness administration, Nadja Grabenstroer
worked at McKinsey and then held
various management roles within the
Otto Group. Now she is Managing
Director of an international company
and in charge of employees at five loca-
tions in Germany.

“For me, good leadership means being
transparent and empathetic, encourag-
ing people but also challenging them.
And it also means admitting myself that
| don’t know everything and that | don’t
even want to. That's why | have my teams.
But | have to define the framework,
make decisions and manage the conse-
quences,” says the CCO. Establishing
successful teams requires an environment
in which outstanding results are achieved
and also appreciated. “l always want to
engender a thirst for performance.”

It is precisely this understanding of lead-
ership that is needed at a time when
strengthening the performance culture
is essential in order to meet the enor-
mous economic challenges and secure
the long-term success of the Otto Group
and its Group companies.
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Three questions for Celina Simon-Rettberg

QuG Vaalis,

diversity

Diversity is currently the subject of
much debate. Changing social and
political trends, compounded by eco-
nomic crises: The commitment is
being called into question or scaled
back in many places. Can you describe
the stance at the Otto Group?

The Otto Group advocates for value-
oriented business. This also includes a
clear commitment to diversity. In chal-
lenging times, people have a tendency
to seek comfort in the things they know.
So broadly speaking, it is understand-
able that they want to keep uncertainty
at arm’s length. But this is about more
than just fleeting trends. When laws and
regulations change in countries, we

are also forced to adapt. But it is all the
more important to strengthen human
diversity and to value and protect
individuality, especially in democratically
governed countries.

At the Otto Group, we live diversity on a
daily basis, for example by recruiting the

?

best, diverse talents and ensuring that
all of our colleagues feel that they
belong here. Of course, difficult eco-
nomic times are always challenging, but
| think it would be fatal to halt measures
that promote belonging and together-
ness. After all, it is precisely in times of
crisis that companies benefit from
diversity, as it takes different perspec-
tives to find the best response to new
challenges.

How are diversity and performance
culture related?

| believe that the two are clearly con-
nected! Business risk management
teaches us to position the portfolio as
broadly as possible in order to be pre-
pared for challenges. A comparably
diverse structure is advisable for teams
and organizations: Maximizing the
diversity of perspectives bolsters resil-
ience, come what may. The Otto Group
has long recognized that a diverse
workforce enhances performance, and

“Diverse
perspectives
yield better

solutions.”

Celina Simon-Rettberg
Division Manager HR Strategy,
Tech & Transformation
Otto Group

we are committed to this in the future.
We value the diversity of perspectives,
and | am delighted to support the many
measures that are needed to create a
diverse working environment with my
team.

Is diversity a leadership task?

Yes and no. Like any other value-oriented
behavior, managers should lead by
example and embody this principle ... as
it will otherwise be difficult to establish
values and behavioral patterns. In orga-
nizations, managers continue to act

as role models and employees now look
even more closely at management con-
duct. So there is a high risk that col-
leagues will leave the company if they
experience a discrepancy between
messaging and actions.

| therefore believe that introducing and
embodying diversity is clearly a leader-
ship task. But diverse and performance-
based work can only succeed if every-
one sees it as their own task to
contribute to this. The self-understand-
ing that diverse perspectives lead to
better solutions and enjoying construc-
tive friction with colleagues starts with
oneself.
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The
TFUCUIRE OfF
cultural
change

Cultural change has been a key driver

for future viability in the Otto Group
since 2015. What began as an open,
participatory process became an
established professional discipline.

Now is the time to proceed to the next
stage of development: From fall 2024,
the tasks of the central Cultural
Change team have been reassigned
to various specialist units within

Otto Group Holding, where key levers

for change are located: Corporate HR
will develop the underlying framework
conditions for new structures and
management principles. The unit also
provides vital impetus through the
#CDX cultural change conference, the
internal Cultural Change Community
with around 300 members and the
external Cultural Change Collective
with more than 1,400 members. The
Change & Transformation Center team
supports specific change processes.
As a specialist unit, Strategy and Trans-
formation provides key impetus for the
strategic direction of the company and
portfolio, while Corporate Communi-
cations actively designs formats for
transparency and participation and in
doing so makes performance tangible.

Decentralized skills development, the
introduction of firm structures and the
consistent focus on attitude and effec-
tiveness make cultural change an effec-
tive lever for the Otto Group's transfor-
mation capability and performance
today.

Win=wWimns

Careers in the Group

The Otto Group’s understanding of leadership includes

actively developing colleagues and consciously using its

various business models to harness diversity in a pur-

poseful manner within the Group.

The Group-wide talent management
provides a framework for this, also by
including overarching programs such
as the Otto Group Academy and the
"Your Next Move" initiative. The initia-
tive is aimed at employees who identify
with the Otto Group as an employer, but
still feel drawn to a career change that
would not be possible in their current
working environment. For example,
local talent brokers in the Group com-
panies, who are in regular contact with
each other, support colleagues in their
search for development prospects
within the Group and thus ensure that
talent is retained within the organiza-
tion in the long term.

A clear win-win situation: Colleagues
know the values and culture that the
Otto Group embodies, are familiar with
the Group and can quickly create
added value - also in their own careers.
Conversely, talented employees and

their expertise remain with the Group
and take effect when they move to a
new position. This creates an innovative
working environment for everyone
involved, keeping the learning curve
steep and encouraging them to seize
opportunities.

Moving forward, the Otto Group will
maintain its broad scope of action and
focus on performance by promoting
mobility within the Group.
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Despite the continuing eco-
nomic and geopolitical chal-
lenges, the Otto Group has
managed to seize opportuni-
ties and ride the tailwinds.

We have continued to drive
transformation, make import-
ant investments, launch key
innovations and inspire our
customers. Last but not least,
we have continued with the
generational change to guar-
antee viability going forward.
Our values and responsibility
towards society, our partners
and our employees have con-
sistently remained our guiding
principles. The Otto Group
can look back on an eventful
financial year.

Mareh

Cociety launches the CoSaturday project

2 O Z 5 The Cociety network - which was founded by Prof. Dr. Michael Otto and that
comprises ten non-profit organizations - launches an evidence-based dialog and

feedback platform involving one hundred representative residents of Hamburg

to improve democratic crisis management within our society. Scheduled to run for
two years, the project aims to strengthen social cohesion, encourage human con-
tact and enable dialog on socially controversial matters. As one of ten “EU FutuRe-
silience Labs”, the project is also receiving scientific support to evaluate the extent
to which these measures contribute to social resilience.

A strong position . °
moving forward

Entrepreneur and Chairman of the Supervisory Board Prof. Dr. Michael Otto initiates the long-awaited
generational change at the helm of the Otto Group at the beginning of the 2024/25 financial year.
His son Benjamin Otto will take charge of the Group on March 1, 2026. The executive shareholder
will become Chairman of the Foundation Board and Shareholders’ Council and will hence oversee
the international retail and services group — with Alexander Birken at his side, who took over as Chair-
man of the Supervisory Board on March 1, 2025. A simultaneous generational change is taking
place at Executive Board level as well. Petra Scharner-Wolff will become the new Chairwoman of
the Executive Board, while Katy Roewer will be the Group’s new Chief Financial Officer and Chief
Human Resources Officer.
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April

OTTO opens new
headquarters in Hamburg

After five years of construction,
the OTTO Group company opens
its new headquarters in Hamburg-
Bramfeld on April 16. Joined by
Hamburg’s First Mayor Dr. Peter
Tschentscher and Prof. Dr. Michael
Otto - at the time Chairman of
the Supervisory Board of the
Otto Group - the former OTTO
Division Board Member Katy

Roewer officially opened the
converted former warehouse in a
ceremony attended by 250 invited
guests. Over 3,000 people will
share desks in ultra-modern work-
spaces at the new headquarters
on the Otto Group Campus. Invest-
ments totaled over €100 million -
expressing a strong commitment

to Hamburg as a business location.

@’\@
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Peatlands and their
climate superpowers

The "toMOORow” initiative has
been campaigning for the rewetting
and sustainable use of peatlands
since 2021. It was supported from
day one by the Otto Group and its
Group companies OTTO, Bonprix,
Hermes Germany, the Witt Group,
Baur and Systain Consulting. The Alli-
ance of Pioneers — an association of
strong and innovative companies
entered into a commitment to build
scalable value chains with Paludi
biomass from sustainably managed
wet peatlands - is publicly launched
on April 30 under the umbrella of
“toMOORow".

Support for
“Fashion against
Fascism”

The Laut gegen Nazis e. V.
association launches the
“Fashion against Fascism”
campaign to take action
against the inadvertent dis-
semination of right-wing
extremist codes in the fashion
industry. Various Otto Group
companies join the initiative.
Supported by a wide array of
partners, the association
launches the largest online
database against Nazi codes.
The database is updated
continuously to include
insider information and

anonymous reports.

An API connects to the data-
base to enable universal
access and halt the spread of
right-wing extremist codes. A
web crawler enables compa-
nies to conduct simple checks
to determine whether any
relevant codes are inadver-
tently gaining a foothold on
their own online platforms.
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Ten
years of

About
You

Founded by the Otto Group,
About You was launched in
2014 with the mission of revolu-
tionizing the personal shopping
experience - especially for
Gens Y and Z: Delivering a
bespoke, inspirational and digi-
tal shopping experience, the
company is focused entirely on
its customers. A decade later,
the About You Group is at the
vanguard of the European
online fashion and e-commerce
industry. The group includes
About You - one of the preemi-
nent online fashion stores in
Europe - and Scayle, which is
among the world’s fastest
growing software-as-a-service
commerce platforms.

Participation in
Norrsken VC

The Otto Group invests in
Norrsken VC, an early-stage
impact investor, as an addi-
tion to its longstanding cor-
porate venturing activities.
The company is a European
pioneer in the field of impact
investing and specifically
funds start-ups that show a
measurably positive impact
on the environment and soci-
ety, aside from yielding
attractive financial returns.

Norrsken VC closed its second
fund with a total volume of
EUR 320 million in May.
Among the investors are KfW
Capital, the BMW Group, the
BMW Foundation and the
Otto Group. The fund will
support 30 impact start-ups
in total with a focus on the
DACH region.

June

Sustainability passport
for the Bonprix swimwear
collection

Bonprix marks the beginning of the 2024
summer season by presenting its latest
swimwear collection. Not only is it made
from more sustainable materials, it also
comes with a sustainability passport for
the first time. This digital product pass-
port charts all stages of the supply chain,
provides insights into the environmental
performance of selected suppliers and
explains the environmental impact of each
product. Customers can scan the QR code
on the hangtag to review the performance
indicators. This detailed product passport
was created in a joint pilot project with
the start-up Made2flow.

OTTO launches
Live Shopping
on Apple Vision
Pro

Group company OTTO
expands its Live Shopping
program with a proprietary
app to mark the German
launch of the Apple Vision
Pro: Prior to making a pur-
chase, OTTO Live Shopping
for Apple Vision Pro invites
customers to experience
numerous products in 3D
during live augmented reality
(AR) shopping shows. OTTO
cooperates on the launch
with prestigious partners
such as Lego and Miele, who
provide 3D models of
selected products.
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HES launches infrastructure project in Berlin

Hermes Einrichtungs Service (HES) in Berlin launched an important
project on its journey towards more sustainable logistics: twelve
double charging stations (make: Alfen Eve Double Pro-Line) with
24 charging points - each with a capacity of up to 22 kW - and

a new grid connection were installed at the Berlin-Spandau depot
site. This ensures that sufficient capacity is now available to charge
the e-vehicle fleet and to carry out, effective immediately, two
thirds of daily transport routes without zero emissions. At present,
this location handles around 30 to 35 tours a day in several boroughs
of Berlin and the surrounding areas.

OTTO's third
Circular Collection

OTTO launches its third, fully recyclable
women'’s fashion collection under the
OTTO Products brand. OTTO use the
“Love it, wear it, recycle it” claim to
promote the new garments, which are
designed from the outset for high-
quality recycling and transformation
into new products. Other brands such
as Marc O’Polo, Trigema and Detto
Fatto also showcase their circular
fashion with OTTO.

Read the Sustainability section
to learn more

Grow(ing)
together: Eos
celebrates its
anniversary

What began on June 26, 1974
with Mercator-Inkasso in Ger-
many is now a leading interna-
tional technology-based investor
in receivables portfolios and an
expert in the processing of out-
standing receivables. Part of the
Otto Group, Eos has, over the
past 50 years, evolved from being
a loose network of companies
into a successful international
group with a strong brand.

Customers from various indus-
tries in more than 20 countries
throughout Europe now place
their trust in the Eos Group. Eos
celebrates its milestone birthday
with a large anniversary town
hall meeting attended by around
2,000 colleagues from the various
national companies via live-
stream, public viewing or on site
at the headquarters in Hamburg.

Cultureasa
performance
factor: #CDX24

The Otto Group’s Cultural Change team orga-
nizes its seventh Culture Development Experi-
ence (#CDX24). More than 600 participants,
members of the Cultural Change Collective ini-
tiated by the Otto Group and other interested
persons from corporations, medium-sized com-
panies, NGOs and educational institutions
attend various sessions to discuss and work with
colleagues from the Otto Group to address the
topic of culture as a performance factor.
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July

Electrification of
parcel delivery

Hermes Germany is taking a variety of measures in its
concerted efforts to reducing its volume of carbon emis-
sions. These include transforming last-mile structures in
80 major German city centers by the end of 2025: The
switch to electric doorstep delivery had already been com-
pleted in 55 city centers by July 2024, and another ten
other cities had already embarked on the transition by this
date. Aside from this project, Hermes Germany is also
electrifying its vehicle fleet at other locations. Over

1,100 electric vehicles are already in operation (as of
July 2024). Including all measures, the parcel logistics
company has since organized deliveries in an area of
around 4,400 square kilometers with zero local carbon
emissions. This is equivalent to the size of almost
600,000 soccer fields or the entire area of the Spanish
islands of Mallorca and Menorca.

State-of-the-art shuttle ware-
house opens in Altenkunstadt

The Otto Group celebrates the official opening
of its new shuttle warehouse in Altenkunstadt
onJuly 4, 2024 around two years after the
ground-breaking ceremony. The Group invested
around EUR 150 million in the expansion and
technological modernization of the site. Fully
automated, the new facility expands the cur-
rent fulfilment center and turns Altenkunstadt
into one of Europe’s most modern and largest
logistics hubs. With this investment, the

Otto Group is strengthening its logistical per-
formance, raising the bar within online retail and
at the same time promoting economic devel-
opment within the Upper Franconia region.

Otto Group sells
minority interest in Evri

The private equity provider Advent Inter-
national and Otto Group sell their shares in
Evri’s UK business to Apollo. Evri is one of
the largest parcel delivery companies in
the UK and today distributes over twelve
million parcels a week to British e-com-
merce customers. All of the Otto Group
shares - just under 25 percent - are trans-
ferred to the new owner.

AUguUst

75 years of
OTTO

OTTO turns 75 on August 17,
2024. What began with 28 pairs
of shoes and a hand-bound cat-
alog is now the largest German
online store and part of the inter-
national Otto Group. OTTO looks
back on the changes that have
taken place in the company’s
75-year history and launches a
variety of celebratory campaigns,
just in time for its anniversary.
Examples include a OTTO's birth-
day sneaker in cooperation with
Adidas - a limited edition with the
signature of Otto Waalkes - and
the launch of a limited capsule
collection with the Hamburg
fashion label Mojo. As part of its
birthday festivities, OTTO also
endorses the “Dein Paket ist dal!
Shoppen auf Bestellung” (Your
Parcel Has Arrived! Shopping on
Demand) Exhibition at the Museum
of Work, Hamburg, which opens
on September 4.
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GP care distribution center

in Switzerland

Switzerland is experienc-
ing a shortage of general
practitioners, and now
emergency wards are
overloaded and the cost
of treatment is rising. On
their quest to ensure uni-
versal availability of nec-
essary medical treatment,
Medgate and its partner
Groupe Mutuel offer a
new way of finding a
general practitioner as
part of the Optimed
basic insurance model:
Starting January 1, 2025,
insured persons are able
to select Medgate's
remote team of tele-GPs
as their first point of con-
tact. Experienced tele-
medicine specialists are
available by telephone to
patients at any location
in order to respond to
their medical concerns.

Otto Group
puts Stretch into
operation

The Otto Group was Europe’s first company in put
the “Stretch” handling robot from Boston Dynam-
ics into operation at the Hermes Fulfilment logis-
tics center in Haldensleben. The innovative
robot for unloading heavy parcels in containers
provides technological support for particularly
physically demanding tasks and - in view of the
shortage of labor — addresses demographic
change in the warehouse sector. Integrating
Stretch marks yet another significant step in the
strategic partnership between the Otto Group
and Boston Dynamics.

LOCICT
LOCICT
I s

U

in Haldensleben

Hermes Fulfilment’s distribu-
tion center in Haldensleben
operates as the beating heart
of logistics. And this heart has
been beating in the vast logis-
tics center near Magdeburg
for 30 years now, making
Hermes Fulfilment one of the
largest employers in Saxony-
Anhalt. The Otto Group's fulfil-
ment provider celebrates its
milestone anniversary on Sep-
tember 13, 2024 in an event
attended by guests from poli-
tics, business and civil society.
Each year, over a hundred
million items from the Bonprix
fashion brand are shipped from
Haldensleben to customers in
key European markets. And
the site is constantly evolving
thanks to state-of-the-art Al
and robotics solutions and the
digitization of value creation -
with logistics as an integral
part.

NI
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Otto International
OpEeNs a New
location

Following an extensive renovation
phase, Otto International opens its
new site in Dongguan, Ching, in
mid-September. It will now be home
to around 150 employees, including
white-collar workers and quality tech-
nicians, as well as shipping and IT
teams. The internal team specializing
in virtual 3D product development
solutions is also located here. Otto
International now has 20 permanent
establishments worldwide.
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Launch of
SupplyX

Otto Group Logistics GmbH -
previously Hermes International
under the umbrella of Hermes
Germany - will operate as part
of the SupplyX brand moving
forward. The Otto Group com-
pany will continue to build on its
position as a pioneering logis-
tics provider for global supply
chain management and freight
forwarding as well as a strong
partner for B2B customers.
SupplyX is already optimizing
supply chain management for a
large number of e-commerce
and retail companies.

The logistics provider assists
with the planning, coordination
and control of goods flows from
the supplier to end customers.
It prioritizes optimizing the per-
formance of supply chains,
including the implementation of
customer-specific supply chain
management strategies as a
means of maximizing long-term
customer benefits.

Freemans trusts in
Sophie Ellis-Bextor

Freemans has selected the singer Sophie
Ellis-Bextor as the face of its fall/winter cam-
paign. Over recent years, the UK-based
e-commerce retailer has successfully com-
pleted its transformation from a mail-order
business to a purely online provider and has
focused on growth and relevance. Its collab-
oration with Ellis-Bextor is the centerpiece
of a revamped strategy aimed at drawing
attention to the online store Freemans.com,
which curates a variety of major international
brands. Another aim is use a series of new
fashion collections to tap into additional tar-
get audiences, especially women over 40.
And its success is evident in the weeks lead-
ing up to Christmas: Freemans.com records
the strongest Cyber Week (Black Friday and
Cyber Monday) in its history with a 25 and
28 percent year-on-year increase in sales. The
collaboration with Sophie Ellis-Bextor is
planned to continue in the spring/summer
2025 campaign.

Harnessing Al
to standardize
brand

language

Bonprix uses artificial intelli-
gence (Al) for inspirational
and branded customer com-
munication and rolls out an
innovative GenAl tool based
on GPT-4 and its proprietary
Brand Language Converter.
It ensures uniform brand
language throughout the
company and maintains
consistency across all com-
munication channels.

The project was designed in
close collaboration with OSP
(Otto Group Solution Provider;
now One.O) and was subse-
quently implemented in
ogGPT, the Otto Group's pro-
prietary Al assistant.

Digital
Sustainability Days:
#CRX24

Climate change is the greatest
challenge of our time. But how can
we position ourselves as proactive
agents? Are clear rules and laws
helpful or do they inhibit rapid
progress?

Joined by decision-makers from
politics, business and civil society
at the Otto Group's second Corpo-
rate Responsibility Experience -
#CRX24 for short - CEO Alexander
Birken and Group Vice President
Corporate Responsibility Prof. Dr.
Tobias Wollermann, come together
at the end of September to discuss
precisely these questions and other
exciting, related topics.

The event is publicly accessible as
a livestream and marks the start of
the internal Digital Sustainability
Days and the Group-wide digital
data cleaning as active contribu-
tions to climate protection and the
responsible use of resources.
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How the 50+ generation
loves and lives

What does the 50+ generation feel
about love and relationships? Con-
ducted by the Rheingold Institute,
the major Witt study entitled “How
the 50+ generation loves and lives in
Germany” provides answers to this
question. The qualitative and quan-
titative study draws on 65 in-depth
interviews and a representative
online survey of 1,061 people aged
between 50 and 70. With its com-
prehensive study, the Witt Group is
addressing the realities of life for

this somewhat neglected generation.

The aim of the study was to obtain
evidence-based insights into their
wishes, desires and needs - and to
draw conclusions for their own
business.

October

Baur Group
creates

a European
retailer association

Collaborating with its sub-
sidiary Otto Austria Group
(formerly Unito) and OTTO
Netherlands, the Baur Group
intends to create an inte-
grated, strong and syner-
getic European network
of retailers within the

Otto Group. The network
will serve several million
customers in the four Euro-
pean markets of Germany,
Austria, Switzerland and
the Netherlands. Fresh
growth and earnings poten-
tial will be tapped by pool-
ing competencies and
strengths. The aim is to
achieve a significant
increase in the competi-
tiveness of the Group and
the individual brands in
particular in a challenging
market environment.

Sheego absorbed by the Witt Group

Sheego GmbH will become part of the Witt Group’s brand portfolio in 2025. This
integration aims to pool the expertise of both Group companies and, similar to the
integration of the Heine brand in 2019, to leverage synergies across all areas of the
company. The measure will enable Sheego to achieve significant improvements in
its cost base and structure. In return, the Witt Group will benefit from many factors,
including Sheego’s extensive online and B2B expertise. The Witt Group will also have
potential for growth in the plus-size segment. By joining with Sheego as a younger
and more online-savvy brand, the Witt Group will be able to consolidate its position
as the leading omnichannel textile company for the 50+ target audience.

Otto Group opens distri-
< bution center in fowa

The Otto Group’s new logistics center in lfowaq,
Poland, was officially opened on 24 October,

- almost two and a half years after the foundation
stone was laid. This revolutionary site — considered

one of the most modern and largest logistics hubs
q in Europe - was inaugurated in a ceremony attended
by Krzysztof Gawkowski, Deputy Prime Minister of
= Poland, and Prof. Dr. Michael Otto, then Chairman

4/
of the Supervisory Board of the Otto Group. With
investments in the mid three-digit million euro
range, the new logistics center underlines the
Otto Group’s commitment to innovative logistics
and to Europe as a business location.
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Novemlber

Using TAN for
more security in
parcel delivery

Hermes Germany
expands its portfolio for
business customers by
adding a service for
secure parcel delivery:
Online retailers can now
ship goods with TAN-
secured delivery.

If this service is booked,
recipients are sent an
email by Hermes Germany
including a TAN as soon
as the logistics providers
have received the con-
signment details. This
unique four-digit numeri-
cal code is required in
order to take possession
of the parcel. Naturally,
this new process does not
inhibit the flexibility of
recipients in regard to
parcel delivery.

Witt Group and |
Hermes trial
exoskeletonsin
logistics

The Witt Group recently started testing
four exoskeletons from the Swiss
company Auxivo in its logistics. In July,

Hermes Germany introduced
backexoskeletons from Suitx by Ottobock
at the three locations in Friedewald,

Graben and Langenhagen. They are intended
to help employees lift and carry heavy
loads - for instance in incoming goods,

replenishments and outgoing shipments.

The individually adjustable models use
harnesses to counteract the force of
gravity and support the back, hip and

shoulders muscles when carrying loads in
front of and above the body.

Decemnmlber

OTTO records its highest order volume
on Black Friday

The Group company OTTO achieved a 17 percent
year-on-yedar increase in order values between Novem-
ber 19 and December 2. This growth was noticeable
both in our own retail business and on the marketplace.
At peak times, OTTO received up to twelve orders per
second during the Black Friday phase.

BFS closes its Weismain logistics hub

Faced with the challenging overall economic situation and the continued
reluctance of potential new clients and hence a lack of external customers,
the management of BFS Baur Fulfillment Solutions GmbH has decided to
close the logistics hub in Weismain by mid-2025.

About You receives public takeover
bid from Zalando

The shareholders and Executive Board of the Otto Group
welcome the merger of the two leading European fash-
jon e-commerce companies About You SE and Co KG,
Hamburg, and Zalando SE, Berlin, which Zalando put on
the table. Combining the complementary strengths of
the two excellently positioned online players and the
planned two-brand strategy would significantly increase
the company’s presence in the pan-European markets.
At the same time, the Executive Board and shareholders
of the Otto Group have made a very conscious decision
to refrain from procuring a larger interest in the new
company. The issue of being able to exert relevant influ-
ence on joint ventures in its core business has been and
remains important to the Otto Group. This would not be
possible in the new constellation.
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Record: over
4.5 million shipments per
day on the network

Hermes Germany’s can look back on the Christmas
2024 period as positive, recording 99.8 percent of par-
cels and packages delivered on time during the fes-
tive season and an 8.9 percent year-on-year increase
in peak shipment volume handling. Two days at the
beginning of December stand out as new records:
Across all logistics touchpoints - i.e. all stages of the
workflow, including sorting at the logistics hubs - the
number of shipments handled on the two peak days
on December 3 and 4 in the Hermes Germany net-
work each amounted to over 4.5 million. This broader
perspective is emblematic of the logistics network’s
immense efficiency during peak season.

January
Shaking for more accessibility

Android and iOS users with the latest operating
system on their mobile devices can use the new
“Shake for Help” function in the OTTO app. Users
can simply shake their devices to report barriers

on the platform, contact customer service or to
chat with a bot - at any time and from any location.
Shake for Help aims to provide all of OTTO'’s
approximately twelve million active customers with
an accessible and inclusive shopping experience.

Prof. Dr. Michael Otto
in the Hall of Fame

A special honor was conferred on Prof. Dr. Michael Otto
received in Munich at the end of January 2025: The
Handelsblatt business journal voted him into the Hall
of Fame for particularly noteworthy family entrepre-
neurs. Prof. Dr. Michael Otto is afforded this honor to
reflect the history of the Otto Group as a story of
courage, innovation and responsibility — a striking
example of how family businesses create value and
at the same time accept responsibility for society,
said Matthias Schmelzer, CEO of KPMG and mem-
ber of the jury, in his laudatory speech. With this
award, Prof. Dr. Michael Otto joins the ranks of fam-
ily dynasties such as Heraeus, Klatten (BMW),
Metzler, Miele and Sixt.

Felbruary

Test case for declaratory
action against Eos dismissed

The Federal Court of Justice (BGH) has
overturned a ruling by the Hanseatic
Higher Regional Court of Hamburg
against Eos from June 2023. This deci-
sion therefore dismissed the test case for
declaratory action filed by the Federal
Association of German Consumer Orga-
nizations in August 2021. The judgment
is final.

The proceedings concerned, among
other things, the question of whether
defaulting consumers are obliged to
pay the delinquency fee if Eos collects
receivables from other Otto Group com-
panies (e.g. OTTO, Bonprix or Witt). With
its ruling, the BGH has now clarified that
charging a fee on arrearage is also law-
ful in the case of “group debt collection”.
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Foundation of
Otto Group One.O

Going forward, the Otto Group will
merge the two tech providers in
One.O - OSP and Otto Group IT - as
well as the Otto Group Holding divi-
sion Digital & Consulting into one
company as a fresh brand and name.

The tech merger project aims to bring
together the three units with around
1,000 employees and locations in
Germany, India, Taiwan and Spain to
create a powerful and efficient part-
ner with end-to-end consulting and
technology expertise within the
Otto Group.

Sebastian Klauke bids the
Otto Group farewell

Member of the Otto Group Executive
Board Sebastian Klauke, whose remit
includes e-commerce, technology, busi-
ness intelligence and corporate ven-
tures, is leaving the Otto Group at his
own request on February 28, 2025 to
accept a new professional challenge.
The successor will be named in due

course.

Honor for Prof.,
Dr. Michael Otto

The Bertelsmann Stiftung awarded
the EUR 200.000 Reinhard Mohn
Prize 2025 to the President of the
Republic of Moldova, Maia Sandu,
and entrepreneur and founder

Prof. Dr. Michael Otto for their com-
mitment to democracy in a ceremony
attended by German President
Frank-Walter Steinmeier.

In her laudatory speech, Liz Mohn,
honorary member of the Board of
Trustees and global representative of
the Bertelsmann Stiftung stated that
both award winners were honored for
their contribution to promoting the
resilience of democracy — Maia Sandu
in the political arena, Michael Otto in
civil society and business. The two
winners will share the prize money and
donate it to charitable projects and
initiatives. Prof. Dr. Michael Otto is
especially keen to support local ini-
tiatives that strengthen the liberal,
open society at grassroots level - ini-
tially with a focus on Hamburg. The
funds will be allocated by the
Engagement Fund that was estab-
lished for this purpose by the Michael
Otto Foundation for Sustainability.

OTTO video shopping with Joyn

OTTO is launching a branded on demand channel in cooperation with the ProSieben-

Sat.1 streaming platform Joyn. Broadcasting 24/7 for an extended period, Joyn

users will now be able to discover curated branded entertainment content on the

OTTO channel. The service is available for smart TVs, laptops and mobile devices

in the Joyn app.

Sit—

Crate and Barrel launches its
first collaboration with

Brigette Romanek

Crate and Barrel has embarked on a new and exclusive collaboration with

award-winning interior designer Brigette Romanek. The 54-piece collection

is designed to create a moment of calm in any room. Brigette Romanek’s

laid-back design philosophy is expressed in the playful curves, a variety of

organic textures and a calming color scheme with Californian flair. The

“Brigette Romanek for Crate and Barrel” collection of furniture and home-

ware is available in retail outlets and online and in the mobile app.



Otto Group
2024/25 Annual Report

49

Sustainasil

50 Our holistic view of sustainability
62 Eco shift

71 Business shift

82 Mind shift



®

Sustainability

Otto Group
2024/25 Annual Report

50

Our holistic view of
sustainability

Our ambition

The economy is there to benefit people - not the other
way round. This mindset and strong awareness it engen-
ders for social responsibility are among the hallmarks of
the Otto Group. Prof. Dr. Michael Otto recognized at an
early stage that the future would be built on sustainable
practices, inspiring customers, employees, business
partners and like-minded people from other companies
with this vision. Climate protection and corporate social
responsibility were incorporated within our business
strategy as early as 1986, giving rise to numerous initia-
tives for people, nature and society over the decades.

Sustainability and corporate responsibility have been
intrinsic elements in the Otto Group’s success for more
than forty years. Our corporate responsibility (CR) strat-
egy is firmly enshrined in our corporate strategy and the
shareholder vision of “Responsible commerce that
inspires”. Our ambition is to reconcile sustainability and
economic success along our entire value chain and to
evaluate business decisions with regard to possible
effects on the environment, people and society. Ethical
behavior and a comprehensive understanding of sus-
tainability are not contradictory to our growth strategy,
but are prerequisites for it. This sense of responsibility is
reflected in everything we do, from our supply chain
requirements and our strict commitment to doing busi-
ness globally in accordance with human rights to our
efforts to protect the environment and the climate.

Sustainability management
in the Otto Group

Corporate responsibility

Sustainability is comprehensively integrated into the
business activities of the Otto Group and anchored at
the highest strategic planning level. The Executive
Board bears overall responsibility for the Otto Group's
CR strategy. It is responsible for ensuring that sustain-
ability aspects are given adequate consideration in the
Group's landmark decisions and become integral ele-
ments of the Otto Group’s management and processes.
Relevant topics feature regularly on the agenda of the
Executive Board’s discussion and decision-making
formats.

Sustainability within the Otto Group is managed by the
Corporate Responsibility department. Until the end of
February 2025, this department reported directly to
Alexander Birken, CEO of the Otto Group; since March
2025, it has reported to Petra Scharner-Wolff, who has
held the position since the start of the 2025/26 finan-
cial year. The department also advises both the
CR Board and the Executive Board. The department
consists of experts in the fields of “Strategy, Communi-

"nou

cation and Processes”, “Technology”, “Human Rights

and Responsible Supply Chain”, “Climate and Ecology”
and “Materials and Circularity”. By defining binding
Otto Group Sustainability Standards, the department
creates a framework for action that extends beyond
the legal requirements and is responsible for ongoing
development and reporting in regard to the overarch-

ing CR strategy.

To this end, the department works closely with other
departments such as the legal department, colleagues
from the finance department, risk management or cor-
porate communications. The department also acts as an
interface between the Group Executive Board and the
CR-departments of the individual Group companies.

For implementation, each of the relevant Group com-
panies has assembled an interdisciplinary CR team,
comprising a Sustainability Officer and experts for the
individual topic areas within the scope of the CR strat-
egy. The teams are tasked with advancing the sustain-
ability topics and establishing synergies within the
Group. They regularly exchange information with their
respective Managing Directors, who are responsible for
the adherence to compliance requirements and imple-
mentation of the CR strategy in their companies.

The Group-wide exchange of best practices and net-
working of experts and interested employees in the
Otto Group are some of the key success factors under-
pinning our strategy. Within our seven topic areas the
colleagues responsible for CR and experts at the Group
companies and the Otto Group Holding gather regularly
in expert circles to discuss the achievement of targets
within their remits, share thoughts on new ambitions
and ideas and develop and implement suitable
measures.

The CR Board is the central decision-making board that
has been tasked by the Executive Board with develop-
ing CR management in the Group. It consists of repre-
sentatives from important companies within the

Otto Group and adopts the perspective of the
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Otto Group without neglecting the views of the Group
companies themselves.

Led by the Chair of the Otto Group Executive Board, the
CR Board is mandated with defining overarching sus-
tainability goals for the Otto Group within the frame-
work of the CR strategy and adopting individual targets
and measures for the Group companies. The CR Board
advises the Executive Board on far-reaching decisions,
including fundamental adjustments to the CR strategy
or decisions that involve significant investments or have
a significant impact on the business models of Group
companies.

Executive compensation

The Executive Board members’ variable remuneration
has also been linked to the achievement of sustainability
goals since the 2014/15 financial year; this has also
applied to the Management Board members of the
Group companies OTTO and Bonprix as well as the
Witt Group and the Hermes Fulfiilment Group since
2022/23. Incentives for Otto Group Executive Board
members are weighted equally and are based on key
performance indicators in the CR strategy. The key per-
formance indicators used as incentives for the Managing
Directors are aligned with the specific target profiles of
the Group companies.

Clear responsibilities and management processes

Group Executive Board

is responsible for the Otto Group's
CR strategy and decides on
far-reaching CR issues at the
Otto Group level

CR Board

has the mandate to make strategic
decisions regarding the Group, e.g.,
adoption of new core priorities and
plans of the companies, and advises
the Executive Board on far-reaching
decisions

CR Team Otto Group Holding

is responsible for creating and devel-
oping the action framework by defin-
ing binding sustainability standards
and the CR strategy, which enable
implementation by the Group compa-
nies, and for advising the CR Board
and Executive Board on strategic
issues, reporting, and target
achievement

Close Collaboration

with other departments such as
the legal department, colleagues
from the finance department,
risk management or corporate
communications

Executive management at
Group companies

is responsible for the implementation
and achievement of the corporate
goals of the Group and for compliance
with its basic (regulatory and self-com-
mitted compliance) requirements

Sustainability Officer/CR Team
in the Group companies

is responsible for developing and
implementing the plans, monitors
them in exchange with the managing
directors, manages the local CR team,
and transfers knowledge within their
own organization and the Otto Group
(expert circles)

Local Team/Experts

in the Group companies (e.g.,
Purchasing, Sales, HR)
implement(s) CR topics in everyday
work and cooperate(s) across the
Group with experts from other Group
companies
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Our materiality analysis

Our CR strategy builds on a materiality analysis, which
was last updated in 2021. We have looked at the entire
value chain of our major business areas and identified
where our business activities have the greatest negative
impact on people and the environment. From this, we
have identified where we need to set strategic priorities.

This was based on discussions with the CR-departments
of the Otto Group and the Group companies, as well as
an assessment of the issues by external stakeholders. In
addition, we used a software tool to select and prioritize
topics, which is supported by metrics from an external
international database. Benchmarks and projections
helped us to assess and evaluate the environmental
impacts and social risks of our business activities.

We conduct regular reviews to ascertain whether there
have been changes to our material areas in terms of our
impact and the relevance for action by the Otto Group
and set the right priorities with our CR strategy. We col-
laborated with Systain Consulting to update our materi-
ality analysis in the reporting year, based on the require-
ments of the non-financial reporting obligation under
the Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD).

Given that this annual report presents activities for the
2024/25 financial year in the context of the CR strategy
until the end of the financial year 2024/25, we refer to
the materiality analysis as of 2021.

Material topics

Social and environmental aspects in the supply chain
are a focus of our material issues with very high business
and operational relevance. In particular, this relates to
human rights aspects such as discrimination, working
hours, occupational safety and child and forced labor.
Tensions in the supply chain and in the geopolitical envi-
ronment have led to these issues becoming even more
important, while environmental aspects - including
greenhouse gas emissions in supply chains — remain top
priorities.

As part of the materiality analysis, we identified twelve
issues and assessed them across four dimensions of the
value chain. These are shown in the following material-
ity matrix. The higher the rating on the vertical and
horizontal axes, the more material the issue is to us as
a company. The vertical axis in the matrix maps how
the topic areas impact people and nature. The horizontal
axis reflects the impact of the issues on us as the
Otto Group, such as the impact of regulations, reputa-
tional risks and business relevance.

Our corporate responsibility
strategy

The Otto Group covers the entire retail value chain:
from procurement and purchasing to transport, mar-
keting, general services and financial services. The dif-
ferent business models have different focal points and
impacts. Each business model has an impact on our
sustainability goals, but the greatest impacts occur in
connection with our merchandise and their production.
As a Group, we always consider the entire value chain of
our own and licensed brands, from the production of
the products to their transportation and use by our cus-
tomers. Our goal is to make the entire value chain of our
products environmentally and socially compatible.

We work every day to anchor sustainability more firmly
in the business processes of the entire Otto Group. To
this end, we are raising awareness of the issue within
the Group and enabling the Group companies to
assume even greater responsibility for sustainability
issues. It is important for us to intensify networking and
cooperation between Group companies and external
stakeholders.
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Materiality matrix
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Our CR strategy reflects this commitment and is char-
acterized by a broad sense of responsibility, has ambi-
tious goals and requires a strong commitment by
employees and our management. Moreover, we attach
importance to giving Group companies sufficient lee-
way to develop solutions appropriate to their own busi-
ness models within the framework of strategic guide-
lines. In this way, we strike a balance between Group-
wide requirements and individual adaptability in order
to promote sustainability effectively and efficiently in
all areas. We revised our CR strategy in the reporting
year to ensure compliance with the current national
and international regulatory requirements (see “Our
Sustainability Strategy since March 2025").

Topic areas

Our seven topic areas for the CR strategy are based on
the areas we identified as material along our value
chain in our materiality analysis. On this basis, we have
developed these strategic areas for action: Climate,
Sustainable Materials, Supply Chain, Circularity,
Empowered Employees, Conscious Customers and

Digital Responsibility.

Looking at the entire value chain

In the upstream value chain, our environmental impact
and social risks are the greatest, covering the extraction
and processing of natural resources needed to produce
our goods. In the topic area of Supply Chain, we work
beyond the legal minimum requirements to improve
social and environmental performance in supply chains.
The upstream supply chain is also highly relevant for our
goals in the topic areas of Circularity, Sustainable
Materials and Climate. It plays a particularly important
role in connection with our climate protection activities,
which explains its full incorporation into our near-term
science-based target (SBT) (see Climate chapter).

At our own sites, the social and environmental impacts
of our business activities are comparatively low. At the
same time, we cannot achieve our sustainability goals
without our employees. They are the ones who drive
sustainability forward every day. The topic area of
Empowered Employees (see Empowered Employees
chapter) establishes the conditions for our employees
to make an active contribution to the sustainability
transformation at the Otto Group with their ideas, skills

and enthusiasm. Another important aspect is how we
can also shape digitization and its impact on our work-
ing environment in a responsible and value-oriented
way (see Digital Responsibility chapter).

The downstream value chain is also an important area
of activity for us to achieve our sustainability goals. Key
points of reference include our climate protection activ-
ities as part of our near-term SBT in the topic area of
Climate (see Climate chapter), for example with regard
to the delivery of goods and the use phase for customers,
aswell asinthe area of Circularity (see Circularity chapter),
as the right course must also be set for the circulation of
products and raw materials with regard to their use, dis-
posal and recycling. Since our customers play a key role
here, we strive to inspire their interest in the topic of sus-
tainability throughout the customer journey and to
enable conscious consumption decisions in the topic
area of Conscious Customer (see Conscious Customers
chapter).
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. Upstream
Value chain

From compliance to performance > From airplane

Extracting raw materials and production

Transport

to train

Internal operations

? From management to design

Strategy and development of measures

Transport Downstream

? From combustion > From linear to circular

to electric Use and end-of-life

Sustainable Materials

Climate

Supply Chain

Circularity

Digital Responsibility

Empowered Employees

Conscious Customers

The chart shows the scope of our measures in
the seven topic areas of the CR strategy along
our value chain. Larger circles indicate more
comprehensive measures. Small circles symbol-
ize pilot projects or innovative individual mea-
sures, for example.

Goals

Within each of our topic areas, we have formulated
visionary, long-term goals - the “transformational goals”.
These are substantiated in each case by shorter-term
goals with clearly defined time horizons - the core prior-
ities. The transformational goals enable us to align our
daily actions to the long-term corporate goals of the

Otto Group. The core priorities help to measure our
progress on the way to long-term change. They are
dynamic, regularly reviewed, adjusted, and gradually
supplemented to respond to current developments.

We have revised our CR strategy within the framework
of current regulatory requirements. Our Sustainability
Strategy came into force at the start of the financial

year 2025/26, largely incorporating previous sustain-
ability-related goals and efforts (see “Our Sustainability
Strategy since March 2025”). The targets we have
already achieved - and whose level we wish to uphold
for all Group companies - have been incorporated as
binding requirements in our own Otto Group Sustain-
ability Standards.
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Overview of the seven topic areas and their
respective Transformational Goals

Sustainable Materials

We apply more sustainable raw materials in
all our products.

Climate

We aim to achieve net zero emissions across
our entire value chain by 2045, going beyond
our near-term SBT.

Business shift

Supply Chain

We continuously improve the social and eco-
logical performance together with the facili-
ties in our supply chains.

Circularity

We incorporate circular principles and ensure
circularity in our business models.

Digital Responsibility

We shape a value-oriented
digitization for people and society.

Empowered Employees

We empower our employees to experience
and actively shape sustainability.

Conscious Customers

We enable and inspire our customers to
make conscious and sustainable decisions.

One of the challenges inherent to the CR strategy is also
a factor in its success: The different business models at
the Group companies must be taken into account. That
is why the design of the CR strategy is left to the Group
companies themselves. They develop individual priority
areas, goals and measures that match their business
models within their action framework set by the
Otto Group Holding. They are recorded in annual action
plans and reported to the CR Board and the Executive
Board. This ensures that all Group companies jointly
contribute to the Otto Group’s ambitious goals.

Scope

All Group companies that make a sizable contribution
to external revenue of the Otto Group in two consecu-
tive financial years are subject to the CR strategy. All
Group companies are governed by the Otto Group Sus-
tainability Standards, which are enshrined in our Group
Guideline on Sustainability in Purchasing in the Otto Group.
We also require our business partners to comply with
our guidelines by signing the “Business Partner Declara-
tion on Sustainability”. This document contains all our
requirements for our business partners for merchandise.
Signing the document is a basic requirement for a busi-
ness relationship with an Otto Group company. Part of
these binding requirements is also the amfori BSCI Code
of Conduct with the corresponding implementation
conditions, which includes social standards, rules for
environmental protection as well as occupational
safety. In addition, we have defined and implemented a

Group companies within the scope
of the CR strategy

Bonprix Freemans Grattan

Group company

venus Otto Austria Group
OTTO Limango
Witt (incl. Heine) Frankonia
Sheego Eos Group

Crate and Barrel Hermes Fulfilment

Hermes Einrichtungs Service

Baur Group (HES)

Hermes Germany*

1 Hermes Germany has been included in the consolidated financial state-
ments according to the equity method since the 2020/21 financial year.

Code of Conduct for services and non-merchandise,
which also includes social standards, rules on environ-
mental protection and occupational safety. Further-
more, our Code of Ethics provides all employees of the
Otto Group with guidelines for responsible conduct.
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Our
Sustainability
Strategy

since March 2025

Increasing demands are being placed on companies
in the area of sustainability due to growing regulatory
requirements and social expectations. At the same
time, we are adhering to our intention to continuously
reflect on and develop our sustainability goals. In
doing so, we consider the different sectors, business
models and company sizes within the Otto Group and
place different demands on the Group companies.

As a rule, regulatory requirements and our own

Otto Group Sustainability Standards apply to all Group
companies. These standards exceed legal require-
ments and define specific sustainability requirements
for the Otto Group. Our Sustainability Strategy also
pursues ambitious goals in the areas of Environment
and Human Rights, based on the successes of our pre-
vious corporate responsibility strategy.

Previous sustainability-related goals and efforts are
largely incorporated into the Sustainability Strategy.
The targets we have already achieved - and whose
level we wish to uphold for all Group companies -
have been incorporated as binding requirements in
our own Otto Group Sustainability Standards.

The Sustainability Strategy applies to Group
companies with the greatest impact on human
rights or environmental issues along the entire
value chain. These Impact Group companies are
OTTO, the Bonprix Group, the Witt Group, the
Crate and Barrel Group and Hermes Germany.

Moreover, we have appointed Otto International as

a so called facilitator, as the company supports the
Impact Group companies in achieving their goals,
particularly in regard to procurement in the upstream
supply chain.

Strategic topics are selected based on the results of
our materiality analysis, which we updated in collab-
oration with Systain Consulting in line with the CSRD
requirements.

We use the results to identify the greatest negative
impact of our business activities on people and the
environment as well as the associated opportunities
and risks for us as a company. The Sustainability
Strategy focuses primarily on environmental and
human rights issues in the supply chain and the phase
of utilization.
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Our ambitions in the
area of Environment

We aim to substantially lower our ecological
impacts to operate within planetary boundaries.
We reduce our greenhouse gas emissions in line
with the 1.5 degree climate target of the Paris
Climate Agreement, minimize our resource con-
sumption and protect biodiversity.

Accordingly, we have formulated our near-term
science-based climate target (near-term SBT) and
are following a path to reduce greenhouse gas
emissions by the end of the 2031/32 financial year
in line with the 1.5-degree path.

We have also defined ambitions that we are seeking
to achieve for our most relevant assortments (tex-
tiles, furniture, electronics) by the end of the
2035/36 financial year in the following focus topics:

Eco-Design for Circularity: We largely shift our
most relevant assortments (textiles, furniture,
electronics) to eco-designed products.

Preferred Materials®: We shift the materials (fibers,
wood, plastics, metals) in our most relevant assort-
ments (textiles, furniture, electronics) to preferred
alternatives.

Responsible Products: \We constantly increase the
share of responsible products in our most relevant
assortments (textiles, furniture, electronics).

Circular Business Solutions: We largely offer
circular business solutions (reuse, repair or recycling)
and constantly increase their implementation for
our most relevant assortments (textiles, furniture,
electronics).

1 Preferred materials are defined as those that have a lower negative
impact on the environment compared to conventional alternatives.

Our ambitions in the area of
Human Rights

We respect human rights and are committed to
improving working conditions for people in our sup-
ply chains. To fulfil our human rights due diligence,
we focus on the key challenges in our supply chains
by identifying focus topics and key stakeholders.

Knowledge, resources and learning specific skills are
crucial to enable progress and improvement, to pre-
vent human rights violations and to achieve better
working conditions for the people in our supply chains
in the long term. We promote Capacity Development
as a lever for positive change in the lives of workers

in our supply chains.
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Accordingly, we aim to ensure that the majority of
our key stakeholders have participated in Capacity
Development on the following relevant human rights
topics by the end of the 2035/36 financial year:
Child Free Production, Freely Chosen Employment,
Living Wages, Decent Working Hours, Safe Work
Environment.

For our focus topics, we have used a risk-based
approach to identify three groups of key stakeholders
who can directly influence improvements and should
therefore participate in capacity development:

1. Our business partners with whom we maintain a
direct contractual relationship.

2. Workers in final production facilities in countries
with an increased risk of human rights violations.

3. The management in final production facilities
whose actions are of great relevance to the

As an internationally active group of companies, we
too must and want to fulfil the requirements placed
on us with regard to human rights. We do this by com-
plying with laws and regulations and implementing
our binding requirements within the framework of our
own Otto Group Sustainability Standards.

workers.
Our focus topics

Environment
We aim to substantially lower our ecological
impacts to operate within planetary boundaries.
We reduce our greenhouse gas emissions in line
with the 1.5 degree climate target of the Paris
Climate Agreement, minimize our resource Near-term Eco-Design Preferred Responsible Circular Business
consumption and protect biodiversity. SBT for Circularity Materials Products Solutions
Human Rights
We respect human rights and are committed to
improving working conditions for people in our Child Free Freely Chosen Living Decent Safe
supply chains. Production Employment Wages Working Hours Work Environment
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Dialog with our stakeholders

The transformation of the economy and society to
embrace greater sustainability is not a communal task
that one actor can handle alone. This prompts us to
work on a variety of initiatives, to communicate regu-
larly with our stakeholders and to collaborate on strategic,
long-term sustainability issues with select partners in the
business community, government and civil society. Our
most important stakeholders include the following groups:

Customers

With their consumption decisions, our customers have a
critical impact on the success and future orientation of
our business model. We rely on regular “customer
insights” and representative trend studies to continu-
ously keep up with our customers’ wishes and needs
and to provide appropriate incentives for more sustain-
able consumption.

Employees

Our employees are the driving force behind our sustain-
ability activities. We support them in building and
deepening their sustainability knowledge, for example
as part of our onboarding process and through digital
learning platforms. In addition, through knowledge-
sharing and exchange formats, we create spaces for
our employees to develop and actively implement their
knowledge and ideas for greater sustainability.

Business partners

Only in close collaboration with our business partners
can we overcome social and environmental challenges
and achieve measurable improvements for people and
the environment. Our guidelines for ethical and ecolog-
ical production conditions are integral to our business
relationships and are communicated in online training
courses for our business partners. Social audits, surveys
and (anonymous) whistleblower systems help us better
understand production conditions of our own and
licensed brands and derive effective measures.

Experts

The Otto Group collaborates with partners and experts
in the business and scientific communities as well as
government and civil society on strategic, long-term
sustainability issues. These include non-governmental
organizations and market players as well as innovative
start-ups and universities. Only collectively can we han-
dle the complex, systematic challenges of the sustain-
ability transformation.

Government

Sustainable business models can only be successful in
the long term if there is a regulatory “level playing field.”
In the interests of industry-wide dynamics, we work with
international institutions and national governments. For
example, we are a member of the UN Fashion Industry
Charter for Climate Action and have supported the
development of a circularity roadmap for the German
federal government.

Financial markets

The Otto Group relies on its principal bank for financing
and on the issuance of financial instruments to capital
market investors. Financial market stakeholders are
showing increasing interest in the use of investments to
positively influence the sustainability transformation.
We are in regular dialog with our banks on sustainability
issues and meet the information needs of the financial
market through transparent reporting.

Community and partner networks

The conviction that the economy should serve society
has been shaping the Otto Group for decades. In our
core business and beyond, we want to have a positive
impact on the communities around our locations and
along our value chain. We exchange views with our
stakeholders at events, in training, surveys and during
background discussions, and contribute to addressing
social challenges with numerous initiatives.
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In addition, we are committed to ecological and human
rights issues and cooperate with non-profit organiza-
tions. Among the key initiatives by our shareholder
Prof. Dr. Michael Otto are the Michael Otto Foundation
for Environmental Protection (founded in 1993), the Aid
by Trade Foundation with its initiatives Cotton made in
Africa and The Good Cashmere Standard®, Stiftung
KlimaWirtschaft and the Michael Otto Foundation
for Sustainability. The pioneering initiatives by the
Michael Otto Foundation for Environmental Protection
include the Hamburg Forum for Nature Conservation,
the AQUA-AGENTEN educational program for primary
school pupils, the FRAN.Z. initiative for connecting
agriculture and nature conservation — implemented in
cooperation with the German Farmers’ Association -
and the peatland climate protection project
toMOORow. In addition, the Otto Group is a signatory of
the International Accord for Health and Safety in the
Textile and Garment Industry, which has adopted a
workplace safety agreement for both Bangladesh and
Pakistan. The Otto Group was one of the first signatories
of the Pakistan Accord.

Selected memberships, initiatives and

partnerships

e B.AUM.eV. - Network for Sustainable Business
(member since 1987)

e Michael Otto Foundation for Environmental Protec-
tion (established in 1993) with its AQUA-AGENTEN,
F.R.AN.Z., and toMOORow projects (partner since
2021)

e amfori, (incl. amfori BSCI, Business Social Compli-
ance Initiative) (founding member since 2004)

e Aid by Trade Foundation with its Cotton made in
Africa initiative (CmiA) and The Good Cashmere
Standard® (GCS) (founding member since 2005)

¢ Textile Exchange (member since 2006)

e Forest Stewardship Council Germany, FSC®
(member since 2006)

e German Retail Federation, HDE
(member since 2009)

o Stiftung KlimaWirtschaft (initiated by
Prof. Dr. Michael Otto and membership since 2011)

e International Accord for Health and Safety in the
Textile and Garment Industry Bangladesh & Pakistan
(signatory since 2013 and 2023)

e Fur Free Retailer, program run by the organization
Vier Pfoten (member since 2014)

Partnership for Sustainable Textiles

(member since 2015)

Corporate Digital Responsibility (CDR) Initiative by
the German Federal Ministry for the Environment,
Nature Conservation, Nuclear Safety and Consumer
Protection, BMUV (founding member since 2018)
Fashion for Good (member since 2018)

Cascale (member since 2018)

UN Fashion Industry Charter for Climate Action
(member since 2018)

Finlit Foundation (founded in 2019)
ZukunftsWerte initiative (initiation and member
since 2020)

Save the Children (partner since 2020)

Leather Working Group (member since 2022)
Science Based Targets Initiative, SBTi

(committed since 2022)

Michael Otto Foundation for Sustainability
(founded in 2023)

Federal Association for Sustainable Economy eV.
(Member since 2025)
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Eco shift

We monitor the impact of our products
on the climate, ecosystems and society
over their entire life cycle: from the
extraction of raw materials, production
conditions, material consumption and
shipping to use and finally return to the
cycle by customers. According to our
materiality analysis, we have the
greatest impact on ecosystems in the
areas of greenhouse gases, pollutants,
land use, raw material efficiency and
animal welfare — and hence the great
potential forimprovement. In the
Sustainable Materials area, we are
taking steps to reduce the environ-
mental impact of the materials we
use. In the topic area of Climate, we
endeavor to ensure that our goals
and activities are in line with the

1.5 degree target of the Paris Climate
Agreement. We cooperate with inno-
vative partners to offer our customers
the best solutions and to reach our
targets for more sustainable materials
and climate protection.

Sustainable Materials

We continually strive to be a trusted source of innova-
tive, more sustainable products. In addition to mer-
chandise, non-merchandise, especially packaging and
catalogue paper, also play an important role in the
Otto Group. We achieve the greatest positive impact
in materials at the point of raw material extraction,
for example in the cultivation of cotton, and in the
manufacturing processes in our supply chains.
Accordingly, our strategy starts in the upstream value
chain, and we formulate targets for textiles, furni-
ture, packaging and catalogue paper. Wherever we
have sufficient data, we evaluate materials based on
the results of their Life Cycle Assessment (LCA), i.e.,
their environmental balance over the entire life cycle,
in order to make transparent and data-based deci-
sions. Based on this, we aim to use more sustainable
materials in our products - those that have a signifi-
cantly lower environmental impact according to LCA
data, as well as those that have been recycled and
hence reduce the use of resources. The use of more
sustainable materials is the basis for us to increas-
ingly align our business model with resource effi-
ciency. In the long term, we are aiming for a circular
business model - the choice of our materials sets the
course for this ambitious goal. We are reducing the

use of conventional raw materials, known as “virgin
materials,” while increasing the use of recycled, more
sustainable materials that create a valid foundation
for circular products and solutions, as well as climate
protection.

Transformational goal

We apply more sustainable
raw materials in all our
products.

Core priority

65 % "preferred fibers” by 2025 while
maintaining the 100% sustainable
cotton target

Core priority

100% more sustainable
wooden furniture by 2025

Core priority

100% more sustainable catalog
paper, of which at least 70% is
FSC®certified by 2025.

Core priority

100 % more sustainable packaging
by 2024
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Certificates and standards

We want to ensure that the products we bring to mar-
ket meet our standards. This is why we make sure that
the materials and products we use are, wherever
possible, externally certified, for example according to
GOTS, FSC®, Blue Angel (Blauer Engel) or EU Ecolabel
standards.

In the downstream value chain, we communicate to our
customers the benefits of products made with more
sustainable materials and encourage them to make
more conscious purchasing decisions. To this end, we
label products in our stores that meet a relevant sus-
tainability criterion, such as recycled material, and
explain why this criterion is met (see Conscious Custom-
ers chapter).

Sustainable packaging solutions

Since 2024, almost all of our own products will reach
customers in more sustainable shipping packaging,
regardless of their purchasing decision. This means that
they contain at least 80 percent verified recycled
material. Overall, we were able to increase the share of
more sustainable packaging from 94 percent (2023) to
98 percent (2024) in the reporting year. We were there-
fore on the verge of achieving our goal of using 100 per-
cent more sustainable packaging by the end of 2024.
Since the beginning of the 2025/26 financial year, we

Pilot projects for innovative packaging

OTTO is testing shipping packaging made from
renewable raw materials in order to reduce the

use of conventional packaging materials. We are
collaborating with the Hamburg-based start-up
Traceless® to develop a shipping pouch made from
natural polymers and based on waste materials
from food production. As a mono-material, the
shipping pouches are completely compostable
within a few weeks under natural conditions, thus
returning nutrients to the soil. Traceless® material is
harmless to humans and the environment as it is
completely free of chemicals that are hazardous to
health or the environment. The shipping pouches
will be live-tested in 2026.

[tems with, for example, a size or weight that make
them unsuitable for shipping pouches will be dis-
patched in a cardboard box. OTTO is testing inno-
vative materials to continuously improve on this -
including Paludi biomass. It is made from plants that
grow on rewetted peatlands. When moors are
drained, they release the carbon sequestered in
them and cause significant greenhouse gas

emissions. It is therefore important to preserve intact
peatlands and rewet dry ones. Aside from the
positive climate impact, OTTO is also promoting
new, near-natural moorland habitats to increase
biodiversity. To transform the Paludi biomass into a
stable packaging material, it is mixed with paper
fibers that are obtained from responsible and
resource-conserving forestry and other controlled
sources. In 2024, OTTO launched a pilot project
together with its partners Creapaper and Mondi
based on a feasibility study by the toMOORow initia-
tive: around 100,000 boxes containing up to ten
percent Paludi biomass were tested in shipping and
sent on their way to customers in 2024. In its efforts
to support moorland rewetting, OTTO has been part
of the Alliance of Pioneers since spring 2024. The
Alliance of Pioneers is an association of companies
that are committed to protecting the climate and
biodiversity, the use of renewable, regional raw
materials and the valorization of Paludi biomass.
This alliance was established by the toMOORow
initiative, which was founded by the Michael Otto
Environmental Foundation and the Michael Succow

Foundation as partners in the Greifswald Mire Centre.
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have continued our ambition to use exclusively packaging
with at least 80 percent certified recycled material as a
binding requirement within the framework of our own
Otto Group Sustainability Standards.

We regularly review innovative solutions; for example,
OTTO embarked on a collaboration with Wildplastic®, a
Hamburg-based startup, in March 2021. “Wild Plastic” is
collected, sorted, cleaned and processed into granulate
in places without their own recycling structures - such
as Nigeria, Indonesia or India. It is used, among other
things, as a raw material for shipping bags at OTTO. The
Group company switched all OTTO shipping bags to
Wildplastic® at the end of 2023.

Textiles

We use so-called “preferred fibers” in our textiles, i.e.,
fibers with a lower negative impact on the environment
In the
Otto Group these primarily include organic and recy-

compared to conventional alternatives.
cled fibers such as Tencel™ Lyocell and Lenzing Ecovero.
What is more, we have adopted the goal of using
100 percent sustainable cotton in our own and licensed
brands, including organic cotton, recycled cotton,
Cotton made in Africa (CmiA) and CmiA cotton in tran-
sition*. We have managed to increase the share of pre-
ferred fibers from 59 percent (2023) to 66 percent
(2024). This means that we have already achieved our
target of 65 percent preferred textile fibers by the end

1 Cotton in transition is grown on former conventionally farmed land in accor-
dance with the GOTS and OCS organic standards, but is not yet fully labeled
as such. The transition period is two to three years.

Traceable Cotton

The Otto Group already uses 98 percent more sus-
tainable cotton in our own and licensed brands.
Aside from organic and recycled cotton, this cur-
rently includes cotton that has been processed
according to the principle of mass balancing and
certified in accordance with the internationally
recognized Cotton made in Africa (CmiA) standard.
This principle of mass balancing means that the
cotton can be traced from the field to the spinning
mill, where it may be mixed with cotton from other
sources during processing. The key to further pro-
cessing at the spinning mill is to balance the amount
of CmiA cotton purchased with the amount of yarn
sold as CmiA.

Traceable cotton is becoming increasingly import-
ant due to the rising demands for transparency in
the supply chain. In order to meet the requirements
for traceability and transparency, the Aid by Trade

Foundation has, with the participation of the

Otto Group, developed an updated version of the
CmiA-HIP standard (HIP = hard identity preserved),
which provides improved certainty in the use and
marketing of Cotton made in Africa. CmiA HIP speci-
fies that the CmiA cotton used in a textile product
must be traceable and cannot be mixed with other
cotton, which would otherwise be permissible for
cotton that is processed according to the principle
of mass balancing. The updated CmiA-HIP standard
has been available since 2025 and contains specifi-
cations for production, documentation and supplier
audits.

Some of our Group companies have already defined
their own ambitions for “traceable cotton”. Bonprix,
for example, aims to increase the proportion of this
cotton to 25 percent in its own brands by the end of
2025. Besides CmiA-HIP cotton, this also includes
organic cotton that is certified according to the
GOTS and OCS standards.

of 2025 ahead of schedule. Our revised Sustainability
Strategy (see "Our Sustainability Strategy since March
2025") has been in place since the start of the new
financial year in March 2025, with which we are con-
tinuing to pursue our objectives. We shift the fibers in our
textiles and furniture to preferred alternatives by the
end of the 2035/36 financial year.

Animal welfare

We are committed to ensuring that livestock from
which the animal materials in our merchandise origi-
nate are treated in an ethically justifiable manner. We
comply with applicable national and international con-
ventions for our animal welfare-related products. We do
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not permit the use of products or components from
endangered species and are continuously developing
our approaches in collaboration with relevant stake-
holders. With the adoption of binding and ambitious ani-
mal welfare standards, we have further specified our
goals. By 2024, only leather and hides from selected
domesticated species (cattle, buffalo, sheep, pig, yak
and goat) will be allowed. By 2028, down, feathers and
wool must be certified according to a recycling or ani-
mal welfare standard accepted by the Otto Group.
These regulations apply to all products sold by the
Otto Group.

Wooden furniture and catalogue paper

We use certified wood and pay particular attention to
the FSC® standard in the area of wooden furniture and
catalogue paper. The availability of FSC®-certified
wood varies greatly around the factories operated by
the furniture suppliers. This is why we have been accept-
ing other recognized certificates for wooden furniture
since 2023, including the EU Ecolabel, the Blue Angel
(Blauer Engel) or the Nordic Swan Ecolabel. OTTO
actively advises its furniture suppliers on how to adapt
their processes and products to meet the requirements
of the respective seals. The proportion of certified
wooden furniture has risen from 83 percent (2023) to
Q0 percent (2024). This means that we have, to a large
extent, already achieved our target of 100 percent
more sustainable wooden furniture by the end of 2025
ahead of schedule. Our revised Sustainability Strategy
(see “Our Sustainability Strategy since March 2025"),

which is intended to continue increasing the proportion
of more sustainable wooden furniture, came into effect
in March 2025, at the start of the new financial year. We
aim to use exclusively certified wood in furniture by the
end of the 2035/36 financial year.

Aside from expanding certification and supporting our
furniture suppliers, our intention is also to establish
collaborative projects that ensure more stable access
to certified wood. We have been supporting forest own-
ers in the Franconia region in a joint pilot project with
FSC® Germany to have their forests certified according
to the FSC standard. Around 9,800 hectares were certi-

Sustainable materials: Our goals

fied according to the FSC standard in 2023. The group
of forest owners experienced growth in the reporting
year and will provide inspiration for other collaborations
in the sector.

The proportion of more sustainable catalogue paper
rose from 94 percent (2023) to 96 percent (2024). We
are therefore on the verge of having achieved our goal
of using 100 percent more sustainable catalogue paper
by the end of 2025. Out intention is to uphold this claim
as a binding requirement within our own Otto Group
Sustainability Standards.

Actual 2023 Actual 2024 Target value

Preferred Fibers?, 50% 6% 65%
of which 100% more sustainable cotton ? ° ° (by 2025)
More sustainable wooden furniture® 8394 00%° 100%
(products offered) ° ° (by 2025)
. o o 100%

More sustainable catalogue paper 94% 96% (by 2025)
. . . o 100%

More sustainable packaging 94% 98% (by 2024)

* our portfolio defines “Preferred Fibers” as those that have a lower impact on the environment compared to conventional fibers in the same fiber category.
These include, for example, Cotton made in Africa, recycled and organic cotton compared to conventional cotton, recycled synthetic fibers compared to con-
ventional synthetic fibers and animal fibers that pay particular attention to animal welfare.

’ The proportion of more sustainable cotton in 2024 was 98%.

® The Otto Group has accepted the following certifications in addition to FSC® since 2023: EU Ecolabel, Blue Angel (Blauer Engel) and Nordic Swan Ecolabel.

¢ Equivalent to 62% of the volume of wood sold in tons.
° Equivalent to 75% of the volume of wood sold in tons.
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Climate

The Otto Group has pursued the goal of reconciling its
business activities with climate protectionfordecades.
The climate crisis has worsened and is the most
urgent challenge of our time. Stakeholders from
society and government rightly expect companies
like the Otto Group to contribute to its mitigation.
Furthermore, climate protection has long had an eco-
nomic significance as well: Potential increases in the
cost of raw materials, higher CO, prices or the risk of
losing licenses from our key suppliers, for example in
the event of environmental damage caused by
extreme weather events, pose financial risks.

We want to ensure that our goals and activities are in
line with the 1.5 degree target of the Paris Climate
Agreement. This has prompted us to develop an ambi-
tious and holistic near-term science-based target
(SBT) encompassing our entire value chain. We want
to achieve our climate goals by consistently avoiding
and lowering emissions. No offsetting projects have
been recognized for the achievement of our near-
term SBT.

Transformational goal

We aim to achieve net zero
emissions across our entire
value chain by 2045, going
beyond our near-term SBT.

Our near-term SBT ! is divided into three sub-targets:

‘
Sub-target 3:

3 Absolute reduction in Scope 3 GHG
emissions by 42 % by the end of the
financial year 2031/32 compared to
the financial year 2021/22

Sub-target 1:

Absolute scope 1 and 2 GHG emis-
sion reduction by 42 % by the end of
the financial year 2030/31 com-
pared to the financial year 2021/22

Sub-target 2 (Supplier Engagement):

At least 75% of the third-party brands
and 20% of the marketplace partners
by spend covering purchased goods
and services set science-based
target by the end of the 2027/28
financial year.

=

R

1 The official target formulation can be found on the SBTi website.

How we endeavor to achieve our net-zero target

Our commitment to climate protection is intended not
only to contribute to achieving the near-term SBT
sub-targets we have already adopted, but also to
extend beyond the defined timeframe. We are there-
fore already working hard on defining a net-zero target
for 2045 and the steps required to attain this goal. In
doing so, our aim is to embody our own claim to credible
and long-term climate protection and make a contribu-
tion to the German government's climate target.

We are guided by the definition of net-zero emissions as
issued by the Science Based Targets Initiative (SBTi).
Reducing GHG emissions is the top priority here. All
remaining emissions must be permanently neutralized.
This means that companies must take measures to
remove greenhouse gases from the atmosphere and
sequester them permanently in order to offset the
effects of unreduced emissions. The following currently
applies: Companies are only permitted to neutralize up
to ten percent of their GHG emissions. In addition, the
SBTi encourages companies to look beyond their value
chain and take additional measures to reduce emis-
sions, supporting the societal and international effort to
drastically reduce GHG emissions to net zero. We regu-
larly inform our stakeholders about our progress in for-
mulating a net-zero target, for example in our annual
report.
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What is a near-term science-based target?

Science-based targets (SBTs) are targets for reducing
greenhouse gas emissions in line with the degree of
decarbonization required by the Intergovernmental
Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) to limit global
warming to 1.5 degrees. The targets are reviewed
by the Science Based Targets Initiative (SBTi). The
SBTi's assessment is based on current scientific

knowledge.

We based the development of our climate targets
on the Greenhouse Gas Protocol (GHG Protocol). This
sets out a global and standardized framework for
measuring and managing greenhouse gas emis-
sions (GHG emissions) from the private and public
sectors. The GHG Protocol divides greenhouse gas
emissions into three categories, which we consid-
ered in developing our SBT:

Scope 1 emissions refer to direct emissions from
company-owned and controlled resources, such as
process emissions, company-owned electricity and
heat generation, and vehicle fleets.

Scope 2 emissions are indirect emissions from pur-
chased energy, such as electricity, steam, district
heating or cooling.

Scope 3 emissions refer to indirect emissions within
the value chain over which the company has no
direct control, such as electricity consumption
during production or during the use phase of prod-
ucts sold.

Our near-term SBT adheres to the definition of SBTi
and address a time horizon of five to ten years.

Our near-term science-based target

Total GHG emissions in the base year (2021/22 financial
year) amount to approximately 9.6 million metric tons.
The lion's share, so almost 95 percent, comes from mer-
chandise production in the upstream supply chain,
transportation and the phase of product utilization by

customers. These actionable areas are therefore of vital
importance for achieving our near-term SBT. During the
reporting year, we rolled out the SBT approach across
the Group and worked with the key Group companies
OTTO, Bonprix, Hermes Germany, Crate and Barrel Group
and the Witt Group to design measures to achieve the
targets.

Sub-target 1: Absolute scope 1 and 2 GHG emission
reduction by 42% by the end of the 2030/31 financial
year (compared to the 2021/22 financial year)

We can directly influence the development of green-
house gas emissions in our own operations. This enables
us to manage Scope 1 and Scope 2 emissions reliably.
Decarbonization at our sites is primarily achieved by
switching to electricity from renewable sources. At
present, the Otto Group's share of green electricity is
72 percent at its global locations. We have also been
harnessing the potential of our own locations, equip-
ping them with photovoltaic systems or combined heat
and power plants and using geothermal energy, for
example, and by implementing extensive energy-
efficiency measures. At the end of the 2024/25 finan-
cial year, we have achieved a reduction of 57 percent
compared to the 2021/22 financial year.

Sub-target 2 (Supplier Engagement): At least 75 % of
the third-party brands and 20 % of the marketplace
partners by spend covering purchased goods and
services set science-based target by the end of the
2027/28 financial year

Unlike with our own brands, we are unable to influence
the supply chains of our marketplace partners and
third-party brands. This has prompted us to define a
supplier engagement target. We are therefore commit-
ted to closer collaboration with actors that have

adopted their own science-based target. This means
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that they demonstrate the same commitment to high
standards in their supply chains as we do in our own
brand business. We encourage and support our third-
party brands and marketplace partners on this path
and, in the financial year 2024/25, we aimed for the first
time based on a simplified aggregated logic that at
least 50 percent by spend, will have set their own vali-
dated SBT by the end of the financial year 2027/28. At
present, 28 percent of our third-party brands and mar-
ketplace partners have defined their own SBT. Starting
from the financial year 2025/26, we will report sepa-
rately for third-party brands (target value 75 percent)
and marketplace partners (target value 20 percent).

Sub-target 3: Absolute reduction in Scope 3 GHG
emissions by 42% by the end of the 2031/32 financial
year (compared to 2021/22 financial year)

In order to achieve our near-term SBT, we are placing
our main focus on improving the energy efficiency of
production processes in the upstream supply chain and
promoting the use of renewable energies for our own
brands. Given that we can only exert indirect influence
on the upstream supply chain, implementing reduction
measures in this area is more challenging than climate
protection in ourown operations. It can only be achieved
in close cooperation with our business partners. We
have therefore embraced a collaborative approach to

help our business partners in the upstream supply chain
improve their carbon footprint. Like with the logging of
other environmental impacts in the supply chains, we
rely on Cascale's HIGG-FEM tool, for example, which
enables standardized measurement of a facility’s envi-
ronmental performance (see Supply Chain chapter). In
addition, we use the Ren Energy digital platform, which
enables us to map our global supply chain and analyze
the renewable energy options available to individual
suppliers in order to determine the total cost of transi-
tioning. With the support of Ren Energy, we are able to
promote renewable energy among our suppliers as a
means of achieving our near-term SBT. Moreover, we are
using projects such as Scalezero and Clean by Design to
test a variety of approaches and obtaining important
insights for a more systematic approach to our reduc-
tion initiatives in the supply chain. We are also working
with OTTO, Bonprix, the Witt Group, Otto International
and Systain Consulting in our Supplier Cluster program
to promote the use of renewable energies in our supply
chain. As a first step, we conducted a thorough analysis
of available data on our strategically relevant suppliers,
including information on energy consumption, produc-
tion steps and the country in which the facilities are
located. In 2025, we will engage in even closer dialog
with our strategically relevant suppliers in Bangladesh
to support them on their way to implementing renew-
able energies at their locations. We are also dovetailing

our climate activities more closely with the topic areas
of Sustainable Materials (see Sustainable Materials
chapter) and Circularity (see Circularity chapter). This
will also require a concerted effort to achieve our
ambitious climate targets, for example in the selection
of materials.

We are also working on switching the transportation of
goods from air to rail and ship. For example, OTTO has
already reduced the share of air freight to less than two
percent. OTTO works with the innovative partner Good-
Shipping, which uses a biofuel mix from various waste
streams, such as used cooking oil and fats from food
production, instead of heavy fuel oil to power container
ships. Doing so would lower GHG emissions by around
80 percent compared to heavy fuel oil and, unlike heavy
fuel oil, produces virtually no harmful air pollutants.

There is also potential for climate action in our
downstream value chain. By delivering goods to our
customers with low or even zero emissions at local
level, we are helping to reduce particulate pollution in
cities and hence protecting the environment and health.
One of the core measures at Hermes Germany, for
example, involves transforming the structure of last
mile deliveries toward local, emission-free delivery in
80 major German city centers by the end of 2025.
Today, Hermes Germany can already make doorstep
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deliveries to more than one in ten people across Ger-
many, without producing any local carbon emissions.
Hermes Germany is also working intensively on alterna-
tive drive technologies in the field of heavy goods trans-
port - on the so-called long haul - and is testing their
suitability in everyday logistics. In addition to several
e-trucks, Hermes Germany has operated a hydrogen
truck since the beginning of 2024. A 48-month trial
period has been set to test the fuel cell drive for suitabil-
ity in everyday logistics operations. The vehicle is funded
by the Federal Ministry for Digital and Transport (Bundes-
ministerium flr Digitales und Verkehr, BMDV) as part
of the National Innovation Programme Hydrogen and
Fuel Cell Technology (Nationales Innovationsprogramm
Wasserstoff- und Brennstoffzellentechnologie, NIP).

A relevant proportion of our Scope 3 emissions are also
generated during the utilization phase at our custom-
ers' premises. We wish to adopt specific measures to
address these emissions and hence, for example,
increase the energy efficiency of electrical appliances.
We also want to help our customers switch to green
electricity when they use our electrical equipment.

By the end of the 2024/25 financial year, we have
achieved a 16 percent reduction in Scope 3 greenhouse
gas emissions compared to the 2021/22 financial year.

Climate protection projects in the supply chain

In 2023/24, we launched a pilot project with eight
facilities in Bangladesh as part of Scalezero. We
helped the facilities to independently develop, priori-
tize and implement energy efficiency, energy man-

agement and renewable energy measures, and con-

nected them with appropriate local service providers.

The aim was to prepare a bespoke action plan and
to provide the facilities with regular support in the
concrete implementation of measures. Motion
detectors and daylight sensors were installed in the
facilities during the reporting year, where they are
used for the lighting system. More energy-efficient
servomotors were also installed in the sewing
machines. In addition, a 4.2 megawatt photovoltaic
system was installed at one facility, which has the
potential to cover up to 30 percent of its electricity

consumption.

The “"Clean by Design” pilot project is an established
training program on energy and water efficiency in
the textile supply chains that we are working on
together with the Apparel Impact Institute. Since
2023, we have supported facilities over a period of
14 months by providing training courses and on-site
training on energy management and process opti-
mization, among other things. The goal was to
establish proven best practices in the production
process and quantifiably reduce the environmental
impact. In the reporting year, we successfully com-
pleted the project in Chittagong, Bangladesh, and
achieved progress in increasing energy efficiency
and resource conservation. Improved condensate
recovery in optimized boiler systems was among the
measures that achieved this goal. Moreover, mea-
sures such as heat recovery and the reuse of process
water enable the integration of waste heat and
water into the production process in order to con-

serve resources.
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2021/22 base year

2024/25 financial year

Absolute
emissions in tCO,e

Percentage change
compared to the
2021/22 base year

Absolute

emissions in tCO,e Target value

-42%
Sub-target 1: Absolute scope 1 and 2 greenhouse gas emission * reduction by 42% 236107 102306 _57% (by the end
by the end of the financial year 2030/31 (compared to financial year 2021/22) ' ' of the 2030/31
financial year)
) ) o -42%
Sub-target 3: Absolute reduction in scope 3 greenhouse gas emissions ? by 42% 7173.678 6004778 _16% (by the end
by the end of the financial year 2031/32 (compared to financial year 2021/22) T T ° of the 2031/32
financial year)

Percentage of marketplace and third-party
brand partners with their own SBT in the Target value

2024/25 financial year
Sub-target 2 Supplier Engagement (until the end of the financial year 2024/25): 50%
At least 50% third-party brands and marketplace partners by spend covering purchased goods and 28% (by the end of the 2027/28

services set science-based target by the end of the financial year 2027/28°.

financial year)

1 Taking into account the operational control approach. Scope 2 greenhouse gas emissions using the market-based approach.

2 Taking into account the operational control approach. The following Scope 3 categories were identified as material and are therefore integrated into sub-target 3 and the emissions calculated in this regard: 3.1, 3.3, 34, 3.6, 3.7, 3.11, 3.12. Here,
only GHG emissions from own and licensed brands are included under 3.1. Scaling was based on secondary data to ensure the completeness of the Otto Group's retail volume, among other things.

3 Starting from the financial year 2025/26, we will report separately for third-party brands (target value 75 %) and marketplace partners (target value 20 %).

Disclosing climate impact

Also in 2024, we published our reporting in accordance
with the requirements of the Carbon Disclosure Project
(CDP) and were again awarded an overall score of B.
By publishing this report, we are fulfilling our commit-
ment as a member of the UN Fashion Industry Charter
for Climate Action, in which the Otto Group has been
particularly committed to greenhouse gas manage-
ment in the supply chain in recent years and the past
financial year.

We are also committed to natural climate protection

Wet peatlands contribute significantly to climate pro-
tection and preserve unique plant and animal spe-
cies. They also play an important role in the natural
water balance and serve as effective natural flood
control areas. They can also be managed in an envi-
ronmentally friendly way. The goal of “toMOORow"
is to utilize these diverse properties of peatlands

for climate protection and the promotion of bio-
diversity, as well as for the economy. The initiative
was established by the Michael Otto Foundation for
Environmental Protection in collaboration with the

Michael Succow Foundation, a partner in the
Greifswald Mire Centre. The aim is to engage in sys-
tematic rewetting to create functional peatland
landscapes that are capable of permanent carbon
sequestration. In addition, the peatland areas are to
be sustainably wet farmed (so-called paludiculture,
see "Pilot projects for innovative packaging”) in order
to generate biomass for value chains going forward.
The Otto Group and its Group companies OTTO,
Bonprix, the Witt Group, Baur Group, Hermes Germany
and Systain Consulting are providing long-term sup-
port for the project to further the cause of climate
and nature protection through specific contributions.
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Business shift

The Otto Group is committed to
taking responsibility for people and
the environment that goes for our
own locations and the upstream and
downstream supply chains. Ensuring
respect for human rights is a core
part of our business practices. We are
also aware that natural resources
are finite and hence approach these
topics with a due sense of care.
Cooperating with business partners
and supply chain facilities, we are
determined to consistently align the
business models of the Otto Group in
a socially responsible, environmentally
compatible and largely circular way
and achieve measurable changes in
these areas. This includes actively
shaping the digital transformation
and the associated opportunities and
challenges for society.

Supply Chain

We at the Otto Group strive to take responsibility for
people and the environment in our own operations,
towards our customers, and in the supply chains. In
addition to complying with legal requirements, we
want to aspire that the products we sell are produced
in a socially responsible and resource-efficient manner
while respecting human rights. The upstream supply
chain for our own and licensed brands presents the
most serious risks in terms of environmental issues
and respect for human rights. Here, we also have
opportunities to exert influence and drive improve-
ments. Our approach is a continuous process in which
we gradually improve our environmental and social
performance in close collaboration with our business
partners and stakeholders along the supply chain. To
do this, we continually increase transparency in
regards to our complex supply chains to gain a better
understanding of the facilities and the working and
production conditions on site. Our measures build on
ten key social and environmental issues that we iden-
tified as part of the materiality analysis. To make
developments more evident, we support our require-
ments with measurable indicators.

Transformational goal

We continuously improve
the social and environmental
performance together with
the facilities in our supply
chains.

Core priority

Identification of all facilities in
our brands' supply chains - from
the raw material to the finished
products *

Core priority

Information about social and
ecological production conditions
is shared with us by the facilities
in our supply chains.

Core priority

Continuous improvement on
identified focus topics among the
facilities in our supply chains.

1 Refers to facilities involved in the manufacture of our
products (except for well-known third-party brands).
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Performance improvement along the supply chain: Our priorities

Social priorities

Living Wage
All workers receive a living wage.

Safe Work Environments

D ©

All workers are under safe and healthy working
conditions.

Freely Chosen Employment
All workers are under free choice of employment.

Child Free Production

Only workers above the minimum age are involved
in the production/processing.

Freedom of Association and Collective Bargaining

All workers enjoy the right to freedom of peaceful
assembly and association, including the right to
form and join trade unions and to bargain
collectively.

Decent Working Hours
Excessive overtime is reduced to a minimum.

© @® QO @

Ecological priorities

Climate and Energy Efficiency

Energy efficiency and the use of renewable energies
are increased.

Water Efficiency
The use of incoming water is reduced to a minimum.

Non-Hazardous Chemicals

The use of hazardous chemicals is decreased to a
minimum.

Resource Efficiency (Waste)

Resource efficiency is increased and waste reduced
to a minimum.

@ & o

The supply chain as a key

In the topic area Supply Chain, our environmental focus
is on the Otto Group's climate targets, which have
reached a hitherto unparalleled level of ambition and
commitment with the adoption of a near-term science-
based target (see Climate chapter). In particular, we will
achieve our near-term SBT by implementing sweeping
measures in the upstream supply chain, which we
design, pilot and scale in cooperation with our partners.
For example, we initiated the Scalezero and Clean
by Design climate protection projects (see Climate
chapter) to deliver bespoke support in the development
and implementation of energy efficiency and solar
energy measures to textile facilities in Bangladesh,
China and India. Moreover, we are continuously working
on the continued development of our measures in the
areas of chemicals, water, raw materials and waste.

Our focus in the area of social issues remains on safe-
guarding children's rights, among other things. Together
with the experts, we are systematically working on the
ground to combat child labor and promote family-
friendly working conditions in the final production facili-
ties. In the reporting year, we continued our cooperation
with the children's rights organization Save the Children
and worked with them and the Centre for Child Rights
and Business to support children, working parents and
family-friendly workplaces in Turkey and Bangladesh.
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The WeCare program is the centerpiece of our partner-
ship, which aims to maximize the family-friendliness of
workplaces at Otto Group suppliers. One example from
within the program is the introduction of safe breast-
feeding rooms for mothers and children in the facilities.
This is necessary because local mothers usually return
to work quickly after giving birth and face difficulties to
reconcile nursing their babies with working hours. In
many cases they will be forced to give up working,
which leads to financial difficulties. The program also
provided training to parents, especially to those
who relocated within the country for their jobs and
are unable to see their families on a regular basis. The
PhotoVoice training course encouraged parents to use
digital tools such as photos and videos to maintain con-
tact with their children at home.

Memberships and initiatives

To obtain specific improvements, we rely on a collabo-
rative approach that includes key facilities in our supply
chains. Our social commitment is primarily demon-
strated by our membership in the International Accord
for Health and Safety in the Textile and Garment Indus-
try (Bangladesh and Pakistan) and the amfori BSCI
initiative.

With regard to our ecological priorities, we work with
the UN Fashion Industry Charter for Climate Action
and Cascale, among others. This cross-sector and
cross-national engagement is used not only so we can
improve our own performance, but also to make a
contribution to an industry-wide dynamic.

Social audits and training

We use social audits to gain insight into the conditions
at local final production facilities. The social audits are a
basic condition for collaboration and must have been
obtained for risk countries (according to amfori BSCI
Country Risk Classification) as valid proof during pro-
duction of the Otto Group's own brands. This includes
the SA8000 certificate, an amfori BSCI audit (at least
result “C") or our own standard, the Otto Group Assess-
ment. We are keen to help our business partners and
supply chain facilities in improving local working condi-
tions. To do so, we publish a wide range of information
online for our partners to access on the subject of
human rights due diligence and the German Supply
Chain Due Diligence Act (LkSG). We also developed a
video-based online learning path on the topic of Child
Free Production in 2024. It is accessible to all employees
within the Otto Group and is intended to raise aware-
ness of the issue and sensitize employees in their deal-
ings with business partners and supply chain facilities.

Knowledge, resources and the acquisition of certain
skills are critical to making progress and enabling
improvements that prevent human rights abuses and
achieve long-term positive outcomes for people in our
supply chains. Our revised Sustainability Strategy came
into force (see “Our Sustainability Strategy since March
2025") at the beginning of the financial year in March
2025. It will be used to continue to promote further
capacity development as a lever for positive change in
the lives of workers in our supply chains. We want to
involve the majority of our key stakeholders in further

capacity development on relevant human rights issues
by the end of the 2035/36 financial year: Child Free
Production, Freely Chosen Employment, Living Wages,
Decent Working Hours, Safe Work Environment.

From compliance to performance

We continued to expand the availability and quality of
information about our supply chains in 2024. We also
fall back on external sources and use data, for example,
from the Higg Facility Environmental Module (HIGG-
FEM) by Cascale and The BHive® app for digital chemi-
cal management in the textile industry.

Our accredited social audits also yield relevant infor-
mation in this regard. Furthermore, the children’s rights
organization Save the Children provides us with infor-
mation on children’s rights risks in our production coun-
tries. In 2024, we continued programs to strengthen
families in Bangladesh and Turkey in cooperation with
Save the Children and its subsidiary The Centre for Child
Rights and Business. As part of the International Accord
for Health and Safety in the Textile and Garment Industry,
we also provide occupational safety training to all
employees of our final production manufacturers in
Bangladesh and, since 2023, Pakistan.

The BHive® project made an effective contribution to
our environmental goals in the reporting year. The
eponymous app used by some Group companies digi-
tizes chemicals management at the facility level. Its
aim is to acquire an overview of the chemicals used,
replace hazardous substances and contribute to a
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more conscious, environmentally friendly and resource-
efficient approach. After a pilot phase with around
35 facilities in 2021, we were able to expand the app to
106 facilities in 2023. We used The BHive® at 126 facili-
ties in 2024.

Supply chain transparency

We look beyond ourfinal production facilities to increase
transparency about the actors in our supply chains as
the foundation of our activities. This is how we continu-
ously expand our information about social and environ-
mental production conditions. In risk countries, we know
almost 100 percent of our final production facilities. We
also managed to identify 3,542 previously unknown
actors in our supply chains in 2024 (2023:10,172).

From the 2025/26 financial year, we will continue to
pursue our goal of identifying all actors in the supply
chains for our own brands, from raw materials to the
finished product, as a binding requirement of our own
Otto Group Sustainability Standards (see “Our Sustain-
ability Strategy since March 2025").

We identified

3,542

additional facilities in our
supply chains in 2024.

1 Newly identified supply chain facilities in addition to those already
known (procedural count)

Complaint mechanisms

To identify and respond appropriately to potential vio-
lations of human rights in the supply chains, we have
participated in external complaint mechanisms such as
the amfori initiative or the International Accord for
years. Like other companies, we benefit from synergy
effects by using these established complaints mecha-
nisms. For example, doing so reduces the workload
required in facilities to educate employees about vari-
ous mechanisms. It also pools company resources for
investigating reports and taking remedial action.

The Otto Group has also maintained its own whistle-
blower system entitled SpeakUp. It is available in over
30 languages and provides countries and production
sites their own whistleblower system where no external

complaints system has yet been established. The portal
is a secure reporting channel for all employees and
stakeholders that can be used anonymously, ensuring
the highest level of protection for whistleblowers and
sensitive data. Each incoming report undergoes a multi-
stage review by designated experts. An independent
ombudsperson offers internal and external stakehold-
ers another opportunity to contact the Otto Group
confidentially.

In the reporting year, we received 33 reports via all
channels (as of 04/10/2025) of potential violations in
our supply chains relating to the following topics: prohi-
bition of forced labor and all forms of slavery; disregard
for occupational health and safety and work-related
health hazards; disregard for freedom of association;
prohibition of unequal treatment in employment; prohi-
bition of withholding a living wage; other human rights
or environmental violations. We regard the receipt of
reports as a positive sign that our complaints mecha-
nisms are working, and we carefully follow up each of
these reports. They are systematically recorded and
evaluated individually by our experts and investigated
in collaboration with the relevant stakeholders. Neces-
sary actions or measures are then derived, their imple-
mentation monitored and systematically followed up.
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The Supply Chain Due Diligence Act

Our approach to human rights is aligned with the
requirements of the German Supply Chain Due Dili-
gence Act (Lieferkettensorgfaltspflichtengesetz, LkSG).
Atthe beginning of 2024, companieswith 1,000 employ-
ees in Germany will be required to reasonably comply
with human rights and certain environmental due dili-
gence obligations in their supply chains. In the
Otto Group, these include the Group companies OTTO,
Hermes Germany, Hermes Fulfilment, the Witt Group,
Baur, Bonprix and Baur Hermes Fulfilment. The Group
companies independently publish a human rights dec-
laration and, on a voluntary basis, a supply chain due
diligence report on their websites.

Systematically identifying and minimizing human rights
risks is not a voluntary matter. We manage sustainability
according to the principle of materiality and will con-
tinue to ask ourselves the following question moving
forward: Where do we, as the Otto Group, have the
greatest influence and need for action to mitigate the
risks for people in our supply chains and continuously
improve working conditions?

Our main sourcing countries

Final production facilities
are taken into consideration
that are located in risk
countries according to the
amfori BSCI categorization.
The Otto Group also pro-
duces in low-risk countries,
such as EU member states.

As of: April 2025,

for more information, visit
https:/www.ottogroup.com/en/
nachhaltigkeit/lieferkette-karte.php



https://www.ottogroup.com/en/nachhaltigkeit/lieferkette-karte.php
https://www.ottogroup.com/en/nachhaltigkeit/lieferkette-karte.php
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Circularity

Besides consistent climate protection, circularity is
the only plausible answer to the question of how our
economic model can function within planetary
boundaries while maintaining the stability of ecosys-
tems and human livelihoods. To keep materials and
products in circulation for as long as possible through
circular design, appropriate usage models, such as
second-hand or repair and recycling options, we look
at the entire value chain. In joint projects with our
Group companies and partners in the business
community, academia and civil society, we are con-
tinuously working to test and gradually implement
circularity principles and solutions. Quick success
cannot be achieved in all areas of the value chain. This
makes it all the more important to learn from the
challenges and set the necessary course to advance
forward-looking ideas.

Transformational goal

We incorporate circular princi-
ples and ensure circularity in
our business models.

Core priority

Circular solutions implemented for
18 million products in 2024

On the path to a circular business model

We have measured the number of circular solutions for
our products since 2023 to check the effectiveness of
our measures and to monitor the progress on our way to
a circular business model. Included in this, for example,
are products containing recycled materials, circular
product design, second-hand products sales, repairs
completed and recycling solutions. We managed to
increase the number of product solutions implemented
from 15.6 million in the previous year to 22.7 million in
2024. Most of this performance indicator and the
increase achieved relative to the previous year originate
from the use of secondary materials in products.

Our revised Sustainability Strategy (see “Our Sustain-
ability Strategy since March 2025") has been in place
since the start of the 2025/26 financial year and is
intended, by defining two additional ambitions, to
continue advancing implementation of circular solu-
tions by the end of the 2035/36 financial year. We
largely shift our most relevant assortments (textiles,
furniture, electronics) to eco-designed products. More-
over, we largely offer circular business solutions (reuse,
repdair or recycling) and constantly increase their imple-
mentation for our most relevant assortments (textiles,
furniture, electronics).

Circular collections

The driving force behind our measures and activities in
the Circularity area consists of the Otto Group compa-
nies, which are already implementing specific solutions.
OTTO launched what was already its fourth Circular
Collection in cooperation with circular.fashion in 2024.
Each item of clothing in the Circular Collection fulfills
the circular design criteria of circular.fashion and has a
digital product passport in the form of a QR code -
known as the circularity.ID — which contains information
on the material, production and the correct return
channel. Customers can therefore access the relevant
information, while used textile sorting businesses can
later identify the clothing and its components precisely
in order to prepare it for further use or recycling -
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depending on the item’s condition. In this way, instead
of textile waste, new raw materials are created that
can be used for new garments and thus remain in the
cycle.

Bonprix also launched two additional circular collec-
tions in the reporting year based on circular.fashion's cir-
cular design criteria, which define strict recyclability
and durability requirements. The spring collection
focused on durable styles in new shapes and a wide
range of colors. In addition, more sustainable viscose
and lyocell were used for the first time in the shirts,
pants, dresses and windbreakers. In the fall/winter col-
lection, knitted dresses, skirts, sweaters, a cardigan and
accessories such as hats and scarves were made from
modern knitted shapes with organic cotton in transition .

Buying and selling used clothing on Limango

Limango customers in Germany can access an online
second-hand store to resell the products they have pur-
chased from Limango to other customers and hence
extend the useful life of items. Launched in the past
financial year, the store is under constant development
and has been warmly welcomed by customers, with an
average of more than 10,000 second-hand items cur-
rently on offer.

2 Cotton in transition is grown on former conventionally farmed land in accor-
dance with the GOTS and OCS organic standards, but is not yet fully labeled
as such. The transition period is two to three years.

Take-back systems

Functioning take-back systems are essential in the cir-
cular economy, which is why OTTO offers the collection
of used textiles from customers as part of the non-profit
initiative “Platz schaffen mit Herz” (Creating space with
heart). The proceeds from selling the second-hand
clothes go towards supporting charitable organizations
all over the world. Bonprix has also offered customers in
Austria a free take-back system since 2024. Clothes in
good condition can therefore be reused and the rest
recycled.

In addition, the Otto Group recycled more than
46,500 tons of used electronic equipment that we took
back from customers in the calendar year. More than
236,000 refrigerators and freezers were decontami-
nated by our "WEEELABEX"-certified disposal partners
in Germany and remanufactured into high-quality
products. This makes an important contribution to cli-
mate protection, as no greenhouse gases such as
chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs) and hydrofluorocarbons
(HFCs) are released into the environment during the
recycling process. This makes the Otto Group one of the
few companies in Germany to place such high demands
on recycling - a commitment that is also recognized by
third parties.

Progress, step by step

We will also continue to take a learning and collabora-
tive approach in the future. We want to be part of a
transformative process and create solutions that work
for manufacturers, retailers, customers and recyclers
alike. With our experience and established repair,
take-back and recycling services, we are able to
respond quickly to new regulatory and technological
developments.

The “Sorting for Circularity” project harnesses artificial
intelligence (Al) to support the use of automated sorting
technologies as part of our membership of the “Fashion
for Good” initiative. This will optimize workflows in large-
scale sorting operations for reusable textiles, increase
circularity and reduce the burden on waste manage-
ment in the export countries. In addition, the “Closing
the Footwear Loop” project was launched in early 2025.
It focuses on the use of sustainable alternatives for foot-
wear materials, the definition of circular design criteria
and the optimization of take-back logistics for the reuse
and recycling of shoes.
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In addition, at the beginning of 2024, the
Otto Group Holding, together with Bonprix and OTTO,
joined the project “Implementing Circularity in the Tex-
tile Industry” of the Partnership for Sustainable Textiles,
the German Society for International Cooperation (GlZ)
and the company circular.fashion to promote the inte-
gration of circular processes in the supply chain. Training
courses were held with suppliers in Bangladesh during
the reporting year. What is more, tests were conducted
in cooperation with other fashion companies as well as
sorters and recyclers to ensure full textile circularity in
Germany - using capsule collections that are recyclable
and equipped with digital product passports.

In the electronics segment, the Otto Group Holding has
been a program partner in the CiCEL 2.0 program by
Circularity eV. since November 2024. Given that the use
of consumer electronics is associated with a consider-
able resource consumption and highly complex waste
generation, the project aims to collaborate with actors
along the entire value chain to develop solutions that
optimize repairs and the recycling of old appliances.

We also want our actions to have an impact beyond the
Otto Group as the implementation of a successful
circularity concept will hinge on industry-wide change.
Sponsored by the Otto Group in 2023, a study by the
World Wide Fund for Nature (WWF) on a circular econ-
omy in Germany made a vital contribution to political
discourse on the National Circular Economy Strategy
adopted by the German government in December
2024. Measures can also be derived forthe Otto Group's
business model in conjunction with the anticipated
EU regulations - also on take-back systems and the
design of products. This includes, for example, the scal-
ing of recyclable products, the promotion of circular
solutions such as second-hand, repair and recycling or,
in the long term, the development of a reduction target
for resources.

Digital Responsibility

Digital technologies and solutions are important
throughout our entire value chain. This applies to the
extraction of resources, their use and disposal, and the
recycling of our products, as well as the daily work of
our employees. Digitization is fundamentally chang-
ing the way we live and work. It creates new opportu-
nities for participation, design and transparency, but
the rapid pace of change also brings challenges. Our
understanding of what it means to be digitally respon-
sible is correspondingly broad: In our own operations
and beyond, we want to help shape the future of work
in the digital age and promote learning with and
about digital technologies. We want to harness the
potential of technology to conserve natural resources
and promote the ethical use of artificial intelligence.
We also look at our own digital footprint and harness
the power of cross-sector collaboration: Through
initiatives and projects, we foster discourse between
business, government, academia, and civil society to
create a responsible framework for human-centric
digitization. The group companies are moving ahead
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with projects in the areas of data and awareness, the
future of work, digital education and environmental
protection. The measures and initiatives are as diverse
as our Group companies. The common goal is to put
digital technologies and innovations to work for
people and the environment - because digitization
should not be an end in itself.

Transformational goal

We shape a value-oriented dig-
itization for people and society.

Core priority

We are gathering internal experience
through initiatives and pilot projects in
the areas of Digital Responsibility such
as the future of work, data and
awareness, digital education, and
environmental protection.

Future of work

Social discourse in the context of partnerships

We are continuously involved in the social discourse on
value-oriented digitization. As part of the Zukunfts-
Werte initiative, representatives from business, aca-
demiaq, politics and associations came togetherin 2024
to discuss challenges and concrete solutions relating to
the future of work and digital education, with a focus
on opportunity-oriented and responsible use of artifi-
cial intelligence within the company and beyond com-
pany boundaries. We were also actively involved, as a
founding member, in the Corporate Digital Responsibility
(CDR) initiative of the German Federal Ministry for the
Environment, Nature Conservation, Nuclear Safety and
Consumer Protection (Bundesministerium fur Umwelt,
Naturschutz, nukleare Sicherheit und Verbraucher-
schutz). The initiative’s aim is to enshrine the principles
set out in the CDR Code in business and society, to con-
tinuously improve the effectiveness of measures and to
report annually on progress made.

Data and awareness

Digital data cleaning

The Otto Group conducts an annual “data cleaning”
campaign to draw employees’ attention to the environ-
mental impact of storing unused data. Its purpose
during the campaign period is to motivate employees
to consciously reduce this amount of data together
with others. Colleagues are encouraged to use check-
lists and video tutorials to clean up their data storage.
The data cleaning was launched by the Baur Group in
2021 and extended to other Group companies as “Digi-
tal Spring Cleaning” in 2022. Like in the previous year,
the campaign was held in September 2024 under the
name #CRX24 (Corporate Responsibility Experience) as
part of the Digital Sustainability Days (see Empowered
Employees chapter). The campaign drew attention
from beyond the Otto Group and received support
from the CDR initiative of the Federal Ministry for the
Environment, Nature Conservation, Nuclear Safety and
Consumer Protection (BMUV). The CDR initiative has
inspired around 50 companies to get involved.
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Digital education
Digital learning culture in the Otto Group

As an employer, we feel a responsibility to shape the
digital world of work in the interests of our employees.
A learning culture in which working and knowledge
acquisition can come together is a basic requirement
for digital transformation. Among the most impor-
tant tools in this area is our learning infrastructure,
which we are using increasingly to roll out Al-powered
applications. One example of this is Masterplan, the
digital learning platform that we introduced as part
of the Group-wide training initiative TechUcation. We
can use the platform to communicate relevant topics
across the organization and train our employees on
demand. In the reporting year, for example, we pro-
vided an explanatory learning path on how to use
our internal Al chat function (ogGPT) to around
17,000 white-collar employees. New learning content
on topics such as “lean management” and “inter-
cultural competence” was also designed for blue-collar
employees. These measures are intended to empower
and encourage our colleagues to play an active role
in shaping cultural change in the commercial sector.
Around 37,000 employees have learned about topics
related to digitization since the introduction of Mas-
terplan in 2020.

Learning to handle data in everyday work routine

To promote digital skills throughout the company, Eos
launched the “Data Skills” project in 2023. The IT course
was developed by internal experts in collaboration with
the Human Resources department and was aimed
specifically at non-IT employees in leadership positions
during the first year. The English-language online train-
ing series was rolled out to all employees and managers
via Masterplan and SharePoint in 2024. The aim is to
provide all Eos colleagues with the opportunity to build
their digital skills and learn more about the IT projects
within Eos. Video units on topics such as automation,
cloud computing and IT project management were
recorded by the IT experts themselves. After completing
the learning path, colleagues should feel confident in
using the available technologies to increase the pro-
ductivity and efficiency of their daily work.

In collaboration with the Human Resources, Corporate
Responsibility and IT departments, the Witt Group has
also developed a learning series for all commercial
employees of the Witt Group. The course consists of
Masterplan modules and supplementary live sessions
with internal experts on data skills. The learning mod-
ules can be taken on a voluntary basis and had been
completed more than 1,500 times on the Masterplan
learning platform by the end of 2024.

Teacher training program

Beyond our own business activities, we also contribute
our digitization experience and skills to society. One
example is TechUcation@school, a digital training pro-
gram for teachers, which was developed in cooperation
with the Hamburg School Authority, the Haomburg State
Institute for Teacher Training and School Development
and the Otto Group. School education in a culture of
digitality is among the most important topics of our
time. Here, teacher training is a vital factor, in addition
to a pedagogical concept and appropriate technological
equipment. TechUcation@school offers teachers in
Hamburg a free service on Youtube, complemented by
an extended program on the Ims.lernen.hamburg
platform of the School Authority. The Rhineland-
State
Baden-Wirttemberg State Media Center have been

Palatinate Educational Institute and the
part of TechUcation@school since 2023. The Ministry of
Education of the most populous federal state of North
Rhine-Westphalia also joined as a cooperation partner
in 2024. Sixteen educational videos were produced in
close cooperation with the IT department of the Minis-
try of Education. They address topics such as encryption
and block-based programming and complement the
TechUcation@school program. TechUcation@school
also cooperated with the non-profit partners [t4Kids
and the Hacker School in the reporting year to develop
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a free box containing materials for the first seven double
lessons on the topic of block-based programming. It
enables teachers to introduce pupils in sixth to eighth
grade to the topic, without having any prior knowledge
themselves.

ReDI School of Digital Integration

In partnership with the Haomburg Department of Eco-
nomics and Innovation, the Holistic Foundation, and
Microsoft, we have been supporting the establishment
of the ReDI School of Digital Integration in Hamburg
since 2022. The school supports IT talents with a refu-
gee or migration background in their education and
vocational training. The Otto Group provided assis-
tance in the reporting year by donating laptops and
making premises available. Over the two semesters in
2024, a total of 332 students - 62 percent of them
women - from 49 countries attended courses in the
areas of web development, user-centered design, data
analytics and cloud computing.

Environmental protection
Al is changing purchasing

Artificial intelligence is shaping purchasing processes.
Bonprix is building a variety of Al-powered forecasting
tools, including demand forecasting and return rate
prediction. Going forward, these tools should help to
enable more precise estimates of demand for estab-
lished and new articles and improve quantity planning.
Doing sowill reduces both overproduction and resources
consumption, as well as unnecessary transportation
routes.

OTTO has also been running its own Al Forecasting
solution since 2019. It was developed by the Business
Intelligence department for future sale forecasts of the
OTTO, Baur and Lascana brands. The Al-based determi-
nation of initial order quantities for new articles enables
realistic planning and the avoidance of overproduction
and can be used by companies as the basis in end-to-
end control for retailers and logistics.

DigiPac

We also deploy digitization in our downstream supply
chain to our customers. As part of the DigiPac project,
Hermes Fulfilment and Bonprix have been working
together since December 2022 to digitize the packing
process for customer shipments. This means that paper
documents such as invoices or delivery notes will no
longer be included with shipments. The elimination of
paper documents not only speeds up the shipping
process, but also cuts down on material resources.
A total of 19 million printed delivery documents were
rendered obsolete between December 2022 and
December 2024. The process began in Germany and
the Netherlands and was expanded to France and
Belgium in August 2023. The process was extended to
Poland in early 2025, and the inclusion of other loca-
tions is already in the pipeline.

Our revised Sustainability Strategy (see “Our Sustain-
ability Strategy since March 2025") applies since the
start of the 2025/26 financial year, which means that
we will no longer address the topic of Digital Responsi-
bility as a strategic issue. Topics such as digital skills,
responsible Al and data protection will remain priorities,
as the responsible management of the digital transfor-
mation remains highly relevant for the Otto Group.
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Mind shift

The future will be built by human hand.
That's why we as the Otto Group
deliberately give our employees and
customers space to come to an
appreciation of sustainability in their
personal lives and working routines,
for example by creating transparency
and opportunities for participation

in corporate responsibility at the
Otto Group Holding and its Group
companies. We want to inspire our
customers along the customer journey
with sustainability and enable them
to make more conscious purchasing
decisions by providing transparent
information about the sustainable
features of our products and services.

Empowered Employees

Our employees are the experts on our products, pro-
cesses, services and interactions with our customers.
Their knowledge and ideas are essential to helping us
as a Group to achieve our sustainability goals. That is
why it is important to us to create transparency and
create leeway for our employees to get involved. To
this end, we provide information and knowledge on the
topic of sustainability and in actively communicate

about our CR activities on an ongoing basis on the
intranet, in sustainability-related communities, and
in presentations and events. We also assist our
employees in their efforts to integrate sustainability
measures into their daily work routine.

Transformational goal

We empower our employees
to experience and actively
shape sustainability.

Core priority

We communicate our CR commit-
ment and activities to our employees
through various offers and contact
points and create the framework and
opportunities for them to experience
sustainability, actively shape it and
integrate it into their work.

Step by step, we are embedding sustainability more
deeply in the Group

The Group companies and the Otto Group Holding
implemented and expanded various new measures for
employees in the reporting year. For example, sustain-
ability is an integral part of the onboarding programs
for new colleagues in many Group companies. We also

provide various training opportunities such as expert
presentations at the Digital Sustainability Days and
learning paths on the Masterplan e-learning platform
(see Digital Responsibility chapter). What is more, we
organize quarterly knowledge sharing events with and
between the Empowered Employees experts of the
Group companies to achieve our defined goals, maxi-
mize benefits from synergies and enshrine sustainability
more deeply throughout the company.

Furthermore, we continued working on integrating sus-
tainability into the core processes of our employees’
activities this reporting year. The diversity of our Group
companies’ business models allows for different

implementations.

The Witt Group has defined sustainability as the eighth
critical success factor for the company's development.
Alongside other factors such as customer focus, a viable
product range and brand concepts, sustainability is
therefore evolving into a key component of the corpo-
rate strategy and a central topic in the development of
targets for the financial year. This integration underlines
the enterprise-wide commitment to sustainable action
and means that two out of six prioritized financial year
targets are directly aimed at social and environmental
responsibility. All employees must therefore include
sustainability in their thoughts and actions.
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In addition, departments at Limango were specifically
approached in the reporting year about optimizing
their activities in the area of sustainability. These efforts
have reduced the use of shipping packaging, parcel
inserts and delivery notes within logistics.

Bonprix introduced a centralized, cross-divisional man-
agement system for the product-related sustainability
goals in the reporting year as a means of ensuring the
purposeful implementation of the sustainability strat-
egy. By doing so, the company aims to ensure that all
relevant internal stakeholders - from management to
operational areas - are aligned with the commmon goals.
This involves close collaboration between the teams
from the areas of product management, procurement
and the global interfaces, including Otto International
asthe primary contact forthe supply chain. This network
enables all stakeholders to conduct quick and efficient
checks on the suitability of innovation topics emerging
from the market and, assuming they are scalable, to
implement them directly.

Eos launched the international CR community in the
reporting year to promote networking among inter-
national colleagues. The aim is to harness synergies,
share knowledge and provide mutual inspiration. To this
end, CR ambassadors have been appointed as central
contacts in the individual Eos national companies. They
work with central sustainability management within
the Eos Group to encourage knowledge sharing and

support the implementation of sustainability initiatives.

In addition, OTTO deploys the multiplier model to imple-
ment the sustainability strategy in the relevant depart-
ments and raise awareness of sustainability throughout
the OTTO organization. The model was used in depart-
ments that are important for the sustainability strat-
egy - including purchasing or logistics - to create dedi-
cated positions that are relevant to sustainability within
OTTO and will be implemented operationally in the
individual departments. This enables close interdepart-
mental cooperation and integrates the sustainability
strategy into the company’s core processes.

Shaping sustainability together

Not only do we want to inform our employees about the
multiple dimensions of sustainability, we are also deter-
mined to motivate them to contribute their own ideasin
day-to-day work. To this end, we have established vari-
ous communities, such as the cross-company digital
GOOD Community. This is open to all colleagues inter-
ested in sustainability. With weekly contributions, it reg-
ularly reaches several hundred colleagues. In addition
to receiving information, members can also publish
their own contributions and exchange ideas with col-
leagues. Posts include news from the Otto Group, tips
and tricks for an environmentally friendly everyday life
or seasonal recipe ideas. The topic of sustainability is
also addressed in a variety of formats, for example on
the Group-wide intranet, in podcasts orin communication
formats with the Executive Board. By doing so, we pro-
vide our colleagues with a wide range of opportunities
for information and knowledge sharing.

Digital Sustainability Days

The Otto Group's second Corporate Responsibility Expe-
rience — #CRX24 for short — was held in September 2024.
We organized the event in a digital format and across
the Group forthe second time in order to reach as many
employees as possible. The CEO of the Otto Group and
the Vice President Corporate Responsibility of the
Otto Group joined with decision-makers from politics,
business and civil society at two panel discussions -
which were also open to external guests - to discuss rel-
evant issues on the topics of “Climate transformation”
and the “Balancing act between regulation, perfor-
mance and corporate culture”. #CRX24 also included
many different deep dive sessions for employees, at
which internal and external experts provided insights
into various sustainability topics and projects. Examples
include how we, as the Otto Group, are using the near-
term science-based target to protect the climate or
how climate protection works in parcel logistics at Her-
mes Germany. In addition, the Witt Group provided
insight into its approach to circularity, while Bonprix
showcased its Sustainability Passport, a precursor to
the digital product passport. We also discussed the
challenges of communicating sustainability in the
dichotomous field between customer wishes and regu-
latory requirements. #CRX24 also marked the launch
of the Group-wide digital data cleaning as an active
contribution to climate protection and the responsible
use of our resources (see Digital Responsibility chapter).
The Sustainability Days met with great interest, with
around 1,000 participants actively participating in the
digital discussions.
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The future shaping the future

In the reporting year, our trainees again implemented
various sustainability projects and thus contributed to
the fulfillment of our CR strategy:

e organization and implementation of a creek
cleaning as part of a sponsorship at Baur,
e acampaign to rescue fawns at Frankonia,

e atrainee alliance “Greenfluencer” at the Witt Group,
e organization of an internal sales campaign for refur-
bished devices by the non-profit IT company AfB,

which was coordinated by the GOOD Project
trainee initiative at OTTO, as well as

e Energy and Environment Days with an information
and participation program for trainees at
Hermes Fulfilment.

Our revised Sustainability Strategy (see “Our Sustain-
ability Strategy since March 2025") applies since the
start of the 2025/26 financial year and will mark the
end of Empowered Employees as a strategic topic.
However, selected measures such as training and
onboarding will remain in place as our colleagues are
essential in implementing the sustainability require-
ments and achieving our sustainability goals.

Conscious Customers

With our products and services, we appeal to the
entire population and want to have a broad impact.
We would like to make our customers aware of sus-
tainability along the entire customer journey and
inspire them to adopt more sustainable lifestyles. This
is why we are offering incentives for more conscious
consumption and continuously improving transpar-
ency regarding the sustainability-related properties
of our products.

Transformational goal

We enable and inspire our cus-
tomers to make conscious and
sustainable decisions.

Core priority

We empower our customers to make
conscious consumption decisions
throughout the entire customer
journey, and ensure the transparency
of sustainability-related product
features.

Shaping the value chain together

As part of our targets, we provide guidance to customers
to help them make conscious consumption decisions.
The success of our approach depends on our under-
standing of our customers’ wishes and needs. Do they
want to know what raw materials we use? And how do
we present information about the sustainability aspects
of our products in a way that is clear, informative and
easy to understand? We regularly gather customer
insights to understand what matters to our customers
about our products, services and their experience
throughout the customer journey, for example through
customer surveys or user behavior in our stores. We try to
ensure that our approach is best aligned with our cus-
tomers’ wishes and requirements. In the downstream
value chain, we are dependent on the specific actions
of our customers. Once a product is purchased, we no
longer have direct control over its use and return to the
cycle. By informing our customers about proper dis-
posal methods and providing take-back systems, we
make it easier for them to live more sustainably in their
daily lives.
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Making sustainability more visible

We want to increase the share of sustainability-related
products offered by our Group companies. At the same
time, our expectations regarding the definition of these
products are constantly growing, as our ambitions,
customer expectations, and regulatory requirements
continue to evolve. We therefore welcome the social
and political debate about what constitutes a more
sustainable product and how information should be
provided in this regard.

Our godal is to provide guidance to our customers and
help them make more informed purchasing decisions. In
2024, we continued to work on labeling products in our
shops that have a proven environmental or social advan-
tage over conventional items. We do so by highlighting
the product’s sustainability attribute - such as organic
cotton - and making other information transparent.

Our revised Sustainability Strategy (see “Our Sustain-
ability Strategy since March 2025") came into effect at
the start of the 2025/26 financial year. Among its objec-
tives is to continue incentivizing more conscious con-
sumption. Our ambition is to continuously increase the
share of responsible products in our most relevant
assortments (textiles, furniture, electronics) by the end
of the financial year 2035/36. Our commitment to mak-
ing environmental statements in a comprehensible,
transparent and verifiable manner remains as a binding
requirement within the framework of our Otto Group
Sustainability Standards.

Collections

OTTO and Bonprix customers are able to buy clothing
from circular collections. In the reporting year, for exam-
ple, Bonprix launched two additional circular collections
based on circular.fashion's circular design criteria, which
adhere to strict recyclability and durability require-
ments. OTTO also launched its fourth Circular Collec-
tion in collaboration with circular.fashion (see Circularity
chapter).

Sheego has introduced a “Fits Me Guarantee” for its
customers to ensure that clothing that no longer fits
does not end up as trash. Within one year, customers
can exchange their favorite items for a different size
free of charge if they no longer fit. The innovative ser-
vice applies to 32 key styles, with a focus on denim
and dresses. Other selected items, including blouses,
t-shirts and pants, are also part of the collection. The
returned garments will be reused or recycled through
the "Platz schaffen mit Herz” (Creating space with
heart) project.

Bonus programs

Doing good with your purchase - this is the motto of
the OTTO Up customer loyalty program. Customers
support the preservation of species diversity with their
participation. In the program, wildflowers are being
planted on photovoltaic open spaces at two locations
in Rhineland-Palatinate (Beilingen) and Saxony-Anhalt
(Groningen). Customers receive double points for pur-
chasing a more sustainable item.

At Limango, customers are also rewarded if they choose
products with sustainability attributes through individual
actions within the “family Star” bonus program: For
organic cotton items purchased during certain
time-limited promotions, they earn family points that

can be redeemed for other shopping benefits.
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Foreword

Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA*, with its registered office and
place of management in Hamburg, was previously a
non-operating holding company that held the sole
shares in the direct subsidiary Otto (GmbH & Co KG).
With effect from the end of the 2024/25 financial year,
the companies were merged under company law, with
Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA taking over the entire company
assets of Otto (GmbH & Co KG) by way of universal suc-
cession. Nothing has changed for the customers, con-
tractual partners and employees of the former Otto
(GmbH & Co KG). Moreover, the merger was also an
intra-Group transaction and had no impact on the
Group’'s net assets, financial position and financial
performance.

The merger with Otto (GmbH & Co KG) and the change
of legal form from a stock corporation to a partnership
limited by shares are also part of a generational change
at the Otto Group. As of 2026, the founding shareholder
Benjamin Otto will become Chairman of the Board of
Trustees of the Michael Otto Stiftung, Hamburg, which
holds a majority stake in Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA, and of
the Shareholders’ Council of Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA,
and will take over the strategic management of the
Group from this date forward.

' Following a change of legal form from Otto Aktiengesellschaft fiir Beteiligungen
to a partnership limited by shares in August 2024, Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA
operated as Otto Group GmbH & Co. KGaA until 2 March 2025. For the sake
of readability, only the company name Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA valid at the
time of preparation of the Group Management Report is used below.

As a result of said merger, the previous preparation and
publication of the consolidated financial statements of
Otto (GmbH & Co KG) no longer applies. The differences
between the previous consolidated financial state-
ments of Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA and Otto (GmbH & Co
KG) were insignificant with regard to the net assets,
financial position and financial performance of both
groups of companies due to the almost identical scope
of consolidation but nevertheless led to slight differ-
ences between the consolidated financial statements
of the previous financial years.

Basic Information
about the Group

Group Overview and Business Model

Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA and the other Group compa-
nies — hereinafter referred to as the Otto Group - are a
globally active group of retailers and retail-related ser-
vice providers with an average of 36,304 employees?®
and revenue of EUR 14.9 billion in the 2024/25 financial
yedr. The Otto Group’s primary markets are Germany,
the rest of Europe and the USA.

The Otto Group's business activities are divided into
strategic business areas, which are described below and
which also represent the Group's reporting segments.

? A more detailed presentation is found in the Corporate Responsibility
section.

The Otto Group's trading activities, which constitute a
relevant part of the operating business activities, are
conducted in the Platforms, Brand Concepts and Retailers
segments. The trading activities include product ranges
such as fashion, shoes and lifestyle products, furniture
and home accessories, toys, consumer electronics,
sports, and leisure products plus DIY product ranges for
renovations and gardening. The primary sales channels
are e-commerce, brick-and-mortar retail, and catalog.
The Otto Group sources various products for its trading
activities from a large number of countries. It does not
own any facilities, but works with business partners
(suppliers) who in turn place orders with various facili-
ties. The Otto Group's main sourcing countries in terms
of the respective final production manufacturers are
China, India and Turkey.

The main sources of revenue in the Platforms, Brand
Concepts and Retailers segments are not only revenue
from the sale of goods and the related shipping and ser-
vice offerings, but also from brokerage and advertising
services. In total, approximately 79% of the revenues of
these three segments in the 2024/25 financial year
were generated in the e-commerce sector (2023/24:
approximately 79%), with the remainder coming from
catalogs, brick-and-mortar retail and other services.

The Platforms segment basically includes the two
e-commerce platforms OTTO and About You, whose

strategic focus - besides their own trading business - is
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also on operating a marketplace solution where partic-
ipating partners sell goods and services to end customers.
In addition to the trading business and associated B2C
services, B2B services closely related to the trading
business are offered as well. The OTTO e-commerce
platform is used in all of the following explanations to
summarize both the operational business activities of
Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA and the payment services pro-
vided by Otto Payments GmbH. In the 2024/25 finan-
cial year, the online share of sales in the Platforms
segment was approximately 92% (2023/24: approxi-
mately 93%). The online share does not include selected
service revenues, including from the B2B services
offered. As a result of digitization in recent years, sales
via catalogs have declined sharply and, like brick-and-
mortar retail, play a negligible role in this segment. Due
tothe planned sale of all shares in About You® to Zalando
SE inthe 2025/26 financial year, the Platforms segment
will be dominated by the e-commerce platform OTTO
in future.

The Brand Concepts segment involves internationally
represented vertical concepts and product brands -
including the bonprix Group, Crate and Barrel Group
and the Witt Group - that sell both products of their
own brands as well as licensed brands to end custom-
ers. The company mainly uses its own sales channels for
this, along with e-commerce, brick-and-mortar retail
and catalogs. The online share of sales in the Brand

3 ABOUT YOU Holding SE, Hamburg and its other subsidiaries are referred to
below exclusively as About You for the purposes of better readability.

Concepts segmentis approximately 62% inthe 2024/25
financial year (2023/24: approximately 63%). The second
significant sales channel in this segment is brick-and-
mortar retail, primarily due to the large number of Crate
and Barrel Group stores in the USA and Canada and the
Witt Group stores, primarily in southern Germany. The
planned integration of the plus-size brand Sheego into
the Witt Group in the 2025/26 financial year will con-
tinue the bundling of business activities in this segment.

The Retailers segment consists of multichannel retail
concepts that primarily buy and sell products belonging
to their own and third-party brands. Among other
things, this segment entails the retail activities of the
Baur Group, including the Otto Austria Group, the shop-
ping offers of the Limango Group and the Manufactum
Group. In this segment, e-commerce is also a focal point
in the sales channels. The online share of sales in the
Retailers segment is approximately 78% in the 2024/25
financial year (2023/24: approximately 81%). Brick-and-
mortar retail is also an important sales channel in this
segment due to the stores of the Manufactum Group
and the Frankonia Group. Sales via catalogs are negligi-
ble in the Retailers segment. In the Retailers segment,
the aim is to strategically bundle the retail activities of
the Baur Group, the Otto Austria Group and the Dutch
company Otto BV. in the four European markets of
Germany, Austria, Switzerland and the Netherlands in
the 2025/26 financial year.

The Services segment mainly comprises the extensive
logistics services of the Hermes Group and the sourcing
of the Otto International Group. These sub-groups of
the Group deliver services both to customers outside
the Otto Group and to Group companies from the
Platforms, Brand Concepts and Retailers segments.
Dominating this segment is the Hermes Group, which
offers numerous services along the logistics value
chain - from transport out of the countries of origin to
customs clearance and warehousing to deliveries to
private and business customers. In the Hermes Group,
the Hermes Fulfilment Group plays a key role in the
Otto Group's trading activities with its warehousing
activities. It operates various sites in Germany, Poland,
the Czech Republic, Italy and Switzerland.

The Financial Services segment includes the range of
financial services within the Otto Group. The interna-
tional EOS Group, one of the leading investors and
experts in the technology-based processing of non-
performing receivables, is behind the main activities
in this segment. Its numerous Group companies offer
a range of different services in the area of receiv-
ables management.
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Key Figures for Management Control
of the Group

Revenue and income from customer financing (herein-
after referred to simply as revenue), earnings before
interest and tax (EBIT) and the debt service ratio (net
financial debt to cash EBITDA) are the most important
financial indicators used to manage the group and to
define strategic goals. In addition to other earnings lev-
els, the return on capital employed (ROCE), the debt to
equity ratio and the Group equity ratio are also import-
ant financial indicators for the Otto Group. In addition,
control-relevant non-financial performance indicators
relating to customer satisfaction and sustainability are
taken into account within the Otto Group.

Growth

In the dynamic market environment of e-commerce,
the Otto Group's fundamental objective is to achieve
ambitious growth. Revenue growth is also a financial
indicator of the attractiveness of the products and ser-
vices on offer and ultimately of customer satisfaction.
Group and segment revenues on a comparable basis
are therefore the key performance indicators. To deter-
mine the comparable basis, the changes in the scope of
consolidation are factored in through a corresponding
adjustment of the relevant period of the previous year
to align with the revenue growth reported (proportion-
ately) in the reporting year. Liquidations and closures of

operations are treated as changes in scope of consoli-
dation. Currency translation effects are accounted for
in the presentation of comparable year-over-year reve-
nue growth in the current reporting year by translating
revenue at the average exchange rate of the compara-
tive period. When forecasting revenue growth, no
changes in average exchange rates are assumed, i.e.,
the average exchange rates of the reporting period are
used.

In addition, to reflect the platform business model, the
Gross Merchandise Value (GMV) is also used to repre-
sent revenue growth. The GMV represents the value of
all goods, including sales tax and excluding returns,
regardless of whetherthey are reported as own revenue
or commission sales to marketplace partners. In partic-
ular, it excludes B2B and B2C service revenues, sales
reductions and customer financing revenues. The GMV
is currently shown in the financial report for the e-com-
merce platform OTTO.

Profitability

EBITis the key indicator used to measure the Otto Group's
operating performance. As a matter of principle, EBIT is
an unadjusted figure, i.e., special effects such as restruc-
turing expenses or expenses for share-based payments
are not adjusted. The effects of changes in the scope of
consolidation are explained accordingly in the financial
report.

Financial performance

In addition to growth and profitability, financial perfor-
mance is another important component in the manage-
ment control of the Otto Group. The most important
financial indicator here is the debt service ratio. It is the
ratio of net financial debt to cash EBITDA. The ratio
reflects the Otto Group's full debt repayment capability
by indicating the theoretical period for full repayment
of net financial debt from cash EBITDA. Net financial
debt comprises interest-bearing financial liabilities, in
particular liabilities from bonds and other notes pay-
able, from leases and bank liabilities, less (liquid) securi-
ties and cash and cash equivalents. Further details on
the individual components can be found in the financial
report within the Group Management Report. With
regard to cash EBITDA, the specifics of the financial
services business model are taken into account by
increasing the reported EBITDA by repayments on
receivables packages, repayments from sales proceeds
from real estate disposals and repayments for bridge
loans granted to the EOS Group, reduced by non-cash
value adjustments. The reason for this is that, in accor-
dance with IFRS, the operating returns from financial
services - unlike returns from other investments - are
not shown in full in EBITDA, but are already netted
against this amortization component. Cash EBITDA is
the relevant indicator for calculating the debt repay-
ment period.
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Another financial performance indicator is the debt to
equity ratio. In the Otto Group, it measures the ratio of
net financial debt to Group equity. Group equity cor-
responds to the amount reported in the consolidated
balance sheet.

Another financial performance indicator is the equity
ratio. This indicator describes the ratio of reported
Group equity to total assets according to the consoli-
dated balance sheet.

Capital efficiency

The ROCE measures the return on the Group's operating
activities. It measures how efficiently and profitably the
Otto Group has used its capital employed. To calculate
ROCE, the EBIT is viewed in relation to average capital
employed. Capital employed comprises the assets
required for the operating business that were used to
generate the reported EBIT. These funds are primarily
tied up in fixed assets and working capital. The amount
of capital employed is subject to significant seasonal
fluctuations, for example due to inventory changes
during the year or as a result of investments in intangi-
ble assets and property, plant and equipment. Capital
employed is not determined on an ongoing basis, but is
calculated on certain reporting dates. In order to come
as close as possible to the capital actually tied up in the
current financial year, an average value is used for the

capital employed. In the Otto Group, this is based on the
quarterly reporting dates. The average actual figures
are calculated on a rolling basis over the last five
quarters.

Customer satisfaction

The Otto Group's goal for its customers is to ideally
exceed their expectations. Customer satisfaction is
measured using the Net Promoter Score (NPS), which is
based on the recommendation from the customer’s
perspective. The NPS is a relevant non-financial indicator
that is calculated and planned at the level of individual
selected Group companies.

Sustainability

The Corporate Responsibility Strategy valid until the
2024/25 financial year — hereinafter referred to as the
CR strategy - comprises the seven topic areas of Cli-
mate, Sustainable Materials, Supply Chain, Circularity,
Conscious Customers, Empowered Employees and Dig-
ital Responsibility with corresponding transformational
goals. Within the topic areas, core priorities have been
defined, which are control-relevant non-financial per-
formance indicators forthe management control of the
Group. For the first four topic areas and the associated
core priorities, quantitative values exist at the level of
the Otto Group. At the beginning of the 2025/26 finan-

cial year, the CR strategy was replaced by the enhanced
sustainability strategy, which largely continues and
supplements the ambitious goals of the previous CR
strategy in the areas of the environment and human
rights. For further details on the CR and sustainability
strategy and its content, please refer to the “Sustain-
ability” section.

The Executive Board is convinced that the Otto Group
bears responsibility for the environmental and social
impacts of its business activities and that sustainability
is the basis for the Group’s long-term economic success.
For this reason, the variable remuneration of the Execu-
tive Board members* has been linked to the achieve-
ment of sustainability goals since the 2014/15 financial
year.

Group Strategy
Shareholder vision and business mandate

The Otto Group’s business is based on the shareholder
vision “Responsible commerce that inspires,” which was
developed with the Executive Board. This vision high-
lights the importance of sustainable retail and prac-
tices and clearly expresses the goal of combining
business success with social and environmental

responsibility.

* Within the Otto Group, the management of Otto Verwaltungs-
gesellschaft mbH is also referred to as the Executive Board.
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Together with the shareholders’ business mandate, this
shareholder vision defines the framework conditions
and guiding principles for developing and implement-
ing the Otto Group's enduringly profitable business
models.

This strategic development has been fleshed out in
greater detail by the “Otto Group Path.” The Otto Group
Path has described the Group’'s growth journey since
2017. It has defined the strategic goals, established
focus areas for all Group companies in the Otto Group
and provided an action framework for both the port-
folio strategy and the strategy for compliance with
social and environmental responsibility. With the trans-
fer of the chair of the Executive Board to Petra Scharner-
Wolff, the Otto Group Path is considered complete.
Since the beginning of the 2025/26 financial year, the
Otto Group's strategic agenda has been based on the
five strategic priorities “Inspired customers,” “Scale &
diversification,” “Profitability & investment capability,”
“"Competitive tech capabilities” and “Performance cul-
ture.” This is therefore the last time we will refer to the
Otto Group Path in the current Group Management
Report.

As part of a focused growth strategy, the Otto Group
attempted to use the Otto Group Path to position itself
even better for the future through targeted investments
in the expansion and development of existing and new
business areas, while at the same time increasing effi-
ciency, maintaining a solid capital structure and credit
metrics to preserve the necessary financial flexibility for

the future. This was accompanied by the firm convic-
tion that long-term economic success is only possible if
it is in harmony with social and environmental responsi-
bility - doing business sustainably means taking respon-
sibility. For this reason, the Otto Group has set itself high
sustainability goals with its CR strategy. With the sus-
tainability strategy in place since March 2025, the
Otto Group is also pursuing ambitious goals that go
beyond regulatory requirements in the areas of the
environment and human rights as part of the new
strategic agenda. Previous sustainability-related tar-
gets and efforts of the CR strategy up to the 2024/25
financial year are largely being incorporated into the
sustainability strategy. For example, beyond its near-
term science-based target (SBT), the Otto Group is aiming
for net-zero emissions across its entire value chain by
2045.°

Strategic goals and measurement of achievement
of targets

As the new strategic agenda is being fleshed out, the
strategic objectives and the measurement of target
achievement will also be revised in the course of the
2025/26 financial year. The Otto Group is currently
pursuing various strategic objectives:

1. Toincrease the geographical and business model diver-
sification of the Otto Group's portfolio of companies.

2. To increase market share in the markets relevant to
the Otto Group.

® Amore detailed presentation is found in the Corporate Responsibility
section.

3. To ensure a competitive level of customer satisfaction.
4. To increase the Otto Group's capital efficiency.

In order to achieve these targets and to ensure a solid
capital structure and credit metrics, two key strategic
conditions are necessary:

1. Ensuring sufficient profitability
2. Maintaining good financial performance

The achievement of the targets is monitored using
various indicators:

Revenue and Earnings Distribution by Segments for
the Diversification Target

Geographical diversification is pursued by dynamically
expanding into additional European markets and the
USA, particularly through the Group companies in the
Brand Concepts segment. The long-term goal is to
reduce the dependence of revenues and earnings on
the main sales market of Germany and to diversify the
distribution of revenues and earnings even more across
the different business models of the Otto Group.

Revenue to Increase Market Share

In order to further increase the Otto Group’s market
share in relevant markets, the Group aims to achieve
long-term revenue growth in excess of the respective
market growth.
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Net Promoter Score (NPS) to Achieve Competitive
Customer Satisfaction

The Otto Group focuses on its customers. The goal is to
build long-term relationships with customers by putting
their needs at the center of our activities. The creation
of outstanding experiences should inspire customers.
This is the clear ambition of the Otto Group. NPS is the
relevant indicator for measuring customer satisfaction.
[t measures the willingness to recommend (net promoters).
NPS target values are defined annually and specifically
for the various Group companies of the Otto Group,
taking into account the respective competitive environ-
ment and the associated trade-off between customer
satisfaction and costs. The aim is to ensure sustainable
competitive customer satisfaction.

ROCE to Measure Capital Efficiency
The Otto Group aims to achieve an ROCE of >10% in the
long term.

EBIT to Measure Profitability
A high triple-digit EBIT (in EUR million) is the long-term
target of the Otto Group.

Debt Service Ratio and Equity Ratio to Measure
Financial Performance

The long-term goal is to further improve the debt ser-
vice ratio compared to the status quo. The Otto Group
also intends to permanently maintain a Group equity
ratio of at least 25%.

Financial Report

Macroeconomic and Sector-specific
Conditions

In 2024, the global economy was in a phase of mod-
erate growth after the crisis-ridden previous years.
Although the global upward pressure on consumer
prices caused by the war in Ukraine gradually eased,
the return to the two-percent target is proving to be
tough. This is primarily due to the slowdown in the
decline in energy prices and the rise in prices for ser-
vices. The restrictive monetary policy implemented in
the recent past as a political response to the significant
rise in consumer prices has been eased since summer
2024 by central bank interest rate cuts.

There were noticeable differences in the economic
dynamics of the various regions. While overall economic
development in the euro area initially picked up again
following a downturn in the first quarter, momentum
slowed toward the end of the year. Rising private con-
sumer spending was offset by declining capital
investment; both exports and imports have slightly
fallen recently, resulting in moderate economic
growth overall. In contrast, overall economic develop-
ment in the USA gained significantly more momentum:
Rising real incomes drove private consumption, includ-
ing spending on durable goods in particular. Govern-
ment consumption and a strong recovery in residential

construction provided additional positive momentum.

In Germany, overall economic growth failed to materi-
alize for the second year in a row, largely driven by
declining fixed asset investments and a downturn in
exports. The economic downturn is likely to be based on
structural rather than cyclical factors. Although infla-
tion largely normalized over the course of the past year
with an increase of 2.2 %, thereby promoting a strong
rise in real wages, the consumer climate for private
households remained poor. High political uncertainty, a
weakening labor market and the aftermath of the
energy crisis dampened consumer sentiment, which
has not fully recovered since its slump in 2022. For the
year as a whole, private consumer spending increased
at an inflation-adjusted rate of 0.3% (2023: -04%),
which in nominal terms was at 2.7% (2023: 6.7%).

The year-on-year change in real gross domestic prod-
uct was as follows:

Year-on-year change in

real GDP 2024 2023

in% in%
World 3.2 3.3
Germany -0.2 -0.3
Euro area 0.8 0.5
USA 2.8 29
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Against the backdrop of a weak macroeconomic envi-
ronment, the German retail sector as a whole reported
an inflation-adjusted year-on-year increase in revenue
of only 1.1% in 2024 (2023: -3.3%), which nominally was
at 2.5% (2023: 2.3%). Within the German retail sector,
the gloomy consumer sentiment was clearly reflected
in the German online and mail-order sales sector.
According to market research company Euromonitor
International, the gross merchandise value (GMV) in the
e-commerce sector rose by 2.1% to EUR 97.4 billion in
2024 (2023: EUR 954 billion). The upward revenue
growth was particularly evident in the Home Appli-
ances and Textiles product groups, while demand for
multimedia products was limited. There was a notice-
able drop inrevenue in the Home & Living product group
with furniture for indoor and outdoor use.

The German transport and logistics industry was also
significantly affected by macroeconomic weakness in
2024. Exports and industrial production have been
unable to keep pace with the momentum of interna-
tional trade and the global industrial economy for some
time now, which was reflected in the 0.7% decline in
total transport volumes in Germany (2023: -6.1%).

In addition to the fiercely competitive market environ-
ment that continues to prevail, the development of
wage costs and energy prices in particular has a notice-
able effect on the German transport and logistics
sector. The general level of costs in German goods

transport remained on an upward trajectory in 2024.
Increasing shipment volumes in the online and mail-
order sales sector continued to result in high capacity
utilization at parcel delivery companies. The associated
necessary demand for human resources, despite a rise
in unemployment, was exacerbated by the persisting
shortage of drivers in distribution logistics, which is
intensifying due to demographic change. As a result,
there was also a significant increase in personnel
expenses in 2024 due to collective bargaining agree-
ments and necessary wage adjustments. Although the
easing of energy prices continued in 2024 with a decline
of around 3%, the energy component was still 40%
higher overall than its price level in 2020.

The development of the receivables management
industry was influenced by increased political and eco-
nomic uncertainty, which led to a tightening of credit
standards for corporate and consumer loans. Although
the European Central Bank gradually lowered key interest
rates in 2024 in view of the easing inflationary pressure,
thereby increasing demand for corporate and con-
sumer loans, this remained at a weak level overall. The
downward trend in overall economic development in
Germany, which has persisted for two years, is likely to
have led to a comparatively high market volume for
unsecured and secured non-performing receivables,
particularly in the banking sector. In Europe, the market
for the purchase of non-performing loans (NPLs) has
also developed positively. France and Spain account for

the largest share of the European market volume for
non-performing loans, followed by Great Britain and
Germany. In Central, Eastern and Southeastern Europe,
the share of NPLs as a percentage of total loans continued
to decline in almost all countries, resulting in historically
low NPL ratios.

For several years, the EOS Group has been investing in
the real estate market with the aim of selling these
properties at a later date. The reversal in interest rate
policy initiated in mid-2024 generally boosted demand
for residential construction loans, which led to a rise in
incoming orders and building permits in the residential
construction sector in the fourth quarter of last year.
However, a rapid return of residential construction
investment to the level prior to the reversal of interest
rate policy in 2022 continued to be held back by tighter
financing conditions - in part due to the sharp rise in
construction prices in recent years.

Course of Business

The 2024/25 financial year was very challenging for all
market participants and therefore also forthe Otto Group
due to the ongoing tense geopolitical situation and
the continued consumer restraint in important sales
markets. In addition to the difficult macroeconomic
environment, competition for the retail-related seg-
ments has also increased.
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Despite the subdued consumer sentiment and the exist-
ing focus on profitability and liquidity, the Otto Group
was able to stabilize revenue at the previous year’s level.
In addition, furtherincreased cost discipline inthe 2024/25
financial year resulted in a significant improvement in
earnings, which was reflected in the reported EBITDA
and, in particular, EBIT.

The e-commerce platform OTTO, among others, made
a significant contribution to earnings in the Platforms
segment. After a long period of investment and transfor-
mation, it has achieved a turnaround and is reporting a
clearly positive EBIT. The largest operating contribution
to EBIT was made by the EOS Group in the Financial
Services segment, which achieved a record result in the
2024/25 financial year, and the Crate and Barrel Group
inthe Brand Concepts segment, which furtherincreased
its EBIT at a high level.

Portfolio measures already implemented also had a
positive effect on EBIT: firstly, the sale of the shares in
Evri Limited (until 15 May 2024 Hermes Parcelnet Limited),
which operates in the parcel distribution sector in the
UK, in the 2024/25 financial year and secondly, the
discontinuation of the loss-making business operations
of myToys.de GmbH and SAINT BRICE S.A. in Belgium in
the 2023/24 financial year. The latter had a negative
impact on earnings for the last time in the 2023/24
financial year.

The expected completion of the acquisition of the
shares in About You by Zalando SE in the 2025/26 finan-
cial year, which is still subject to the usual approvals
under merger control legislation, also had a supporting
effect on EBIT in the Platforms segment.

In terms of EBIT, the 2024/25 financial year was also
negatively impacted by considerable restructuring and
closure expenses with the aim of optimizing the port-
folio and cost structure in the future. The Services
segment was hit hardest by planned closures or par-
tial closures of logistics locations. In addition, pro rata
restructuring expenses of Hermes Germany GmbH,
included in the consolidated financial statements using
the equity method, have been into account; the com-
pany has initiated a corresponding program for the
strategic and growth-oriented further development of
its core business. Further restructuring and closure
expenses resulted from the adjustment of business
models and are related to the Platforms, Brand

Concepts and Retailers segments. A more detailed
explanation of these measures can be found in the
“Financial performance of the segments” section.

Overall, the positive development of the Otto Group is
reflected in a significant increase in EBIT in the 2024/25
financial year.

The financial performance, as measured by the debt
service ratio, has improved further, since a significant
reduction in net financial debt was achieved in addition
to the improved profitability.

Position of the Otto Group
Financial Performance
The Group’s financial performance

The key indicators from the consolidated income state-
ment can be summarized as follows:

Consolidated income statement (short form) 2024/25 2023/24

EUR million EUR million
Revenue and income from customer financing 14,888 14,995
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) 916 741
Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) 276 8
Earnings before tax (EBT) 311 -353
Profit/Loss for the year 165 -412
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The Otto Group's revenue in the 2024/25 financial year
was EUR 14.9 billion, a reported decline of 0.7%, i.e.,
slightly below the previous year. On a comparable basis,
i.e., adjusted for exchange rate effects and changes in
the scope of consolidation, revenue was slightly above
the previous year at plus 0.9%.

The Otto Group's online revenues fell worldwide by 2.3%
to around EUR 10.5 billion. On a comparable basis online
revenue, by contrast, represents a decrease of 0.4%,
which is approximately at the level of the previous year.
According to market research company Euromonitor
International, the gross merchandise value (GMV) in the
e-commerce sector in Germany for the year 2024 rose
by 2.1%. Within the Otto Group, reported online reve-
nues in Germany fell slightly by 0.8% to EUR 6.7 billion in
the 2024/25 financial year. On a comparable basis an
increase of 2.5% was recorded. The Otto Group's busi-
ness performance in German e-commerce is slightly
above the market average on a comparable basis with
the development of online revenues and, taking into
account the very positive revenue growth of the market-
place partners on the OTTO e-commerce platform,
relevantly above the market average.

With a slightly higher share of 58.3% (2023/24: 56.6%)
in the Otto Group’s revenue, Germany remained the
Group’s most significant regional sales market in the

2024/25 financial year. The rest of Europe accounted
for 23.8% (2023/24: 249%) of revenue, while the USA
contributed 17.0% (2023/24: 17.5%) to Otto Group reve-
nue. The revenue figures per region are as follows:

Revenue by region 2024/25 2023/24 Change Adjusted

EUR million EUR million in% in%
Germany 8,679 8,483 2.3 4.3
Rest of Europe 3,637 3,736 -5.3 -30
USA 2,624 2,625 -3.8 -4.7
Other regions 148 151 -2.0 01
Group 14,888 14,995 -0.7 0.9
Domestic 8,679 8,483 2.3 4.3
Foreign 6,209 6,512 -4.7 -3.6

Revenue growth in the Group’s major sales markets was
mixed.

In the main sales market of Germany, the Group com-
panies OTTO and About You in the Platforms segment
as well as the Witt and bonprix Group in the Brand
Concepts segment achieved relevant
While Group companies OTTO and About You and
the Witt Group in Germany increased their sales reve-

revenues.

nues, the German activities of the bonprix Group were
unable to match the previous financial year, partly as a
result of reduced advertising measures and campaigns
along with aggressive price competition from Asia. The
increase in revenue on a comparable basis was mainly

higher due to the adjustment of revenue from the busi-
ness of myToys.de GmbH discontinued in the previous
year.

In the rest of Europe, About You and the bonprix Group
in particular generated relevant revenue, although the
reasons mentioned for the revenue growth in the region
of the main sales market of Germany also had an impact
here, including for the bonprix Group. Due to the sale of
the two-man handling specialist GIRARD AGEDISS in
France in April 2024 and the discontinuation of the
loss-making business operations of SAINT BRICE S.A. in
Belgium in the previous year, the decline in revenue was
lower on a comparable basis.
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The decline in revenue in the USA was mainly due to the
shutdown of the loss-making and still very catalog-
driven business operations of Venus Fashion, Inc., which
is part of the bonprix Group.

Average sales per employee remained at the previous
year’s level of EUR 0.4 million.

With revenue slightly below the previous year’s level, the
Group's gross profit increased significantly in absolute
terms by EUR 177 million to EUR 7,290 million. This
represents an increase of 2.5%. The main contribution to
the increase in gross profit was made by the e-com-
merce platform OTTO. Its gross profit generally bene-
fited from rising partner commissions as a result of the
expansion of the marketplace business and the increase
in other service revenues, which are not offset by any
significant cost of materials, along with further optimi-
zation of merchandise-related gross profit, such as in
the textile product ranges.

Other operating income increased significantly by
EUR 116 million to EUR 483 million in the 2024/25
financial year. This significant increase was mainly due
to a reversal of impairment losses of EUR 156 million
recognized on About You's assets in the 2023/24 finan-
cial year as a result of the purchase price offered for the
acquisition of the shares in About You by Zalando SE.
Other operating expenses remained virtually unchanged
from the previous year’s level at EUR 4,320 million. The
only slight decrease in the 2024/25 financial year
amounted to just EUR 31 million and is primarily due to

changes in the scope of consolidation, including - signifi-
cantly - the discontinuation of the operating business
activities of myToys.de GmbH in the 2023/24 financial
year. Advertising costs, by contrast, increased slightly
when adjusted for the scope of consolidation. Personnel
expenses developed in the opposite direction to other
operating income and expenses. They increased con-
siderably compared to the previous year despite the
reported decrease in the number of employees. The
decline in the average number of Otto Group employ-
ees - calculated on a full-time equivalent basis - from
38,462 to 36,304 resulted from adjustment measures
to the challenging market environment and changes in
the scope of consolidation.® The increase in personnel
expenses by EUR 125 million to EUR 2,517 million was
mainly due to restructuring expenses and severance
payments in the Platforms, Brand Concepts, Retailers
and Services segments, which amounted to around
EUR 95 million in the 2024/25 financial year (2023/24:
EUR 39 million) and had a corresponding negative
impact on the result. Of this amount, EUR 54 million is
attributable to future personnel-related obligations as
part of intra-Group reorganizations.

The income (loss) from equity investments totals
EUR -96 million, falling slightly by EUR 8 million, in the
2024/25 financial year. This development is due to a
higher loss contribution from Hermes Germany GmbH
in the Services segment, resulting in particular from the
pro rata recognition of restructuring expenses against
the backdrop of a program initiated for the strategic
and growth-oriented further development of the core

¢ A more detailed presentation is found in the Corporate Responsibility
section.

business. In addition shares in COFIDIS PARTICIPATIONS,
France, and its subsidiaries from the Financial Services
segment were sold in the 2023/24 financial year. In the
2024/25 financial year, their positive contribution to
income (loss) from equity investments was therefore
eliminated. The reversal of a deferred income item in
other liabilities in the amount of EUR 82 million in the
course of the sale of the shares in Evri Limited in the UK
had the opposite effect on the income (loss) from equity
investments.

As a result of the progress in operating earnings and the
above-mentioned effects, earnings before interest, tax,
depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) amounted to
EUR 916 million in the 2024/25 financial year, which
was substantially above the previous year’'s EBITDA
figure of EUR 741 million.

Depreciation and amortization of intangible assets,
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
fell by EUR 93 million to EUR 640 million in the 2024/25
financial year.While scheduled depreciations amounted
to EUR 493 million, below the previous year's level of
EUR 530 million, non-scheduled depreciations fell from
EUR 2083 million to EUR 147 million. The decrease in
depreciations was mainly due to the expected comple-
tion of the acquisition of the shares in About You by
Zalando SE and the associated classification as held for
sale in accordance with IFRS 5. As a result, all scheduled
depreciations were eliminated in the fourth quarter of
2024/25. Non-scheduled depreciation on derivative
goodwill was also recognized in the 2024/25 financial
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year in connection with the sale of the shares in About
You. Based on the relative enterprise value of About You
in relation to the fair value of the remaining business
activities in the Platforms segment, part of the deriva-
tive goodwill reported in the Platforms segment was
reclassified to assets held for sale. As part of the evalua-
tion in accordance with IFRS 5, an impairment require-
ment of EUR 96 million arose in the 2024/25 financial
year, which was allocated to the reclassified portion of
the derivative goodwill. Further non-scheduled depreci-
ation on other intangible assets, property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets were mainly attrib-
utable to land, land rights and buildings, purchased
software and technical plants and machinery. Impair-
ment losses had to be recognized on the correspond-
ing assets, mainly due to the closure of locations in
the Services segment and the discontinuation of an
IT transformation project in the Retailers segment. In
the previous year, there was significant non-scheduled
depreciation on intangible assets in the Platforms seg-
ment. As part of the purchase price allocation at the
time of the transitional consolidation of About You in
the 2021/22 financial year, customer lists and trade-
mark rights were recognized. The impairment test in the
2023/24 financial year resulted in an impairment of
these assets in the amount of EUR 175 million.

In terms of EBIT, the 2024/25 financial year was nega-
tively impacted by considerable restructuring and
closure expenses totaling around EUR 180 million,
which, as described above, mainly affected personnel
expenses, the income (loss) from equity investments
and non-scheduled depreciation. By contrast, the
EOS Group, which achieved record earnings in the
2024/25 financial year, and the Crate and Barrel Group,
which further increased its EBIT at a high level, made a
clearly positive contribution to earnings. The e-com-
merce platform OTTO and the Witt Group also made
clearly positive contributions to earnings.

At EUR 276 million, EBIT in the 2024/25 financial year
was significantly higher than the previous year’s EBIT of
EUR 8 million, taking into account the effects described
above. The EBIT margin amounted to 1.9%, compared
to 0.1% in the previous year.

In the 2024/25 financial year, the Group’s net financial
result amounted to EUR 35 million, which represents a
significant increase of EUR 396 million compared to the
previous year's figure of EUR =361 million. The other net
financial result increased significantly. It amounted to
EUR 184 million after EUR -197 million in the previous
yedr. EUR 354 million of the EUR 381 million year-on-

year improvement resulted from the sale of the shares
in Evri Limited in the UK.

Earnings before tax (EBT) in the amount of EUR 311 million
represents a significant rise of EUR 664 million com-
pared to the previous year's figure of EUR -353 million.

Income tax expenses for the 2024/25 financial year
amounted to EUR 146 million and were therefore con-
siderably higher than the previous year's income tax
expenses of EUR 59 million. The positive business per-
formance of various Group companies led to an
increase in current taxes both in Germany and
abroad. In addition, deferred tax assets on tax loss
carry-forwards were not recognized for individual
Group companies, meaning that deferred tax income
is correspondingly lower.

A net profit for the year of EUR 165 million was gener-
ated in the 2024/25 financial year, following a net loss
for the year of EUR 412 million in the 2023/24 financial
year.
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Financial performance of the segments

Revenue/EBIT Revenue EBIT
2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24
EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
Platforms 6,611 6,219 19 -375
Brand Concepts 5145 5,318 158 239
Retailers 1,683 2,001 -56 -82
Services 419 374 -153 -82
Financial Services 1,060 1,002 470 420
Non-reportable segments and other activities 70 81 -32 -11
Holding/Consolidation 0 0 -130 -101
Group 14,888 14,995 276 8
Platforms growing marketplace and the successful business with

The revenues of the Platforms segment contributed a
relevant share of 43.7% (2023/24: 41.5%) to the
Otto Group's revenues. With a rise of 4.7%, reported reve-
nue was significantly above the previous year's level. There
were no substantial changes from adjustments due to
exchange rate changes and effects from changes in the
scope of consolidation.

The most important markets for the Platforms segment
are Germany and the rest of Europe.

The reported increase in revenue in the 2024/25 financial
year is primarily attributable to the OTTO e-commerce
platform. In addition to a strong own retail business, the

OTTO Advertising’s marketing solutions also contributed
to the positive development. The OTTO e-commerce plat-
form reported an increase in revenue of 5.6% to around
EUR 4.4 billion. This growth rate includes the marketplace
business on the e-commerce platform otto.de in the form
of commission sales with marketplace partners as well as
sales from advertising services. The marketplace business
is growing very dynamically and has become highly rele-
vant. The growth rate of gross merchandise value (GMV)in
the 2024/25 financial year, which includes not only
retail sales but also the revenue generated by market-
place partners on the e-commerce platform in particular,
corresponds to an increase of 8.9% compared to the
previous year. The Group company About You achieved

a significant increase in revenue, particularly in Germany,
and contributed EUR 2.0 billion” to the revenue of the Plat-
forms segment in the 2024/25 financial year. This rep-
resents a year-on-year increase of 3.6%.

The reported increase in revenue in the Platforms seg-
ment and the further optimization of gross profits led to
a significant increase in gross profit of EUR 323 million.
The significant expansion of non-merchandise-related
revenue components, such as partner commissions and
other service revenues, also supported the increase in
gross profit. After a long period of investment and trans-
formation, the e-commerce platform OTTO achieved a
turnaround in the 2024/25 financial year and reported
a clearly positive EBIT despite the negative impact of
the planned closures of customer service sites in the
2025/26 financial year. The operating loss of About You,
which is included in the Platforms segment, was also
reduced compared to the previous year. An overall pos-
itive effect on earnings from the expected completion
ofthe acquisition of the shares in About You by Zalando SE
results from two valuation effects at the EBIT level. This
relates to a reversal of non-scheduled depreciations of
EUR 156 million on assets recognized in the 2023/24
financial year and, conversely, non-scheduled deprecia-
tions of EUR 96 million on the reclassified goodwill.
Overall, EBIT in the Platforms segment improved from
EUR -375 million in the previous yearto EUR 19 millionin
the 2024/25 financial year.

7 About You's external revenue included in the Otto Group's consolidated
income statement differs from the external revenue reported by About You,
as About You generates a small amount of revenue from Otto Group
companies, which is eliminated in the Otto Group’s consolidated financial
statements as part of the elimination of expenses and income.
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Brand Concepts

The Brand Concepts segment contributed a share of
34.6%(2023/24:35.5%)tothe revenue of the Otto Group.
Adjusted for exchange rate effects — which mainly
involved the development of the US dollar - revenue fell
by 3.8% compared to the previous year, when it fell by
3.3%. There were no effects from changes in the scope
of consolidation in this segment during the 2024/25

financial year.

The most important sales markets for the Brand Con-
cepts segment are the USA and Germany.

For the Crate and Barrel furnishings and lifestyle group,
which operates in the USA and Canada, revenue remained
virtually stable with a decline of 1.0%, or 1.7% when
adjusted for exchange rate effects. The bonprix Group,
whose product range is predominantly characterized
by textiles, recorded a drop in revenue of 13.4% in the
2024/25 financial year, or 14.0% when adjusted for
exchange rate effects, mainly due to subdued con-
sumer sentiment and increasing competition but also
because of the shutdown of business operations in the
USA under the Venus brand. By contrast, the Witt Group
was able to achieve significant revenue growth of 5.1%,
partly thanks to an increased advertising budget. In
addition to the catalog business, sales revenue in the
Witt Group’s online stores and brick-and-mortar loca-
tions also developed very positively.

In line with the drop in revenue in the Brand Concepts
segment, gross profit decreased by EUR 62 million. The

Crate and Barrel Group made a very significant contri-
bution to this segment’s positive EBIT, but the Witt Group
also pulled its weight. In contrast, the integration of the
plus-size brand Sheego into the Witt Group planned for
summer 2025 had a negative impact on the EBIT of
sheego GmbH. The bonprix Group’s earnings perfor-
mance in the 2024/25 financial year was negatively
impacted to a significant extent by the activities in the
USA underthe Venus brand and by restructuring-related
effects as part of a program to optimize processes and
streamline the organization at bonprix Handels-
gesellschaft mbH in Germany. The adjustments to the
business models described above had a negative
impact in the mid double-digit million euro range on the
segment’s EBIT in the 2024/25 financial year. In total,
the factors outlined above led to a decrease in EBIT in
the Brand Concepts segment in the 2024/25 financial
yeadr from EUR 239 million to EUR 158 million.

Retailers

In the Retailers segment, revenue decreased by 15.9% in
the 2024/25 financial year. Revenue fell by only 4.0%
compared to the previous year when adjusted for
exchange rate effects — primarily related to the devel-
opment of the British pound - and effects from changes
in the scope of consolidation. Changes in the scope of
consolidation in this segment involved the discontinuation
of operations of myToys.de GmbH and SAINT BRICE S.A.in
Belgium in the 2023/24 financial year. Together, they
contributed EUR 257 million to the segment'’s revenue in
the previousyear.Thissegment’s share ofthe Otto Group's
revenue was 11.3% (2023/24: 13.3%).

Germany is the most important sales market for the

Retailers segment.

In addition to the aforementioned drop in revenue due
to the portfolio adjustments, the decline in revenue was
mainly due to Baur Versand (GmbH & Co KG), but the
Otto Austria Group was unable to maintain the pre-
vious year’s level of revenue either. By contrast, the
revenue of the Group companies of the Limango and
Frankonia Groups continued to experience a positive

development.

Gross profit decreased by EUR 103 million as a result of
the drop in revenue in the Retailers segment and a simul-
taneous disproportionate decrease in purchased goods
and services. In contrast, other operating expenses and
personnel expenses fell by a total of EUR 165 million. The
significant negative effects from the Group companies
myToys.de GmbH and SAINT BRICE S.A. in Belgium did
not apply in the 2024/25 financial year due to the
discontinuation of operations and closure in the pre-
vious year. However, the first restructuring-related
measures associated with the planned European
network of Otto Group retailers had a negative impact
in the 2024/25 financial year. The planned strategic
bundling of the retail activities of the Baur Group,
the Otto Austria Group and the Dutch Otto BV.2 in
the four European markets of Germany, Austriq,
Switzerland and the Netherlands therefore had a

8 Otto BV.in the Netherlands was part of the Platforms segment until the end
of the 2024/25 financial year.
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negative impact on the segment’s EBIT in the 2024/25
financial year due to restructuring expenses in personnel
expenses. Overall, however, there was an improvement
in EBIT in the Retailers segment from EUR -82 million to
EUR =56 million in the 2024/25 financial year.

Services

Inthe Services segment, the external sales performance
reported in the Otto Group's consolidated income
statement only reflects the business performance of
this segment to a limited extent: On the one hand, the
Hermes Fulfilment Group currently provides warehous-
ing and returns processing services almost exclusively
for Otto Group companies, meaning that these activi-
ties are not reported in the Otto Group’s consolidated
revenue. On the other hand, revenue from the parcel
distribution activities of Hermes Germany GmbH is not
included in the Otto Group's consolidated financial
statements because it is accounted for using the equity
method. In terms of external sales, i.e., with customers
outside the Group, the Services segment recorded a
reported increase from EUR 374 million to EUR 419 mil-
lion in the 2024/25 financial year, which corresponds to
an increase of 12.0% or 16.3% on a comparable basis.
The changes in the scope of consolidation in this seg-
ment had to do with the sale of the French 2-man
handling specialist GIRARD AGEDISS in April 2024
and, conversely, the acquisition of the supply chain
management business of Hermes Germany GmbH in
January 2024. External sales in the Services segment
contributed 27.8% toward the segment’s total revenue

inthe 2024/25 financial year (2023/24: 27.7%). External
revenue as a percentage of Group revenue remained
almost unchanged at 2.8% compared to 2.5% in the
previous year.

The EBIT for the segment dropped by EUR 71 million to
EUR -1583 million in the 2024/25 financial year. The
decline resulted, among other things, from imple-
mented and planned closures of logistics locations such
as the Gernsheim location of Hermes Fulfilment GmbH,
the Weismain location of BFS Baur Fulfillment Solutions
GmbH and the Sonnefeld location (partial closure) of
Baur Versand (GmbH & Co KG). These led to additional
negative effects on earnings in the 2024/25 financial
year, which were reflected in personnel expenses and
other operating expenses as well as non-scheduled
depreciations. In addition, it takes into account pro rata
restructuring expenses of Hermes Germany GmbH, which
is included in the consolidated financial statements
using the equity method and has initiaoted a corre-
sponding program for the strategic and growth-
oriented further development of its core business. In
total, these restructuring and closure expenses reduced
the Services segment’s EBIT by around EUR 100 million.
In addition, the proportionate operating result of
Hermes Germany GmbH had a negative impact on the
Services segment compared to the previous year. By
contrast, the sale of the shares in Evri Limited in the UK
had a positive effect on EBIT in this segment due to
the associated reversal of a deferred income item of
EUR 82 million through profit or loss.

Financial Services

In the 2024/25 financial year, the Financial Services
segment recorded revenue of EUR 1,060 million, a rise in
reported revenue of 5.8%. When adjusted for exchange
rate changes and thus establishing a comparable basis,
revenue growth in the Financial Services segment was
6.0%. There were no effects from changes in the scope
of consolidation in this segment. The segment’s share in
the Group’s revenue amounted to 7.1%, which is slightly
over the previous year’s figure of 6.7%. The EOS Group,
the dominant group in this segment, reported steady
revenue growth and was able to increase revenue by
6.0% - and 6.2% on a comparable basis. Due to very
good framework conditions with regard to the market,
the EOS Group significantly expanded its receivables
management activities in the 2024/25 financial year
and made high portfolio investments. Sales revenue
increased compared to the previous year, particularly in
the area of the purchase of receivables.

The EBIT for the Financial Services segment increased
by EUR 50 million to EUR 470 million in the 2024/25
financial year. As in previous years, the EOS Group's
continued high level of profitability contributed sub-
stantially to this segment’s EBIT and greatly exceed
the earnings in the previous year. Due to the stable
cost structure compared to the previous year, the
EOS Group’s positive revenue growth had a corre-
sponding effect on EBIT. In the previous year, EBIT was
also negatively impacted by non-scheduled deprecia-
tion on intangible assets.



S,

Group Management Report

Otto Group
2024/25 Annual Report

102

Non-reportable segments and other activities

The non-reportable segments and other activities
include, among others, the activities in the Digital Health
business areq, the venture activities and the real estate
companies of the Forum Group.

The EBIT of the non-reportable segments and other activ-
ities decreased from EUR -11 million to EUR -32 million in
the 2024/25 financial year. In this segment, the Digital
Health business area had a negative impact on earnings.

Holding

The holding contains the overarching costs of Group
functions which were not reliably attributable to the
above-mentioned segments.

The holding’s EBIT amounted to EUR =130 million in the
2024/25 financial year, compared to EUR -101 million
in the 2023/24 financial year.

Financial Position

Cash Flows, Investments and Liquidity

Consolidated cash flow statement (short form) 2024/25 2023/24

EUR million EUR million
Gross cash flow from operating activities 964 898
Change in working capital -35 351
Other changes in cash flow from operating activities -119 -119
Cash flow from operating activities 810 1,130
Capital expenditures on purchases of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment -271 -418
Other changes in cash flow from investing activities 715 -33
Cash flow from investing activities 444 -451
Free cash flow 1,254 679
Cash flow from financing activities -1,257 -489
Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents -3 190
Changes in cash and cash equivalents due to foreign exchange rates 13 -1
Reclassification with regard to disposal groups -140 -15
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 692 518
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 562 692

Cash flow from operating activities

The Otto Group's cash flow from operating activities
amounted to EUR 810 million in the 2024/25 financial
yedr and was thus below the corresponding previous
year's figure of EUR 1,130 million. This development is
primarily due to an improved gross cash flow from oper-
ating activities, in particular due to changes in working
capital. After a significant decrease of EUR 351 million

in the previous year, working capital increased by
EUR 35 million overall in the 2024/25 financial year.
This development is characterized by an increase in
receivables from financial services due to the signifi-
cant year-on-year increase in portfolio investments by
the EOS Group in the Financial Services segment.
Increased effects on working capital also resulted
from the development of trade receivables and other
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provisions. This was offset by the reduction in invento-
ries at Group companies in the Platforms and Brand
Concepts segments, which was significantly lower than
inthe previous year and therefore had a relevantimpact
on the development of working capital compared to
the previous year.

Inthe Platforms segment, the Group company About You
was able to significantly reduce inventories despite the
realized revenue growth. Seasonal procurement was
better adjusted to the current market conditions. In addi-
tion, further improvement in operational inventory
management was achieved across the entire logistics
network. Inventories at the Group company OTTO, which
is also part of the Platforms segment, were on a par
with the previous year. A reduction in inventories in indi-
vidual product ranges was offset by a significant increase
in goods in transit. The latter resulted from a more
aggressive ordering policy to cover the necessary goods
requirements in response to the continuing fluctuations
in transport times for sea containers from Asia. At the
bonprix Group in the Brand Concepts segment, contin-
ued order reductions due to the weak development of
demand in the European activities under the bonprix
brand as well as extensive inventory clearing sales in the
business activities in the USA under the Venus brand led
to a significant decline in inventories. The Crate and
Barrel Group was also able to reduce inventories in the
2024/25 financial year and optimize operational inven-
tory management through further investments in the

supply chain, including for more efficient interaction
between warehouse locations.

There was an increase in trade receivables, particularly
at the Group company OTTO in the Platforms segment.
In addition to the positive revenue growth in both the
retailers and marketplace business, this increase can
also be attributed to an expansion and greater use of
payment breaks offered by end customers.

The EOS Group's main operational investing activities
are the acquisition of receivables and property port-
folios. These acquisitions are also part of the develop-
ment of working capital and are not reported as
traditional investments in cash flow from investing
activities. Due to very good framework conditions
with regard to the market, the EOS Group significantly
expanded its receivables management activities in the
2024/25 financial year and made high portfolio invest-
ments, especially in the purchase of unsecured and
secured receivables packages. Portfolio investments
were increased in all regions relevant to the EOS Group,
with significant growth realized in Western and Eastern
Europe in particular. Both current and non-current
receivables from financial services increased accord-
ingly. In addition to the purchase of receivables and
property portfolios, the EOS Group invests in so-called
bridge loans in the area of performing loans. These are
generally short-term loans secured by real estate.
Since the 2024/25 financial year, cash payments
received and made due to bridge loans have also

been recognized as part of the development of work-
ing capital in cash flow from operating business activi-
ties. The corresponding net payments from bridge loans
in the 2024/25 financial year amounted to EUR 26 million.
In the previous year, by contrast, payments received
fromm and made to other financial assets were still part
of the cash flow from investing activities, and the net
payments amounted to EUR 51 million. The change in
reporting reflects the operational nature of this busi-
ness activity of the EOS Group.

Cash flow from operating business activities is signifi-
cantly influenced by payments for the purchase of
receivables and real estate and for the granting of
bridge loans by the EOS Group and is therefore also
shown adjusted for these payments. For better com-
parability between the two financial years, it is also
assumed that the payments received and made due to
bridge loans were already recognized in the previous
year as part of the development of working capital in
the cash flow from operating business activities. At
EUR 856 million in the 2024/25 financial year, the pay-
ments for the purchase of receivables and property
portfolios and for the granting of bridge loans at the
EOS Group, which are relevant for the adjustment, were
significantly higher than the previous year's figure of
EUR 615 million. Adjusted for these payments made, the
corresponding cash flow in the 2024/25 financial
year was EUR 1,666 million, roughly on the level of
the corresponding figure for the previous year of
EUR 1,694 million.
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Consolidated cash flow statement (short form) 2024/25 2023/24 Investments according to
EUR million EUR million segments 2024/25 2023/24
EUR million EUR million
Cash flow from operating activities® 810 1,079
. . Platforms 48 79
Payments for the purchase of receivables, property portfolios, 856 615
and the granting of bridge loans by the EOS Group Brand Concepts 57 83
Cash flow from operating activities 1,666 1.694 Retailers 13 15
(adjusted for payments for purchases by the EOS Group) ’ '
Services 97 283
* The previous year's figure for cash flow from operating activities differs by EUR 51 million from the figure of EUR 1,130 million reported in the consolidated . . )
cash flow statement and assumes that the payments received and made due to the bridge loans were already recognized as part of the cash flow from Financial Services 9 8
operating activities in the 2023/24 financial year.
Non-reportable segments and
Lo 13 39
other activities
Cash flow from investing activities Cash flow from investing activities is also influenced by  Holding/Consolidation 16 4
The Otto Group’s cash flow from investing activities in  payments made for intangible assets and property, Group (as reported in the )53 511
the 2024/25 financial year was significantly influenced  plant and equipment in the amount of EUR 271 million  segment reporting)
by proceeds from the disposal of other financial assets.  (2023/24: EUR 418 million). Due to the completion of  adjustment in investments due
These proceeds amounted to a total of EUR 818 million  major strategic projects spanning several years, partic-  to changes in the scope of consoli- 0 =76
- . . . . . dation in the Services segment
(2023/24: EUR 99 million) and were partly due to the ularly inthe Services segment, investments in intangible 9
. *
purchase price payment of EUR 441 million from the  assets and property, plant and equipment fell signifi- ~ Other adjustments 18 -1/
sale of Cofidis shares in the 2023/24 financial year. In cantly to a normalized investment level in the 2024/25  Group (as reported in the consoli- 271 418
addition, a purchase price payment of EUR 351 million  financial year. The investments made were predomi- dated cash flow statement)

was made from the sale of the remaining 25% shares in
Evri Limited, which operates in the parcel distribution
business in the UK, in the 2024/25 financial year.

nantly expansion investments. The share of expansion
investments in the 2024/25 financial year was around
62% (2023/24: 75%). Investments in intangible assets
and property, plant and equipment by segment are as
follows:

* Due to the presentation of About You as a disposal group in accordance
with IFRS 5, About You's investments in intangible assets and property, plant
and equipment are only included in the segment reporting in the Platforms
segment until the end of Q3 of the 2024/25 financial year. However, the
payments for investments in intangible assets and property, plant and
equipment included in cash flow from investing activities cover the full
2024/25 financial year.
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In the Platforms segment, the expansion of the plat-
form-based business models of OTTO and About You
was driven forward by investments in IT and future
technologies. The Group company OTTO focused its
investments on the continued technological develop-
ment of the e-commerce platform. In the 2024/25
financial year, it made corresponding investments in IT
infrastructure, the connection of warehouse locations
and the further expansion of the marketplace business.
In addition, investments were made in Otto Payments
GmbH, which acts as a payment service provider for
processing payments on otto.de. These investments
related to internally developed software to further sim-
plify payment processing functionalities. The About You
e-commerce platform also focused its investments in
the 2024/25 financial year on further developing its IT
infrastructure and further optimizing its online store.
As part of this, significant investments were made in
SCAYLE GmbH, which operates as a separate unit
within About You as a provider of a cloud-based store
system that allows external brands and retailers to
scale their digital business quickly and flexibly and
adapt it to growing customer needs.

In the Brand Concepts segment, the Crate and
Barrel Group in the USA and Canada accounts for
the vast majority of investments in intangible assets
and property, plant and equipment. Investments
were made in the supply chain, the IT infrastructure,
the online stores and in existing and new brick-and-
mortar locations in the USA and Canada.

A focus of investments in intangible assets and prop-
erty, plant and equipment in the 2024/25 financial year
was on the Hermes Fulfilment Group in the Services
segment. With its warehousing activities and locations
in Germany, Poland, the Czech Republic, Italy and
Switzerland, it plays a key role in the Otto Group's retail
activities and the revenue growth of the Group com-
panies in the Platforms, Brand Concepts and Retail-
ers segments. In the 2024/25 financial year, the
Hermes Fulfilment Group made investments with a
volume of EUR 21 million, which were mainly attribut-
able to the steps necessary to complete the logistics
sites in Altenkunstadt, Bavaria, and llowa, Poland. At
the logistics site in Altenkunstadt, Bavaria, the
Hermes Fulfilment Group opened a fully automated
shuttle warehouse in July 2024 after a construction
period of around two years. The new warehouse
covers an area of 16,000 square meters and offers
space for around 6 million items. The shuttle ware-
house is intended to significantly shorten delivery times
for customers and strengthen the Otto Group's logistical
capacities. In the site expansion with the fully auto-
mated shuttle warehouse and the structural and tech-
nological modernization of the existing logistics opera-
tions, relevant investments with a volume of EUR 22 million
were made for the last time in the 2024/25 financial
year. The total investment volume over the last three
financial years amounted to EUR 170 million. In addi-
tion, after a construction period of around two and a
half years, the Hermes Fulfilment Group’s extensive
new logistics site in llowa, Poland, was opened and is

gradually being ramped up. The fulfilment facility con-
sists of a building complex of nine halls, has a floor
space of around 268,000 square meters and will focus
primarily on the logistics handling of small-volume
product ranges of the Group company OTTO, including
storage, order picking and shipping. The automation
and optimization of logistics processes at the new site
are also intended to help significantly reduce delivery
times for customers. The investment level for this loca-
tion in the 2024/25 financial year last amounted to
EUR 35 million; the total investment volume in the
last four financial years amounted to EUR 330 million. In
addition to the two sites in Altenkunstadt and llowa,
investments were also made in existing Hermes Fulfil-
ment Group warehousing sites in Germany as well as in the
necessary technical equipment and IT infrastructure.
Among other things, new warehouse management
software was implemented to connect with customers.

The investments in intangible assets and property, plant
and equipment shown in the segment reporting include
the cash-neutral additions resulting from changes in the
scope of consolidation in the Services segment in the
2023/24 financial year due to the acquisition of the Supply
Chain Solutions operation from Hermes Germany GmbH.
SupplyX GmbH (until 2 March 2025 Otto Group Logis-
tics GmbH), as an independent Otto Group company,
has since been promoting the expansion of the corre-
sponding services relating to the air and sea freight
business and a stronger positioning in the market. For a
corresponding reconciliation to the payments made for
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intangible assets and property, plant and equipment
contained in the cash flow from investing activities,
these were adjusted. In the 2024/25 financial year, the
investments in intangible assets and property, plant
and equipment reported in the segment reporting do
not include any significant non-cash additions.

Cash flow from financing activities

After a previous-year figure of EUR 679 million, the
Otto Group's free cash flow in the 2024/25 financial
year now amounted to EUR 1,254 million. The signifi-
cant improvement in free cash flow was reflected
accordingly in the development of cash flow from
financing activities. The Group’s financial liabilities
from bonds and other notes payable as well as to banks
were reduced significantly by EUR 669 million overall. In
the previous year, there was a slight net increase in
financial liabilities of EUR 18 million. In addition to the
development of financial liabilities, cash flow from
financing activities was also characterized by the dis-
tributions made to non-controlling shareholders,
payments for interest and bank charges and the net
repayment of lease liabilities. Distributions to non-
controlling interests in the 2024/25 financial year
amounted to EUR 254 million and are due, among
other things, to dividends paid to outside shareholders
of the Argosyn Group as a result of the purchase price
payment from the sale of Cofidis shares in the 2023/24
financial year. However, no dividends were paid to the
shareholders of Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA in the 2024/25

financial year. Cash flow from financing activities is
also characterized by the cooperation between
EOS Group companies and co-investors, which gives
the EOS Group additional investment opportunities on
the market to invest in unsecured and secured receiv-
ables packages and in real estate. In this context, relevant
additions to equity were made by non-controlling inter-
ests in the 2024/25 financial year.

The Otto Group’s net financial debt was significantly
reduced by EUR 579 million in the 2024/25 financial
year and, at EUR 2,095 million, was below the previous
year’s figure of EUR 2,674 million. This was due to the
sale of the shares in Evri Limited, which operates in the
parcel distribution business in the UK, and the purchase
price payment from the sale of the Cofidis shares. In
addition, the positive development of net financial debt
in the 2024/25 financial year was significantly influ-
enced by the once again very high free cash flows from
the Financial Services and Brand Concepts segments. In
the Services segment, the high level of investment in the
Hermes Fulfilment Group, primarily to finalize the major
logistics projects in llowa and Altenkunstadt, had an
offsetting effect on net financial debt. In addition, the
financing requirements of Hermes Germany GmbH,
which is included in the consolidated financial state-
ments using the equity method, had a significant nega-
tive impact on the Otto Group's net financial debt. In
addition, the free cash flow of the Retailers segment
was again negatively impacted overall due to the

operating business performance of individual Group
companies.

The Group's net financial debt in the 2024/25 financial
year changed as follows:

Net financial debt 28022025 |  2902.2024

EURmillion | EUR million
Bonds and other notes payable 388 714
Bank liabilities 1,225 1,568
Lease liabilities 944 1,042
Other financing liabilities 100 42
Financial debt 2,657 3,366
Less securities 0 -1
Less cash and cash equivalents -562 -691
Net financial debt 2,095 2,674

Capital structure

The comparability of the Otto Group’s consolidated
balance sheet on 28 February 2025 with the previous
year is affected by a special circumstance. All provisions
and liabilities of a disposal group presented in accor-
dance with IFRS 5 were reclassified to current liabilities
(“Liabilities held for sale”). The disposal group involves
About You. The completion of the acquisition of the
shares in About You by Zalando SE for the 2025/26
financial year is expected but still subject to the usual
approvals under merger control legislation.
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Financing 2802.2025 2902.2024

EUR million in% EUR million in%
Equity 4,909 36 4,745 34
Non-current provisions and liabilities 3,653 26 3,651 26
Deferred tax 83 1 153 1
Current provisions and liabilities 4,907 36 5,332 38
Total equity and liabilities 13,452 100 13,881 100

The Otto Group's equity increased by EUR 164 million to
EUR 4,909 million in the 2024/25 financial year, resulting
in a rise in the Group's equity ratio with total assets
slightly lower than in the previous year. It increased from
34.2% in the previous yearto 36.5% on 28 February 2025.
The main reason for the increase in equity is the net
profit for the year of EUR 165 million reported for the
2024/25 financial year. In addition, the cooperation
between EOS Group companies and co-investors resulted
in relevant equity contributions from non-controlling
interests amounting to EUR 151 million. Dividends paid
to non-controlling interests, which amounted to
EUR 254 million in the 2024/25 financial year, had the
opposite effect on the development of Group equity.

Non-current provisions and liabilities fell slightly by
EUR 98 million, or 2.7%, to EUR 3,553 million compared
to the previous year. Both lease liabilities, characterized
by the disclosure of About You as held for sale in accor-
dance with IFRS 5, and bank liabilities declined slightly.
In the course of the sale of the remaining shares in
Evri Limited, which operates in the parcel distribution

business in the UK, in the 2024/25 financial year, a
deferred income item of EUR 82 million was also reversed
within other liabilities, which was recognized for distribu-
tion amounts from previous years that exceeded the
carrying amount of the equity interest in other financial
assets.

Current provisions and liabilities declined by
EUR 425 million, or 8.0%, to EUR 4,907 million in the
2024/25 financial year. The Group's financial liabilities
had a significant impact on the development of current
provisions and liabilities, which fell considerably by
EUR 650 million. The decline in current liabilities from
bonds and other notes payable in the amount of
EUR 327 million was partly due to the scheduled settle-
ment of two bonds maturing in the 2024/25 financial
year. A bond maturing in June 2024 with a nominal
volume of EUR 191 million and a bond maturing in
December 2024 with a nominal volume of CHF 52 million
were repaid. By contrast, no short-term bonds issued as
part of the commercial paper program were out-
standing on 28 February 2025. On 29 February 2024,

however, the outstanding nominal volume was still
EUR 79 million. Bank liabilities included in current
provisions and liabilities also decreased significantly
by EUR 323 million. Due in particular to the significant
improvement in the Group’s free cash flow in the
2024/25 financial year, the utilization of short-term
credit lines was reduced accordingly. The reclassifica-
tion of all provisions and liabilities of the About You
disposal group presented in accordance with IFRS 5
had an offsetting effect on current provisions and
liabilities. In addition to the liabilities already included
in current provisions and liabilities before the reclas-
sification, non-current provisions and liabilities in the
amount of EUR 73 million were also reclassified to
liabilities held for sale. These amounted to a total of
EUR 742 million on 28 February 2025. In the previous
year, liabilities held for sale included corresponding
effects from the sale of the two-man handling specialist
GIRDARD AGEDISS in France, which was completed in
April 2024. Trade payables declined sharply in the
2024/25 financial year with a change of EUR 403 million,
with the reported change resulting primarily from the
reclassification effects of About You. In contrast, longer
delivery times and delayed goods procurement pro-
cesses led to an increase in trade payables at other
Group companies in the Platforms and Brand Concepts
segments.Inthe 2024/25 financial year,the Otto Group’s
existing supply chain finance programs were also
further developed and significantly expanded, includ-
ing at the Crate and Barrel Group.
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Key performance indicators on financial position

The debt service ratio, one of the key financial indica-
tors for the Otto Group, was significantly reduced in the
2024/25 financial year compared to the previous year,
as a result of both the increase in cash EBITDA and the
reduction in the Group’s net financial debt. Theoreti-
cally, as of 28 February 2025, it would take 1.3 years to
fully pay off the net financial debt (including lease liabil-
ities) using the cash EBITDA. The previous year's value as
of 29 February 2024 was 2.0 years.

Due to the increase in reported Group equity with a
simultaneous decrease in net financial debt, the debt to
equity ratio improved and stood at 0.4 on 28 February
2025 (29 February 2024: 0.6).

Afterthe ROCE was almost balanced on 29 February 2024,
it increased significantly to 3.3% by 28 February 2025. The
average capital employed fell by EUR 924 million to
EUR 8,391 million, while EBIT increased significantly by
EUR 268 million to EUR 276 million, with a corresponding
impact on the ROCE.

, . . 2024/25 2023/24
Otto Group's credit metrics (28.02.2025) (29.02.2024)
Group equity ratio in% 36.5 34.2
Net financial debt In R 2,095 2,674
EBITDA s 916 741
Plus adjustments (total repayments on receivables packages, repayments from in EUR
sales proceeds from the sale of properties and repayments on bridge loans ;?“mon 704 620
granted and reduced by non-cash value adjustments from IFRS 9)
in EUR
Cash EBITDA million 1,620 1,361
Debt service ratio invears 13 20
(Net financial debt/cash EBITDA) Y ' '
Debt to equity ratio )
X R . Rati 04 0.6
(Net financial debt/Group equity) ato
ROCE in % 3.3 01

(EBIT/average capital employed)

Net assets

The comparability of the consolidated balance sheet
on 28 February 2025 with the previous year is also
significantly influenced by the reclassification of all
assets of the About You disposal group presented in
accordance with IFRS 5 to current assets (“Assets held
for sale”).
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The total assets of the Otto Group can be broken down
by maturity as follows:

Assets 28.02.2025 29.02.2024

EUR million in% EUR million in%
Fixed assets 4,664 35 5,609 40
Other non-current assets 2121 16 2,076 15
Deferred tax 228 2 181 1
Current assets 6,439 48 6,015 43
Total assets 13,452 100 13,881 100
The total assets of the Otto Group can be broken down
by segment as follows:
Total assets by segment 2024/25 2023/24

EUR million in% EUR million in%
Platforms 2,319 17 3,871 28
Brand Concepts 2,281 17 2,428 17
Retailers 1,716 13 1,717 12
Services 1431 11 1,369 10
Financial Services 3,249 24 3,868 28
Non-reportable segments and other activities 1907 14 1,883 14
Holding/Consolidation -2,285 -17 -2,550 -18
Segment assets (as in segment reporting) 10,618 79 12,586 91
Assets not included in segment assets 2,834 21 1,295 9
Total assets 13,452 100 13,881 100

Non-current assets (fixed assets and other non-current
assets) represent the relevant share of the Group's total
assets. Segments such as Platforms, Brand Concepts
and Financial Services dominate the Otto Group’s
total assets. In intangible assets, goodwill accounts for
EUR 1,228 million (29 February 2024: EUR 1,472 million),
of which a total of EUR 757 million (29 February 2024
EUR 1,006 million) is attributable to the Platforms segment
and EUR 169 million (29 February 2024: EUR 161 million)
to the Brand Concepts segment. Property, plant and
equipment in the amount of EUR 1,590 million (29 Febru-
ary 2024: EUR 1,599 million) mainly has to do with the
Services segment’s logistics infrastructure of the
Hermes Fulfilment Group, mostly in Germany and
Poland, along with the Forum Group’s properties. In
addition, right-of-use assets, especially from the lease
of land, land rights and buildings, represent a significant
portion of fixed assets. Right-of-use assets amounting
to EUR 803 million (29 February 2024: EUR 909 million)
account for EUR 506 million (29 February 2024
EUR 482 million) and mainly relate to the Brand Con-
cepts segment and especially have to do with the
leased stores and logistics facilities of the Crate and
Barrel Group in the USA and Canada. Receivables from
financial services in the amount of EUR 1,858 million
(29 February 2024: EUR 1,773 million), which are fully
attributable to the Financial Services segment and
mainly have to do with the receivables packages
acquired by the EOS Group, constitute another focal
point within non-current assets.
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Inventories accounted for EUR 1,778 million of current
assets (29 February 2024: EUR 2,346 million) and thus
account for a relevant share and are mainly recorded
in the retail-related segments. Group companies in
the Platforms segment account for EUR 539 million of
the inventories (29 February 2024: EUR 1,054 million),
and Group companies in the Brand Concepts seg-
ment account for EUR 741 million (29 February 2024:
EUR 809 million). The assets held for sale of the About
You disposal group presented in accordance with IFRS 5
also account for a relevant share of current assets. The
assets held for sale amounted to EUR 1,752 million on
28 February 2025 (29 February 2024: EUR 56 million).

The total assets reported in the consolidated balance
sheet of the Otto Group decreased in the 2024/25 finan-
cial year by 3.1%, or EUR 429 million, to EUR 13,452 million
on 28 February 2025.

At EUR 6,785 million, non-current assets were significantly
lower than the previous year's figure of EUR 7,685 million.
The decrease of 11.7% or EUR 900 million is primarily
due to changes in intangible assets and right-of-use
assets. A significant effect resulted from the high
intangible assets of About You and their corresponding

reclassification to assets held for sale. As part of the
purchase price allocation in the course of the first-time
consolidation of About You, customer lists and trade-
marks in the amount of EUR 976 million were recog-
nized inthe 2021/22 financial year, with residual carrying
amounts of EUR 618 million to be reclassified. In addi-
tion, part of the goodwill included in the intangible
assets of the Platforms segment was also reclassified to
assets held for sale. Goodwill attributable to the Plat-
forms segment decreased accordingly to EUR 757 million
by 28 February 2025 (29 February 2024: EUR 1,006 million).
The reported decline in rights-of-use assets is also due
to About You. In the Crate and Barrel Group in the Brand
Concepts segment, by contrast, rights-of-use assets
increased due to the conclusion of new leases and the
extension of existing leases. In contrast, the significant
increase in non-current receivables from financial ser-
vices, which rose accordingly against the backdrop of
the significant expansion of the EOS Group's receiv-
ables management activities in the 2024/25 financial
year, had the opposite effect on non-current assets.

Current assets increased significantly by EUR 424 million
to EUR 6,439 million in the 2024/25 financial year. This
represents an increase of 7.0%. This increase was primarily

due to assets held for sale. In addition to assets already
included in current assets before the reclassification,
non-current assets of the disposal group About You in
the relevant amount of EUR 977 million were reclassi-
fied to assets held for sale. In addition, current receiv-
ables from financial services also increased due to the
EOS Group's increased portfolio investments. By con-
trast, there were major offsetting effects within current
assets in inventories, other assets and trade receivables.
Inventories declined both in the Platforms segment, on
account of the About You disposal group, and in the
Brand Concepts segment. While the bonprix Group,
which is part of the Brand Concepts segment, con-
tinued to reduce orders due to the weak demand
trend in its European activities, among other things,
the Crate and Barrel Group was able to reduce inven-
tories by further optimizing its operational inventory
management. The purchase price payment for the
sale of Cofidis shares in the 2023/24 financial year also
had a significant impact on the development of current
assets within other assets. As payment of the purchase
price was not due until the 2024/25 financial year, the
corresponding purchase price receivable was included
in other assets in the previous year.
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Overall Assessment

Despite the subdued consumer sentiment, the difficult
macroeconomic environment and the continued focus
on profitability and liquidity, sales stabilized at the pre-
vious year’s level.

At the EBITDA level, considerable progress was made in
operating profitability at several Group companies
thanks to increased cost discipline, among other things.
In addition, the 2024/25 financial year was heavily influ-
enced by a wide range of portfolio measures that have
already been implemented, are still ongoing and are
planned, along with business optimization processes
and location optimizations. Overall, there was a signifi-
cant increase in reported EBIT.

The debt service ratio has improved significantly for the
Otto Group. This is due to a reduction in net financial
debt in addition to the improved earnings power.

Overall, the Otto Group largely achieved the targets it
set itself in the previous year and even exceeded them
in some cases.

The following table compares the actual development
of the Otto Group's relevant financial indicators in the
2024/25 financial year with the corresponding indica-
tors forecast in the Group Management Report for the
2023/24 financial year.

The Executive Board of the Otto Group considers the
2024/25 financial year to be satisfactory.

Comparison of forecast
and actual development

Forecast for the 2024/25 financial year®

Actual development in
the 2024/25 financial year

Revenue and income from

Stable, at previous year's level

customer financing* Group (2023/24: EUR 15.0 billion) *09%
Platforms segment (Sztgg :Iae/,;;c: ‘E[j\q’ igzséﬁ%rs level +4.7 %
Brand Concepts segment (Szllé);;;/rzergSggg billion) -38%
Retailers segment (2023/24: EUR 2.0 billo) 0%
Services segment (Sziggi;if;i?tgsggisgi”ion) +16.3%
Financial Services segment (Szllg;;;gjugﬁlgrio billion) +6.0%
;EEoBrlr_p)ngs before interest and tax Group ﬁmorisgtgrgsn-gi?ﬁ EUR 276 million
Debt service ratio Group Slight reduction 1.3 years

(previous year: 2.0 years)

* On comparable basis
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Risks Report

Governance Systems

As a family business, the Otto Group operates accord-
ing to the values enshrined in its Code of Ethics: respect-
ful treatment of one another and responsible, fair and
sustainable actions. These values are part of the corpo-
rate culture that is embodied and shaped by the
employees in their daily work. Behavior that complies
with the rules builds primarily on values and cohesion.
The value-driven management of risk and opportunity
is an integral element of the Otto Group’s corporate
strategy.

To this end, the Otto Group has designed and estab-
lished various governance systems based on the “Three
Lines of Defense” model. At the heart of this model is
the idea that those entrusted with operational control
(1st line) implement measures and checks, based on
their risk assessment and with due consideration of
specifications. In regard to topics with risk exposure, the
2nd line (monitoring) introduces specifications and
monitors the effectiveness of the measures and checks.
The 3rd line (auditing) ensures independent review of
risk management by the 1st and 2nd line.

The following provides a more detailed description of
the individual governance systems, namely the risk
management system, the internal control system, the
compliance management system, and the internal

audit system:

Risk management and internal control system

All Group companies in which the Otto Group directly or
indirectly holds 50% or more of the voting rights, or over
which it is able to exercise a controlling influence, are
included in the risk management system pursuant to
Group-wide guidelines and directives of the risk man-
agement system - referred to hereinafter as the RMS -
and the internal control system - referred to hereinafter
as the ICS. Risks are collated from the bottom up, i.e.,
incrementally from the individual Group companies
through the sub-groups up to Group level. The purpose
of the RMS is to enable rapid risk identification, so that,
where possible, targeted measures can be taken or
checks established right away in order to either reduce
the likelihood of occurrence or limit the possible reper-
cussions of these risks on the Group's net assets, financial
position and financial performance in the event of such
risks materializing. The high degree of transparency in
terms of risks and measures displayed in a single tool
enables Group companies to exploit reciprocal synergy
effects.

The relevant process implemented for this comprises
the following steps:

Identification and evaluation

The risk assessment is carried out at least once a
yeadr by the Group. It covers risks for the entire
financial year and the following one. For the risk
assessment, the risk areas relevant to the business
activities of the Group companies must be identi-
fied by using the risk catalog stored in the RMS tool.

Risks reported by the respective Group companies
and/or divisions are assessed in terms of their likeli-
hood of occurrence and possible impact. The extent
of potential losses is assessed qualitatively and, for
relevant risks, quantitatively. The Otto Group applies
standardized methods for this purpose. This assess-
ment is carried out both in gross terms before risk
control measures and in net terms. In addition, vali-
dation measures performed by the Otto Group's
holding functions ensure quality in the risk report
contents. In addition, the risks are examined for
their potential to damage the Group's reputation,
as well as violations in respect of compliance.
Potentially extreme risks from the Group's perspec-
tive are also identified and evaluated to complete
the risk inventory. An extreme risk is defined as one
that, based on a very low likelihood of occurrence,
may lead to highly negative effects (extreme
events). The risk survey is oriented toward macro-
economic-political environment analyses and crisis
scenarios.

Since January 2023, risks are also assessed and
evaluated in the context of the Supply Chain Due
Diligence Act. This includes assessing the risks of
Group companies required to report from the per-
spective of affected parties or rights holders, taking
into account the likelihood of occurrence and
potential severity.
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Management and monitoring

Risk managers are tasked with developing and
implementing suitable risk-reducing measures and
making the most of opportunities in their respective
areas of responsibility. Additionally, they develop a
general strategy for handling identified risks. These
strategies include risk avoidance, risk reduction
with the aim of minimizing the effect or likelihood
of occurrence, transfer of risk to third parties or risk
acceptance. The decision to implement the rele-
vant strategy for managing a risk also takes into
account the costs associated with the effectiveness
of any planned risk-reducing measures. Correspond-
ing controls are derived and their effectiveness is
documented.

Reporting

Risks are included in reporting according to individu-
ally established materiality limits. The risks reported
in the annual risk inventory are presented at the
meetings of the Advisory Boards of the respective
Group companies. In addition, the Otto Group's risk-
bearing capacity is also determined in each financial
year, and a Monte Carlo simulation is carried out to
calculate the overall risk exposure. The Group Execu-
tive Board and the Supervisory Board are notified of
potential threats to the company’s continued exis-
tence as a going concern, as well as of relevant
developments in risk management. Ad-hoc risk
reporting makes it possible to inform the Group
Executive Board immediately if new material risks
occur at any other time than the official reporting
times named.

Responsibility for risk management lies with the Group
Executive Board and the managing directors of the
Group companies. The close interlocking of the risk
management system (RMS) with the internal control
system (ICS) and the Financial Controlling/Reporting
divisions ensures the effectiveness of the RMS. Further-
more, the structure of the compliance management
system and the regular monitoring performed on it
ensure that the relevant legal requirements and internal
company guidelines are also complied with. The RMS is
under constant development by the management divi-
sion with organizational responsibility, in cooperation
with Otto Group Holding’s Risk Management depart-
ment, and is reviewed by Group Audit.

Accounting-related internal control system

The accounting-related ICS is an integral part of the
Otto Group’s ICS and takes its requirements into
account.

The Otto Group's accounting-related ICS's aim is to
ensure the correctness of Group accounting and financial
reporting. It is intended in particular to ensure that all
business transactions are recorded in the accounts
promptly, uniformly, and correctly on the basis of appli-
cable standards, accounting regulations, and internal
Group rules. Accounting errors should be avoided or
material misstatements detected in a timely manner.

The Otto Group's consolidated financial statements
are prepared on the basis of a centrally defined
conceptual framework. It essentially comprises the

following organizational and technical measures, in
which all Group companies are included.

The centrally prescribed Group guideline and supple-
mentary reporting instructions are consistent with the
relevant IFRS regulations and the binding Group-wide
specifications for the exercise of elective rights and
structuring options. They ensure that the IFRS account-
ing standards are applied uniformly and throughout the
Group.

Moreover, a uniform group chart of accounts is manda-
tory for all Group companies. Data reporting for preparing
the consolidated financial statements is carried out at
the detail level of this chart of accounts. Its purpose,
together with the Group Guideling, is to ensure the
proper and uniform preparation of the Otto Group's
consolidated financial statements, and it is therefore an
integral part of the internal controls for financial
reporting.

The Otto Group Holding’s Group Controlling &
Accounting division reviews the relevance of reforms
in international accounting standards in a timely
manner, and their implementation is announced to
the Group companies in good time, such asin monthly
newsletters.

Finally, the uniform Group-wide management of the
financial statements process, as part of a centrally
managed financial statements calendar, guarantees a
structured accounting process.
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The IFRS individual financial statements (reporting
packages) of the Group companies included in the
consolidated financial statements are prepared either
locally by the Group company or by a shared service
center. They are then recorded in a uniform system.
Automatic plausibility checks and system-side valida-
tions of the data are used as quality assurance mea-
sures in the data collection process. Consolidation
then takes place at a central location using additional
software. The systems are established software prod-
ucts that have been audited for compliance. Moreover,
access permissions are defined in the accounting-
related IT systems to protect against unauthorized
access. The latter is carried out in accordance with the
Otto Group's information security regulations.

At the Group level, the Otto Group Holding’s Group
Controlling & Accounting division checks the accu-
racy and reliability of the IFRS individual financial
statements reported by the Group companies.

Once all consolidation steps have been finalized, the
consolidated financial statements are prepared by the
Otto Group Holding’s Group Controlling & Accounting
division with the involvement of other specialist divi-
sions. The Group Management Report is also prepared
by this division in cooperation with the relevant
Otto Group Holding divisions. Several quality reviews
are performed on the consolidated financial state-

ments and the Group Management Report during

the preparation process. The members of the Group
Executive Board then approve the final version for
publication.

Compliance management system

The Otto Group maintains a compliance management
system—hereinafter CMS. Its objective is to establish
compliance as an integral part of all business processes.
In this context, the Otto Group identifies and assesses
the relevant compliance risks and implements measures
to avoid irregular behavior. The measures are checked
regularly for efficacy and are improved continuously.

The Compliance Committee is the central body within
the CMS and is chaired by the Group Executive Board
Member for Finance, Controlling, Human Resources.
The risk functions and others within the Otto Group are
represented on the committee. The members of the
Compliance Committee define the Otto Group’s CMS
and the binding requirements for all Group companies.

The Group companies each have their own decentral-
ized compliance organizations that are aligned with
Group-wide requirements and standards.

Compliance issues are anchored in various Group
departments. In this regard, the Otto Group has defined
core compliance topics of Group-wide significance
that are managed by central topic owners. Compliance

in the Otto Group is not limited to these core issues,
however, but takes into account the many other chal-
lenges facing Otto Group companies as well. In addition,
the processes are continuously subjected to critical
review and examination and new compliance risks are
integrated into the CMS structures.

The Otto Group has established a whistleblower system
so that misconduct and violations can be identified and
investigated in good time and so that remedial action
can be taken. All employees and externals can access a
variety of channels to report violations of laws and
internal regulations, also anonymously.

Internal audit system

(Internal) Auditing provides independent and objective
auditing services, and in doing so supports the Group
Executive Board and the management teams in their
monitoring duties. Auditing is focused on creating
added value by contributing to guarantee the regularity,
efficiency, and security of processes as well as to
protect assets and prevent reputational damage. To
this end, the audit examines the effectiveness of the
RMS, the ICS, and the CMS in particular, as well as
the monitoring processes, and helps with their
improvement.
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The Otto Group's internal audit system - referred to
hereinafter as the IRS - is described in a Group Guide-
line and stipulates that the audit requirements of the
Group Executive Board (sovereign perspective) and the
respective managing directors for their Group company
(local perspective) must be determined on a risk-
oriented basis and adequately covered.

Auditing activities are carried out by taking into account
the scope and risk exposure of the business processes.
The audit universe applies to all operational Group
companies. Regular general audits are carried out at
these companies. Among other things, these audits
include the regularity of the Executive Board and the
topics of ICS, RMS, CMS and IRS, along with other risk
audits.

Audit procedures are conducted in accordance with
the Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal
Auditing and, in particular, the Code of Ethics of the
Institute of Internal Auditors (hereinafter IlA). Recom-
mendations are inferred to eliminate the identified
deficiencies and limit the identified risks, and their
execution is then monitored (follow-up).

A quality assurance and improvement program is in
place to promote the effectiveness of the Otto Group’s
IRS and compliance with the lIA’s Code of Professional
Conduct. Included in this in particular is the regular
(usually every five years) commissioning of external
quality reviews. The most recent quality review was
performed by an auditing company in February 2024. It
confirmed the effectiveness of the Otto Group’s IRS.

Opportunity Management

The focused growth strategy as part of the Otto Group
Path enabled the further expansion of existing strengths
both nationally and internationally and offers opportuni-
ties despite the ongoing challenging market situation.
Targeted investments in high-growth and profitable busi-
ness models such as those of the Crate and Barrel Group,
OTTO, the Witt Group and the EOS Group strengthen
the Otto Group's future viability, as do transformation
projects with the aim of further shaping the high-per-
formance core of the future portfolio, increasing the
Group's profitability and thus creating further financial

leeway.

A key differentiating factor in the competitive environ-
ment and therefore an opportunity is the focus on
responsibility in line with the shareholder vision “Responsi-
ble commerce that inspires.” Assuming social, ecological

identity for almost 40 years and positions the Group as
a credible player in terms of sustainability, especially in
contrast to Asian competitors.

The Otto Group sees further opportunities in the field of
innovations, specifically through the use of Artificial
Intelligence (Al). The potential for the use of Al in the
Otto Group extends across all segments and ranges
from improving the shopping experience in online shops
to optimizing internal processes and increasing per-
sonal, individual productivity.

Risks Report

The following report provides an overview of the main
risks and indicates their significance for the Otto Group.
Within this framework, the risks are classified using a
matrix with the dimensions of the scope of damage, i.e.,
the financial impact on the EBT, and the likelihood of

anddigitalresponsibility hasbeenpartofthe OttoGroup’s  occurrence.
Likelihood of occurrence

: A Low / Moderate / High / Very high /
Financial impact (EBT) 0-<5% 5-<25% 25-<50% 50 - 100 %
Very high /> EUR 100 million High Very high Very high Very high
High /> EUR 50 - 100 million Moderate High Very high Very high
Moderate / > EUR 25 - 50 million Low Moderate High Very high
Low /EUR 5 - 25 million Low Low Moderate High
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Insofar as opportunity components were also deter-
mined in the scenario analysis in addition to the risk
analysis, they are evaluated in the same way according
to the methodology stated above.

In addition to specific risks, the risk report also describes
overarching risk drivers.

Geopolitical changes

The current global tensions and crises remain a key risk
driver for the Otto Group's value chain and affect vari-
ous areas of the Group. Since the 2025/26 financial
year, they have therefore been recognized directly in
the risk categories in which they have an impact, includ-
ing Procurement & Supply Chain, Information Security
and Market Environment. Risks in connection with the
war Russia started in Ukraine are considered separately.
Forexample, despite the withdrawal of the Otto Group’s
trading activities and the reduction of the EOS Group’s
activities in the Russian market, further sanctions or
(disposal) restrictions imposed by Russian legislation
represent a very high risk for the EOS Group’s existing
assets there.

Economic opportunities and risks
The overall economic conditions affect the business

activities and consequently also the financial position,
net assets, and financial performance of the Otto Group.

Unforeseeable disruptions within global economic
interdependencies, such as the US administration’s
trade policy actions and announcements since spring
2025, can lead to effects that are difficult to predict. In
addition to Canada, Mexico, China and the European
Union, the tariff measures announced by the USA are to
be extended to other countries not yet affected. In
addition to a noticeable negative impact on interna-
tional trade, unpredictable protectionist trade mea-
sures are destabilizing global economic activity and
leading to great uncertainty. Such macroeconomic
risks potentially lead to a reduction in consumer spend-
ing in the countries and regions affected, driven in part
by a reduction in the purchasing power of private
households, and can therefore lead to a decline in
demand for the Otto Group’s goods and services. The
financial consequences of these risks would be fluctua-
tions in sales and a significant impact on results.

Sector-specific and operational opportunities and
risks

Market environment

In the 2024/25 financial year, the market environment
in the Otto Group’s key sales markets was once again
demanding and challenging due to uneven macroeco-
nomic development. While the USA continued on its
growth path, the differences in economic momentum
in the euro area remained significant.

Even though inflation in the core German market has
slowed compared to previous years to an average over
the year of +2.2%, the economy is still taking time to
recover. Structural problems, high economic policy
uncertainties and the weakening labor market are
dampening private consumption. According to the Kiel
Institute for the World Economy, the German economy
is likely to emerge from its weak phase in 2024 and
switch to a slight upward trend from then on. Overall,
there was a recession in 2024 for the second year in a
row, which caused gross domestic product to fall by
0.2%. The economy is likely to stabilize at a low level in
2025 and do little more than stagnate before it begins
its long-term recovery. Further details can be found
in the sections “Macroeconomic and sector-specific
framework conditions” and “Macroeconomic and sector-
specific development”.

According to the Bundesbank, the greatest uncertainty
factor for the forecast at present is a possible global
increase in protectionism. Other imponderables include
geopolitical conflicts and the direction of the new
German government'’s future financial and economic
policy.

In its forecast for the 2025/26 financial year, the
Otto Group has taken into account the macroeconomic
and industry-specific framework conditions as well as
the high volatility and associated uncertainties in the
outlook. The damage potential associated with a
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contracting economy is assessed as very high, but the
likelihood of its occurrence as low. An economic recovery
holds very high potential for the Otto Group, but given
the current volatility in the macroeconomic environ-
ment there are few indications of a short-term macro-
economic recovery and opportunities for a significant
improvement in the consumer climate, which is why the
Otto Group considers the short-term likelihood of occur-
rence to be low.

In order to counter the risk arising from the market envi-
ronment, the Otto Group is undertaking a series of cost
management programs and is promoting the trans-
formation of key Group companies in order to further
shape the future portfolio and increase the Group's
financial leeway. The active portfolio management of
the Otto Group continuously supports the implementation
of the strategic corporate goals. A portfolio analysis is
carried out at regular intervals, in which each Group
company is reviewed with regard to its profitability,
future viability and suitability for the Otto Group. In the
2024/25 financial year, this resulted in the sale of the
two-man handling specialist GIRARD AGEDISS in France
and the sale of the remaining shares in Evri Limited in
the UK, along with the sale of the shares in About You
planned for the 2025/26 financial year. At the same
time, the strategy of the Otto Group, with its interna-
tional orientation and the servicing of different market
segments via different sales channels, contributes to
minimizing risk in the long term and adapts flexibly to
regionally varying market developments.

Competitive environment

In addition to competitive pressure from established
players, the Platforms, Brand Concepts and Retailers
segments continue to be characterized by the growth
strategy of Asian competitors, who continue to aggres-
sively penetrate the markets and increasingly enter
other product categories in addition to “cheap fashion,”
thereby intensifying the price war.

In the 2024/25 financial year, the Otto Group made
significant investments in the future viability and
innovation capability of its company portfolio in order
to become more resilient and efficient. Examples of
this include, in particular, the further expansion of the
marketplace and advertising business of the Group
company OTTO as well as an increased focus on top
brands to differentiate and strengthen the perception
as a high-quality shopping destination, the repositioning
of the bonprix brand as a product performance brand
to better differentiate it fromm competitors with the aid
of a differentiating and more valuable price-perfor-
mance ratio, restructuring programs in various Group
companies and also the further infrastructure invest-
ments of the Crate and Barrel Group in the USA and
Canada along with the continuous strengthening of the
EOS Group.

As a result of the measures taken and the corresponding
consideration in the planning of the companies con-
cerned, the risk is assessed as low and is no longer con-
sidered a one of the most significant risks.

Turnarounds

The Otto Group remains exposed to the risk that the
envisaged realignment of individual Group companies
does not succeed. The likelihood of unsuccessful turn-
arounds with very high losses is increasing due to the
potential adverse effects on liquidity and earnings,
and also due to the reputational risks of restructuring
measures and company sales. The planned bundling of
business activities in the Brand Concepts and Retailers
segments is intended to bring the turnaround pro-
cesses to a successful conclusion. In the Brand Concepts
segment, the integration of the plus-size brand Sheego
into the Witt Group is planned for the 2025/26 financial
year. In the Services segment, however, there are still
significant risks, particularly in logistics, which are being
countered by the implementation of a comprehensive
restructuring program at Hermes Germany GmbH
announced in April 2025, among other things. Due to the
ongoing difficult market conditions, there is also a risk
that the Otto Group will have to initiate new turnaround
processes or closures.

Procurement

Due to ongoing attacks by Houthi rebels, the shipping
route through the Suez Canal no longer meets security
requirements, and a number of shipping companies
prefer the longer route around Africa for container ships
from Asia. This led to longer transport times, rising
freight rates and bottlenecks in transport capacities in
the first half of the 2024 calendar year. According to
current estimates, this development will lead to lower
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and more robust freight rates in the first half of the 2025
calendar year compared to the first half of 2024. Glob-
ally, the supply of international transport capacity is
expected to exceed the demand forfreight space in 2025,
so that prices should remain stable over the medium
term.

However, the risk of further geopolitical conflicts with
direct effects onthe Otto Group's relevant supply chains
remains. Due to declining macroeconomic demand,
there were no significant shortages in the availability of
goods in the past 2024/25 financial year. Such short-
ages are not expected in the 2025/26 financial year
either, although the overall economic situation is chal-
lenging for many companies, meaning that insolvencies
of individual suppliers can still be expected. In the event
of increased risk situations, the Otto Group can ensure
consistently stable availability of goods through the use
of Group-wide task forces and thus counter insolvencies
of key suppliers at an early stage. The Otto Group is
prepared for similar cases thanks to its transport and
procurement networks. However, geopolitical events
can influence the supply chain and procurement. Macro-
economic and political uncertainties have a potentially
major impact on international trade as well as on costs,
availability and supply routes. For example, US customs
and trade policy currently represents a potential
financial risk that is being closely monitored within the
Otto Group. Taking into account the current geopolitical

situation, the likelihood of occurrence of the risk in pro-
curement increases in relation to the supply chain and
therefore results in a very high risk for the Otto Group.

Moreover, the Otto Group's procurement management
places a particular emphasis on the selection and training
of suppliers. It does this to ensure that environmental
and social sustainability requirements are met by direct
suppliers and their contractors. Potential quality deficits
are largely limited through close collaboration with
direct suppliers and manufacturers, as well as through
continuous quality control.

Risks from non-sector-specific or supporting
processes

Information security and IT

The widespread use of information technology due to
the high degree of digitization within the Otto Group
significantly increases the need to protect information.
Besides the requirements for the confidentiality, integ-
rity, and availability of information that is stored and
processed in electronic systems, the demands placed on
the related IT systems are growing as well.

Risks in connection with unauthorized data access and
data misuse (cybercrime) - as well as interruptions or
disruptions to key business processes due to IT malfunc-
tions - are among the main risks for the Otto Group.

They may have a high impact on earnings and, despite
extensive protective measures and compliance with
the applicable regulatory requirements, are classified
as high in terms of their risk level. Reputational damage
may also ensue as an indirect consequence of the risk.

The Otto Group's protections against information security
and IT risks build on a comprehensive security strategy
that includes both organizational and technical

medasures.

With
Otto Group has a complete, Group-wide IT governance

regard to the organizational measures, the
framework with guidelines and principles that continu-
ously ensure compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements. This includes commmunication, awareness
and training. Other measures include regular internal
audits and security reviews, along with the develop-
ment and implementation of minimum standards for
Group information security for all cloud and on-premises
applications.

The technical aspects of the security strategy include
firewall systems at different levels, the use of virus scan-
ners, and access controls at the operating system and
application level. Compliance with Group-wide security
standards is monitored on a regular basis. Moreover, inter-
nal and external experts conduct security tests, and any
measures inferred from this are rigorously implemented.
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Data center operations of the Group company OTTO
are divided into a primary data center, which is oper-
ated externally as a co-location, and the data center
operation at the Otto Group in Hamburg-Bramfeld
for use as a secondary data center. The external
co-location and the network back-end infrastruc-
ture therefore meet the highest Tier 3+ standards.
Business-critical systems are run redundantly in two
data centers. This also applies to the important
datasets, which are permanently mirrored across
both data centers. Datasets are regularly backed up
as well.

With a view to minimizing risks, all systems develop-
ments are carried out in separate environments and
subjected to a comprehensive range of tests before
being adopted for operation in live situations. They
are not used for day-to-day operations until they
have been approved. The domestic SAP systems are
operated independently by the Group company
Otto Group Solution Provider (OSP) GmbH® on the
cloud resources of a hyperscaler. All hosting partners
are regularly audited against defined criteriq, including
processes and service performance. The OSP division
has been certified as an SAP Customer Center of
Expertise, which attests to its technical and functional
expertise as well as to process-related excellence.

? The Group company Otto Group Solution Provider (OSP) GmbH and the
associated Group companies in Germany, Spain, Taiwan and India have
been bundled under the Otto Group one.O brand since the 2024/25 finan-
cial year and act as the Otto Group’s new central service provider for
technology and strategy consulting along the entire digital value chain. The
Group companies will be renamed in the 2025/26 financial year.

Financial risks

The Otto Group’s global orientation also exposes it to
a number of financial risks. A binding Group Manual
provides a framework for the handling of financial
risks. The Group is exposed to a counterparty credit
risk when contractual partners default on agree-
ments. In a narrower sense, counterparty credit risk
refers to the risk inherent in a borrower or counterparty
defaulting or partly defaulting on liabilities vis-a-vis
the Otto Group due to a deterioration in its financial
situation.

Suitable credit control systems are used to hedge
credit risks, taking into account a reasonable risk
segmentation of the customer portfolios. The risk
segmentation is continuously adjusted. Risk manage-
ment also includes regularly reviewing credit activities
for business model-specific risks arising from changes
in the macroeconomic environment. Existing response
mechanisms are adjusted as needed. Furthermore, the
Otto Group only works with commercial banks that
have adequate credit metrics for reducing counter-
party credit risk. The default risk is reduced to a rea-
sonable level due to this qualitative selection process
and a balanced banking portfolio. The Financial Risk
Controlling department uses a variety of instruments

to review the credit metrics of the Otto Group’s banks
on a regular basis.

The liquidity risk for the Otto Group has to do with not
having sufficient funds at its disposal to meet its agreed
payment obligations or with the possibility that the
liquidity required cannot be obtained based on antici-
pated conditions.

The Otto Group's financial management system ensures
that the Group's liquidity is maintained at all times. It also
ensures that the Otto Group has sufficient funds at its
disposal for its operations and investments. In principle,
refinancing instruments may include not only all money
and capital market products but also leasing and factor-
ing. The contracts for central corporate financing are
concluded without financial covenants, which provides
the Otto Group with a high degree of financial stability
even in the event of a temporary deterioration in key
figures. The Otto Group has a diversified banking port-
folio and a comfortable buffer of free credit lines. Thanks
to close, long-term relationships with banks, the
Otto Group is in a position to react flexibly to changing
conditions and to hedge its liquidity needs, even in a
volatile financial market environment. In addition to the
banking market, the Otto Group also covers financing
requirements through the capital market, where the
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Group has managed to establish itself as an issuer

through regular bond transactions. However, in
recent years, which have been marked by macro-
economic crises, the capital market has only been

available periodically.

In summary, the Otto Group rates the risk of higher
refinancing costs as high and therefore lower than in
the previous year (very high).

Liquidity requirements at the Otto Group are deter-
mined in the form of an at least quarterly liquidity bud-
getwith a planning period of up to 24 months, a monthly
liquidity budget for the current financial year and a
daily budget with a horizon of at least four weeks. All
budgets are regularly reviewed for variances.

In the Otto Group, market risks within the meaning of
IFRS 7 are restricted to currencies and interest rates.
Significant foreign currency risks arise from payments
received in a foreign currency from customer business
and from payment obligations to suppliers that need to
be settled in a foreign currency. The latter primarily
occurs when goods are purchased in US dollars or Hong
Kong dollars and then sold in euros. Interest rate fluctu-
ation risks arise in connection with the gains or losses
incurred on interest-bearing items when interest rates
change.

Currency and interest rate fluctuation risks are hedged
by refinancing in the same currency and with the same

maturity. Any remaining risks from open foreign cur-
rency and interest rate items are evaluated using
appropriate risk assessment methods. They are then
further reduced as needed, mainly by using forward
exchange contracts and currency options and also
with interest rate swaps. The fundamental goal of risk
management is to limit the impact of market price
fluctuations on cash flows to an acceptable level. An
independent risk monitoring team examines the
appropriateness and effectiveness of the control mea-
sures and compliance with reference rates and/or
internal settlement rates. The remaining foreign cur-
rency risk is classified as low due to the use of hedging
transactions.

The risk of impairment losses of About You's assets was
one of the Otto Group’s main top risks in the 2023/24
financial year. With the planned sale of the shares in
About You to Zalando SE in the 2025/26 financial year,
the risk of impairment losses no longer applies and is no
longer considered a material risk.

Regarding the concentration of financial risks, refer to
the Notes to the consolidated financial statements
(see Notes to the consolidated financial statements as
of 28 February 2025, Note (35) Financial instruments).

Legal and regulatory risks

In the area of competition and antitrust law, anti-
monopoly authorities and legislative efforts continue to
focus strongly on the issue of anti-competitive practices.

This applies in particular to e-commerce and digital
platforms, which are constantly evolving due to the
ongoing adaptation of business models and play an
important roleinthe economy as awhole. The Otto Group's
CMS addresses these risks through mitigating structural
and organizational measures, employee training, the
development of recommendations for action and sup-
port for the implementation of various measures in the
Group companies. In view of the potential extent of the
damage and despite the continuing legal uncertainties,
the risks remain at a very high level despite the mea-
sures described above.

The 2024/25 financial year was characterized by
increasing planning and legal uncertainty with regard
to sustainability regulation, particularly in the second
half of the financial year. For this reason, we have
expanded the scope of the risk of potential violations
under the German Supply Chain Due Diligence Act
(Lieferkettensorgfaltspflichtengesetz, LkSG) to include
further regulatory requirements in the context of sus-
tainability and social standards. Accordingly, develop-
ments are continuously being monitored and adjusted
in the course of planning and management as required.
During risk analysis, the risk of possible violations of sus-
tainability requirements in the supply chain was assessed
as very high from the Otto Group's perspective. In addi-
tion, potential fines for violations of statutory minimum
environmental and social standards present a mone-
tary risk. Due to the complex supply chain structures,
the aim of CR management continues to be to achieve
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transparency about production conditions throughout
the supply chain beyond the final production facilities in
order to identify and prevent violations at an early
stage. The Group companies within the Otto Group pay
particular attention to ensuring socially acceptable
working conditions. They are an integral part of the
Business Partner Declaration and hence a founda-
tional aspect of all business relationships with sup-
pliers. A valid social audit must be available for a
final production facility in a high-risk country® during
the production of articles sold by the Otto Group. This
includes the SA8000 certificate, an amfori BSCI audit
(at least result “C") or the Otto Group's own standard,
the Otto Group Assessment. Adherence to environmen-
tal requirements is also reviewed based on guidelines,
audits, and training.

The possibility of violating General Data Protection
Regulation (GDPR) requirements continues to pose
relevant compliance risks. Among other things, case law
has set high requirements for the implementation of
online tracking and for the transfer of data to “unsafe”
third countries and for complying with the right to infor-
mation. There is also a tendency for supervisory author-
ities to take an increasingly restrictive view of the use of
data for advertising purposes, for example. Current
developments have an impact on business activities,
among others, for the area of online marketing and lead
to considerable expenses, such as those related to the
encryption of data in cloud infrastructures. As part of
the Otto Group's CMS, central specifications for security
requirements in the cloud infrastructure were developed,

¥ According to amfori Countries Risk Classification

relevant effects in the areas of online tracking and data
transfer to unsafe third countries were evaluated and
measures to minimize risks were derived. The resulting
measures have been deemed compliant by several
data protection authorities. There has also been an
adjustment to the case law of the European Court of
Justice in the area of the right to information. These and
other data protection topics are continuously being
incorporated at the Group companies within the frame-
work of the existing training formats, and uniform
requirements for the handling of new developments are
provided. Moreover, the Otto Group is also monitoring
and accompanying ongoing lawmaking processes and
initiatives. Despite all the measures taken so far, there
are still risks in view of the ongoing legal uncertainties,
which the Otto Group classifies as being very high as a
whole.

Any compliance risks that may exist in connection with
customer accounts or in the area of dunning and debt
collection remain due to the constantly changing legal
and regulatory framework conditions. The Otto Group
companies operating in this area are also regulated to
varying degrees by corresponding supervisory authorities
or government institutions in the countries of relevance
to the Group. This is compounded by the fact that legal
proceedings are the only way to obtain reliable certainty
within the regulatory framework in some areas. One
pending legal case concerned EOS Investment GmbH.
As part of a model declaratory action, EOS Invest-
ment GmbH is currently investigating whether collection
fees can be claimed as default damages. The Otto Group

had lodged an appeal against the ruling of the Hamburg
Higher Regional Court. The Federal Court of Justice
followed the Otto Group's legal opinion and dismissed
the consumer advocates’ lawsuit in February 2025. This
means that there is no longer any litigation risk in
this regard. The risk of further legal action against
the reminder fees demanded by the Otto Group’s
companies has decreased - despite the expanded
options for legal action on the part of consumer pro-
eg.
actions) - due to the reductions in reminder fees imple-

tection organizations collective performance
mented by the Group companies and is therefore no
longer a one of the most significant risks.

The national and international development of the
regulatory framework is constantly monitored by the
various divisions of Otto Group Holding, the Group
companies and an office opened in Berlin in the
2023/24 financial year, which will also have an impact
on European Union policy in Brussels. Appropriate
risk-mitigating measures are adopted if need be. This
also applies to the implementation of the new 2023
Consumer Credit Directive in local law, which is one of
the focal points of the Otto Group’s public affairs work.
An over-regulatory implementation of the directive
would represent a very high risk for the Otto Group.
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Overall risk situation

Developments that endanger the continued existence
of the company as a going concern are not to be inter-
preted as merely individual risks threatening the exis-
tence of the company but in general as scenarios in
which any combination of prevailing risks may endanger
the continued existence of the company as a going
concern.Giventhe non-additive nature of risks, develop-
ments that endanger the continued existence of the
company as a going concern require a risk simulation
(Monte Carlo simulation), i.e., a simulation in which
several risks occur concurrently, to ensure that they are
detected early. Based on the information currently
available, an overall assessment of the Group's risk
situation indicates that the Otto Group’s continued
existence as a going concern is not in jeopardy now and
is also unlikely to be so in the future due to eitherindividual
risks or the overall risk situation.

Corporate
Responsibility

Employees'!

One of the key factors in the Otto Group's success is its
employees. Their wide range of skills, their experience,
their capabilities, and their commitment form the basis
forthe Group's further development.

Calculated on afull-time equivalent basis, the Otto Group
employed 36,304 people on average in the 2024/25
financial year (2023/24: 38,462).

1 The disclosures on the proportion of women in the Employees section were

not subject to the audit by the auditor as part of the Group Management
Report.

Employees by segment 2024/25 2023/24 Change

Number Number in%
Platforms 5,544 5,753 -3.6
Brand Concepts 10,601 11,034 -39
Retailers 2962 3,658 -190
Services 9,334 10,165 -8.2
Financial Services 5,605 5,757 -2.6
Non-reportable segments and other activities 1,269 1,086 169
Holding 989 1,009 -20
Group 36,304 38,462 -5.6
Domestic 21,334 22,509 -5.2
Foreign 14,970 15,953 -6.2

The development of the number of employees in the
2024/25 financial year was significantly influenced by
adjustments to the challenging market environment
and changes in the scope of consolidation. In the
reportable segments, on the one hand, cost-cutting
and efficiency enhancement programs at various
Group companies led to a decline in the number of
employees. On the other, the discontinuation of the
operating business activities of myToys.de GmbH and
SAINT BRICE S.A. in Belgium in the 2023/24 financial
year led to a decline in the Retailers segment, and the
sale of GIRARD AGEDISS in France in the 2024/25
financial year brought about a decline in the Services
segment. In addition to adjustments to the market
environment and changes in the scope of consolida-
tion, cross-segment shifts led to significant changes in
reporting.As a result of the dissolution of the myToys Group,
the employees of myToys Logistik GmbH at the Gerns-
heim logistics site, to be closed in the 2024/25 financial
year, were transferred to Hermes Fulfilment GmbH and
have been reported in the Services segment since the
2024/25 financial year. The increase in the non-report-
able segments and other activities is due to the merger
of Otto Group Holding service providers with Otto Group
Solution Provider (OSP) GmbH; in addition, cross-seg-
ment shifts from the Platforms segment to the holding
company in the 2023/24 financial year also had an
impact. Overall, the number of employees in Germany
and abroad decreased.



S,

Group Management Report

Otto Group
2024/25 Annual Report

123

The diversity that exists in a society is also a key driver of
changes, developments, and innovations within the
Otto Group. The three pillars “Embrace, Grow and Envision”
form the basis of the Diversity & Inclusion work (D&I).
Since the 2021/22 financial year, the Otto Group has
been creating individual, structural and culture-building
measures for living diversity.

In the 2024/25 financial year, the digital event "DIVE
IN - BE part of it” was once again held, focusing on
.Diversity as a performance driver” as part of the
“"Embrace” pillar with an emphasis on community
work and culture-shaping formats with the aim of holis-
tically anchoring D&l in the Otto Group. The “English as
a common language” initiative was strengthened as a
further culture-building measure by holding various
events such as the "DIVE IN,” the unconscious bias training
for performance evaluation and the kick-off of the
“"Power of Diversity” mentoring program in English in
orderto reach more employees. This measure also has a
positive impact on overarching and international coop-
eration. The personal (experience) exchange and formal
impulses with the master plan learning path “English as
a unifying language” also contribute to this.

In the area of individual and structural change require-
ments, mapped in the “Grow” pillar, targeted measures
are established to promote and develop talents. As in
previous years, this includes the “Power of Diversity”
mentoring program, initiated by an internal female top

executive network. The Group-wide program for experi-
enced female managers entered its third round in the
2024/25 financial year. For the first time, the program
was advertised internationally as well. The targeted
promotion of female managers through executive
mentoring takes into account both the achievement
of targets with regard to the quotas set under the
German Act on Equal Participation of Women and Men
in Leadership Positions (Flihrungspositionengesetz [FUPoG])
and the issue of succession planning. In terms of struc-
tural change requirements, a diversity-oriented recruiting
approach was also set up as an innovative project. In a
cross-company workshop, causes for the supposed
restriction of a diverse field of applicants were identi-
fied, which are to be analyzed in depth and mitigated
as part of a pilot project.

In orderto promote the proportion of women in manage-
ment positions across the Group, the Otto Group has set
target quotas for all Group companies that fall under
the scope of the Management Positions Act or generally
employ more than 500 employees. On 31 December 2021,
the date on which the target was set, a total of twelve
Group companies fell under this category. Achieving the
quota is part of the D&l pillar “Envision”, which focuses on
quantitative targets and reporting. The Otto Group has set
specific targets in the context of the FUPoG: For the Super-
visory Board of Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA, a target of at least
five women and a female share of at least 25% is to be
achieved by 28 February 2030. For the Executive Board

of Otto Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, a target of at
least two women and a female ratio of at least one
third is to be achieved by no later than 28 February 2030.
Efforts will be made by the Executive Boards of the
twelve Group companies (apart from Otto Verwaltungs-
gesellschaft mbH) to ensure that a woman has been
appointed to at least one position. For the first manage-
ment level, the Group companies aim to achieve an
average quota of 32%'? by 31 December 2025; for the
second management level, an average target quota of
39% by 31 December 2025 has been set. The actual
status within the Otto Group companies subject to the
provisions of the FUPoG is determined every six months
and made available to the relevant stakeholders via a
dashboard.

With the chosen three-pillar approach and the corre-
sponding target quotas, diversity and inclusion are
essential elements of the practiced values in the
Otto Group’s mindset.

In a dynamic environment, adaptability and flexibility
are key elements of a practiced performance culture.
In order to advance the digital transformation, the
Otto Group has been successfully pursuing the cultural
change process for around ten years. Thanks to organi-
zational developers, agile units and culture managers,
cultural change has increasingly become a professional
discipline.

" The deadline for achieving the target at ABOUT YOU SE & Co. KG is
1 June 2026 for both the first and second management levels.
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Through participatory and decentralized cultural
change, the Otto Group empowers employees to be
active shapers of a performance culture by means of
extensive offerings. Central formats for exchange, net-
working and effective scaling of good practices are the
annual cultural change conference #CDX (Culture
Development Experience), the internal cultural change
community with more than 250 change makers and
the very successful cultural change collective with over
1,400 members from a variety of organizations within
and outside the Otto Group. Here too, the focus is on
specific enabling measures to strengthen and further
develop a practiced performance culture and concepts
for the successful and fair implementation of trans-
formation projects and cost reduction programs, for
example.

Lifelong learning is a central component of the corpo-
rate strategy and a decisive factor for the Otto Group's
transformation and future viability. The Otto Group’s
learning culture is based on the following premises:
“"Working and learning become one,” “Learning for all”
and “Learning to learn”. The aim is to strengthen employ-
ees’ personal responsibility for lifelong learning and to
create the necessary technical and cultural framework
conditions for this.

In total, over 36,000 Otto Group employees are regis-
tered on Masterplan’s digital learning platform, where

they can learn independently, individually and in a
work-integrated way. A new Al-based translation tool
aims to make important collaboration topics available
to a broad target group: This makes learning content
on newly designed topics more accessible, and users
with different language backgrounds can select their
language directly in the learning path via a drop-
down menu.

The use of generative artificial intelligence such as
ogGPT, an in-house development by Otto Group IT, has
become an essential part of the learning experience.
Employees receive learning recommendations, learning
content is curated and employees practice using the
new technology.

To teach all Otto Group employees how to work effec-
tively with ogGPT, for example, the "How to ogGTP”
course has been made available to around 17,000 employ-
ees. This course explains the user interface and func-
tions of ogGPT, such as the use of templates, generation
of images and evaluation of Excel tables. This learning
path is also a good example of how current learning
fields can be effectively scaled to accompany trans-
formation.

Regular exchanges with the Otto Group’s learning &
development experts also make it possible to share
experiences with new learning tools and methods. This

allows the learning experiences to be continuously
adapted to the needs of the Group companies and
strategic learning areas to be multiplied in the long
term.

Another central pillar in the Otto Group’s human resources
strategy is the Otto Group Academy’s development
programs for executives, which are systematically
focused on the needs of the Group. This involves teaching
relevant methods and providing an impetus on topics
relating to transformation, performance leadership and
career paths. The development programs also form a
building block in the Group-wide networking of partici-
pants with one another.

The design of Group-wide career paths within the
Otto Group plays a particularly central role in talent
management at Otto Group Holding. With the aim of
increasing talent mobility, the overarching “Your Next
Move” initiative has become an integral part of talent
management. In close cooperation with the Group
companies and with a holistic approach, the aim is to
offer talented individuals at all levels a wide range of
development options and to fill vacancies with high-
potential employees from within the company. An
Otto Group talent network has been established for this
purpose, which is continuously growing and supported
by the system. In addition to the advisory and networking
role played by Talent Management at Otto Group
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Holding, there is a newly established role of Talent
Broker, who is represented in all major Group companies
and acts as the first point of contact within the Group
company and in direct exchanges with Otto Group
Holding. In addition, there are other offers and events as
well for improving networking between the companies
in order to strengthen the matching of talents and
vacancies across the Otto Group.

Sustainability*®

The Otto Group’s CR strategy considers the economic,
environmental, and social dimensions of sustainability
and takes the entire value chain into account. The
content of the strategy is based on a materiality analysis
and focuses on a framework for the Group companies
to develop independent solutions that suit their individual
business models. The CR strategy 2021 will end prema-
turely at the close of the 2024/25 financial year due to
the transition to the Sustainability Strategy. During its
period of application, it was operationalized for seven
areas: Climate, Sustainable Materials, Supply Chain,
Circularity, Conscious Customers, Empowered Employ-
ees and Digital Responsibility. The Sustainability Strategy
will apply as of the start of the 2025/26 financial year. In
the areas of environment and human rights, ambitious
targets from the previous strategy will be largely
continued, supplemented and further developed.

3 The disclosures in the Sustainability section with the corresponding sub-
sections were not subject to the audit by the auditor as part of the audit of
the Group Management Report. The information on the near-term science-
based target in accordance with the criteria of the Science Based Targets
Initiative was subjected to a separate audit in accordance with ISAE 3000
with limited assurance. This section is marked with a [l note.

Further development of the Sustainability Strategy

CR strategy from 2021 until the 2024/25 financial year
The CR strategy™ is firmly enshrined in the corporate
strategy, along with the Code of Ethics. Since the
2014/15 financial year, the annual variable remunera-
tion of the members of the Group Executive Board and,
since the 2022/23 financial year, also that of the man-
aging directors of selected German Group companies
has been linked to the achievement of the CR strategy.

Starting in 2021, the CR strategy was implemented by
all Group companies that have made a significant con-
tribution to the Otto Group's external revenues over two
consecutive financial years. The Group companies
included in the CR strategy generated around 76% of
the Group's reported external revenue in the 2024/25
financial year. According to this definition, a total of
15 Group companies or groups were included in the
CR strategy: In the Platforms segment, this entailed the
Group company OTTO; in the Brand Concepts segment, the
bonprix Group, the Witt Group, the Crate and Barrel Group,
Venus Fashion, Inc., which belongs to the bonprix Group,
and sheego GmbH?*® were included; and in the Retailers
segment, the Baur Group, the Limango Group, the
Freemans Grattan Group, Otto Austria Group GmbH
and Frankonia Handels GmbH & Co. KG were included.
Moreover, the CR strategy also applied to the EOS Group

**With the exception of the science-based target, the assessment of the
topic areas is based on the calendar year.

s Sheego GmbH will become part of the Witt Group's brand portfolio on
1 July 2025.

in the Financial Services segment and Hermes Fulfilment
Group, HERMES Einrichtungs Service GmbH & Co KG
and Hermes Germany GmbH?* in the Services segment.
With regard to the Group company About You in the
Platforms segment, reference is made to the compre-
hensive published sustainability reporting of About You
regarding the CR strategy.

The individual topic areas of the CR strategy are
deemed binding for a Group company or sub-group as
soon as they are relevant for the Group companies and
the materiality threshold defined for each topic area or
the materiality criterion has been exceeded. The objec-
tives of the CR strategy are dynamic and are reviewed
regularly. Due to increasing regulatory requirements
and socialexpectations - and also due tothe Otto Group's
attitude of constantly reflecting on its own sustainability
goals - the CR strategy was further developed in the
reporting year. The objectives will therefore end prema-
turely at the close of the 2024/25 financial year.

Sustainability Strategy starting in the 2025/26
financial year

The Sustainability Strategy will apply as of the 2025/26
financial year. Building on the successes of the previous
CR strategy, the Otto Group is thus pursuing ambitious
goals in the areas of environment and human rights
that go beyond regulatory requirements and self-imposed

* Hermes Germany GmbH has been included in the consolidated financial
statements of the Otto Group according to the equity method since the
2020/21 financial year.
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minimum requirements, the Otto Group Sustainability
Standards. The Otto Group Sustainability Standards
comprise all requirement documents that apply within
the Otto Group for the Group companies with regard to
sustainability-related topics, including Group guide-
lines, for example. Previous sustainability-related goals
and efforts up to the end of 2025 are largely reflected
in the Sustainability Strategy, but the targets of the
CR strategy cannot be directly compared with those of
the Sustainability Strategy. This is due to the fact that,
for example, the scope of product ranges and products
within the target formulations has been expanded.
Accordingly, the Otto Group is working on the further
development of data availability and the IT landscape.
Achieved targets, whose level of requirements is to be
upheld for all Group companies, have been transitioned
to the Otto Group Sustainability Standards as binding
requirements. The Sustainability Strategy applies to the
Group companies that have the greatest impact on
human rights or environmental issues along the entire
value chain (referred to as Impact Group companies),
including OTTO, the bonprix Group, the Witt Group, the
Crate and Barrel Group and Hermes Germany GmbH. In
addition, the Otto International Group has been defined
as a so-called facilitator, as the Otto International Group
supports the Impact Group companies in achieving
their targets, particularly in the area of procurement

within the upstream supply chain. The selection of
strategic focus topics is based on the results of the
materiality analysis, which was conducted based on
the requirements of the Corporate Sustainability
Reporting Directive (CSRD).*’ This identifies the greatest
negative impacts of the Otto Group’s business activities
on people and the environment as well as the opportu-
nities and risks of these issues for the Otto Group. As this
annual report covers activities in the context of the
CR strategy up to the end of the 2024/25 financial year,
the materiality analysis is based on the 2021 status.

As part of its Sustainability Strategy, the Otto Group is
aiming to substantially lower its ecological impacts to
operate within planetary boundaries. The Group reduces
its own greenhouse gas emissions in line with the
1.5-degree climate target of the Paris Agreement, mini-
mizes resource consumption and protects biodiversity.
Accordingly, the following areas have been identified as
focus topics to the end of the 2035/36 financial year:
Near-term Science-based Target (SBT), Circular Business
Solutions, Preferred Materials, Eco-Design for Circularity
and Responsible Products.

The Otto Group has always respected human rights
and is committed to improving working conditions for
people in its own supply chains. Knowledge, resources

*"The topic areas reported below are for the purpose of managing the Group
and are not yet based on the regulatory requirements of the CSRD and
EU taxonomy. The timely implementation of the new regulatory requirements
is being ensured by a Group-wide project team.

and learning specific skills are crucial to enable progress
and improvement, to prevent human rights violations
and to achieve better working conditions for people in
their own supply chains in the long term. The Otto Group
promotes capacity development as a lever for positive
change in the lives of workers in its own supply chains.
Accordingly, the Group aims to ensure that the majority
of key stakeholders participate in capacity develop-
ment on the following relevant human rights topics by
the end of the 2035/36 financial year: Safe Work Environ-
ment, Decent Working Hours, Child Free Production,
Freely Chosen Employment and Living Wages. For all
focus topics, the Otto Group has used a risk-based
approach to identify three groups of key stakeholders
who can directly influence improvements and who
should therefore participate in capacity development:
business partners with whom the Otto Group maintains
a direct contractual relationship, workers in final pro-
duction facilities in countries with an increased risk of
human rights violations, and the management in final
production facilities whose actions are of great rele-
vance to the workers. As an internationally active group
of companies, the Otto Group has an obligation and
desire to fulfill the requirements placed on the Group
with regard to human rights. This is done by complying
with laws and regulations and implementing the binding
requirements of the Otto Group Sustainability Standards.
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Achievement of targets status for the topic areas of
the CR strategy from 2021 and outlook for the
Sustainability Strategy as of the 2025/26 financial year

The Otto Group's CR strategy since 2021 has set out long-
term, visionary goals (“Transformational Goals”) as well as
goals with clearly defined time horizons (“Core Priorities”)
for each of the seven topic areas. In the topic areas of
Climate, Sustainable Materials, Supply Chain and Circu-
larity, the CR strategy sets binding targets - backed by
quantitative indicators - for all Group companies and
sub-groups to which the strategy applies. Binding quali-
tative targets apply at the Otto Group level in the topic
areas of Conscious Customers, Empowered Employees,
and Digital Responsibility, which are fleshed out in the
individual action plans of the Group companies.

In the Climate areq, the Otto Group is working on devel-
oping a net-zero target for the entire value chain by 2045
and the steps required to achieve this. The definition of
net-zero emissions by the Science Based Targets Initia-
tive (SBTi) provides guidance. The reduction of green-
house gas emissions (GHG emissions) is the top priority
here. All remaining emissions need to be permanently
neutralized. This means that companies must take mea-
sures to remove greenhouse gases from the atmosphere
and permanently store them to offset the impact of
emissions that have not been reduced. The following
currently applies: Companies may only neutralize up to 10%
of their GHG emissions. In addition, the SBTi encourages

companies to look beyond their value chain and take
additional measures to reduce emissions, supporting
the societal and international effort to drastically reduce
GHG emissions to net zero. The Group's stakeholders are
regularly informed about the progress made in formu-
lating a net-zero target in the annual report.

In the 2022/23 financial year, the Otto Group commit-
ted to developing a near-term science-based target in
accordance with the SBTi criteria in order to promote
the reduction of its greenhouse gas emissions in line
with the 1.5-degree target of the Paris Climate Agree-
ment. The near-term SBT was successfully validated by
the Science Based Targets Initiative at the end of the
2023/24 financial year. To this end, separate targets
and time horizons were defined for different operations
based on the requirements and minimum standards of
the SBTi. The Group's previous targets for reducing
greenhouse gas emissions are reflected in this target.
The SBT is part of the Sustainability Strategy and has
already been in effect for a year as part of the CR strategy.
The Otto Group's near-term SBT*® is aggregated into
three sub-targets:

Sub-target 1: Absolute scope 1 and 2 greenhouse gas
emission®’ reduction by 42% by the end of the 2030/31
financial year (compared to the 2021/22 financial year).
This includes direct emissions from company-owned
and controlled resources, such as the company’s vehicle
fleet, and indirect emissions from purchased energy. At

*® The official target descriptions can be found on the SBTi website.

7 Taking into account the operational control approach. Scope 2 greenhouse
gas emissions using the market-based approach.

the end of the 2024/25 financial year, a reduction of
57% was achieved compared to the 2021/22 financial
year. This sharp drop in emissions is in particular due to
the increased purchase of green electricity by the
German Group companies and the Crate and Barrel Group.
The Otto Group has thus achieved the sub-target for
2030/31 ahead of schedule and will work on a further
reduction.

Sub-target 2 (Supplier Engagement): At least 50% third-
party brands and marketplace partners by spend cov-
ering purchased goods and services set science-based
target by the end of the 2027/28 financial year. Due to
first time reporting, this simplified aggregated target
value was chosen. In 2024/25, a share of 28% was
achieved. Separate reporting will be provided for third-
party brands (target value 75%) and marketplace partners
(target value 20%) starting in financial year 2025/26.
Sub-target 2 is calculated onthe basis of the Impact Group
companies OTTO, the bonprix Group, the Witt Group,
the Crate and Barrel Group and the Limango Group,
which comprise the majority of the Otto Group's third-
party brand and marketplace business and therefore
serve as a representative basis for the calculation of
the key figure.? In particular, OTTO as an e-commerce
platform and the resulting continuous expansion of
the OTTO marketplace are influencing the current
target achievement.

2|n determining whether partners have their own SBT, the focus was on the
most relevant and largest third-party brands and marketplace partners of
the Otto Group's Impact companies, covering around 70% of the
Otto Group's purchasing volume. The degree of coverage is to be further
increased in the 2025/26 financial year.


https://sciencebasedtargets.org/target-dashboard
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Sub-target 3: Absolute reduction in scope 3 greenhouse
gas emissions?* by 42% by the end of the 2031/32 financial
year (compared to the 2021/22 financial year). This
refers to indirect emissions within the value chain over
which the company has no control for the most part,
such as energy consumption during production or
during the use phase of the products sold. At the end of
the 2024/25 financial year, emissions had fallen by 16%
compared to the 2021/22 financial year. The reduction
is mainly due to the global expansion of renewable
energies, efficiency gains in the upstream value chain
and lower purchasing volumes.

In order to achieve the near-term SBT and the long-
term net-zero target, the Otto Group will work in close
collaboration with the business partners and primarily
focus on improving the energy efficiency of production
processes in the upstream value chain and on promoting
the use of renewable energies. Comprehensive measures
that the Otto Group has adopted to address emissions

2 Taking into account the operational control approach. The following Scope 3
categories were identified as material and are therefore integrated into
sub-target 3 and the emissions calculated forit: 3.1, 3.3, 34, 3.6, 3.7, 3.11,
3.12. Only GHG emissions from own and licensed brands are included in 3.1.
The scaling was based on secondary data to ensure, among other things,
the completeness of the Otto Group's retail volume.

during the use phase of customers will also be highly
relevant in the future. A particular focus is on increasing
the energy efficiency of electrical appliances. In addition,
the Otto Group is continuing its efforts to shift the trans-
portation of goods from air to sea or rail and to electrify
delivery to customers. At its own sites, the Otto Group
continues to promote increased energy efficiency and

Achievement status of climate sub-targets?

Base year 2021/22

the systematic transition to green energy. The selection
of materials also plays a role in the achievement of
targets. In the future, the Otto Group will integrate its
climate activities more closely with the topic areas of
materials and circularity. Here, too, decisive contribu-
tions are needed to achieve the ambitious climate

targets.

Financial year 2024/25

Absolute emissions

Absolute emissions Percentage change Target value

intCO,e intCO,e compared to the

base year 2021/22
Sub-target 1: Absolute scope 1 and 2 greenhouse _42%
gas emission reduction by 42% by the end of the o (until the end of

R - . . 236,107 102,306 -57%
2030/31 financial year (compared to financial ‘the 2030/31
year 2021/22) financial year)
Sub-target 3: Absolute reduction in scope 3 _42%
greenhouse gas emissions by 42% by the end of 140 (until the end of
the 2031/32 financial year (compared to /173,678 6,004,778 16% the 2031/32

financial year 2021/22)

financial year)

and marketplace partners with their own (Reporting in aggregated

Percentage of third-party brands Target value Target values
(Reporting from the
SBT in financial year 2024/25  logic until the end of the = 2025/26 financial year)

2024/25 financial year)

Sub-target 2 (Supplier Engagement): At least
50% third-party brands and marketplace
partners by spend covering purchased goods
and services set science-based target by

the end of the 2027/28 financial year

75 % of third-party

50% brands and 20 %

(until the end of marketplace
of the 2027/28 partners (until the
financial year) end of the 2027/28
financial year)

28%

2 For the calculation basis and methods, see the description of the aggregated sub-targets.




S,

Group Management Report

Otto Group
2024/25 Annual Report

129

In the area of Sustainable Materials, the Otto Group is
pursuing specific goals for textiles, furniture, catalog
paper, and packaging: The aim was to increase the per-
centage of “preferred fibers” to 65% by the end of 2025.
These are textile fibers that have significantly less neg-
ative environmental impact than conventional alterna-
tives, such as organic cotton compared to conventional
cotton and recycled materials and animal-based fibers
that are produced with careful attention to animal wel-
fare. The proportion in 2024 was 66% and thus above
the previous year’s value of 59%. Overall, the target of
65% preferred textile fibers by the end of 2025 has
therefore already been achieved ahead of schedule.
The enhanced Sustainability Strategy will apply from
the start of the new 2025/26 financial year, in which
the objectives will be continued with an expanded
product group scope. The Otto Group strives to use
only preferred fibers in the textiles, fashion and furni-
ture assortments by the end of the 2035/36 financial
year.

In the furniture sector, the Otto Group has previously
made an effort to use only wood from responsible forestry
certified by the Forest Stewardship Council® - referred to
hereinafter as FSC® - by 2025 in its own and licensed
brands. The availability of FSC®-certified wood varies
greatly at the various furniture suppliers’ factories. For
this reason, the Otto Group has been accepting other
recognized certificates for wood furniture, such as the

EU Ecolabel, the Blue Angel (Blauer Engel) or the Nordic
Swan Ecolabel since 2023. The percentage of certified
wooden items, relative to the total number, was 90% in
2024 (2023: 83%). Overall, the target of 100% more
sustainable wooden furniture by the end of 2025 was
therefore largely achieved. In addition to measuring the
core priority for wooden furniture on the basis of the
articles offered for its own and licensed brands, the
Otto Group is publishing a further target achievement
value based on the quantity of wood sold, measured in
tonnage. This is a more meaningful indicator of the
actual impact of using sustainable wood. In 2024,
the share of sustainable wood products measured in
tonnage was 75% of the total volume (2023: 62%).
The enhanced Sustainability Strategy will apply from
the start of the 2025/26 financial year, with the aim of
further increasing the percentage of more sustainable
wooden furniture. The Otto Group will continue striving
to use only certified wood in furniture by the end of the
2035/36 financial year.®

By the end of 2025, only paper with an FSC certifi-
cate or EU Ecolabel will be used in catalogs. In 2024,
the percentage was 96% (2023: 94%). This means
that the goal of using 100% more sustainable cata-
logue paper by the end of 2025 has almost been
achieved. This aspiration will continue to be a bind-
ing requirement within the Otto Group Sustainability
Standards.

% The Otto Group is currently working on being able to record the actual
wood content in the product on a granular level. Until this data is available,
the percentage of wood in furniture products will be extrapolated using
an externally accepted method.

The percentage of more sustainable packaging was
98% in 2024 (2023: 94%). The aspiration of using 100%
more sustainable packaging will continue to be a bind-
ing requirement within the Otto Group Sustainability
Standards.

With regard to Circularity, the Otto Group collected
quantitative data to measure progress in this area. In
2024, circular business solutions were implemented for
22.7 million products (2023: 15.6 million products),
mainly through products made with recycled materials
but also through circular product design, second-hand
products sold, repairs made and recycling solutions. The
increased use of recycled materials in textiles has led to
a significant overachievement of the target (by 2024:
18 million products). At the same time, ambitious pilot
projects have continued to be scaled up, such as the
Circular Collections of the Group company OTTO and
bonprix Handelsgesellschaft mbH in cooperation with
circularfashion GmbH. The enhanced Sustainability
Strategy will go into effect at the start of the 2025/26
financial year, with two new aspirational objectives to
further advance the implementation of circular busi-
ness solutions by the end of the 2035/36 financial year:
The Otto Group largely shifts its most relevant assort-
ments (textiles, furniture, electronics) to eco-designed
products. In addition, the Otto Group largely offers
circular business solutions (reuse, repair or recycling)
and constantly increases their implementation for its
most relevant assortments (textiles, furniture, electronics).
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In the Supply Chain topic areq, the Otto Group is pursu-
ing the overarching goal of cooperating with business
partners to implement measurable social and ecological
improvements along the entire supply chain. To this end,
the Otto Group is seeking to identify 100% of supply
chain facilities for its own and licensed brands, from
raw materials to finished products. In 2024, 3,542 new
supply chain facilities (2023: +10,172) were identified
(process-based counting method)*. The slower devel-
opment is due to the fact that the Crate and Barrel Group
was included in the survey for the first time in 2023,
which made it possible to identify a large number of
unknown supply chain facilities. In addition, the majority
of supply chain facilities across the various production
stages have already been determined, and the process
of identifying further supply chain facilities in the lower
production stages tends to be more complex. The
Otto Group’s own aspiration to identify all players in the
supply chains of its own brands, from raw materials to
finished products, will be continued as a binding require-
ment within the Otto Group Sustainability Standards
fromthe 2025/26 financial year. Moreover, the enhanced
Sustainability Strategy will apply from the start of the
2025/26 financial year. As part of this strategy, the
Group aims for the majority of its key stakeholders to
participate in capacity development by the end of
FY 2035/36 in the following focus topics: Safe Work
Environment, Decent Working Hours, Child Free Produc-
tion, Freely Chosen Employment and Living Wages.

24 1f a supply chain facility works for multiple business partners or carries out
several sufficiently different production steps, it is counted more than once.

The Otto Group is pursuing qualitative core priorities in
the topic areas of Conscious Customers, Empowered
Employees, and Digital Responsibility. However, mea-
sures in these areas are set at the level of the Group
companies and Otto Group Holding and therefore vary.
Examples of this in the topic area of Empowered
Employees include the Sustainability Days, which were
held both virtually and on site at various Group compa-
nies and throughout the Group. Customers should be
sensitized to conscious and sustainable consumption
behavior as part of Conscious Customers. To this end,
the Otto Group worked in 2024 on labeling products
with sustainability attributes in online shops. Digital
Responsibility includes the commitment within the
ZukunftsWerte initiative for a social discourse on value-
oriented digitization. This includes internal activities
such as “data cleaning” by employees and a sponsor-
ship partnership to establish the ReDI School of Digital
Integration atthe Hamburg site. As part of the enhanced
Sustainability Strategy that will go into effect starting in
the 2025/26 financial year, the Otto Group continues to
provide incentives for more conscious consumption. By
the end of the 2035/36 financial year, the share of
responsible products in its most relevant assortments
(textiles, furniture, electronics) is constantly increased. In
addition, the ambition of making environmental state-
ments in a comprehensible, transparent and verifiable
manner will continue to be a binding requirement within
the Otto Group Sustainability Standards. The topic of

Digital Responsibility will no longer be strategically
pursued as part of the Sustainability Strategy at the
start of the 2025/26 financial year. As the responsible
handling of the digital transformation continues to be
highly relevant for the Otto Group, topics such as digital
skills, responsible Al and data protection are being
pursued in other specialist areas. The Empowered
Employees area will also no longer be pursued strate-
gically from the start of the 2025/26 financial year. As
colleagues continue to be essential for integrating
sustainability requirements into their day-to-day work
and constantly making them anintegral part of the Group,
selected measures such as training and onboarding will
continue to be implemented. Employees will therefore
continue to be informed about sustainability in the
future.
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CR strategy from 2021 until the 2024/25 financial year

Topic area Core priorit: Reporting year 2023 Reporting year 2024 Target value
p priority porting v porting g
65% "preferred fibers”, 5%
O, 0, o, )
therepf 100% more 59% 66% (until 2025)
sustainable cotton
83% 0%
o ; (corresponds to (corresponds to o
100% more sustainable 629% of the 75% of the i %8(2)5/0)
Sustainable Materials wood (products offered) volume of wood  volume of wood
sold in tons) sold in tons)
O, H O,
100% more sustainable 04% 06% ~100%
catalog paper (until 2025)
O, 1 (o)
100% more sustainable 94% 08% 100%
packaging (until 2024)
o +10,172 newly 100%
Supply Chain* 1007% transparent identified supply +3,542 (without
supply chain chain facilities target year)
Circular solutions illi
Cireularity™ ol o 15.6 million 22.7 million 18 million
ircularity implemented for products products p o oos
18 million products (unti )

Conscious Customers

Empowered Employees

Digital Responsibility

Qualitative targets at the

Otto Group level. However,

measures are set at the

Group company level and

therefore vary.

* Absolute number of supply chain facilities in the supply chain that are to be identified in addition to supply chain facilities that are already known or
have been identified (process-based counting method).

**The core priority of Circularity was first surveyed in the 2023 reporting year. The Crate and Barrel Group was included in the data collection for the

first time in 2024.
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Sustainability Strategy as of the 2025/26 financial year

Focus topic

Ambition

Near-term SBT

The Otto Group follows a path to reduce greenhouse gas
emissions aligned with the 1.5 degree path by the end of the
2031/32 financial year.

Preferred Materials

The Otto Group shifts the materials (fibers, wood, plastics and
metals) in the most relevant assortments (textiles, furniture
and electronics) to preferred alternatives by the end of the
2035/36 financial year.

Circular Business Solutions

The Otto Group largely offers circular business solutions (reuse,
repair or recycling) and constantly increases their implementation
forthe most relevant assortments (textiles, furniture and electron-
ics) until the end of the 2035/36 financial year.

Eco-Design for Circularity

The Otto Group largely shifts the most relevant assortments
(textiles, furniture and electronics) to eco-designed products by
the end of the 2035/36 financial year.

Responsible Products

The Otto Group constantly increases the share of responsible
products in the most relevant assortments (textiles, furniture
and electronics) by the end of the 2035/36 financial year.

Safe Work Environment

Decent Working Hours

Child Free Production

Freely Chosen Employment

Living Wages

The Otto Group aims for the majority of key stakeholders to
participate in capacity development by the end of the
2035/36 financial year.

Forecast Report

Macroeconomic and Sector-specific
Development

The following assessments of macroeconomic develop-
ment, sector development, and the Otto Group’s develop-
ment during the forecasting period are subject to a high
degree of uncertainty. Economic policy actions and
announcements by the new US administration along
with their macroeconomic consequences are the major
risk factors in the forecasting period, the course of
which is unpredictable and therefore difficult to fore-
cast. This unpredictableness poses a great challenge
to accurately assessing the impact on the sales and
procurement markets relevant to the Otto Group. In
addition, it cannot be ruled out that further significant
geopolitical developments not taken into account in
this report may occur between the preparation and
publication of the Group Management Report.

Nevertheless, the usual expert reports and association
assessments, such as the spring economic reports by
the Kiel Institute for the World Economy - referred to
hereinafter as IfW Kiel - are generally referenced for
assessing macroeconomic trends at the global level
and in Germany, the euro area, and the USA, and for
forecasting developments within the sector. According
to these estimates by the Kiel Institute dated
13 March 2025%°, the new US administration in place

% Kiel Institute for the World Economy: “More unrest, higher risks” dated
13 March 2025
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inJanuary 2025 will adopt a much more protectionist
trade policy, which is likely to have a significant
impact on the global economy in a phase of already
moderate momentum. On the one hand, it could
have a noticeable impact on global international
trade and unbalance existing value chains while, on
the other, significantly destabilizing the US economy.
One of the first measures announced in February 2025
was tariffs on imports from Canada, Mexico and China,
to which the governments concerned responded with
countermeasures. Trade tensions intensified when fur-
ther customs measures were announced against the
European Union and China in April 2025. As a result,
growing economic fears in the USA led to a significant
devaluation of the US dollar and uncertainty on the
capital market. It is to be expected that countries not
yet affected will also be confronted with significant
additional tariffs in the near future.

Against this backdrop, the pace of overall economic
expansion in the USA could slow significantly, among
other things. Although disposable incomes have risen
noticeably, private consumption was subdued at the
start of 2025, which was reflected in declining retail
sales in January. To make matters worse, the additional
tariffs are likely to generate new inflationary pressure in
the forecasting period. By contrast, leading indicators
in the euro area point to a slight recovery in the overall
economic situation. Monetary policy is increasingly
losing its restrictive effect and is likely to move closer
to a neutral stance. At the same time, a greater impact

is expected from fiscal policy, in particular due to the
significant increase in military spending in many coun-
tries as a result of the changed geopolitical situation.
International trade is likely to weaken, although the
extent of this development will largely depend on the

intensity of trade policy decisions.

Overall economic development in Germany is unlikely
to do more than stagnate in the forecasting period
after an anticipated end to its downward trend.?® A
noticeable economic upturn is unlikely to materialize as
structural problems continue to weigh on the economy
and are unlikely to ease in the short term. Economic
stimulus is likely to come from the expansive fiscal policy:
The reform of the financial constitution adopted in the
spring will enable higher defense spending beyond the
debt ceiling and will provide a credit-financed special
fund of EUR 500 billion for infrastructure over ten years.
In contrast, geopolitical disputes are likely to create
economic headwinds. Tariff increases on German imports
and ongoing economic policy uncertainties could not
only weigh on the export business but also dampen
overall economic momentum. Falling energy prices are
helping to ease the pressure on consumer prices, which
are likely to rise at a slightly lower level than last year,
although inflation remains high at the core. Following a
significant increase in real disposable income in 2024
due to the weaker inflation trend and payment of infla-
tion compensation premiums, this will only increase by
a moderate amount in the forecasting period. Private
consumption was already subdued at the start of 2025,

? Kiel Institute for the World Economy: “Financial policy turns up the heat”
dated 12 March 2025

while the uncertain geopolitical environment had an
additional negative impact on the consumer climate.
Overall, real household consumer spending is expected
to increase slightly by 0.3% over the forecasting period
(2024: 0.3%), with nominal growth of 1.8% (2024: 2.7%).

The expected change in the real gross domestic product
for the forecasting period based on the Kiel Institute

forecast published on 13 March 2025 is as follows:

(Forecast) year-on-year change in

real GDP 2025 2024

in% in%
World 31 3.2
Germany 0.0 -0.2
Euro area 10 0.8
USA 20 2.8

The development of the German retail sector will
continue to be characterized by a weak economic
environment in 2025. Although the upward pressure
on prices for consumer goods will continue to ease
with a forecast increase in the inflation rate of 2.0%
(2024: 2.2%), the persistently high level of economic
policy uncertainty is likely to have a negative impact
on consumer behavior. Retail sales in January and
February 2025 reflect this sentiment in their moderate
upward movement. In contrast, the market research
company Euromonitor International expects a strong
upward trend in the German online and mail-order sales
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sector in its forecast published in March 2025.?” The
gross merchandise value (GMV) in the e-commerce
sector is expected to rise to around EUR 102.5 billion in
2025 (2024: EUR 974 billion), which would correspond
to significant growth of around 5.3% (2024: 2.1%). In a
publication by the German E-Commerce and Distance
Selling Trade Association (Bundesverband E-Commerce
und Versandhandel [bevh]) in April 20252, it states that
the recovery in online retail is consolidating with pos-
itive growth rates and that e-commerce has grown
faster than consumer price increases for the first
time since mid-2022. Taking into account the overall
economic and geopolitical framework conditions,
the Otto Group believes that growth in German
e-commerce is likely to be somewhat less dynamic
than forecast.

According to the medium-term forecast published by
the Federal Office for Goods Transport (Bundesamt fiir
Giiterverkehr [BAG]),* a weak recovery is also expected
for the German transport and logistics sector in 2025,
although this forecast does not yet take into account
the trade policy decisions made by the US adminis-
tration. Accordingly, total goods transport in Germany
will increase slightly by 0.4% in the forecasting period
(2024: -0.7%).

*” Euromonitor International: Database retrieval on 28 March 2025

2 Press release by the German E-Commerce and Distance Selling Trade
Association (bevh), 3 April 2025

2? Federal Office for Goods Transport (BAG): “Rolling Mid-Term Forecast for
Goods and Passenger Traffic - Mid-term Forecast for Summer 2024”

Distribution by German parcel service providers rep-
resents a key element of the German transport and
logistics sector. The development of these operations is
directly related to revenue growth in the online and
mail-order sales sector in Germany. The forecast pub-
lished by the market research company Euromonitor
International in March 2025% assumes a dynamic
growth trend and renewed increases in revenue in the
forecasting period after a volatile development in
recent years, meaning that parcel service providers will
once again face the challenge of managing rising ship-
ment volumes in the forecasting period.

It is anticipated that the cost levels in the German trans-
port and logistics sector will continue to exhibit an
upward trajectory. While energy prices are likely to fall
by around 3% in the forecasting period, the increase in
other price components such as CO, pricing will lead to
an increase in fuel prices. With regard to the shortage of
drivers in distribution logistics, it is expected that, in
spite of the increase in unemployment in the forecast-
ing period, it will continue to be difficult to recruit staff
and that wage costs will increase in response to the
high inflation of recent years. It is likely that the signifi-
cant rise in factor prices will cause an increase in ship-
ping costs and that these effects will therefore be
passed on to private and corporate customers.

% Euromonitor International: Database retrieval on 28 March 2025

According to the Otto Group, the market for traditional
receivables management and portfolio transactions
with non-performing loans (NPL) will remain attractive
in the long term for the area of financial services. In the
core market of Europe, there are still significant port-
folios of non-performing loans, which could potentially
be sold. Investment activity in the area of non-perform-
ing loans has increased again following recent declines
due to crises. The restrictive interest rate and monetary
policies that challenged the market with unfavorable
financing conditions from mid-2022 to 2024 in response
to strong inflationary pressures are expected to con-
tinue to ease over the forecasting period. However, due
to recent refinancing or the use of variable financing
instruments based on reference interest rates such as
Euribor, a large number of market participants are likely
to continue to face significant financing costs if the
high level of interest rates only eases slowly.

The real estate sector, which is sensitive to interest rates,
will likely stabilize gradually during the forecasting
period without developing any strong momentum. It
is distinctly possible that the slowing of monetary
policy tightening will lead to an increase in the volume
of residential construction loans, with construction
investments starting to climb again. At the same time,
reduced risk tolerance and increased credit risk are
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making it more difficult for credit volumes to recover
quickly. Overall, there is an upward trend in transaction
volumes on the real estate market. In addition, there is
still significant excess demand, particularly in urban
centers. Construction activity is not sufficient to close
the supply gap, which is likely to further exacerbate the
imbalance. As a result, real estate prices are expected
to remain constant or rise in the medium term.

Development of the Otto Group

The overall economic conditions and the sector-specific
conditions affect the Otto Group's business activities
and consequently also the net assets, financial position
and financial performance of the Group. The assess-
ments concerning the Otto Group's development over
the forecasting period factor in the above forecasts
and their assumptions. The import tariffs announced by
the US administration in April 2025 are also likely to
pose an increased risk to global economic development
and result in possible distortions in global trade rela-
tions. Depending on further developments, this could
have a relevant impact on the Otto Group in the fore-
casting period.

The 2024/25 financial year continued to be very chal-
lenging for relevant market participants, including the
Otto Group, due to global events and continued con-
sumer restraint in important sales markets. Inthe 2025/26

forecast year, the macroeconomic and sector-specific
environment is likely to remain challenging overall.
Against this backdrop, the Otto Group also expects
negative effects on the general consumer behavior of
its customers in the relevant sales markets in the fore-
cast year, especially in its main market of Germany, but
also in the USA.

Taking into account the still challenging market and
competitive environment, subdued consumer senti-
ment in relevant sales markets, and the still unpredict-
able and volatile trade policy and geopolitical risks, the
Otto Group is aiming to make further progress overall
in the 2025/26 forecast year. The Group's revenue is
expected to remain stable on a comparable basis
despite the subdued consumer sentiment. Profitability
as measured by EBIT is anticipated to go up signifi-
cantly once again. The debt service ratio in the forecast
year is likely to remain at the previous year’s level due to
the continued focus on profitability and liquidity com-
bined with a slight increase in net financial debt. This
will create the basis for the Group to return to a sustain-
ably profitable growth path in subsequent financial
years and to benefit from the expected normalization
of the market environment. In addition, the debt service
ratio is to be further reduced in the medium term. The
Otto Group is continuing to pursue a holistic approach
with the aim of acting innovatively, exploiting market
opportunities and sustainably expanding and consoli-

dating existing business areas both nationally and inter-
nationally. The assumption of responsibility for employees,
partners, people and nature remains a firm guiding
principle for the Group’s actions.

The Otto Group is entering the new 2025/26 financial
year with a market and competitive environment that
remains challenging. Nevertheless, the Group has man-
aged to position itself flexibly against the backdrop of
the volatile market environment of recent financial
years. Looking ahead, the Group sees opportunities for
the forecast year and the following financial years. The
long-term trend toward online retail will continue and,
in the view of the Otto Group, remain unbroken, partic-
ularly due to the comparatively low level of technological
uncertainty compared to other sectors of the economy.
In addition, the Group's diversification with regard to
different sales markets and business models is a key
strength that pays off, particularly in a volatile market
environment. The broad positioning from e-commerce
to retail-related services in the areas of logistics and
financial services requires a high degree of stability on
the one hand and enables diverse and distinct opportu-
nities for innovation and scaling on the other. In particular,
new approaches in the use of artificial intelligence (Al) in
the area of online retail and the associated retail-
related services offer relevant opportunities for customers
and different processes within of the Group. Today, the
Otto Group is already using pioneering technologies
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and has successfully implemented them in various pro-
cesses. In addition to the structural completion of two
state-of-the-art logistics centers in the 2024/25 financial
year, work has begun on integrating Al-controlled
robots into the Group's logistics infrastructure as part of
strategic partnerships, for example.

Moreover, the Otto Group has a very strong customer
base with continuous growth and stable order fre-
quency in retail-related segments. The average order
value is expected to rise as soon as demand for high-
priced goods such as furniture and household appli-
ances returns to normal. In addition to the general
trends in the e-commerce sector, the positive effects of
innovations and Al and a strong and growing customer
base, the Otto Group will benefit in the forecast year
and subsequent financial years in particular from effi-
ciency and restructuring programs that have already
been implemented and are still ongoing at various
Group companies. Due to the sustained improvement in
cost structures and leaner processes, these companies
also offer opportunities for increased utilization and
leveraging of synergies within the Group.

The following statements for the Group and the indi-
vidual segments are essentially predicated on a
business performance in the forecast year that
remains unaffected by exchange rate changes. In
addition, significant effects from already known or
highly probable changes to the scope of consolida-
tion are taken into account in all forecast disclosures

and revenue forecasts for the Group, and the

affected segments are derived on a comparable
basis. In the forecast year, there are two main effects
from changes in the scope of consolidation: For one
thing, the acquisition of the shares in About You by
Zalando SE is expected to be completed, although
still subject to the usual approvals under merger
control legislation. The expected sale of shares will
lead to a corresponding deconsolidation of About
You in the forecast year, meaning that About You's

revenue will no longer be included in the consoli-
dated financial statements from this time forward.
For another, the Otto Group assumes with a high
degree of probability that it will fully consolidate the
parcel distribution company included in the consoli-
dated financial statements using the equity method
due to the complete acquisition of the currently out-
standing shares in Hermes Germany GmbH at the
end of the forecast year.

Forecast for the

2024/25 financial year 2025/26 financial year

Revenue” Group EUR 14.9 billion  Stable (at previous year’s level)
Platforms segment EUR 6.5 billion Medium increase
Brand Concepts segment EUR 5.1 billion Slight reduction
Retailers segment EUR 1.7 billion  Stable (at previous year's level)

Services segment

EUR 0.4 billion

Medium increase

Financial Services segment

EUR 1.1 billion

Stable (at previous year's level)

Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) Group

Mid-three-digit

EUR 276 million million euro amount

Debt service ratio Group

1.3years Stable (at previous year's level)

*On comparable basis

The revenue growth forecast was derived from the
expected developments in the segments as follows:

In the Platforms segment, the dynamic and profitable
further development of the OTTO e-commerce plat-
form is the strategic focus in the forecast year. In addi-
tion to the sustainable management of the interplay
between the traditional trading business, the market-

place business and related services, this is also based on
the further technological development of the platform
business model. This is being continuously pursued in
areas such as Al, and corresponding investments are
being made in the IT infrastructure and in payment pro-
cessing functions and future technologies. Another aim is
to further scale the marketplace business by expanding
the activities of existing marketplace partners and



S,

Group Management Report

Otto Group
2024/25 Annual Report

137

further integrating new marketplace partners. The
ongoing expansion of the product ranges and product
groups both in the traditional retail business and on the
marketplace will expand the product portfolio on otto.de
in the forecasting period and give customers an even
greater selection. This is also intended to increase the
proportion of sustainable products, particularly in the
furniture and furnishing accessories ranges. The sale of
B2B services offered by OTTO Advertising, particularly
in the area of self-developed advertising services for
suppliers, marketplace partners and media agencies,
has firmly established itself as the third revenue pillar of
the e-commerce platform and is also forecast to
expand further. Against this backdrop, the e-commerce
platform OTTO expects very strong revenue momen-
tum overall in the marketplace business and, as a pro-
vider of advertising services, in the Advertising Services
segment in the forecast year. Significant revenue
growth is also forecast in the traditional retail business.
The expected deconsolidation of About You will have a
relevant impact on revenue growth in the Platforms
segment in the forecast year. In order to derive the
revenue forecast for the Platforms segment, it was
assumed that About You will be included in the reported
revenue growth on a pro rata basis during the 2025/26
financial year and that the expected share sale can be
completed in summer 2025. To derive the revenue fore-
cast on a comparable basis, the same monthly basis in
About You's external revenue is therefore accounted for

in the 2024/25 financial year as in the 2025/26 finan-
cial year. Any intragroup revenue of Group companies in
the Platforms segment with About You is reclassified as
external revenue in the adjustment period.

The Witt Group, the bonprix Group and the Crate and
Barrel Group in the Brand Concepts segment are fore-
casting heterogeneous business performance in terms
of revenue inthe 2025/26 financial year. The Witt Group
expects a slight increase in revenue across all brands
and sales markets. This results from the continuation
of the multichannel strategy, which focuses on the
further expansion of online stores and a correspond-
ing increase in the share of e-commerce. As part of
this, relevant investments will be made in the IT infra-
structure in the forecast year, among other things. In
addition, the Witt Group will continue the integration of
the plus-size brand Sheego in the forecast year in order
to bundle business activities further in the Brand Concepts
segment. The bonprix Group will continue the further
development of the bonprix brand in Europe and the
realignment of the fashion ranges in the forecast year,
will take extensive measures to acquire new customers
and promote sales and will make investments in the
webshop. Nevertheless, a decline in revenue is assumed
for the European activities due to the still challenging
market and competitive environment. The further scaling
back of the loss-making business operations in the USA
with the Venus brand is also likely to again have a

negative impact on the bonprix Group’s revenue in the
2025/26 financial year, albeit to a lesser extent than in
the previous year. For the Crate and Barrel Group, which
operates in the USA and Canada, sales revenue in the
forecast year is expected to be approximately on a par
with the previous year, subject to any escalation in trade
disputes. The focus on the core product categories and
the strategic investments to increase customer satis-
faction in the supply chain, IT infrastructure, online
stores and brick-and-mortar locations will be systemat-
ically continued. The Crate and Barrel Group generally
sees relevant opportunities for revenue growth with its
multi-channel growth strategy in both online retail and
brick-and-mortar retail through the planned expansion
of the existing store network and differentiation of ser-
vice offerings. The trade disputes may nevertheless
have a negative impact on the Crate and Barrel Group's
revenue growth, although it is difficult to estimate the
specific impact in terms of revenue at present due to

the high level of uncertainty.

In the Retailers segment, the various retail concepts are
also forecasting heterogeneous revenue growth in the
2025/26 financial year, which should lead to a stabilization
of the segment’s revenue in the forecast year. Relevant
revenue growth is expected for the Limango Group with
its sales markets in Germany, Austria, the Netherlands
and Poland. The development of the Retailers segment
in the forecast year will also be characterized by the
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planned bundling of the retail activities of the Baur Group,
the Otto Austria Group and the Dutch Otto BV. in the
four European markets of Germany, Austria, Switzer-
land and the Netherlands. Thanks to more efficient pro-
cesses and workflows across national borders, the new
association should be able to tap back into revenue
growth potential in subsequent financial years. Never-
theless, a drop in revenue is expected for these retail
activities in the forecast year.

In the Services segment, the reported external revenue
included in the Otto Group’s consolidated income
statement only reflects the business performance in
this segment to a limited extent, as the Hermes Ful-
filment Group, for one, currently provides warehousing
and returns processing services almost exclusively for
Otto Group companies, and these activities are not
reported in the consolidated revenue of the Otto Group.
For another, revenue from the parcel distribution activi-
ties of Hermes Germany GmbH is not included in the
Otto Group's consolidated financial statements because
it is accounted for using the equity method. In the
2024/25 financial year, the Hermes Fulfilment Group
successfully completed both the further development
and expansion of its logistics site in Altenkunstadt,
Bavaria, and the extensive construction of a logistics
site in llowa, Poland, which is now gradually ramping
up operations. The total investment volume for both
logistics projects amounted to around EUR 500 million
in the past financial years. This has laid the relevant
foundations for further shortening delivery times and

significantly improving service for customers in the
forecast year and subsequent financial years. The
Hermes Fulfilment Group will also make relevant invest-
ments in logistics infrastructure in the forecast year,
although they will be below the very high level of the
two previous financial years. In addition to a considerable
expansion of the robotics activities already started in
the 2023/24 financial year, there are also plans to
replace the technical infrastructure at the fulfillment
site in Haldensleben. The external revenue performance
of the Hermes Fulfilment Group relevant to the segment
forecast will be influenced by two key factors in the
2025/26 financial year: Firstly, as a result of the expected
deconsolidation of About You, the revenue from the
fulfillment services provided for About You, which is
currently reported as intragroup revenue, will become
external revenue as of the date of deconsolidation. The
same monthly basis of About You's Group affiliation is
assumed inthe 2024/25 financial yearasinthe 2025/26
financial year, but the intragroup revenue generated
with About You in the adjustment period will be reclas-
sified as external revenue. Secondly, the Hermes Fulfil-
ment Group will continue to expand its F2X business in
Germany in the forecast year. As an omnichannel fulfill-
ment service, this aims to provide scalable solutions for
medium-sized and large e-commerce brands and to
effectively support process design along the entire
value chain. Additional external customers are expected
to be connected in the 2025/26 financial year. Overall,
the Hermes Fulfilment Group expects a very significant
increase in external revenue on a comparable basis in

the forecast year. Inthe 2024/25 financial year, HERMES
Einrichtungs Service GmbH & Co. KG, which operates in
2-man handling, was able to record a clearly positive
development with external customers, among other
things by gaining new major customers in addition to
increased internal Group shipment volumes. This posi-
tive trend is expected to continue in the forecast year,
meaning that the external sales revenue relevant to the
segment’s revenue forecast should also increase notice-
ably. SupplyX GmbH is also expecting very significant
revenue growth, both with Group companies and
with external customers. The new Group company
established at the end of the 2023/24 financial year
by the Supply Chain Solutions operation acquired
from Hermes Germany GmbH will continuously expand
the services offered in the air and sea freight business in
the forecast year and advance its positioning in the
market. To this end, SupplyX GmbH has founded new
Group companies in the Netherlands and Vietnam and
acquired a new Group company in Poland, among other
things. For one thing, the development of BFS Baur Fulfill-
ment Solutions GmbH will have a significant offsetting
effect on the forecast revenue growth in the Services
segment. Due to the loss of relevant external customers,
the logistics division at the Weismain site was closed,
meaning that the remaining customer service activities
will be reflected to a small extent in external revenue in

the forecast year.

For another, the Otto Group assumes with a high degree
of probability that it will fully consolidate the parcel
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distribution company currently included in the consoli-
dated financial statements using the equity method
due to the complete acquisition of the outstanding
shares in Hermes Germany GmbH at the end of the
forecast year. However, this will have no impact on the
derivation of the revenue forecast for the 2025/26
financial year due to the assumed date at the end of
the financial year.

In the Financial Services segment, the EOS Group wiill
maintain or expand its positioning in all established
markets and relevant business areas in the forecast
year and subsequent financial years. The focus will con-
tinue to be on the acquisition of receivables and prop-
erty portfolios. The EOS Group sees clear opportunities
in these areas and will position itself even more strongly
as a globally networked player. Opportunities are also
arising from the ongoing market consolidation in the
area of receivables management. Through increased
cooperation with co-investors, the EOS Group will gain
further investment opportunities in the market for
investing in unsecured and secured receivables pack-
ages and properties over the short and medium term.
Under good framework conditions, the volume of port-
folio investments is expected to be significantly higher
in the forecast financial year than in the 2024/25 finan-
cialyear. In particular, efforts are being made to expand
portfolio investments for Germany and the relevant
Western European markets, taking into account the
regulatory and legal framework conditions in the
respective markets. In terms of revenue, the EOS Group’s
revenue is forecast to stabilize at the previous year’s
level in the 2025/26 financial year.

The profitability (EBIT) of the Otto Group should be
increased again significantly in the forecast year 2025/26.
It was derived from the expected developments in the
segments as follows:

In the Platforms segment, the e-commerce platform
OTTO is will be focusing on the considerably higher
realization of the earnings potential of the platform
business model in the forecast year and expects a
significant increase in the earnings contribution. In
addition to higher marketplace commissions from the
further scaling of the marketplace business, rising sales
in the traditional trading business and further expansion
of the Advertising Services segment, cost-cutting pro-
grams that have already been implemented will have
a corresponding impact on the planned increase in
profitability. Relevant positive EBIT effects in the Plat-
forms segment will also result from the expected sale of
shares in About You and the associated deconsolidation
of About You. This will result in a relevant EBIT effect in
the forecast year, which is due in particular to the per-
manent elimination of the high scheduled depreciations
of customer lists and trademarks resulting from the pur-
chase price allocation in the course of the first-time
consolidation of About You in the 2021/22 financial
yedr. A significant increase in EBIT contributions is
expected for the Platforms segment in the forecast
year and, viewed as a whole, in the subsequent financial
years as well.

The Crate and Barrel Group in the Brand Concepts
segment is forecasting a high contribution to earnings,
which will result from further optimizations in the supply

chain and the implementation of new technologies in
addition to a good gross profit trend. The trade policy
measures announced by the US administration and the
currently unforeseeable trade policy consequences
may also have a significant impact on the procurement
markets, merchandise management and the product
groups of the Crate and Barrel Group and may also
adversely affect the overall economic development in
the USA. The operational and financial effects and any
operational countermeasures are being reviewed on an
ongoing basis. The consequences of the unpredictable
and volatile trade policy measures may have a signifi-
cant impact on earnings in the forecast year. At the
Witt Group, the forecast slight revenue growth and
more favorable procurement prices will contribute to
the expected very positive earnings performance,
whereas the integration of the plus-size brand Sheego,
which will take place in the forecast year, and the IT
transformation will have a one-off negative impact
on the Witt Group's earnings in the forecast year. The
bonprix Group’s earnings performance in the 2024/25
financial year was negatively impacted to a significant
extent by the activities in the USA and by restructuring-
related effects in Germany. These effects will largely be
eliminated in the forecast year, although targeted
measures to acquire new customers and promote
sales in the European markets will again have a nega-
tive impact on earnings in the forecast year.

Hermes Germany GmbH in the Services segment plans
to implement a comprehensive restructuring program
announced in April 2025 to achieve significant improve-
ments in earnings in the medium term, including through
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cost reductions along with revenue growth and pricing
measures. However, the Services segment’s earnings will
be negatively impacted in the forecast year to a signifi-
cant extent by the pro rata inclusion of the high losses of
Hermes Germany GmbH, which is included in the con-
solidated financial statements using the equity method.
The Financial Services segment, which is dominated by
the EOS Group, continues to forecast excellent profit-
ability. In addition to its strong operating profitability,
the EOS Group will further optimize existing processes
and cost structures and leverage synergies through the
use of uniform IT systems.

Overall, the efficiency and restructuring programs
implemented inthe 2024/25 financial year and planned
for the forecast year will further improve the cost struc-
ture at various Group companies in all segments and
lead to leaner processes and greater use and exploitation
of synergies within the Group.

With the stable revenue expected on a comparable
basis and the considerable increase in profitability in
the forecast year once again, the Otto Group is laying
the foundations to return to a sustainably profitable
growth path forthe Group in subsequent financial years
and to benefit from the expected medium-term nor-
malization of the market environment, increased cost
efficiency and positive economies of scale, among
other things.

A slight increase in reported net financial debt is
expected in the forecast year. While the purchase price
achieved as part of the expected share sale of About
You will have a significant positive effect on the Group’s
net financial debt, the technical effects from the repay-
ment of a subordinated bond with a nominal volume of
EUR 248 million reported in Group equity and from the
expected full consolidation of Hermes Germany GmbH
at the end of the forecast year will have the opposite
effect. The Otto Group is therefore forecasting a side-
ways movement in the debt service ratio for the
2025/26 financial year due to the significant increase in
profitability with a simultaneous slight increase in net
financial debt.

Statement by the Executive Board on
the Otto Group’s future performance

Taking into account the still challenging market and
competitive environment, subdued consumer sentiment
in relevant sales markets, and the still unpredictable
and volatile trade policy and geopolitical risks, the
Otto Group is aiming to make further progress overall
in the 2025/26 forecast year. The Group's sales revenue
should remain stable on a comparable basis, profitability
(EBIT) should increase significantly. The debt service
ratio is likely to remain at the previous year’s level.

This will create the basis for the Group to return to a
profitable growth path in subsequent financial years
and benefit from the expected normalization of the
market environment in the medium term while succes-
sively improving profitability further and increasing
economic performance.

Maintaining financial stability and good credit metrics
will also remain a cornerstone of the Group’s develop-
ment going forward.

Hamburg, 13 May 2025

The Executive Board of
Otto Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH
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Consolidated Income Statement

1 March 2024 to 28 February 2025

Note 2024/25 2023/24
No] EUR million EUR million

Revenue and income from customer financing [6] 14,888 14,995
Other operating income [7] 483 367
Change in inventories and other internal costs capitalized 76 92
Purchased goods and services [8] -7,598 -7,882
Personnel expenses [9] -2,617 -2,392
Other operating expenses [10] -4,320 -4,351
Income (loss) from equity investments -96 -88
Income from associated companies and joint ventures -96 -88
Income from other equity investments 0 0
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) 916 741
Depreciation and amortization -493 -530
Impairment losses [11] -147 -203
Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) 276 8
Interest and similarincome [12] 41 25
Interest and similar expenses [12] -190 -189
Other net financial income (expense) [12] 184 -197
Earnings before tax (EBT) 311 -353
Income tax [13] -146 -59
Profit/loss for the year 165 -412
Profit/loss attributable to shareholders of Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA 101 -261
Profit/loss attributable to non-controlling interests 53 -163
Profit/loss attributable to publicly-listed equity and participation certificates 11 12
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

1 March 2024 to 28 February 2025

2024/25 2023/24
EUR million EUR million
Profit/loss for the year 165 -412
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Gains and losses arising from translation of financial statements in foreign currencies 90 23
Gains and losses arising from changes in fair values of derivatives held as cash flow hedges after tax 26 -2
Gains and losses in other comprehensive income 23 -17
Gains and losses reclassified to profit or loss 3 15
Share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method after tax 0 2
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Gains and losses arising from changes in other financial assets after tax -24 -18
Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability after tax -17 -57
Share of other com_pr_eht_e_nsive income of_os;ociotes and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method after tax 43 15
(net defined benefit liability, other financial investments)
Other comprehensive income for the year 118 -67
Total comprehensive income for the year 283 -479
Total comprehensive income attributable to shareholders of Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA 224 -352
Total comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests 48 -139
Total comprehensive income attributable to publicly-listed equity and participation certificates 11 12
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

as of 28 February 2025

Note 2802.2025 2902.2024

[NoJ] EUR million EUR million
Intangible assets [14] 1,506 2,354
Property, plant and equipment [15] 1,590 1,599
Right-of-use assets [16] 803 909
Investments in associated companies and joint ventures [17] 486 460
Other financial investments [17] 279 287
Trade receivables [19] 132 137
Receivables from financial services® [19] 1,858 1,773
Receivables from related parties [20] 16 40
Other assets* [21] 115 126
Non-current assets 6,785 7,685
Deferred tax [13] 228 181
Inventories [18] 1,778 2,346
Trade receivables [19] 767 817
Receivables from financial services™ [19] 806 751
Receivables from related parties [20] 38 74
Income tax receivables 32 80
Other assets™ [21] 704 1,199
Securities 0 1
Cash and cash equivalents 562 691
Assets held for sale [5c] 1,752 56
Current assets 6,439 6,015
Total assets 13,452 13,881

* Previous year adjusted in the amount of EUR 99 million (see Notes 19 and 21).
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Note 2802.2025 2902.2024
[NoJ] EUR million EUR million

Equity attributable to shareholders of Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA 3,551 3,352
Capital provided by the limited partners in Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA 1,180 1,180
Consolidated retained earnings 2,508 2411
Net cost in excess of net assets acquired in step acquisitions and partial disposals -87 -77
Accumulated other comprehensive income -50 -162
Non-controlling interests 1,074 1,109
Publicly-listed equity and participation certificates 284 284
Equity [22] 4,909 4,745
Profit and loss participation rights [23] 20 23
Provisions for pensions and similar obligations [24] 1178 1,156
Other provisions [25] 97 75
Bonds and other notes payable [26] 381 381
Bank liabilities [26] 834 853
Other financing liabilities [27] 40 18
Trade payables [28] 5 3
Lease liabilities [38] 766 804
Other liabilities [30] 232 337
Non-current provisions and liabilities 3,653 3,650
Deferred tax [13] 83 154
Profit and loss participation rights [23] 2 2
Other provisions [25] 179 89
Bonds and other notes payable [26] 7 333
Bank liabilities [26] 391 714
Other financing liabilities [27] 59 24
Trade payables [28] 1,851 2,254
Liabilities to related parties [29] 47 162
Income tax liabilities 72 96
Lease liabilities [38] 178 238
Other liabilities [30] 1,379 1,370
Liabilities classified as held for sale [5c] 742 50
Current provisions and liabilities 4,907 5,332
Total equity and liabilities 13,452 13,881
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

1 March 2024 to 28 February 2025

2024/25 2023/24
EUR million EUR million
Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) 276 8
Depr(_eciation, amortization and impairment losses/reversal of impairment losses on intangible assets, property, plant and equipment 484 732
and right-of-use assets
Profits (-)/losses (+) from associated companies and joint ventures 96 88
Dividends received from associated companies and joint ventures 18 21
Increase (+)/decrease (-) in allowances on loans, receivables and inventories 120 89
Gains (-)/losses (+) on disposals of items in intangible assets and property, plant and equipment -2 -10
Pension payments exceeding (-)/less than (+) pension expense -28 -30
Gross cash flow from operating activities 964 898
Decrease (+)/increase (-) in working capital -35 351
Decrease (+)/increase (=) in inventories (gross) 122 364
Decrease (+)/increase (-) in trade receivables (gross) -85 -63
Decrease (+)/increase (-) in receivables from financial services (gross) -159 -82
Increase (+)/decrease (-) in provisions 96 -8
Increase (+)/decrease () in trade payables -2 27
Increase (+)/decrease (-) in receivables due from related parties/ in payables due to related parties -14 10
Changes in other assets/liabilities 7 103
Income tax paid -146 -133
Interest received 29 12
Cash inflows/outflows from non-current financial assets and securities -2 2
Cash flow from operating activities 810 1,130
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2024/25 2023/24

EUR million EUR million
Cash flow from operating activities 810 1,130
Capital expenditures on purchases of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment -271 -418
Payments for acquisition of subsidiaries 0 -62
Capital expenditures on purchases of other financial investments -130 -97
Proceeds from disposals of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 23 22
Proceeds from disposals of consolidated subsidiaries 4 5
Proceeds from disposals of other financial investments 818 99
Cash flow from investing activities 444 -451
Free cash flow 1,254 679
Dividends paid -265 -63
Interest paid and bank charges -259 -255
Payments for reductions in equity/proceeds from additions to equity 151 29
Proceeds/payments (net) for issues and repurchases of profit and loss participation rights -3 -2
Payments of principal on lease liabilities -212 -216
Proceeds from assumption of other financial liabilities 392 290
Repayments of other financial liabilities -1,061 -272
Cash flow from financing activities -1,257 -489
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 692 518
Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents -3 190
Changes in cash and cash equivalents due to foreign exchange rates 13 -1
Reclassification with regard to disposal groups -140 -15
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period (see Note 33) 562 692
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Statement of Changes in Consolidated Equity

Subscribed capital of
Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA

Consolidated
retained earnings™*

Net cost in excess of net
assets acquired in

step acquisitions and
partial disposals

Gains and losses arising
from translation of
financial statements in
foreign currencies

Gains and losses arising
from changes in fair
values of derivatives held
as cash flow hedges

Remeasurements of
the net defined liability

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
1 March 2024 1,180 2411 =77 -89 -4 -408
Total comprehensive income 0 101 0 90 27 -17
Loss/profit for the year 0 101 0 0 0 0
Other comprehensive income for the year 0 0 0 90 27 -17
Result from hedging transactions that have been reclassified to inventories 0 0 0 0 -11 0
Capital increase 0 0 0 0 0 0
Changes in entities consolidated 0 0 0 0 0 0
Step acquisitions/partial disposals 0 0 -10 0 0 0
Dividends paid 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other changes recognized directly in equity 0 -4 0 0 0 0
Group equity as of 28 February 2025 1,180 2,508 -87 1 12 -425
1 March 2023* 1,000 2,338 -185 -65 -4 -292
Total comprehensive income 0 -261 0 23 -1 -57
Profit for the year 0 -261 0 0 0 0
Other comprehensive income for the year 0 0 0 23 -1 -57
Result from hedging transactions that have been reclassified to inventories 0 0 0 0 1 0
Capital increase® 180 307 115 -47 0 -59
Changes in entities consolidated 0 -1 1 0 0 0
Step acquisitions 0 -8 0 0
Dividends paid 0 0 0 0 0 0
Other changes recognized directly in equity 0 28 0 0 0 0
Group equity as of 29 February 2024 1,180 2,411 -77 -89 -4 -408
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S,

Share of other
comprehensive income
Gains and losses arising  of associates and joint [ Equity attributable to Publicly-listed equity

O sets. ueing the scuiy method | Otto Gk & Co. KGoA fiaritiont- B e s Total

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

1 March 2024 123 216 3,352 1,109 284 4,745
Total comprehensive income -20 43 224 48 11 283
Loss/profit for the year 0 0 101 53 11 165
Other comprehensive income for the year -20 43 123 -5 0 118
Result from hedging transactions that have been reclassified to inventories 0 0 -11 0 0 -11
Capital increase 0 0 0 151 0 151
Changes in entities consolidated 0 0 0 -5 0 -5
Step acquisitions/partial disposals 0 0 -10 10 0 0
Dividends paid 0 0 0 -254 -11 -265
Other changes recognized directly in equity 0 0 -4 15 0 11
Group equity as of 28 February 2025 103 259 3,551 1,074 284 4,909
1 March 2023* 157 193 3,142 1,786 310 5,238
Total comprehensive income -43 -13 -352 -139 12 -479
Profit for the year 0 0 -261 -163 12 -412
Other comprehensive income for the year -43 -13 -91 24 0 -67
Result from hedging transactions that have been reclassified to inventories 0 0 1 0 0 1
Capital increase® 32 36 564 -509 -26 29
Changes in entities consolidated 0 0 0 0
Step acquisitions 0 -8 6 0 -2
Dividends paid 0 0 -51 -12 -63
Other changes recognized directly in equity -23 5 16 0 21
Group equity as of 29 February 2024 123 216 3,352 1,109 284 4,745

*

In the 2023/24 financial year, the shares of minority shareholders in a subsidiary of Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA

(formerly Otto Group GmbH & Co. KGaA or OTTO Aktiengesellschaft fiir Beteiligungen) were contributed to

Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA in exchange for newly issued shares.

** In the 2023/24 financial year, the cumulative other equity was reported separately. Due to the relatively
small amount of only EUR 13 million as of 29 February 2024, the cumulative other equity was offset against

the consolidated retained earnings for both the reporting year and the previous year.
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Accounting Principles and Policies
applied in the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA, Werner-Otto-StraBe 1-7, 22179 Hamburg, Germany (Com-
mercial Register No. HRB 188101, Local Court of Hamburg), and its subsidiaries (here-
inafter: "Otto Group”) are a retailing and services group mainly operating in three
economic regions: Germany, Rest of Europe, and the USA. In August 2024, the former
OTTO Aktiengesellschaft fir Beteiligungen (Commercial Register No. HRB 13422,
Local Court of Hamburg) was converted into a partnership limited by shares (KGaA)
and has since operated under the name Otto Group GmbH & Co. KGaA. For the sake
of readability, only the company name Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA valid at the time these
financial statements were prepared is used below.

With effect from the end of the 2024/25 financial year on 28 February 2025, the
merger of Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA with the wholly owned subsidiary Otto (GmbH & Co
KG) was implemented by way of merger (Section 712a (1) BGB (German Civil Code) in
conjunction with Sections 105 (3) and 161 (2) HGB (German Commercial Code)).

The Group's operations comprise the distribution channels of e-commmerce retail sales,
brick-and-mortar retail and mail-order catalogs, which are combined into the seg-
ments of Platforms, Brand Concepts and Retailers, as well as other services in the
areas of logistics and services, which are combined in the Services segment. The
Group's operations in the Financial Services segment mainly include the purchase of
unsecured and secured receivables portfolios.

Michael Otto Stiftung, Hamburg, with its majority stake, is the parent company and at the
same time the ultimate parent company of Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA. The consolidated
financial statements and the Group Management Report of Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA
are published in the company register. The Executive Board of the general partner of
Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA, Otto Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH (formerly Otto Group

Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH and PANTA 126 Verwaltungsgesellschaft m.b.H.),
approved the consolidated financial statements and the Group Management Report
of Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA for publication on 13 May 2025. For the purposes of better
readability, only the company name Otto Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH valid at the
time these financial statements were prepared is used below.

1 Principles

The consolidated financial statements ending on 28 February 2025 of
Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA were prepared in accordance with the International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) adopted and published by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB), as applied in the European Union, in compliance with the
regulations contained in Directive (EC) No. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament
and Council of 19 July 2002, in conjunction with Section 315e (3) HGB. In addition, the
supplementary commercial law regulations in accordance with Section 315e (3) HGB
in conjunction with Section 315e (1) HGB were taken into account.

The IFRS requirements - as applicable in the European Union - have been met com-
pletely and give a true and fair view of the Otto Group’s financial position and finan-
cial performance.

The consolidated financial statements were prepared in principle on the basis of
the recognition of assets and liabilities at amortized cost. This excludes certain
non-derivative financial instruments, all derivative financial instruments and invest-
ments in equity instruments, which are recognized at their respective fair values on
the balance sheet date.

On the basis of the elective right contained in IAS 1, income and expenses recognized
in profit or loss are reported in the income statement, while reconciliation of the net
result for the period to total comprehensive income through other comprehensive
income is recorded in a separate statement of comprehensive income.
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Selected items in the consolidated income statement and consolidated balance
sheet have been combined to improve clarity. These are explained in detail in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements. The income statement is arranged
according to the nature of expense method.

As a rule, all amounts are stated in full millions of euros (EUR million) and, with a few
exceptions, to one decimal place (Note 39d and Note 41). Commercial rounding may
produce figures totaling EUR O million.

2 Consolidation

a Consolidation principles

The Otto Group's consolidated financial statements include all significant domestic
and foreign subsidiaries over which Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA has complete control, in
accordance with IFRS 10, or joint control together with other parties, in accordance
with IFRS 11 and IAS 28. In accordance with IFRS 10, control is considered to exist
when Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA has decision-making power over the relevant activities,
is exposed to variable returns, and has the ability to use its power to influence the
amount of these returns.

The equity is consolidated at the acquisition date, using the acquisition method. The
acquisition date is the date on which the Otto Group obtains the ability to control the
acquired company’s net assets and its financial and operating activities. Under the
acquisition method, the cost of an acquired equity interest, including any contingent
consideration, is offset against the acquirer’s share of the fair value of the subsidiary’s
acquired assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at the acquisition date. Any
remaining differences are capitalized as goodwill. Negative differences resulting
from equity consolidation at the acquisition date are immediately recognized in the
income statement. The components of non-controlling interests are measured at the
amount representing their percentage of the identifiable net assets of the acquired
company. Costs incurred in acquiring the equity interest are immediately expensed.

Any undisclosed reserves or charges recognized in measuring assets and liabilities at
fair value upon initial consolidation are carried forward, amortized or depreciated, or
reversed in subsequent periods, depending on the development of the related assets
and liabilities. Goodwiill is regularly reviewed for impairment in subsequent periods
and is written down to its recoverable amount if appropriate.

The regulations of IFRS 3 with regard to the complete remeasurement of assets and
liabilities at the time control is acquired are applied to step acquisitions of interests in
companies in which the Otto Group acquires control. The fair value of equity interests
previously held by the Otto Group are included in any measurement of acquisition
costs. Any differences in the previous measurements of these interests are recognized
in the income statement together with amounts contained in accumulated other
comprehensive income.

By contrast, step acquisitions at Group companies in which Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA
already had direct or indirect control before the purchase are accounted for as trans-
actions between shareholders. Any difference between the purchase price and the
share of net assets previously attributable to non-controlling interests resulting from
the purchase is shown under consolidated equity as net cost in excess of net assets
acquired in step acquisitions. For such transactions, no undisclosed reserves and
charges are recognized and no goodwill is reported.

In the event of a loss of control of Group companies in which Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA
continues to retain significant influence, the assets and liabilities of the Group com-
panies and any non-controlling interests in those Group companies will be derecog-
nized. The fair value of the remaining shares also represents the initial recognition
value for subsequent reporting using the equity method.

Expenses and income as well as receivables and payables between consolidated
companies are eliminated. Any material intercompany profits or losses are
eliminated.
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Significant associated companies and joint ventures are recognized in the consoli-
dated financial statements using the equity method. Jointly controlled operations
must be recognized with their share of assets and liabilities as well as their share of
income and expenses. The income(loss) from equity investments reflects the Group's
share of income or loss from associated companies and joint ventures reported using
the equity method. In accordance with IFRS 11, joint control is considered to exist
when the management of a company is contractually agreed and collectively
performed.

Associated companies are entities over whose financial and operating policies
Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA has the ability to exercise significant influence, usually
because it owns between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. In accordance with
IFRS 11, joint arrangements are divided into either joint ventures or joint operations,
depending on the arrangement of the contractually agreed sharing of control. A joint
venture is a legally independent company whereby the joint controlling parties
have rights to the net assets of the company. A joint operation is considered to exist
when the joint controlling parties have direct rights to assets and are directly respon-
sible for liabilities. At present, there are no joint operations within the Otto Group as
the Otto Group has no residual interest in the individual assets and liabilities of the
joint operations of any company.

Disproportionate capital increases in return for contributions at associated compa-
nies that result in a reduction in the Otto Group's ratio of participation in these com-
panies lead to an adjustment of the carrying amount of these investments affecting
profit or loss.

Consolidation methods are applied when determining goodwill and the Group’s share
of the fair value of assets and liabilities. Losses from associated companies and joint
ventures that exceed the carrying amounts of these companies or other non-current
receivables from the financing of such companies are recognized only where there
are legal or actual obligations with respect to the company. Costs incurred in the
acquisition of the equity interest are capitalized as a component of the acquisition
costs.

The financial statements of Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA and all subsidiaries, associated
companies and joint ventures included in the consolidated financial statements have
been prepared using uniform accounting policies.

The reporting date of the financial statements of companies included in the consoli-
dated financial statements is normally the same as that of the Group's parent com-
pany. Group companies with different reporting dates are included based on the
financial statements as of their own year-end dates, provided the date is no more
than three months earlier than the Group’s financial year-end date. Any significant
events that occur between the different financial year-end dates are taken into
account.

b Translation of financial statements in foreign currencies

The consolidated financial statements were prepared in euro. Unless otherwise
specified, all amounts are stated in millions of euros (EUR million).

Assets and liabilities of Group companies whose functional currency is not the euro
are translated using the closing rate as of balance sheet date. Goodwill is also
translated at the closing rate, as are fair value adjustments to assets and liabilities of
Group companies recognized at the time of initial consolidation. ltems in the income
statement are translated using the weighted average exchange rate for the financial
year concerned. Equity components of Group companies are translated at the corre-
sponding historical exchange rate at the time they arise. Exchange differences result-
ing from the translation of foreign currencies are recognized as foreign currency
translation adjustments under accumulated other comprehensive income or non-
controlling interests.
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The exchange rates used for translating relevant foreign currency financial state- 3 Accounting policies

ments into euro were as follows:

a Intangible assets

Average rate Closing rate
Foreign currency for EUR 1 2024/25 2023/24 28022025 2902.2024 Internally generated intangible assets are recognized at cost incurred during the
Bulgarian lev (BGN) 1956 1956 1956 1956 development phase, i.e. after the technical and economic feasibility of the asset'’s
) development was determined and until its completion. Costs capitalized comprise all
Canadian dollar (CAD) 1487 1462 1.502 1472 P P P P
costs directly and indirectly attributable to the development phase.
Swiss franc (CHF) 0953 0963 0939 0953
British pound (GBP) 0.843 0.865 0.826 0857 Acquired intangible assets are measured at cost.
Hong Kong dollar (HKD) 8.376 8479 8.098 8474
Hungarian forint (HUF) 399153 380.850 399500 393480 The Otto Group has no intangible assets with indefinite useful lives. Exceptions are
) derivative goodwill and recognized trademark rights and domains, which have an
Polish zloty (PLN) 4.283 4480 4150 4321
indefinite useful life. These trademark rights and domains mainly exist in the Retailers
i 10094 95.9 92.7 98.884 . - - .
Russian ruble (RUB) 00940 5983 36 8884 segment inthe amount of EUR 11 million (29 February 2024: EUR 15 million). Appropri-
US dollar (USD) 1074 1.083 1.041 1083 gte maintenance investments are made to uphold the lasting recoverability of these

trademark rights and domains. All other internally-generated and acquired intangible
assets, including trademark rights with a limited useful life, are amortized on a
straight-line basis over their useful lives, commencing at the time they are initially
used, as follows:

Useful life in years

Software 2-12

Licences Term of licence agreement
Customer lists 5-8

Brand rights 8-10
Franchises max. 20
Websites max. 1

Gains or losses from the disposal of intangible assets are reported under other oper-
ating income or expenses.
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b Property, plant and equipment

Assets included in property, plant and equipment are capitalized at cost and depre-
ciated applying the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives. Changes in
residual values or useful life during use are taken into account in the measurement of
depreciation. The cost of property, plant and equipment produced internally within
the Group includes all direct costs and overheads directly attributable to their pro-
duction. Subsequent expenses are capitalized if these lead to a change in the purpose
of the use orto anincrease in the value in use of the asset. Gains or losses from dispos-
als of property, plant and equipment are reported under other operating income or
expenses.

Depreciation is based on the following Group-wide useful lives:

Useful life in years

Buildings 15-50

Leasehold improvements Rental term, max. 28

Technical plant and machinery 4-30

Operating and office equipment 2-30

c Impairment losses on intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Impairment losses on intangible assets, including goodwill, and on property, plant and
equipment as well as right-of-use assets are recognized when the carrying amount of
an asset is no longer covered by the estimated proceeds from its disposal, or the dis-
counted net cash flow from its future use. If the recoverable amount cannot be deter-
mined for an individual asset, cash flow is calculated for the next highest identifiable
group of assets for which such cash flows can be determined. The need to adjust the
values of intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and those in development is
always checked immediately whenever certain events or changes in circumstances
suggest that the recoverable amount no longer corresponds to the carrying amount -
but at least once per year. To check for impairment, goodwill is allocated to groups of
cash-generating units that are expected to generate synergy effects as part of busi-
ness mergers. Since goodwill is always monitored by the Otto Group's Executive Board
on the level of the segments, the groups of cash-generating units correspond to the
segments. An exception is the Financial Services segment for which the goodwill is
monitored on the level of the Group companies or groups within the segment.

Goodwill is written down on the basis of annual impairment tests. The discounted net
cash flows from the value in use are used to determine the recoverable amount for
the measurement of impairment losses. Key drivers are the free cash flow margin
(after tax) in the terminal value, the capitalization rate for discounting future cash
flows and the growth factor after the end of the forecast horizon.

Net cash flow from future use is generally determined using the planning of Group
companies, based on which net cash flow trends are inferred for the subsequent
periods based on a growth factor. The Group planning is based on assumptions
related to macroeconomic developments and changes in selling and purchasing
prices in particular. In addition to these current forecasts, developments and experi-
ences from the past are also taken into account. Projected net cash flows are dis-
counted on an after-tax basis using a risk-adjusted, country-specific interest rate.
Other parameters are taken from standardized industry data.
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Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent financial years if the reasons forimpair-
ment no longer apply. Such revaluations may not raise the carrying amount of the
asset above the amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognized for the asset in earlier years. An impairment loss recognized for
goodwill is not reversed.

d Financial instruments

The Otto Group uses non-derivative and derivative financial instruments. These
include cash and cash equivalents, receivables, other financial investments, other
financial assets, financial liabilities as well as forward exchange transactions, cur-

rency swaps, currency options and interest rate swaps.

The Otto Group accounts for financial assets on delivery, i.e. as at the settlement
date. Derivative financial instruments, which are accounted for on the trading date,
are an exception. Initial recognition of a financial asset is based on the asset's classi-
fication under one of the following three IFRS 9 categories: measured at amortized
cost (AC), measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and
measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL). In the Otto Group, a financial asset
is recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs, pro-
vided the financial asset does not fall under the FVPL category. Trade receivables
without significant financing components constitute an exception here and are mea-
sured at the transaction price. In accordance with IFRS 9, financial assets are subse-
quently measured either at amortized cost using the effective interest method or at
fair value through other comprehensive income or through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value taking into consideration premi-
ums, discounts and transaction costs. Subsequent measurement is carried out at
amortized cost. Non-current liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest method. Financial liabilities categorized as FVPL are measured at
fair value both on initial and subsequent recognition.

In accordance with IFRS 9, impairment losses on financial assets are calculated using
an expected credit loss model. This requires discretionary decisions to be taken in
terms of assessing the extent to which expected credit losses are influenced by
changes in economic factors. Trade receivables and contract assets without signifi-
cant financing components are to be measured based on lifetime credit losses at all
times, and this approach should also be applied if the credit risk of a financial asset
as of the closing date has increased significantly since it was first recognized. The
Otto Group uses the simplified procedure for the classification of risk prevention for
trade receivables, whereby the amount of the value allowance since initial recogni-
tion of the trade receivable is measured using the expected credit losses over
the term.

The generalized value allowances for expected credit losses (ECL) for trade receiv-
ables are generally calculated using the dunning level escalation method, whereby
each dunning level is allocated to an explicit probability of default. This allocation is
possible as receivables pass through a number of clearly defined credit management
process steps before they are handed over to a collection agency. Based on empirical
observation, only receivables that are overdue by at least 90 days generally need to
be handed over to a collection agency. However, not all receivables in arrears for
90 days will necessarily be passed on for collection as a moratorium may be granted,
forexample. The value adjustment rates applied in this model are based on the rolling
annual average over the last 5 years and also include a forecast for future macroeco-
nomic and political conditions as well as individual risk assessments.

A specific value adjustment is applied to a financial asset if, at the financial year-end
date, there are indications that the borrower may not fully meet their obligations to
the Otto Group or that the financial asset has been handed over to a collection
agency. The Otto Group will hand over a receivable to a collection agency as soon as
the overdue receivable has passed through the prior dunning levels without being
settled. At this point, trade receivables are generally at least 90 days overdue. If the
irrecoverability of certain trade receivables is expected, such as due to insolvency or
the death of a customer, they are derecognized.
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Inthe 2024/25 financial year, no changes were made to significant assumptions con-
cerning value allowance estimates.

In the case of receivables from financial services, the special provision for financial
assets for which there is objective evidence of impairment losses on receipt is applied.
These are to be reported at their carrying amount reduced by the credit losses
expected over the entire term and amortized accordingly using a risk-adjusted effec-
tive interest rate. At the financial year-end date, only the cumulated changes to the
expected credit losses over the term since initial recognition are to be reported as a
value allowance.

Financial assets are derecognized if either the rights to cash flows generated from the
assets expire, or if substantially all opportunities and risks are transferred to a third
party in a manner that meets the criteria for derecognition. Various Group companies
sell receivables and remove them from the consolidated balance sheet. Moreover,
receivables with a term of up to one year are sold as part of ABS transactions (asset-
backed securities). Irrespective of the legal transfer of the receivables to the acquirer,
the Otto Group must continue to recognize the receivables if significant opportuni-
ties and risks remain with the Group companies due to the contractual structure. Pro-
vided that the receivables continue to be recognized in the Group, a liability is recog-
nized for the cash and cash equivalents received by the Group companies from the
sale until the receivables are repaid by the customer. The Group companies have
committed to the buyer that they will also handle the management of these trade
receivables after the sale. Appropriate provisions in the amount of EUR 2 million are
recognized for these obligations on the balance sheet date (29 February 2024:
EUR 5 million).

Financial liabilities are derecognized if the corresponding obligations are fulfilled or
cancelled or lapse or if significant changes are made to the contract terms.

In accordance with IFRS 13, all financial instruments that are accounted for in the
financial statements at fair value are categorized into three levels:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the company can access;

Level 2: input factors otherthan quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observ-
able for the assets or liabilities, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived
from prices);

Level 3: factors for the measurement of the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Reclassifications between the various levels are recognized at the end of the report-
ing period in which the change is made.

Financial assets measured at amortized cost

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and bank deposits. They are
recognized at their nominal value.

Trade receivables, receivables from financial services and other non-derivative finan-
cial assets are initially recognized at fair value. Receivables from financial services
include purchased receivables.

Subsequent measurement is carried out at amortized cost, using the effective inter-
est method.
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Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss

This category includes earn-out agreements and call options for which the fair value
can vary according to certain contractually arranged variables. Securities traded on
the capital market and convertible bonds are also included in this category.

Investments in equity instruments

Shares in companies that do not follow IFRS 10, IFRS 11 or IAS 28 accounting rules are
reported under other financial investments. For such investments in equity instru-
ments, IFRS 9 provides for measurement at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) as
well as the option to have value changes recognized in other comprehensive income
(FVOCI). Each financial instrument is to be classified on an individual basis.

The Otto Group recognizes investments in equity instruments through other compre-
hensive income as well as through profit or loss. Investments for which changes in
value cannot be recorded in other comprehensive income are measured through
profit and loss. This is the case if the shares do not fulfil the criteria defined in IAS 32 in
relation to equity classifications or if the shares are not held for strategic reasons. All
other investments can be measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income. The decision to classify an investment based on FVOCI or FVPL is made on a
case-by-case basis. Subsidiaries that are not included in the consolidated financial
statements due to their minor significance are accounted for at fair value through
profit or loss.

If equity instruments that were recognized through other comprehensive income are
disposed of or are depreciated based on permanent impairment, the profit or loss not
recognized up to this point is reclassified as consolidated retained earnings through
other comprehensive income, taking into account the corresponding tax implications.
For investments recognized at fair value through profit and loss, the profit or loss
resulting from the change in fair value is recorded directly through profit and loss.

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost

For some years, the Otto Group has offered reverse factoring programs to selected
suppliers. These suppliers have an additional option when structuring their own refi-
nancing. The purpose of these agreements is to enable efficient payment processes
and to offer participating suppliers early payment dates.

The payment terms agreed with suppliers for the trade payables in question are not
contractually linked to the existence of reverse factoring programs and are within the
normal industry context. The range of payment terms for trade payables that are not
subject to reverse factoring programs does not differ significantly from that of trade
payables that are linked to reverse factoring programs. The amounts covered by the
agreement are therefore reported under trade payables (see Note 28), as the nature
and function of these liabilities remain the same as for other trade payables. Accord-
ingly, the associated payments to a reverse factoring provider are regarded as cash
outflows from operating activities.

The average payment terms for trade payables that are part of a reverse factoring
agreement are between 75 and 105 days, depending on the region. The average
payment terms for comparable liabilities that are not part of a reverse factoring
agreement are between 60 and 105 days.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging relationships

The Otto Group uses derivatives as hedges against foreign exchange and interest
rate risks. Derivative financial instruments are recognized at fair value.

Accounting for changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments depends
on whether they are designated as hedging instruments and fulfill the conditions for
classification as a hedging relationship under IFRS 9.
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If these conditions are not fulfilled, despite the presence of an underlying economic
hedging relationship, changes in the fair value of the derivatives are recognized
directly through profit and loss.

The effective portion of the change in fair value of a derivative financial instrument
designated and qualifying as a cash flow hedging instrument (cash flow hedge) is rec-
ognized directly in accumulated other comprehensive income, taking into account
the related tax effect. The ineffective portion is recognized in the income statement.
The effective portion is then recognized through profit or loss or included directly in
the cost of purchased goods and services when the expected cash flows from the
underlying transaction affect profit or loss.

In addition, there are options on shares in associated companies, in particular with
regard to shares in Hermes Germany GmbH, Hamburg. These options are measured
at fair value in accordance with IFRS 9. Changes in fair value are recognized through
profit or loss under other net financial income.

Net investment in a foreign operation

A change in the fair value of a monetary item classified as part of a net investment in
a foreign operation that is attributable to changes in the exchange rate is accounted
forin accumulated other comprehensive income. Gains or losses recognized in accu-
mulated other comprehensive income are to be reclassified from consolidated equity
to the consolidated income statement when the foreign company is sold or liqui-
dated. The monetary item represents a component of net investment in the foreign
operation if the settlement of the item is neither planned nor probable in the foresee-
able future.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market partici-
pants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement assumes that the trans-
action on which the price is based takes place either in the principal market or in the
most advantageous market to which the Otto Group has access. The price is mea-
sured using the assumptions that market participants would use when establishing
pricing and takes into account the relevant credit risk.

The fair value of financial instruments is calculated on the basis of appropriate mar-
ket values or by applying other suitable measurement methods. For cash and cash
equivalents and other non-derivative short-term financial instruments, it is assumed
that the fair value corresponds to the carrying amount.

The fair values of non-current receivables and other assets and of non-current lia-
bilities are calculated based on expected cash flows using market interest rates in
effect on the balance sheet date. The fair value of derivative financial instruments is
determined based on forward foreign exchange rates and market interest rates on
the balance sheet date. The credit default risk of the respective counterparty risk is
determined using the add-on method taking into account the default probability of
the specific counterparty risk. The probability of default is determined on the basis of
liguid CDS spreads or market-listed bond prices.

When determining the fair value of put options, contractually agreed payments are
taken into account. Where planned income components are relevant to the fair value,
these will be determined based on the discounted cash flow method taking the rele-
vant company planning into account. The discount rates are based on weighted
average capital costs. Relevant unobservable inputs for determining the fair value
include planned income components. The Group regularly reviews the key unobserv-
able inputs and measurement adjustments.
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Interest rate swaps are measured by discounting future cash flows based on the
applicable market interest rates on the balance sheet date for the remaining term of
the contracts. Market values of forward exchange transactions are determined by
comparing the contracted forward price with the forward price on the balance sheet
date for the remaining term. The resulting value is then discounted, taking account of
current market interest rates for the respective currency on the balance sheet date.
Currency options are measured using a recognized actuarial method (Black-Scholes
option pricing model), taking into account currency rates and volatilities applicable as
of the balance sheet date. The Otto Group only concludes derivative contracts with
banks that have at least an acceptable credit rating. The Group's own and counter-
party-specific default risks are regularly monitored and are taken into account when
calculating the fair value of derivative financial instruments.

e Inventories

Inventories are measured as of balance sheet date at the lower of acquisition or pro-
duction cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling
price less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

The cost of merchandise included in inventories is determined on the basis of a
weighted average price or by using the standard cost method.

Acquired properties and buildings intended for short-term sale are reported under
inventories. An impairment test is carried out at least once a year by comparing the
current carrying amount with the net realizable value. The historical acquisition costs
form the upper limit for reversals of impairment losses.

f Provisions for pensions and similar obligations

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations are calculated using the projected unit
credit method pursuant to IAS 19, taking expected future salary and pension increases
into account. The pension obligations are measured on the basis of expert opinions on
pensions, including any plan assets held to cover these obligations. Remeasurements
of the net defined benefit liability are recognized directly in other comprehensive
income. Remeasurement includes the actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan
assets (excluding interest income included in net interest expenses) and the effects of
any asset limit (excluding interest income included in net interest expenses). The Group
calculates the net interest expenses on the net defined benefit liability for the report-
ing period by applying the discount rate which was used for the measurement of the
defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period. The net interest
expenses and the current and past service cost are taken to the consolidated income
statement.

Occupational pensions in the Group take the form of both defined contribution plans
as well as defined benefit plans. The expenses of defined contribution obligations and
defined benefit obligations are included in personnel expenses, except for net interest
income (expense). The compounding of the net pension obligation acquired in prior
years is reported in net financial result. The retirement plans are organized in compli-
ance with the legal, tax and economic conditions prevalent in the respective countries.

Under defined contribution pension plans, Otto Group companies make payments to
external pension institutions and have no further benefit obligations to the
beneficiaries.
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Provisions for defined benefit pension plans are recognized for obligations arising
from accrued rights and current benefits payable to former and active Otto Group
employees and their survivors. The structure of the plans is normally based on the
length of service, remuneration, status and the contributions of employees.

The principal defined benefit pension plans are in place at the Otto Group companies
domiciled in Germany and the United Kingdom. Pension plans in Germany are nor-
mally unfunded. These comprise employer financed benefit obligations and defined
contribution obligations financed by both the employer and the employee. A major
part of the employer-financed benefit obligations was closed as of 1 January 2014
for new entries. At the companies domiciled in the United Kingdom most pension
plans are funded. These plans are predominantly based on the frozen average sala-
ries of employees. The plans in the United Kingdom were closed with effect from
28 February 2009 for new entries. The plans benefits in Germany and the United
Kingdom are predominantly rendered in the form of pension payments.

The Otto Group is exposed to various risks in connection with the defined benefit
plans. Besides general actuarial risks, such as the longevity risk and the interest rate
fluctuation risk, the Otto Group is exposed to the currency risk and the capital market
or investment risk. Pension payments in Germany are secured against the conse-
guences of insolvency in accordance with the Occupational Pensions Act. For this,
annual contributions are paid to the Pensions-Sicherungs-Verein VVaG (Pensions
Security Association Mutual Insurance Association).

g Other provisions

Other provisions cover all of the Otto Group’s legal and constructive obligations to
third parties on the financial year-end date as a result of past events for which settle-
ment is probable and the amount of which can be estimated reliably. The provisions
are measured at their probable settlement amount, taking all foreseeable risks into
account. This represents the best possible estimate of the cost of settling the present
obligation at the balance sheet date. Non-current provisions are recognized at their
settlement value, discounted to the balance sheet date using appropriate market
interest rates.

Provisions for restructuring expenses are recognized if the restructuring plans have
raised a valid expectation on the balance sheet date and have already been commu-
nicated to the parties affected by the restructuring or their representatives.

h Leases

Lessee

At the start of a lease, an assessment is made to determine whether the underlying
contract constitutes or contains a lease within the meaning of IFRS 16. This is the case

if the contract authorizes control over use of an identified asset for a certain period of
time in return for payment of a consideration. At the start date or amendment date
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of a lease, the contractually agreed consideration is allocated on the basis of the rel-
ative individual selling prices and a distinction is made between lease components
and non-lease components. If this is not possible, the exemption rule is exercised
whereby the requirement to separate the lease into lease and non-lease components
is waived.

As the lessee, the Otto Group systematically records an asset for the granted right-of-
use asset, and a lease liability for the payment obligations entered into at the start
date of the lease.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which corresponds to the initial
measurement of the lease liability. In addition, an adjustment is made to take into
account payments already made on or before the lease start date, plus any initial
direct costs and the estimated cost of dismantling or disposing of the underlying
asset, less any incentive payments received by the lessor. The right-of-use asset is
depreciated on a straight-line basis from the lease start date until the end of the lease
period. However, if ownership of the underlying asset passes to the lessee at the end
of the lease term, or if the cost of the right-of-use asset takes into account exercise of
a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the expected economic
useful life of the underlying asset. Moreover, the right-of-use asset is continuously
adjusted for impairment losses, where necessary, and to take into account certain
reassessments or modifications to the lease liability.

The lease liability is recognized based on the present value of the outstanding lease
payments as of the lease start date, which are discounted at the Group's incremental
borrowing interest rate. The lease payments included in the measurement of the
lease liability include fixed payments and de facto fixed payments as well as variable
index-linked lease payments. The variable lease payments are measured based on
the index value applicable on the lease start date. Amounts likely to be paid under a
residual value guarantee are also included, as are exercise prices for a purchase
option or lease payments for a renewal option, provided there is a sufficient degree of
certainty that these options will be exercised.

The lease liability is measured at the amortized carrying amount using the effective
interest method. The liability is revalued if there are changes to future lease payments
due to an index adjustment or if the estimated value of expected payments is modi-
fied under a residual value guarantee. A reassessment is also carried out if the lessee
changes its assessment in relation to the exercise of a purchase, renewal or termina-
tion option or if a de facto fixed leasing payment changes. The lease liability is modi-
fied if there is a change made to lease payments that was not included in the original
lease.

If a reassessment or modification is applied to a lease liability, a corresponding adjust-
ment is made to the carrying amount for the right-of-use asset. This adjustment is
made at fair value through profit and loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset is zero, or if the reduction in the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset differs
from the reduction in the lease liability in absolute terms.

The Otto Group exercises the exemption option that is provided for lease contracts
for short-term leases and leases for low-value assets and does not recognize any
right-of-use asset or lease liability for these leases. In addition, leases for privately
used vehicles have not been recognized on the balance sheet since the 2024/25
financial year. These are classified as low-value leases. The lease payments for such
leases are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis overthe term of the lease.
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Lessor

In a small number of cases, the Otto Group acts as a lessor. In such cases, the lease is
classified as a finance or operating lease within the meaning of the definition con-
tained in IFRS 16.

As the lessor in an operating lease, the Otto Group continues to recognize the leased
object as an asset at amortized cost under property, plant and equipment. Lease
payments received from operating leases are reported under other operating income.
In the event of a finance lease, the transferred leased asset is derecognized and an
asset from the finance lease is recognized as a receivable for the amount of the net

investment value from the lease.

i Income tax

The income tax reported in the consolidated income statement consists of current
and deferred taxes. Current and deferred taxes are recognized in income unless they
are related to a business merger or an item recognized directly in Group equity or
other comprehensive income.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized to account for the future tax effects
of all temporary differences between the carrying amounts reported for tax purposes
and those recognized in the IFRS consolidated financial statements, and also on tax
loss carry-forwards. Deferred tax is measured on the basis of the laws and regulations
enacted by the end of the financial year for those financial years in which the differ-
ences will be reversed or the losses carried forward will probably be used. Deferred tax
assets are recognized on temporary differences and losses carried forward only if it is
considered sufficiently sure that they will be realized in the near future.

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences resulting from assets and liabili-
ties measured at fair value when accounting for business combinations.

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences in derivative goodwill only if the
amortization of derivative goodwill is deductible for tax purposes.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset, providing that they refer to income taxes
raised by the same tax authority and current taxes are eligible to be offset.

Current and deferred tax liabilities for which there is uncertainty in relation to income
tax treatment are only recognized in cases where it is likely that the corresponding tax
amounts will be paid or reimbursed. Here it is to be assumed that the tax authorities
will exercise their right to review declared amounts and will have full knowledge of all
related information. In applicable cases, the Otto Group always takes an individual
view of the tax situation and evaluates it based on the most likely amount.

The Group has come to the conclusion that the global minimum tax payable under
the German Minimum Tax Act is an income tax within the scope of IAS 12. The Group
applies the temporary, mandatory exemption with regard to the recognition of
deferred taxes resulting from the introduction of global minimum taxation and recog-
nizes these taxes as current tax expense/income at the time they arise.
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j Recognition of income and expense

Revenue is recognized when performance obligations have been met by transferring
control of the asset or service to the customer.

In the Platforms, Brand Concepts and Retailers segments revenue is recognized at the
time at which the performance obligation is fulfilled. The revenue is therefore recog-
nized when control of the asset is transferred to the end customer in tandem with
transfer of the asset. The Group companies generate a portion of its revenue by pro-
viding trading platforms to external sellers. The resulting brokerage services are rec-
ognized when the respective sales contract is entered into with the end customer.

In most cases, payment is received from the customer before the end of the payment
term. The payment terms are based on the applicable general terms and conditions
of the respective Group company. However, the claim for payment generally falls due
30 days (2023/24: 30 days) after delivery. Financed purchases based on market inter-
est rates are offered based on a term of up to 68 months, as in the previous year.
Payments received prior to provision of the contractual service are recognized as
contract liabilities. Interest income from customer financing is reported within the net
interest income (expense) in the income statement.

The transaction price contains variable components in the form of return rights and
discounts granted. The forecasted returns are determined based on the projections
for the individual product categories. Return obligations for expected refunds are
reported as liabilities. Claims for goods returns are reported as other assets.

The recognition of supplier subsidies is recorded under revenue or as a reduction of
expenses under purchased goods and services, depending on the service rendered.
The key indicators for reporting are the identifiability of the service in terms of type
and scope and its verifiability.

In the Services segment, revenue is primarily generated through transport and fulfill-
ment services and is recognized in the period in which it is generated. The customer
benefits from these services as they are being performed. Revenue is therefore recog-
nized in line with the degree to which the performance obligation is met. For transport
revenue, this corresponds to the distance traveled compared to the overall distance,
for example. In the case of revenue from private end consumers, i.e. the B2C sector,
payment is received when the transport goods item is handed over to the delivery
company. The payment is recognized as a contract liability based on the degree to
which the performance obligation is met. In the B2B sector, payment terms of up to
90 days (2023/24: 90 days) are granted. Most payments are generally received before
the end of this term.

Revenue in the Financial Services segment is recognized through escrow collection at
the time of service provision. The service is considered to be provided on receipt of
payment. The agreed commission is withheld from the payment and reduces the
amount that is paid to the customer. Income from purchased receivables is recog-
nized as revenue once payment has been received. Revenue corresponds to payment
receipts from purchased receivables, reduced by the repayment amounts deter-
mined using the effective interest method.

Contractually defined incentives are included in the transaction price as a variable
component based on expected values.

The non-reportable Digital Health operating segment recognizes revenue either at a
point in time or over time, depending on the performance obligation. Revenue gener-
ated from digital health and data analysis services is recorded at the time the service
is provided. In addition, a basic monthly fee must be paid for using telemedical con-
sultations, which is realized based on the specific period.
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In all reportable segments, the Otto Group divides contract liabilities into outstanding
performance obligations with a term of up to one year and outstanding performance
obligations with a term of more than one year. These primarily include customer
loyalty programs, customer vouchers and warranty extensions. In the case of cus-
tomer loyalty programs and customer vouchers, the revenue is recognized at the time
of utilization. Utilizations typically occur within 3 months (2023/24: within 3 months)
after a voucher is purchased, or within 9 months (2023/24: within 9 months) after
bonus points are earned. In the case of warranty extensions, the revenue is recognized
over the remaining term on a straight-line basis. Other performance obligations that
have not yet been fulfilled have a term of up to one year and are not reported sepa-
rately through application of the simplified options.

The acquisition costs for contracts with a useful life of up to one year are recognized
directly as an expense. Other operating income is recognized at the performance
date, provided that the amount can be reliably measured and that it is probable that
the economic benefits will flow to the entity.

Earnings from sale and leaseback transactions are recognized immediately in
income.

Interest income accruing to the Otto Group when merchandise is purchased on credit
is recorded for the period using the effective interest method. Fees from banking and
other financial services, such as receivables management or collection activities, are
recorded as income from financial services as soon as the service in question has
been performed.

Operating expenses are recognized in the income statement at the time the service
utilization, or when the costs are incurred. Expenses for advertising and promotion
activities are charged when the Otto Group acquires the ability to control the goods
and services used in connection with these activities. In accordance with IAS 38,
advertising and promotion activities also cover the catalogs used in the Platforms,
Brand Concepts and Retailers segments.

Interest is recorded as an expense or income in the period to which it relates. Interest
expenses incurred in connection with the purchase or production of qualifying assets
are capitalized in compliance with IAS 23. At the Otto Group, a qualifying asset is an
asset for which a period of more than one year is usually intended for its purchase or
production.

The interest advantages of low-interest public-sector loans are recognized in the
income statement and accrued to the relevant period, whereby the portion for future
financial years is posted to a deferred income item.

Dividends are normally recognized at the date on which legal entitlement to pay-
ment arises.

k Share-based payment programs

Share-based payment programs have been established for the Group company
ABOUT YOU Holding SE; Hamburg. Moreover, put options on management shares
with a remuneration component were granted in the 2022/23 financial year in the
context of the acquisition of Medgate Holding AG, Basel, Switzerland.

The specific design of these programs is described in Note 32.

| Classification of partners’ capital in limited partnerships

Non-controlling interests in consolidated subsidiaries in the legal form of a commercial
partnership, where the shareholders can oblige the company to pay out the capital
contributions and the profit shares attributable to them by exercising a statutory
right of termination that cannot be excluded by the articles of association, are to be
classified as liabilities and are reported as other financial liabilities, since these shares
do not fulfill the criteria defined in IAS 32 with respect to the classification as equity.
Changes in the value and interest components of liabilities are either expensed or
recognized as a gain in the consolidated income statement.
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m Publicly-listed equity and participation certificates

Any financial instruments that the Otto Group issues on capital markets are classified
as equity as long as there are no termination rights that could obligate the Otto Group
to repay the capital paid in by the holder. Accordingly, interest or dividends on such
instruments are not reported as interest expense, but as part of the appropriation of
net income for the year.

Profit and loss participation certificates issued by the Otto Group are a component of
consolidated equity as long as the terms and conditions governing the profit and loss
participation certificates do not result in a repayment obligation on the part of the
Otto Group, the emergence of which is outside the Otto Group’s discretionary power.
The benefits arising from these profit and loss participation certificates are accord-
ingly shown as an appropriation of net income. The transaction costs are accounted
for as a deduction from equity.

n Profit and loss participation rights

The profit and loss participation rights that the Otto Group issues to employees are
classified as financial liabilities under IAS 32, because a repurchase obligation can
arise for the Otto Group on expiry of a six-year waiting period at the request of the
holder of the profit and loss participation certificate. These financial instruments,
which are classified as puttable, may have to be satisfied prior to the claims of the
partners on liquidation. The company allowances granted on the basis of issued profit
and loss participation rights are included under personnel expenses, and perfor-
mance-related profit and loss participation is reported under interest and similar
income or expenses.

o Transactions in foreign currencies

Purchases and sales in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rate on
the day of delivery. Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency using the closing rate at the balance sheet date. Any resulting
gains and losses are recognized in the income statement.

p Assets held for sale and disposal groups

Assets or disposal groups are reported under assets held for sale if a sale of the assets
or disposal groups within the next twelve months is considered highly probable and if
the assets are in a ready-for-sale condition and will not be realized through continued
use. These assets or disposal groups are recognized at the lower value of the carrying
amount and the fair value less costs to sell. An impairment loss on a disposal group
would first be allocated to goodwill and then, taking into account the requirements of
IFRS 5, to the remaining assets and liabilities on a pro rata basis, with the exception
that no loss is allocated to inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets and assets
relating to employee benefits, which continue to be evaluated according to the other
accounting methods within the Group.

Intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are no longer
subject to scheduled depreciation or amortization. Impairment losses arising on initial
classification as held for sale along with subsequent gains and losses on revaluation
until sale are recognized in profit or loss. If shares in associated companies and joint
ventures that were previously included in the consolidated financial statements using
the equity method are reclassified as assets held for sale in order to ensure compli-
ance with the criteria of IFRS 5, they are no longer recognized using the equity method.
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A group of assets held for sale is classified as a discontinued operation within the
meaning of IFRS 5 if this group can be clearly distinguished from the remaining units
of the Group in regard to its business activities and cash flows and constitutes
a significant business activity. If a business activity is reported as a discontinued oper-
ation, the business activities are reported separately in the consolidated income
statement. The comparative information in the consolidated income statement is
adjusted retrospectively as if the operation had already been classified as a discon-
tinued operation at the beginning of the comparative period.

Also presented under assets held for sale are groups of assets whose disposal is
related to a plan to discontinue a business activity and that are sold within one year
of the date of their designation.

q Use of estimates and assumptions

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS
involves making estimates and assumptions that affect the recognition of assets and
liabilities, contingent liabilities at the balance sheet date, and the recognition of
income and expenses. Actual amounts may differ from the amounts arrived at using
these estimates and assumptions.

The macroeconomic environment, which is currently subject to a high degree of
uncertainty, is a relevant factor influencing the development of estimates and
assumptions.

In particular, material estimates and assumptions were made in determining uniform
depreciation and amortization periods for the Group on property, plant and equip-
ment, intangible assets and right-of-use assets (see Notes 14, 15 and 16), the valua-
tion of investments within the framework of venture activities (see Note 17), value
allowances for merchandise and receivables (see Notes 18 and 19), return rates for

measuring delivery claims from expected returns (see Note 21), the parameters for

measuring pension provisions (see Note 24), the determination of the fair value of obli-
gations under put/call options and share-based remuneration (see Note 32) and the
likelihood that deferred tax assets can be utilized (see Note 13). The measurement of
intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets in connec-
tion with impairment testing under IAS 36 was based on budget data for forecasting
cash flow and standardized sector information for determining discount rates.

Numerous lease contracts that include renewal and/or termination options have
been concluded. Renewal and/or termination options mainly arise in the case of lease
contracts classified as land, land rights and building assets. The degree to which the
exercise or non-exercise of an option is reasonably certain is a discretionary decision
that takes into account all facts and circumstances that provide an economic incen-
tive to exercise renewal options or to not exercise termination options. If a significant
event or change in circumstances occurs, the lease term is redefined.

Following guidelines provided for in IFRS 7, pro forma currency and interest curves
that may deviate from actual market values on the balance sheet date were used for
sensitivity analyses in Note 36c.
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r New IASB pronouncements

The Standards required to be applied for the first time in the 2024/25 financial year
had no material effect on the presentation of the Group’s financial position or finan-

cial performance.

Application of the following Standards published by the IASB which may have a pos-
sible effect on the Otto Group’s IFRS consolidated financial statements is not yet
obligatory, either because they have not yet been endorsed by the European Union or
because the date of first-time application has not yet been reached. In the case of
Standards that have already been endorsed by the EU, the Otto Group has not pro-
ceeded with early application.The Standards or amendments to current Standards
are to apply to financial years beginning on or after the date of application

indicated.
Application date
Lack of Exchangeability (Amendments to IAS 21 The
. . 1 202
IAS 21 Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates) January 2025
AIP* Annual Improvements Volume 11 1 January 2026
Amendments to the Classification and Measurement
IFRS 9/IAS 7* of Financial Instruments (Amendments to IFRS 9 and 1 January 2026
IFRS 7)
* Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity
IFRS 9/IFRS 7" (Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7) 1 January 2026
IFRS 18* Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 1 January 2027
IFRS 19* Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: 1 January 2027

Disclosures

* Standard or amendments to a standard have not yet been endorsed by the EU.

In April 2024, the IASB published IFRS 18, which replaces IAS 1. IFRS 18 adopts some of
the sections from IAS 1 with minor adjustments. New requirements are established in
particular with regard to the presentation of profit or loss, including fixed totals and
subtotals. IFRS 18 also requires the disclosure of performance-related key figures
defined by the Executive Board, referred to as management-defined performance
measures. Furthermore, new guidelines for the aggregation and disaggregation of
information in the financial statements have been introduced.

The Otto Group is required to apply IFRS 18 for the first time as of the 2027/28 finan-
cial year. The Otto Group is currently in the process of assessing the impact of the first-
time application of IFRS 18 on the consolidated financial statements, particularly
with regard to the structure of the consolidated income statement and other dis-
closure requirements. The Group has launched a corresponding implementation

project.
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Scope of Consolidation
4 Scope of consolidation

An overview of the composition of Otto Group's scope of consolidation may be
derived from the following list:

2024/25 2023/24

Fully consolidated subsidiaries

Domestic 152 165
Foreign 197 195
Total 349 360

Associates and joint ventures reported under the equity

method

Domestic 11 10
Foreign 12 27
Total 23 37

In the 2024/25 financial year, 12 Group companies were merged within the
Otto Group (2023/24: 14 companies).

The consolidated financial statements include 4 companies (29 February 2024: 7)
with a different reporting date, normally 31 December. The inclusion of Group com-
panies with a different reporting date had no significant effect on the Otto Group's
financial position and financial performance, as major events that occurred after the
different reporting date were taken into account.

The Otto Group holds 49% of the
Baur Versand (GmbH & Co KG), Burgkunstadt, and can exercise control under

shares in the Group company

company contractual regulations.

The Otto Group holds 49.91% of the shares in the Group company Creditable Oppor-
tunities Fund SCA SICAV-RAIF - Creditable Sub-Fund 1, Luxembourg, Luxembourg,
and its subsidiaries, 49% of the shares in the company Creditable Opportunities Fund
[l SCS-RAIF - Southrock Il, Luxembourg, Luxembourg, 44% of the shares in the com-
pany Fonds Commun de Titrisation Foncred IV, Pantin, France, and 40% of the shares
in the company Fonds Commun de Titrisation Fedinvest 3, Pantin, France, and can
exercise control on the basis of contractual provisions.

The Otto Group holds 37.36% of the shares
ABOUT YOU Holding SE, Hamburg, and its subsidiaries, and can exercise control on

in the Group company

account of the governance structure. A shareholder agreement with Heartland A/S,
Aarhus, Denmark, which is the parent company of the second-largest shareholder
Aktieselskabet af 12.6.2018, and a contract with a related party, the company
GFH Gesellschaft fur Handelsbeteiligungen m.b.H., Hamburg, on the pooling of the
jointly held voting rights gave Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA control in particular over
a casting vote on the Supervisory Board of ABOUT YOU Holding SE. Consequently,
this gives Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA control of ABOUT YOU Holding SE.

A wholly owned subsidiary of Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA holds one percent of the shares
in one of the subsidiaries of FORUM Grundstucksgesellschaft m.b.H., Hamburg.
Furthermore, the Otto Group does not have any controlling interest in
FORUM Grundstucksgesellschaft m.b.H, Hamburg, but can exercise control via the
company and its subsidiaries under company contractual regulations. The Otto Group
is not at any risk from guarantees or warranties. The Forum Group is involved in

the Group's cash pooling arrangement and can benefit from inter-Group loans.
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The Otto Group does not hold any shares in OTTO Grundstiicksbeteiligungs-
gesellschaft m.b.H., Haomburg, and GSV Grundstiicksbeteiligungsgesellschaft m.b.H.,
Hamburg, but was able to exercise control over the companies until the end of the
2024/25 financial year due to the identity of persons on the Executive Board. On
28 February 2025, the identity of the persons ceased to exist due to the change in the
Executive Board of Otto Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, and the two Group compa-
nies mentioned above were deconsolidated.

The Otto Group does not hold shares in Hefesto STC, S.A. — GalilEOS Securitisation
No. 1, Lisbon, Portugal. However, it can exercise control on the basis of contractual
provisions.

Hermes Germany GmbH and its subsidiaries are included in the consolidated finan-
cial statement based on a shareholding of 75.00% calculated using the equity
method. Despite this majority share, the Group does not exercise control, as contrac-
tual agreements require the company to be jointly controlled with at least one other
shareholder.

5 Changes in the scope of consolidation
a Acquisitions

Various companies were consolidated for the first time in the 2024/25 financial year.
In their entirety, they are of minor significance for the Otto Group’s financial position
and financial performance.

b Deconsolidations

In the 2024/25 financial year, in addition to GIRARD AGEDISS, Les Essarts, France,
which was already classified as held for sale on the previous year’s balance sheet
date (see Note 5c¢), only Group companies that are of minor significance to the
Otto Group's financial position and financial performance in their entirety were
deconsolidated.

c Disposal groups

On 11 December 2024, the Otto Group signed an agreement to transfer all of the
69,545,116 shares it holds in the listed Group company ABOUT YOU Holding SE,
Hamburg, to Zalando SE, Berlin, at a selling price of 6.50 euros per share. As of the
beginning of Q4 2024/25, the assets and liabilities of ABOUT YOU Holding SE are
therefore presented as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5. The completion of the
takeover is subject to approval under merger control law. The Group company
was assigned to the Platforms segment. Based on the relative enterprise value of
ABOUT YOU Holding SE, Hamburg, in relation to the fair value of the remaining busi-
ness activities in the Platforms segment, a portion of the derivative goodwill reported
in the Platforms segment was reclassified to assets held for sale. As part of the mea-
surement at fair value less costs to sell in accordance with IFRS 5, an impairment
requirement of EUR 96 million arose in the 2024/25 financial year, which was allo-
cated to the reclassified portion of the derivative goodwiill.
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The assets and liabilities held for sale on 28 February 2025, including the fair value

adjustments determined and amortized on the acquisition date inthe 2021/22 finan-

cial year, are composed as follows:

28022025

EUR million
Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 874
Right-of-use assets 95
Other non-current assets 8
Inventories 446
Current trade receivables 79
Other current assets 95
Cash and cash equivalents 155
Assets held for sale 1,752
Non-current lease liabilities 73
Current trade payables 422
Current lease liabilities 29
Current other provisions and liabilities 128
Deferred tax liabilities 89
Liabilities classified as held for sale 741

A French transport company signed an agreement to acquire 100% of the 2-man
handling specialist GIRARD AGEDISS, Les Essarts, France, on 10 February 2024. In
accordance with IFRS 5, the corresponding Group company was therefore repre-

sented as held for sale on the balance sheet date of the previous year. Approval of the

takeover by the corresponding anti-monopoly authorities was still pending on 29 Feb-

ruary 2024. Sale of the company was then finalized in April 2024. The Group company

was assigned to the Services segment. The assets and liabilities derecognized in the

consolidated balance sheet as part of the deconsolidation at the time of disposal are

as follows:

Assets EUR million
Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 5
Right-of-use assets 12
Other non-current assets 1
Current trade receivables 12
Receivables from related parties 3
Other current assets 5
Securities and cash and cash equivalents 0
Provisions and liabilities

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations and other non-current 1
liabilities

Non-current lease liabilities 26
Current trade payables 15
Current other liabilities 9

The deconsolidated company generated revenue of EUR 7 million in the 2024/25

financial year before deconsolidation, while EBT amounted to EUR -2 million.

The deconsolidation resulted in a gain of EUR 16 million, which is reported in the other

net financial result.
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The assets and liabilities of GIRARD AGEDISS held for sale on 29 February 2024 consist

of the following:

2902.2024

EUR million
Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment 5
Right-of-use assets 12
Other non-current assets 2
Current trade receivables 13
Other current assets 4
Securities and cash and cash equivalents 15
Deferred tax assets 5
Assets held for sale 56
Provisions for pensions and similar obligations and other non-current 1
liabilities
Non-current lease liabilities 26
Other current provisions and current trade payables 16
Other current liabilities and current lease liabilities 7
Liabilities classified as held for sale 50

The reclassification as held for sale in the 2023/24 financial year did not result in any
impairment loss or reversal of impairment loss requirement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Income
Statement

6 Revenue and income from customer financing

Revenue and income from customer financing are broken down as follows:

Other revenue

Revenue from contracts with customers (IFRS 15) Revenue from rental and leasing (IFRS 16) (IFRS 9) Total revenue

2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Platforms 6,308 6,098 0 0 86 52 6,394 6,150
Brand Concepts 5135 5,309 0 0 0 0 5135 5,309
Retailers 1,592 1,908 0 0 0 0 1,592 1,908
Services 410 366 0 0 9 8 419 374
Financial Services 175 178 16 19 869 805 1,060 1,002
Reportable segments 13,620 13,859 16 19 964 865 14,600 14,743
g((:)tr;\—/:'gzsrtoble segments and other 70 81 0 0 0 o 70 81
Group 13,690 13,940 16 19 964 865 14,670 14,824
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Total revenue and income from customer
Total revenue Income from customer financing financing

2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Platforms 6,394 6,150 117 69 6,611 6,219
Brand Concepts 5135 5,309 10 9 5145 5,318
Retailers 1,692 1,908 91 93 1,683 2,001
Services 419 374 0 0 419 374
Financial Services 1,060 1,002 0 0 1,060 1,002
Reportable segments 14,600 14,743 218 171 14,818 14,914
Non-reportable segments and other activities 70 81 0 0 70 81
Group 14,670 14,824 218 171 14,888 14,995

Income from customer financing results from interest income from installment loan

transactions and from income from factoring settlements.
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Revenue from contracts with customers (IFRS 15) is broken down by sales market as

follows:

Revenue from contracts with customers
Germany Rest of Europe USA Other regions (IFRS 15)

2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24
EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
Platforms 5136 4937 1,140 1125 31 35 1 1 6,308 6,098
Brand Concepts 1,599 1,590 918 1,007 2,483 2,584 135 128 5135 5,309
Retailers 1,069 1,299 523 609 0 0 0 0 1,592 1,908
Services 356 235 48 124 5 6 1 1 410 366
Financial Services 64 59 111 119 0 0 0 0 175 178
Reportable segments 8,224 8,120 2,740 2,984 2,519 2,625 137 130 13,620 13,859
ggtr;\;:'ﬁzsrtoble segments and other 33 36 34 31 0 0 3 14 70 81
Group 8,257 8,156 2,774 3,015 2,519 2,625 140 144 13,690 13,940
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Revenue from contracts with customers (IFRS 15) is broken down by revenue source

as follows:

Revenue from the sale of goods and Revenue from agency and Revenue from transport and Revenue from contracts with customers

related shipping and service offerings advertising services warehousing services Revenue from other services (FRS 15)
2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24
EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
Platforms 5,697 5,611 529 402 0 0 82 85 6,308 6,098
Brand Concepts 5119 5,287 15 19 0 0 1 3 5135 5,309
Retailers 1,562 1,874 24 27 0 0 6 7 1,592 1,908
Services 4 4 0 0 367 328 39 34 410 366
Financial Services 0 0 7 8 0 0 168 170 175 178
Reportable segments 12,382 12,776 575 456 367 328 296 299 13,620 13,859
ggt?\-/:'sgsrtoble segments and other 11 11 0 0 0 5 50 65 70 81
Group 12,393 12,787 575 456 367 333 355 364 13,690 13,940

Revenue with goods-related shipping and service offerings involves ancillary income

that relates directly to the sale of goods. This amounted to EUR 528 million in the
2024/25 financial year (2023/24: EUR 531 million). Revenue from agency and adver-
tising services mainly comprises commission income from platform activities and

revenue from committed advertising subsidies. The revenue from other services in the
Financial Services segment includes EUR 142 million (2023/24: EUR 128 million) in
income from receivables management.
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7 Other operating income

Other operating income is made up as follows:

8 Purchased goods and services

Purchased goods and services breaks down as follows:

2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24
EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Income from the reversal of impairment losses on assets 156 0 Costs of merchandise 6,843 7,237

Income from ancillary business 63 67 Costs of services received 736 624

Income from amortized receivables 37 34 Packing and shipping materials 19 21

Income from reversal of provisions and liabilities 33 57 Purchased goods and services 7.598 7.882

Income from reversal of allowances on receivables 33 14

Income from debt collection services 32 43 9 Personnel expenses

Income from costs recharged to related parties 20 o1 P )

and third parties ersonnel expenses are composed as follows:

Income from indemnification payments 19 16 2024125 2093/24

Income from charges to suppliers 14 14 EUR million EUR million

Income from disposal of assets 7 16 Wages and salaries 2117 1997

Miscellaneous 69 8o Social security contributions 364 358

Other operating income 483 367 Retirement benefit costs 36 37

Personnel expenses 2,517 2,392

The purchase price offered for the acquisition of the shares in ABOUT YOU Holding SE,

Hamburg, by Zalando SE, Berlin, led to a reversal of impairment losses of EUR 156 mil-

lion on the intangible assets in the amount of EUR 175 million, which were written off

in the 2023/24 financial year (see Note 11).

Retirement benefit costs include the Group companies’ expenses arising from defined

contribution and defined benefit pension plans, as well as pension-like obligations.

The interest component in the increase of pension provisions is included in net finan-

cial result. Employer contributions to statutory pension insurance are included under

social security contributions.

Expenses for wages and salaries include expenses of EUR 54 million (2023/24:

EUR 21 million) resulting from personnel-related obligations as part of internal Group

reorganizations.
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In the 2024/25 financial year, the average number of employees in the Otto Group
was 41,689 (2023/24: 44,423 employees). Converted to full-time positions, this corre-
sponds to an average of 36,304 employees (2023/24: 38,462 employees). This
includes 15,129 part-time positions (2023/24: 15,963 part-time positions) that were
converted to 9,744 full-time positions (2023/24: 10,002 full-time positions). The distri-
bution of employees by segment is shown in the report on the segments (Note 35).

10 Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses are composed as follows:

2024/25 2023/24
EUR million EUR million
Advertising 1,565 1,519
Shipping and logistics 1,208 1,287
Expenses for maintenance, servicing and repair 352 344
Consulting expenses for legal and IT matters as well as 302 267
general consulting
Contract staff 142 194
rDeeCreeii:/Z%lr!';ions and changes in allowances on 138 124
Office and communication expenses 80 91
Commissions and fees 74 75
Insurance and collection 50 51
Leasing expenses 44 49
Other taxes 31 31
Other 334 319
Other operating expenses 4,320 4,351

11 Impairment losses

In the course of the intended sale of the shares in ABOUT YOU Holding SE, Haomburg,
part of the derivative goodwill reported in the Platforms segment was reclassified to
assets held for sale on the basis of their relative fair values due to their classification
as a disposal group in accordance with IFRS 5. As part of the subsequent valuation in
accordance with IFRS 5, an impairment loss of EUR 96 million was recognized on the
reclassified portion of the derivative goodwill in the 2024/25 financial year based on
the fair value (see Note 5c).

Impairment losses on other intangible assets, property, plant and equipment, and
right-of-use assets in the 2024/25 financial year mainly relate to land, land rights and
buildings, acquired software, and technical equipment and machinery and in partic-
ular involve two German Group companies in the Services segment and one Group
company in the UK in the Retailers segment. There was an impairment requirement
for the corresponding assets due to site closures and the discontinuation of an IT
transformation project.

Impairment losses of EUR 175 million relating to the 2023/24 financial year were
mainly attributable to acquired trademark rights and customer lists of the
About You Group cash-generating unit. Insufficient earnings in the planning period
resulted in a need for impairment in regard to the assets identified in the 2021/22
financial year as part of the purchase price allocation in the course of the transitional
consolidation of ABOUT YOU Holding SE.

Please refer to Note 14 for further information on the impairment tests for goodwiill.
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12 Net financial result

The net financial result is made up as follows:

2024/25 2023/24
EUR million EUR million
Interest income from bank deposits 18 8
Income from interest rate derivatives 12 11
Interest income from loans and securities 8 5
Interest income from measurement of other provisions 0 0
Other interest income 3 1
Interest and similarincome 41 25
Interest expenses for bank liabilities and bonds
-90 -95
and other notes payable
Interest expenses from lease liabilities -45 -40
Net interest expenses on defined benefit plans -37 -37
Expenses from interest rate derivatives -1 -2
Other interest expenses -17 -15
Interest and similar expenses -190 -189
Net interest income (expense) -149 -164
Income from financial investments and securities and from the
disposal of shares in consolidated and associated companies 391 15
and joint ventures
Foreign currency gains and losses -16 -10
Expenses from financial investments and securities and from the
disposal of shares in consolidated and associated companies -61 -67
and joint ventures
Bank charges -107 -105
Miscellaneous financial income (expense) -23 -30
Other net financial income (expense) 184 -197
Net financial result 35 -361

Income or expenses from financial investments and securities and from the disposal
of shares in consolidated companies, associated companies, and joint ventures
resulted from the deconsolidation of Group companies in the net amount of EUR 3 mil-
lion (2023/24: EUR 10 million).

Income from financial assets and securities and from the sale of shares in fully consol-
idated associated companies and joint ventures in the 2024/25 financial year
also includes income of EUR 354 million from the sale of shares in Evri Limited (until
15 May 2024 Hermes Parcelnet Limited), Leeds, UK (see Note 17).

Expenses from financial assets and securities and from the disposal of shares in fully
consolidated associates and joint ventures include a charge of EUR 38 million in the
2024/25 financial year (2023/24: EUR 11 million) from the valuation of a put option
held by external shareholders on the shares in an associated company.

13 Income tax
The current income tax paid or owed in the various countries and also deferred tax are

recognized as income tax. Income tax comprises trade tax, corporation tax, solidarity
surcharge in Germany and the corresponding foreign income taxes.
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Income tax expense is classified by origin as follows:

The notional income tax expense that would have resulted from applying the tax rate
of the Group's parent company Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA of 30% to the IFRS consoli-

2024/25 2023/24

EUR million EUR million
Current income tax, Germany 45 33
Current income tax, other countries 135 116
Current income tax 180 149
Deferred tax, Germany -28 -80
Deferred tax, other countries -6 -10
Deferred tax -34 -90
thereof deferred tax on temporary differences 10 -117
thereof deferred tax on loss carry-forwards -44 27
Income tax 146 59

Income tax includes tax income for previous years in the amount of EUR 4 million
(2023/24: EUR 6 million). This is due to income from current taxes for previous years
amounting to EUR 5 million and expenses from deferred taxes for previous years
amounting to EUR 1 million (2023/24: mainly from deferred tax income for previous
years in the amount of EUR 6 million).

In the 2024/25 financial year, existing tax loss carry-forwards were utilized in the
amount of EUR 75 million (2023/24: EUR 46 million). Interest carry-forwards in the
amount of EUR 1 million were also utilized (2023/24: EUR O million). In the reporting
year, current tax expenses were reduced by EUR 13 million due to previously unrecog-
nized tax losses and tax credits or as a result of a previously unrecognized temporary
difference from an earlier period (2023/24: EUR 5 million).

dated earnings before tax (EBT) can be reconciled with the income taxes reported in

the consolidated income statement as follows:

2024/25 2023/24

EUR million EUR million
Earnings before tax (EBT) 311 -353
Tax rate for Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA 30% 30%
Pro forma income tax expenses (+) / tax income (=) 93 -106
Corrections in deferred tax 89 119
Non-deductible expenses 38 57
Income taxes for prior years -4 -6
Foreign withholding tax 3 4
Effects of consolidation adjustments recognized in income -60 -26
Change in applicable tax rate 11 0
Additions and deductions for trade tax 9 7
Non-taxable income -102 -65
Permanent differences 47 28
Differences in tax rates 26 47
Other -4 0
Total differences 53 165
Income tax 146 59
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Group companies domiciled in Germany in the legal form of a corporation are subject
to a corporation tax of 15% and a solidarity surcharge of 5.5% on the corporation tax
owed, just as with Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA. In addition, these Group companies and
Group companies in the legal form of a partnership are subject to trade tax, the
amount of which is determined on the basis of municipality-specific assessment
rates.

Loss carry-forwards for corporation and trade tax purposes can be utilized without
restriction by domestic companies having a positive tax base of up to EUR 1 million. In
view of the Act to Strengthen Growth Opportunities, Investment and Innovation as
well as Tax Simplification and Tax Fairness, which provides for a temporary increase in
the recognition of losses, any additional positive tax bases may only be reduced by up
to a maximum of 60% by using an existing loss carry-forward for reasons of simplifi-
cation. In Germany, companies are no longer entitled to deduct interest expenses for
taxation purposes if the interest expense exceeds EUR 3 million, if the net interest
expense exceeds 30% of taxable earnings before interest, depreciation and amorti-
zation and if certain exceptions do not apply. There is no limit to the non-deductible
interest expense that may be carried forward as an interest carry-forward and offset
in future periods against positive tax interest earnings.

The corporation tax and solidarity surcharge, along with the effects of differences
between foreign income tax rates and the tax rate paid by the Group’s parent com-
pany Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA are reported in the reconciliation table under differ-
ences in tax rates between Germany and other countries.

The impact of unrecognized deferred tax or their corrections mainly relate to deferred
taxin the amount of EUR 89 million on the loss carry-forwards of domestic and foreign
Group companies. In the reporting year, the deferred tax expense was reduced by
EUR 1 million due to previously unrecognized tax losses and tax credits or as a result
of a previously unrecognized temporary difference from an earlier period (2023/24:
EUR 2 million).

The following deferred tax assets and liabilities result from temporary differences and
tax loss carry-forwards:

28022025 29.02.2024
Deferred tax Deferred tax

Deferred tax assets liabilities | peferred tax assets liabilities

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Intangible assets 4 306 5 273
Copery et ond saupmert I
Inventories 17 9 17 12
Receivables and other assets 19 68 16 59
ﬁ\icel;?:rizsn?:d financial 9 20 4 29
Provisions 172 3 176 12
Liabilities 100 9 96 13
IFRS 5 reclassifications -2 -229 -5 0
Temporary differences 352 249 363 471
Loss carry-forwards 180 0 135 0
IFRS 5 reclassifications -138 0 0 0
Loss carry-forwards 42 0 135 0
Offset -306 -306 -317 -317
IFRS 5 reclassifications 140 140 0 0
Total 228 83 181 154
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Other comprehensive income includes tax income from the change in temporary dif-
ferences for financial instruments in the fair value through other comprehensive
income category (FVOCI) in the amount of EUR O million (2023/24: tax income of
EUR 0 million), tax expenses from the change in temporary differences for cash flow
hedge derivatives in the amount of EUR 9 million (2023/24: tax expenses of EUR 6 mil-
lion) and tax expenses from the change in the temporary differences for provisions for
pensions in the amount of EUR 6 million (2023/24: tax income of EUR 19 million).

Deferred tax assets are recognized for tax loss carry-forwards only if it appears suffi-
ciently likely that they can be realized in the near future. In the 2024/25 financial year,
no deferred tax assets were utilized for tax loss carry-forwards in the amount of
EUR 2,218 million (2023/24: EUR 4,057 million). Of these tax loss carry-forwards,
EUR 1,884 million (2023/24: EUR 2,841 million) are for corporate tax loss carry-
forwards at German and foreign Group companies as well as EUR 146 million
(2023/24: EUR 1,025 million) for trade tax loss carry-forwards of German Group
companies. Of these tax loss carry-forwards, EUR 2,216 million (2023/24:
EUR 4,056 million) can be carried forward indefinitely; EUR 1,882 million (2023/24:
EUR 2,840 million) are for corporate tax loss carry-forwards and EUR 146 million
(2023/24: EUR 1,025 million) for trade tax loss carry-forwards. Tax loss carry-forwards
inthe amount of EUR 1 million (2023/24: EUR 1 million) can be carried over for a period
limited to a useful life of up to five years. The EUR 1,856 million decrease in expected
unusable loss carry-forwards compared to the previous year is due to the classi-
fication of ABOUT YOU Holding SE, Haomburg, as a disposal group in accordance with
IFRS 5 (see Note 5¢). EUR 920 million of this relates to the corporation tax and
EUR 917 million to the trade tax and can be carried forward indefinitely.

The recognition of deferred tax assets for the group of companies consolidated for
tax purposes under Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA amounts to EUR 151 million (2023/24:
EUR 102 million) and is based on specific forecasting for the tax group. The surplus of
deferred tax assets has been recognized in full as of the balance sheet date, as it is
assumed that it will be fully usable in subsequent years irrespective of the tax loss
incurred in the previous financial year.

The origination and reversal of temporary differences for the current financial year
resulted in deferred tax income in the amount of EUR 54 million (2023/24:
EUR 79 million).

Inthe reporting year, an interest carry-forward within the meaning of Section 4h EStG
(Income Tax Act) for an amount of EUR 5 million (2023/24: EUR 19 million), which can
be carried forward for an unlimited period of time, arose in Germany for which no
deferred tax assets were recognized.

For retained profits not intended for dividend payments for foreign Group companies,
a deferred tax liability in the amount of EUR 7 million (2023/24: EUR 7 million) was
recognized. From today's point of view, retained profits at Group companies are to
remain predominantly invested. As a rule, future dividend payments would result in an
additional tax expense. Determining the temporary differences subject to tax would
involve a disproportionate effort.

The current income taxes are calculated on the basis of the respective national tax-
able earnings and regulations for the relevant year. In addition, the actual taxes
reported in the financial year also include adjustment amounts for any tax payments
or refunds for years that have not yet been definitively assessed. However, they do not
include interest payments or interest refunds and penalties for tax payments. In the
event that amounts reported in tax returns are unlikely to be realized (uncertain tax
positions), tax liabilities will be recognized. The amount is calculated based on the
best possible estimate of the expected tax payment (expected or most likely value of
tax uncertainty). Tax receivables from uncertain tax positions are therefore accounted
for when it is very likely and therefore sufficiently certain that they can be realized.
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Within the Group, a number of financial years are awaiting definitive tax assessments.
The Otto Group has made sufficient provisions for these open tax years. However, the
possibility of a demand for tax payments that exceeds the provisions made in the
consolidated financial statements cannot be excluded. On the basis of future case
law or changes in opinion by the tax authorities, the possibility of tax refunds for
previous yedrs cannot be ruled out either.

The Otto Group falls within the scope of global minimum taxation in accordance with
OECD model regulations. Decisive for this is the law to guarantee global minimum
taxation for corporate Groups (Minimum Tax Act), which ensures the corresponding
implementation of the OECD model regulations in Germany. The provisions of the
Minimum Tax Act apply to the Otto Group for the first time in the 2024/25 financial
year.

This Minimum Tax Act requires the Otto Group to pay additional tax per country in
which it does business in the amount of the difference between the individual effec-
tive tax rate and the minimum tax rate of 15 percent. In this regard, these additional
taxes can be incurred either at the level of the respective countries and at the level of
certain parent companies or at the level of the ultimate parent company. For the
Otto Group, the ultimate parent company within the meaning of the Minimum Tax
Act is Michael Otto Stiftung. Otto GmbH & Co. KGoA itself is not required to make
any tax declaration or accept tax payment obligations in Germany based on the reg-
ulations in regard to the minimum tax group, but it has a statutory compensation
obligation toward Michael Otto Stiftung for primary supplementary taxes payable by
the latter.

In the 2024/25 financial year, the Otto Group’s business activities in North
Macedonia, Bulgaria, and Hong Kong are subject to minimum taxation, as the individ-
ual effective tax rate in each of these countries is below 15 percent. The Otto Group
recognizes a total current tax expense of EUR 2 million in the 2024/25 financial year.
This current tax expense is mainly attributable to the compensation obligation of
Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA with regard to the primary supplementary tax payable by
Michael Otto Stiftung for Hong Kong.

In January 2025, Hong Kong introduced tax legislation in the Legislative Council to
introduce a national supplementary tax, which is to come into force for financial years
starting on 1 January 2025. As a result, from the 2025/26 financial year onwards, the
Group companies in Hong Kong will presumably be obliged to pay supplementary
taxes in relation to local business activities instead of Michael Otto Stiftung.
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Notes to the
Consolidated Balance Sheet

14 Intangible assets

Intangible assets developed as follows:

Internally-generated

Purchased

Advance payments
and intangible assets

intangible assets intangible assets Goodwill under development Total

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
As of 1 March 2024 641 1,547 1,600 113 3,901
Additions 16 17 0 81 114
Disposals -3 -40 -16 -1 -60
Reclassifications 50 8 0 -58 0
IFRS 5 reclassifications -109 -984 -250 -60 -1,403
Foreign currency translation 11 3 7 1 22
Historical cost as of 28 February 2025 606 551 1,341 76 2,574
As of 1 March 2024 -517 -902 -128 0 -1,547
Disposals 3 39 16 0 58
Depreciation and amortization -67 -89 0 0 -156
Impairment losses -1 -16 0 0 -17
Reversals of impairment losses 0 156 0 0 156
IFRS 5 reclassifications 86 362 0 0 448
Foreign currency translation -7 -2 -1 0 -10
Accumulated depreciation, amortization and impairments as of 28 February 2025 -503 -452 -113 0 -1,068
Carrying amount as of 28 February 2025 103 99 1,228 76 1,506
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Internally-generated

Purchased

Advance payments
and intangible assets

intangible assets intangible assets Goodwill under development Total

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
As of 1 March 2023 626 1,550 1,546 84 3,806
Changes in the scope of consolidation 0 19 68 0 87
Additions 15 15 0 108 138
Disposals -70 -39 0 -3 -112
Reclassifications 73 3 0 -76 0
IFRS 5 reclassifications 0 -3 -12 0 -15
Foreign currency translation -3 2 -2 0 -3
Historical cost as of 29 February 2024 641 1,547 1,600 113 3,901
As of 1 March 2023 -506 -627 -139 0 -1,272
Changes in the scope of consolidation 0 -6 -3 0 -9
Disposals 72 39 0 0 111
Depreciation and amortization -66 -133 0 0 -199
Impairment losses -20 -176 0 0 -196
IFRS 5 reclassifications 0 3 12 0 15
Foreign currency translation 3 -2 2 0 3
Accumulated depreciation, amortization and impairments as of 29 February 2024 -517 -902 -128 0 -1,547
Carrying amount as of 29 February 2024 124 645 1,472 113 2,354

Advance payments and intangible assets under development consist of EUR 51 million
(29 February 2024: EUR 35 million) for advance payments and EUR 25 million (29 Febru-
ary 2024: EUR 78 million) for internally-generated intangible assets that are still in
development.
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The goodwill recognized in intangible assets is allocated to the cash-generating units
or groups of cash-generating units as follows:

28022025 29022024

EUR million EUR million
Platforms 757 1,006
Brand Concepts 169 161
Retailers 11 11
Services 70 70
Various cash-generating units in the EOS Group 103 103
Digital Health 118 121
Goodwill recognized under intangible assets 1,228 1,472

In the 2024/25 financial year, there were impairment losses on derivative goodwill in
the amount of EUR 96 million (2023/24: EUR O million). In the course of the intended
sale of the shares in ABOUT YOU Holding SE, Hamburg, part of the derivative goodwiill
reported in the Platforms segment was reclassified to assets held for sale due to their
classification in accordance with IFRS 5. As part of the subsequent valuation in accor-
dance with IFRS 5, an impairment requirement was recognized on the reclassified
portion of the derivative goodwill based on the fair value (see Note 5c).

The estimated recoverable amount of the Digital Health cash-generating unit is
EUR 18 million above the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit. Possible changes
in three key assumptions could result in the carrying amount of the Digital Health
cash-generating unit exceeding the recoverable amount of it. These key assumptions
are the free cash flow margin (after tax) in terminal value where free cash flows (after
tax) are set in relation to revenue, the capitalization rate used to discount future cash
flows and the growth factor after the end of the forecast horizon. The recoverable
amount would correspond to the carrying amount of the Digital Health cash-gener-
ating unit if the free cash flow margin (after tax) of 18.8% in terminal value were to be
reduced by 2.0 percentage points, the capitalization rate used to discount future
cash flows were to be increased by 0.6 percentage points, or the growth factor after
the end of the forecast horizon were to be reduced by 1.2 percentage points. Corre-
sponding sensitivity analyses for the other cash-generating units or groups of
cash-generating units reveal that there would be no impairment of goodwill in the
event of any adjustments to the key assumptions. The sensitivity analyses each take
into account a change in one key assumption, with the other assumptions remaining
unchanged.
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The following table shows the parameters of the impairment tests:

Projection horizon in years

Terminal value growth rate in percent

Capitalization rate in percent

2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24
Platforms 5 5 1.00 1.00 9.03 9.33
Brand Concepts 3 3 1.00 1.00 996 991
Retailers 5 5 1.00 1.00 9.31 912
Services 5 3 1.00 1.00 7.68 795
Various cash-generating units in the EOS Group 3 3 0.50-1.00 0.50-1.00 911-12.35 8.89-12.34
Digital Health 5 3 1.50 1.00 11.02 1095

For the Digital Health cash-generating unit, the 5-year planning calculation was

extended by two additional periods in the 2024/25 financial year. In the additional

periods, the necessary adjustment years for the transfer to terminal value were

technically modeled.
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15 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment developed as follows:

Land, land rights

Technical plant

Other plants,
operating and

Advance payments
and assets under

and buildings and machinery office equipment construction Total

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
As of 1 March 2024 1,494 531 688 513 3,226
Additions 20 28 69 23 140
Disposals -20 -60 -46 -2 -128
Reclassifications 261 113 8 -382 0
IFRS 5 reclassifications 0 0 -13 0 -13
Foreign currency translation 23 4 11 7 45
Historical cost as of 28 February 2025 1,778 616 717 159 3,270
As of 1 March 2024 -849 -321 -457 0 -1,627
Disposals 14 57 43 0 114
Depreciation and amortization -54 -30 -51 0 -135
Impairment losses -3 -10 -2 0 -15
IFRS 5 reclassifications 0 0 8 0 8
Foreign currency translation -18 -1 -6 0 -25
Accumulated depreciation, amortization and impairments as of 28 February 2025 -910 -305 -465 0 -1,680
Carrying amount as of 28 February 2025 868 311 252 159 1,590
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Land, land rights

Technical plant

Other plants,
operating and

Advance payments
and assets under

and buildings and machinery office equipment construction Total

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
As of 1 March 2023 1481 495 665 451 3,092
Changes in the scope of consolidation -17 0 0 0 -17
Additions 37 24 59 160 280
Disposals -35 -31 -50 -1 -117
Reclassifications 50 45 30 -119 6
IFRS 5 reclassifications -11 0 -11 0 -22
Foreign currency translation -11 -2 -5 22 4
Historical cost as of 29 February 2024 1,494 531 688 513 3,226
As of 1 March 2023 -873 -321 -463 0 -1,657
Changes in the scope of consolidation 17 2 0 0 19
Disposals 33 29 46 0 108
Depreciation and amortization -46 -22 -50 0 -118
Impairment losses 0 -6 0 0 -6
Reclassifications 0 -4 0 0 -4
IFRS 5 reclassifications 10 0 7 0 17
Foreign currency translation 10 1 3 0 14
Accumulated depreciation, amortization and impairments as of 29 February 2024 -849 -321 -457 0 -1,627
Carrying amount as of 29 February 2024 645 210 231 513 1,599

Contractual obligations for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment
(purchase commitments) amount to EUR 9 million (29 February 2024: EUR 9 million).
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16 Right-of-use assets

Land, land rights

Technical plant

Other plants,
operating and

and buildings and machinery  office equipment Total
Right-of-use assets developed as follows: EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
Other plants,
Land, land rights Technical plant operoet?r?gdgnz As of 1 March 2023 1593 43 34 1670
and buildings and machinery  office equipment Total )
— — — — Changes in the scope of 9 0 0 5
EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million consolidation
As of 1 March 2024 1,628 35 32 1,695 Additions 167 1 7 175
Additions 224 1 7 232 Disposals -79 -1 -8 -88
Disposals -134 -11 -17 -162 Reclassifications 0 -6 0 -6
IFRS 5 reclassifications -165 0 0 -165 IFRS 5 reclassifications -41 -2 -1 -44
Foreign currency translation 35 0 0 35 Foreign currency translation -13 0 0 -13
Historical cost as of Historical cost as of
1,588 25 22 1,635 1,629 35 32 1,696
28 February 2025 29 February 2024
As of 1 March 2024 -750 -19 -18 -787 As of 1 March 2023 -637 -21 -17 -675
Disposals 99 11 10 120 Disposals 50 2 7 59
Depreciation and amortization -193 -4 -5 -202 Depreciation and amortization -199 -5 -8 -212
Impairment losses -21 0 0 -21 Reclassifications 0 4 0 4
IFRS 5 reclassifications 75 0 0 75 IFRS 5 reclassifications 30 1 0 31
Foreign currency translation -17 0 0 -17 Foreign currency translation 6 0 0 6
Accumulated depreciation, Accumulated depreciation,
amortization and impairments -807 -12 -13 -832 amortization and impairments -750 -19 -18 -787
as of 28 February 2025 as of 29 February 2024
Carrying amount as of 281 13 9 803 Carrying amount as of 879 16 14 909

28 February 2025

29 February 2024
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17 Investments in associated companies,
joint ventures and other financial investments

As of the 2020/21 financial year, Hermes Germany GmbH, Hamburg, has been a signif-
icant associated company. On 30 November 2020, the Otto Group relinquished control
of the previously fully consolidated company, including control of its subsidiaries.
Since then, they have been included in the consolidated financial statements based on
a shareholding of 75.00% calculated using the equity method. Hermes Germany GmbH
is mainly involved in the parcel distribution business.

The key figures for the significant associated company Hermes Germany GmbH and its
subsidiaries are as follows (based on 100%):

28022025 | 29022024

EUR million | EUR million
Non-current assets 295 317
Current assets 150 215
Non-current liabilities 308 314
Current liabilities 391 241
Net assets® -254 -23
Proportional equity (calculated) -190 -17

Difference allocated to individually identifiable assets and liabilities and
resulting from transitional consolidation in FY 2020/21 after deferred 39 39
tax (before depreciation)

Accumulated depreciation allocated to individually identifiable assets

and liabilities resulting from transitional consolidation in FY 2020/21 -16 -12
after deferred tax

Negative difference allocated to goodwill and resulting from 1 1
transitional consolidation in the 2020/21 financial year

Recognition of pro rata losses in the loan as part of the net investment o3 0
in accordance with IAS 28.38

Recognition of pro rata losses as an additional obligation in 73 0

accordance with IAS 28.39

Group's share of carrying amount 0 11

2024/25 |  2023/24
EUR million | EUR million
Revenue 1,612 1,579
Loss for the year*™* -231 -63
Adjustment of the interim profit from the sale
. . . 0 -75
of the Supply Chain Solutions operation
Loss for the year (after adjusting the interim result in the previous year)* -231 -138
Other comprehensive income for the year 0 -3
Total comprehensive income for the year -231 -141
Loss for the year recognized in income (loss) from equity investments
. -177 -104
attributable to Group

*  After adjustment of interim results

** Including depreciation in the amount of EUR 4 million (2023/24: EUR 4 million) for the difference attributable to
individually identifiable assets and liabilities from the transitional consolidation in the 2020/21 financial year

The carrying amount of the share in the Group has been reduced to zero due to the
continued recognition of losses. Further losses were recognized via the loan receivable
from Hermes Germany GmbH classified as part of the net investment. In addition, a
deferred income item was recognized in other liabilities for the losses that exceed the
loan receivables due to a legal obligation.

On 23 August 2024, the shares in Evri Limited (until 15 May 2024 Hermes Parcel-
net Limited), Leeds, UK, and its subsidiaries were sold. Until the disposal of the shares,
the companies were included in the consolidated financial statements based on a
shareholding of 25.00% calculated using the equity method. Evri Limited and its
subsidiaries are involved in parcel distribution business in the United Kingdom.
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The key figures for the significant associated company Evri Limited and its subsidiaries
are as follows (based on 100%):

29022024
EUR million
Non-current assets 1,278
Current assets 303
Non-current liabilities 1611
Current liabilities 398
Net assets -428
Group's share of carrying amount 0
2024/25 2023/24
EUR million EUR million
Revenue 1016 1,948
Profit/loss for the year 23 -24
Other comprehensive income for the year -7 68
Total comprehensive income for the year 16 44
Profit/loss for the year recognized in income (loss) from 82 0
equity investments attributable to the Otto Group

The net assets were negative at the time of the disposal of the shares and in the
2023/24 financial year. For dividends paid in previous years that exceeded the carrying
amount of the share, a deferred item was recognized in other liabilities for the excess
amount. At the time of the disposal of the shares, the deferred income item was
released to income and reported in the amount of EUR 82 million in the income (loss)
from equity investments. The sale also resulted in a gain of EUR 354 million, which is
reported in the other net financial result.

The shares in COFIDIS PARTICIPATIONS, Villeneuve-d'Ascq, France, and its subsidiaries
were sold at the end of the 2023/24 financial year. Until the sale, they were included
inthe consolidated financial statements using the equity method with a shareholding
of 20.00% and therefore represented a significant associated company. These asso-
ciated companies have a different reporting date of 31 December, which corre-
sponds to the reporting date of their parent company. The companies operate within
the financial services sector, particularly in the sector of consumer credit.

COFIDIS PARTICIPATIONS, Villeneuve-d‘Ascq, France, and its subsidiaries had the
following key figures (based on 100%) in the previous year:

2023/24

EUR million
Revenue 2,043
Profit for the year 103
Other comprehensive income for the year -28
Total comprehensive income for the year 75
thereof, attributable to Group 15
Dividends received by the Group 0
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For the other associated companies and joint ventures that are individually insignifi-
cant for the Group and that have been accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements of the Otto Group using the equity method, the key figures (based on
100%) are as follows:

28.02.2025 2902.2024
Joint ventures Associates Joint ventures Associates
EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
f:qrrylng amount of the 26 459 24 425
investment
2024/25 2023/24
Joint ventures Associates Joint ventures Associates
EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
Loss/Profit for the year 5 41 -13 18
Other comprehensive income
0 0 0 0
for the year
Total comprehensive incom
otal comprehensive iIncome 5 41 -13 18
for the year

The recoverability of the carrying amount of investments in associated companies
and joint ventures that have been accounted for using the equity method will be
reviewed if there is any indication of impairment. If the carrying amount of a share-
holding exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment amounting to the difference
between the two amounts should be recorded.

Shares held in companies that are not consolidated or accounted for using the equity
method and financial instruments included under other financial investments are
measured as of the balance sheet date at fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI) or at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) in accordance with IFRS 9.

28022025 [ 29022024

EUR million | EUR million
Fair Value, FVOCI 195 209
Fair Value, FVPL 84 78
Other financial investments 279 287

For further information on other financial investments, please refer to Note 36a.

18 Inventories

Inventories mainly include merchandise in the amount of EUR 1,438 million (29 Febru-
ary 2024: EUR 2,030 million). Moreover, inventories include acquired properties
intended for resale in the amount of EUR 317 million (29 February 2024: EUR 289 million),
which are allocated to the Financial Services segment.

Allowances due to marketability discounts were recognized in the amount of
EUR 245 million (29 February 2024: EUR 256 million). The allowance discount for gross
inventories as a result of this was 12.12% (29 February 2024: 9.84%).
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19 Trade receivables and receivables from
financial services

These receivables are composed as follows:

The remaining terms of receivables are as follows:

Remaining term

Remaining term

28.02.2025 2902.2024 ofupto Remaining term of of more than
e o 1year 1to 5 years 5 years Total
EUR million EUR million
EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
Trade receivables, gross 996 1,068
Trade receivables 767 132 0 899
Allowances on trade receivables -97 -114 . .
Receivables from financial
Trade receivables 899 954 services 806 1315 543 2,664
Recei les fi fi ial i 2,756 2,617 ini i
eceivables from financial services, gross Remaining terms of receivables 1,573 1,447 543 3,563
. ) . . as of 28 February 2025
Allowances on receivables from financial services and
R K -92 -93
fair value adjustments IFRS 9
Receivables from financial services 2,664 2,524 Trade receivables 817 137 0 954
sReer(i?(lz\;osbles from financial 749 1245 530 2,524
Receivables from financial services include, in particular, receivables purchased from
third parties in the amount of EUR 2,571 million (29 February 2024: EUR 2,404 million). ~ Remaining terms of receivables 1,566 1,382 530 3,478

This also includes receivables from bridge financing in the amount of EUR 72 million
(29 February 2024: EUR 99 million). Receivables from financial services in the previous
year were adjusted by the EUR 99 million from bridge loans provided by the EOS Group
and previously reported under other assets with the corresponding maturities and the
valuation allowances shown below (see Note 21). In the Financial Services segment,
the Otto Group invests in bridge loans in the area of performing loans. This involves
the granting of short- to medium-term loans secured by real estate, for which no
relevant valuation allowances had to be recognized to date.

as of 29 February 2024
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Allowances recognized on existing trade receivables developed as follows:

2024/25 2023/24

EURmillion | EUR million

As of 1 March 114 131
Foreign exchange rate changes 1 0
IFRS 5 reclassifications -1 -2
Utilisation -81 -106
Reversals -32 -14
Additions 96 105
Allowances on trade receivables as of 28/29 February 97 114

The allowances recognized for current receivables from financial services developed

in detail as follows:

2024/25 2023/24

EURmillion | EUR million
As of 1 March 93 95
Foreign exchange rate changes 4 -14
Changes to the scope of consolidation 9 9
Utilisation -47 -13
Reversals -1 0
Additions 38 19
Fair Value adjustments IFRS 9 -4 -3
Allowances on receivables from financial services 92 03

as of 28/29 February

The default risk from trade receivables is primarily assessed on the basis of arrears

information. The gross carrying amounts and allowances as well as the default risk

rates are broken down into the relevant arrears bands as follows:

Overdue for
more than

Overdue for

Overdueupto 30andupto  morethan
Not overdue 30 days 90 days 90days | 28022025

EURmilion  EURmilion ~ EURmillion  EURmillion |  EUR million

Receivables, gross 764 78 50 48 940
Allowances ECL -24 -5 -7 -25 -61
Receivables not credit-impaired 740 73 43 23 879
Receivables, gross 0 0 0 56 56
Specific allowances 0 0 0 -36 -36
Receivables credit-impaired o] 0] 0 20 20
Carrying amount receivables 740 73 43 43 899
Receivables, gross 764 78 50 104 996
ﬁllllg\\:vvgggzz ECL and specific —oa 5 7 6l Y
Default risk rate 3.08% 6.66% 14.30% 58.80% 9.70%

Allowances for ECL (expected credit losses) are general allowances on the basis of the

anticipated probability of default. By contrast, specific allowances for single value

adjustments are based on borrower performance disruptions that have actually

occurred.
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The gross carrying amounts and allowances as well as the default rates for the com-  The gross carrying amounts and allowances as well as the default risk rates of receiv-

parative period were broken down into the relevant arrears bands as follows: ables from financial services in the Platforms segment as of 28 February 2025 are
broken down into the relevant arrears bands as follows:
Overdue for
more than Overdue for
Overdueupto 30andupto more than Overdue for
Not overdue 30 days 90 days 90 days 2902.2024 more than Overdue for
Overdueupto 30andupto more than
EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million Not overdue 30 days 90 days 90 days 28.02.2025
Receivables gross 757 85 46 100 088 EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
Allowances ECL -32 4 -10 _26 -72 Receivcbles, gross 199 17 15 2 233
Receivables not credit-impaired 725 81 36 74 916 Allowances ECL -4 -1 -2 -1 -8
Receivables, gross 0 0 0 80 go| Receivables not credit-impaired 195 16 13 1 225
Specific allowances 0 0 0 -42 -42 Receivables, gross 0 0 0 3 3
Receivables credit-impaired 0 0 0 38 3g| Specific allowances 0 0 0 -3 -3
Carrying amount receivables 725 81 36 112 954| Receivables credit-impaired 0 0 0 0 0
Receivables gross 757 85 46 180 1,068 Carrying amount receivables 195 16 13 1 225
ifi Receivables, gross 199 17 15 5 236
Allllowomces ECL and specific _3 a 10 68 114

allowances Allowances ECL and specific 4 I 2 4 11

Default risk rate 418% 454%  21.07%  38.09%| 10.65%| allowances
Default risk rate 1.93% 5.76% 13.41% 80.14% 4.58%

Within the Platforms segment, there are receivables from financial services consisting of
payment services, of which the default risk is determined analogously to the default risk
of trade receivables on the basis of past arrears information. Receivables from financial
services in the Platforms segment relate to payment claims from genuine factoring of
marketplace transactions by marketplace partners on the Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA
e-commerce platform. These are not performance-impaired at the time of acquisition.
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The default risk of receivables from financial services as of the reporting date of the

comparative period was as follows:

20 Receivables from related parties

Receivables from related parties are composed as follows:

Overdue for
more than Overdue for
Overdueupto 30 andupto more than
Not overdue 30 days 90 days 90 days 29.02.2024 28.02.2025 29.02.2024
EURmillion ~ EURmilion  EURmillion ~ EURmillion |  EUR million EURmillion | EUR million
Receivables, gross 114 8 10 11 143 Receivables from non-consolidated companies 0 0
Allowances ECL -1 0 -1 0 -2 Receivables from associated companies and joint ventures 37 88
Receivables not credit-impaired 113 8 9 11 141 Receivables from other related parties 17 26
Receivables, gross 0 0 (0] 1 1 Receivables from related parties 54 114
Specific allowances 0 0 0 -1 -1
Receivables credit-impaired 0 0 0 0 0 Receivables from related parties mainly result from receivables from offsetting and,
Carrying amount receivables 113 8 9 11 141| asinthe previous year, from offsetting receivables.
Receivables, gross 114 8 10 12 144
Allowances ECL and specific 1 0 1 1 3
allowances
Default risk rate 0.91% 3.60% 11.81% 8.06% 242%
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The detailed value allowances recognized on existing receivables from related parties
changed as follows:

2024/25 2023/24

EUR million EUR million

As of 1 March (o] 5
Disposals 0 -5
Additions 1 0
Allowances as of 28/29 February 1 0

Remaining terms as of balance sheet date are as follows:

28.02.2025 29.02.2024

EUR million EUR million

Remaining term of up to 1 year 38 74
Remaining term of 1 to 5 years 4 6
Remaining term of more than 5 years 12 34

Receivables from related parties 54 114
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21 Other assets

Other assets consist of the following:

On 29 February 2024, there is a purchase price receivable, settled in the reporting
year, from the sale of shares in COFIDIS PARTICIPATIONS, Villeneuve d’Ascq, France, in
the amount of EUR 441 million, which is reported under other financial assets in the
previous year.

28022025 290022024 The claim for surrender of goods from expected returns in the amount of EUR 54 million
EUR million EURmillion (99 February 2024: EUR 103 million) corresponds to the acquisition costs of the delivered
Financial receivables from purchase o1 56 merchandise expected to be returned, less the cost of processing the returns and any
price receivables and co-investments losses incurred during disposal.
Factoring deduction for expected returns 59 66
Positive fair values (interest rate and The remaining terms of other financial assets are broken down as follows:
. . 49 32
currency derivatives) .
Remaining term
. Remaining term  Remaining term of of more than
Amounts owed by suppllers 14 37 of up to 1 year 1to5years 5years Total
Receivables from employees 3 4 EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
Deposits 2 2 Balance as of 28 February 2025 272 48 14 334
Other 146 200 Balance as of 29 February 2024 791 60 16 867
Other financial assets 334 867
Receivables from other taxes 254 182  For other assets, allowances in the amount of EUR 17 million were set up (29 Febru-
ary 2024: EUR 27 million).
Deferred income 92 94 Y )
i 54 103 .
Expected returns of merchandise 22 EQUIty
Defined plan assets 45 42
Other 40 37 An essential objective of the Otto Group's capital management is to ensure the sus-
Miscellaneous other assets 485 458 tained availability of long-term capital. The main control measure used here is the
debt to equity ratio (net financial debt relative to Group equity). Changes in the
Other assets 819 1,325 ] ) ) ]
Otto Group's equity are presented in the statement of changes in equity.

The bridge loans granted by the EOS Group have been reclassified retrospectively for
the previous year from financial receivables due to purchase price receivables and
co-investments to receivables from financial services (see Note 19) with the corre-
sponding maturity.

a Subscribed capital

The share capital of Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA in the amount of EUR 1,180 million (29 Feb-
ruary 2024: EUR 1,180 million) is divided into 1,179,795,918 no-par value shares
(29 February 2024: 1,179,795,918), which are issued in the name.
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b Consolidated retained earnings

Consolidated retained earnings in equity mainly include the profit or loss generated
by the Group in previous periods, to the extent that these amounts have not been dis-
tributed. Due to legal requirements, EUR 53 million (29 February 2024: EUR 49 million)
of the consolidated retained earnings in Group equity had not been made available
for distribution on 28 February 2025.

c Adjustment item for step acquisitions and partial disposals
The adjustment item contains differences arising from the step acquisition of shares

in companies in which the Otto Group already had the power of control and from partial
disposals. Such acquisitions are to be treated as transactions at partner level.

28.02.2025 29.02.2024
EUR million EUR million
Consideration paid (-) or received (+) 0 -2
Increase (-)/decrease (+) in non-controlling interests -10 -6
Effects from step acquisitions and partial disposals -10 -8

d Non-controlling interests

On 28 February 2025, the non-controlling interests in equity primarily relate to external
shareholdersin ARGOSYN, Croix, France, including its subsidiaries, based on a non-con-
trolling interest of 46.32%, and to external shareholders in FORUM Grundstiicks-
gesellschaft m.b.H., Hamburg, based on a non-controlling interest of 100%, including
its subsidiaries, and to external shareholders of ABOUT YOU Holding SE, Hamburg,
with a consolidation-relevant interest of 60.37%, and its subsidiaries.

The summarized financial information for the Argosyn Group, the Forum Group and
the About You Group (based on 100%, before offsetting within the Group) is presented
below. However, the values for the About You Group also include fair value adjust-
ments (including deferred tax) calculated at the time of acquisition and the corre-
sponding subsequent recognition. This resulted in a revaluation of EUR 156 million in the
About You Group in the 2024/25 financial year on assets previously subject to impair-
ment. In the previous year, an impairment loss of EUR 175 million was recognized.

On 1 March 2023, the non-controlling interests in equity were largely attributable to
the external shareholders of GSV Aktiengesellschaft flr Beteiligungen, Hamburg,
which in turn held shares in the former Otto (GmbH & Co KG), Hamburg, and its sub-
sidiaries. Theindirect share of Otto GmbH & Co.KGaAinthe former Otto (GmbH &Co KG)
amounted to 15.16% (taking into account treasury shares held by GSV Aktienge-
sellschaft fir Beteiligungen). In the 2023/24 financial year, the shareholders of
GSV Aktiengesellschaft flr Beteiligungen contributed their shares in exchange for
newly issued shares in Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA. GSV Aktiengesellschaft fur Beteiligun-
genwas merged with Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA with retroactive effect on 1 March 2023.
As a result of this restructuring under company law, Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA directly
held 100% of the former Otto (GmbH & Co KG). These transactions were recognized
directly in equity. In the statement of changes in equity, the corresponding effects are
shown within the capital increase transaction. In addition to the increase in the sub-
scribed capital of Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA and the derecognition of the non-controlling
interests, the historical allocation to the non-controlling interests was reversed for the
other comprehensive income item.The adjustment item for step acquisitions and
partial disposals formed for earlier transactions at the level above the former
Otto (GmbH & Co KG) was reversed and recognized in the Group equity generated.
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Forum Group* Argosyn Group About You Group

2802.2025 2902.2024 28022025 2902.2024 2802.2025 2902.2024

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Non-current assets 431 430 0 1 876 798
Current assets 2 21 55 475 779 888
Non-current liabilities 121 131 0 1 169 202
Current liabilities 57 53 9 4 734 740
Net assets 255 267 46 471 752 744
thereof, attributable to non-controlling interests 255 266 21 218 454 447
2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Revenue ™* 0 0 7 8 2,002 1,935
Profit/loss for the year 18 27 7 13 -9 -344
thereof, attributable to non-controlling interests 18 27 3 6 -5 -204
Other comprehensive income for the year -2 -2 -2 2 0 0
Total comprehensive income for the year 16 25 5 15 -9 -344
thereof, attributable to non-controlling interests 16 25 2 7 -5 -204
Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents 0 (o] 25 -12 -10 -41
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests** 28 0 199 8 0 0

*

A wholly owned subsidiary of Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA holds 1% of the shares in a subsidiary of FORUM Grundstiicksgesellschaft m.b.H.

** The shareholders of the Forum Group are OTTO Grundstiicksbeteiligungsgesellschaft m.b.H. and GSV Grundstiicksbeteiligungsgesellschaft m.b.H., which were consolidated as pure holding companies in the consolidated financial statements
of Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA with non-controlling interests of 100% each until 28 February 2025 due to the identity of persons on the Executive Board (see Note 4). The dividends shown involve the dividends of the two holding companies to

non-controlling interests.

Hkk

The stated revenue of the About You Group includes revenue with Group companies of the Otto Group. This revenue is eliminated in the consolidation of expenses and income.
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e Publicly-listed equity and participation certificates

Publicly listed equity includes a subordinate bond with an outstanding nominal vol-
ume in the amount of EUR 248 million placed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange in
July 2018 (29 February 2024: EUR 248 million).

EOS Holding GmbH, Hamburg, has issued participation certificates that must be
classified as equity in accordance with IAS 32 due to their structure. On 28 Febru-
ary 2025, participation certificates with a nominal volume of EUR 30 million remain
outstanding (29. February 2024: EUR 30 million).

Also included in this item on 28 February 2025, is the as-yet unpaid remuneration for
the aforementioned equity components in the amount of EUR 6 million (29 Febru-
ary 2024: EUR 6 million).

23 Profit and loss participation rights

The Otto Group offers employees at selected Group companies in Germany a capital
participation plan in the form of participation rights. Each employee at these compa-
nies has the option of buying a package with up to 20 profit and loss participation
rights at a par value of EUR 250.00 each. Under the terms and conditions governing
profit and loss participation rights in January 2022, these rights share in all Group
profits and losses of the Otto Group based on the IFRS consolidated financial state-
ments of Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA. However, in some cases the loss allocation is limited
to 30% of the par value of the profit and loss participation rights. As a rule, these rights
packages must be held for at least six years and are therefore recognized as non-current
rights and accounted for on a pro rata basis over this period.

On 28 February 2025, 29,227 packages were subscribed with a value of EUR 22 million
(29 February 2024: 30,174 packages with a value of EUR 25 million).
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24 Provisions for pensions and similar obligations

Occupational pensions in the Group take the form of both defined contribution plans
as well as defined benefit plans. Expenses for defined contribution pension plans to
external pension funds amountto EUR 7 millioninthe 2024/25 financial year(2023/24:
EUR 7 million). There are no further obligations to pension beneficiaries.

The principal defined benefit pension plans are in place at the Otto Group companies
domiciled in Germany and the United Kingdom, whereby the existing plan assets are
mainly attributable to the Group companies in the UK. The plan assets serve only to
fulfill the benefit obligations. The underpinning of these benefit obligations with cash
and cash equivalents represents a reserve for future cash outflows. The plan assets
are invested and managed by an independent trustee. The overriding investment pol-
icy and investment strategy are based on the aim of generating a yield from the plan
assets which, together with the contributions, is sufficient to meet the benefit obliga-
tions. The pension payments are to a large extent legally secured against the conse-
guences of an insolvency. For this purpose, annual contributions are made to the Pen-

sion Protection Fund.

Due to the shortfall in the previous year (29 February 2024: EUR 3 million), for which no
additional liability was recognized for balancing, the Group companies in the UK had
undertaken to make regular endowments to make up the shortfall in the long term.
This measure was implemented, meaning that the technical funding is now complete
and there is no longer a shortfall. In the United Kingdom, the independent trustee is
entitled to have a portion of the pension plan secured via further funding. The pro-
bability of this right being exercised has been classified as very low.

Calculation of the provisions for pensions for the defined benefit plans is on the basis
of actuarial assumptions, pursuant to IAS 19. Measurement is based on the following
weighted assumptions:

2024/25 2023/24

in% in%
Discount rate 39 3.8
Salary trend 14 15
Pension trend 21 2.2
Inflation 2.2 2.3
Fluctuation 8.0 8.0

The present value of pension obligations is broken down as follows:

28022025 2902.2024

EUR million EUR million
Defined benefit obligation, unfunded plans 1,254 1,226
Defined benefit obligation, funded plans 431 435
IFRS 5 reclassifications 0 -1
Present value of pension obligations 1,685 1,660
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The net defined benefit liability has developed as follows:

Defined benefit obligations Plan assets Provisions for pensions
2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24
EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
As of 1 March 1,660 1,566 546 535 1114 1,031
Current service cost 13 14 0 0 13 14
Past service cost 16 15 0 0 16 15
Effects of plan curtailments and settlements 0 0 0 0 0 0
Interest income (expense) 62 61 25 25 37 36
Changes recognized in profit or loss 91 90 25 25 66 65
Actuarial gains and losses
-arising from demographic assumptions -3 -6 0 0 -3 -6
-arising on financial assumptions -28 51 0 0 -28 51
-arising on experience adjustments 18 10 0 0 18 10
Expense for / return on plan assets less interest income 0 0 -25 -22 25 22
Foreign exchange rate changes 17 12 18 12 -1 0
Changes recognized in other comprehensive income 4 67 -7 -10 11 77
Payments to beneficiaries -71 -64 -33 -28 -38 -36
Transfers 1 0 0 0 1 0
Contributions from employer 0 0 21 24 -21 -24
Changes to the scope of consolidation 0 2 0 0 0 2
IFRS 5 reclassifications 0 -1 0 0 0 -1
Other changes -70 -63 -12 -4 -58 -59
As of 28/29 February 1,685 1,660 552 546 1,133 1,114
thereof, provisions for pensions 1178 1,156
thereof, net defined benefit asset -45 -42
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Plan assets available to finance pension obligations are structured as follows:

28.02.2025 29.02.2024

EUR million EUR million
Securities 377 373
Cash and cash equivalents 19 11
Property 7 7
Other 149 155
Plan assets 552 546

The costs of managing the plan assets diminish the income for the plan assets. The
remaining administrative costs are not deducted from the income from plan assets.

During the 2025/26 financial year, the Group expects to pay contributions in the
amount of EUR 5 million into the defined benefit plans and also anticipates that
EUR 18 million will be paid out from these plans.

The weighted average term of the present value of the defined benefit obligation is
14.7 years (29 February 2024: 15.2 years).

The relative effect of singular parameter changes on the present value of the defined

benefit obligation is shown below:

2024/25

2023/24

in%

in%

Discount rate +0,5% -6.7 -69
Discount rate -0,5% 75 7.8
Pension trend +0,25% 14 1.6
Pension trend -0,25% -1.6 -1.6
Life expectancy + 1 year 14 1.0
Life expectancy - 1 year -2.0 -14

There is no material dependence of the plans on salary. Sensitivity was calculated

taking into account approximately 99% of the total obligations. Each change in one

of the material actuarial assumptions was analysed separately. Interdependencies

were not taken into account.



Notes Otto Group
2024/25 Annual Report 206

25 Other provisions

Other provisions as of 28 February 2025 are composed as follows:

Exchange rate effects/
changes to the scope Compounding/
01.03.2024 of consolidation Utilization Reversals Additions discounting IFRS 5 reclassification 28.02.2025
EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
Restructuring obligations 20 0 -12 -11 53 0 0 50
Personnel expenses 51 0 -5 -2 4 1 0 49
Operational provisions 24 0 -2 -1 14 1 0 36
Contractual provisions 5 0 -1 -1 14 0 -2 15
Other 64 0 -20 -4 86 0 0 126
Other provisions 164 0] -40 -19 171 2 -2 276

They had the following composition on the reporting date of the comparative period:

Exchange rate effects/
changes to the scope Compounding/
01.03.2023 of consolidation Utilization Reversals Additions discounting 29.02.2024
EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
Personnel expenses 49 1 -5 -2 5 3 51
Operational provisions 26 0 -1 -5 4 0 24
Restructuring obligations 27 0 -2 -17 12 0 20
Contractual provisions 6 0 0 -1 0 0 5
Other 59 0 -7 -21 33 0 64
Other provisions 167 1 -15 -46 54 3 164
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Reported in the provisions for restructuring obligations are severance pay commit-
ments and other personnel expenses incurred as part of restructuring measures initi-
ated primarily in Germany during the 2024/25 financial year. In the previous year, the
restructuring measures introduced largely affected Group companies in Germany

and Belgium.

Operational provisions mostly consist of provisions for asset removal or site restoration
as well as provisions for claims relating to warranties and customer goodwill pay-
ments. Provisions for asset removal and site restoration, which apply especially to lease-
hold improvements, were recognized at the present value of the anticipated costs.
These costs were correspondingly capitalized as a component of the purchase or pro-
duction costs of the assets in property, plant, and equipment at the time the obligation
was incurred. Provisions for warranties and customer goodwill payments are recognized
forthe probable total claim amounts, for warranties established by law or contract or
undertaken voluntarily, and for customer warranty claims on delivered merchandise.

The provisions for personnel expenses mainly comprise top-up amounts for partial
retirement obligations as well as anniversary bonus entitlements.

Obligations arising from ongoing or anticipated legal disputes are reported under
contractual provisions, among others.

The other provisions refer to a large number of identifiable individual risks and contin-
gent liabilities that are included on the basis of an amount determined by their prob-
able occurrence.

The remaining terms of
28 February 2025:

other provisions are broken down as follows as of

Remaining term

Remaining term of

Remaining term
of more than

of upto 1year 1to 5years 5years Total

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Restructuring obligations 44 6 0] 50
Personnel expenses 1 48 0 49
Operational provisions 22 8 6 36
Contractual provisions 11 4 0 15
Other 101 25 0 126
Other provisions 179 91 6 276

The remaining terms on the reporting date of the comparative period were as

follows:

Remaining term

Remaining term of

Remaining term
of more than

of upto 1 year 1to 5 years 5years Total

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
Personnel expenses 1 50 0 51
Operational provisions 10 9 5 24
Restructuring obligations 20 0 0 20
Contractual provisions 5 0 0 5
Other 53 11 0 64
Other provisions 89 70 5 164
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26 Liabilities under bonds and other notes payable
and bank liabilities

The remaining terms of bonds, other notes payable and bank liabilities are broken

down as follows:

o1 yeor S S yeare more thon & yeors Total
EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
Bonds and other notes payable 7 271 110 388
Bank liabilities 391 620 214 1,225
Remaining terms of liabilities as of 28 February 2025 398 891 324 1,613
Bonds and other notes payable 333 271 110 714
Bank liabilities 714 525 328 1,567
Remaining terms of liabilities as of 29 February 2024 1,047 796 438 2,281

The principal bonds outstanding as of 28 February 2025 have the following nominal

values, interest rates and maturities:
Utilization by 28.02.2025 Nominal interest rate Re-offer yield Maturity
EUR million

Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA Bearer bond (XS1979274708)*** 184 2.625% 2.625% 10.04.2026
Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA Bearer bond (XS1979274708)*** 37 2.625% 2.300 % 10.04.2026
Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA Bearer bond (XS1660709616) 50 Euribor + mark-up Euribor + mark-up 24.08.2026
Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA Registered bond 15 3.400 % 3.400 % 25.03.2031
Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA Bearer bond (XS2028841489)* 30 3.400 % 3.400 % 17.07.2031
Otto GmbH & Co. KGoA Registered Bond™ 10 3.000 % 3.000 % 24.01.2032
Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA Bearer bond (X52111951690)* 40 3.000 % 3.000 % 30.01.2032
Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA Bearer bond (X52063541358)* 15 3180% 3180 % 10.10.2034

*  Sustainable bond
** Nominal volume reduced compared to original issue amount as part of a buyback
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Since the 2013/14 financial year, the Otto Group has had an EMTN program with a
total volume of EUR 2,000 million on the Luxembourg stock exchange. On 28 Febru-
ary 2025, the total volume of bonds issued under the EMTN program amounted to
EUR 356 million (29 February 2024: EUR 594 million).

In addition, a commercial paper program has been in place since the 2016/17 financial
year and has a total value of EUR 1,000 million. On 28 February 2025, there is no com-
mercial paper outstanding (29 February 2024: EUR 79 million).

Inthe 2024/25 financial year, the Otto Group repaid a bond with a nominal volume of
EUR 191 million maturing inJune 2024 and a bond with a nominal volume of CHF 52 mil-
lion maturing in December 2024.

As of 28 February 2025, there are the following material liabilities to various German

and foreign banks (in order of maturity):

Utilization by
28.02.2025 Interest Rate Maturity
EUR million
Fixed interest rate
Remaining term of up to 1 year 35 13-20% 2025 - 2026
Remaining term of 330 17-69% 2026 - 2029
1to 5years
Remaining term of more 373 15-499% 2030 - 2041
than 5 years
Variable interest rate
L Euribor + variable
Remaining term of up to 1 year 114 mark-up 2025
Remaining term of 196 | Euribor +variable 2027 — 2029
1to 5years mark-up
Remaining term of more 47| Euribor +variable 2039
than 5 years mark-up

For financial liabilities, the interest rate reported corresponds to the effective
interest rate.
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27 Other financing liabilities

The other financing liabilities are composed as follows:

28.02.2025 29022024
EUR million EUR million
ABS financing liabilities 54 17
Loans payable 45 25
Other financing liabilities 99 42
The remaining terms were as follows:
Remaining term
Remaining term  Remaining term of of more
of up to 1 year 1to 5years than 5 years Total
EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
ABS financing liabilities 54 0 0 54
Loans payable 5 22 18 45
Other financing liabilities
59 22 18 99
as of 28 February 2025
Loans payable 7 10 8 25
ABS financing liabilities 17 0 0 17
Other financing liabilities 24 10 8 42

as of 29 February 2024

28 Trade payables

Trade payables include liabilities from reverse factoring programs in the amount of
EUR 340 million. The Otto Group offers selected suppliers reverse factoring solu-
tions, which give suppliers an additional option for structuring their own refinancing.
Receivables from suppliers resulting from reverse factoring solutions are still
reported in the consolidated balance sheet under current trade payables.

On 28 February 2025, suppliers have received payments of EUR 184 million as part of
reverse factoring programs.

29 Liabilities to related parties

Liabilities to related parties consist of the following:

28022025 2902.2024

EUR million EUR million
Liabilities to non-consolidated companies 0 0
Liabilities to associated companies and joint ventures 44 162
Liabilities to other related parties 3 0
Liabilities to related parties 47 162

Liabilities to associated companies and joint ventures result largely from
current liabilities from offsetting with Hanseatic Bank GmbH & Co KG, Hamburg,
and Hermes Germany GmbH, Hamburg. As in the previous year, they have a
remaining term of up to 1 year. In the previous vyear, significant current
financial liabilities to Hermes Germany GmbH and liabilities from offsetting with
Hanseatic Bank GmbH & Co. KG were reported.
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30 Other liabilities

The other liabilities are composed as follows:

Liabilities to employees consist primarily of wage and salary obligations, holidays not

taken and accrued holiday pay and also under partial retirement agreements.

In accordance with IAS 32, the obligation — on the exercise of options granted to certain

28022025 29022024 shareholders of Group companies - to purchase their shares at their proportional
EUR million EURmilion o quity value, is to be recognized as a liability to purchase shares at the level of the
Liabilities to employees 360 304 Pprobable settlement amount.
Negative fair values (other derivatives) 118 80
The maturities of the other financial liabilities are composed as follows:
Debtors with credit balances 85 129
Obligation to acquire equity interests 65 58 28.02.2025 2902.2024
Liabilities to puttable equity interest 50 65 EUR milion EUR million
Negative fair values (interest rate and currency derivatives) 40 46 Remaining term of up to 1 year 565 532
Other 43 123 Remaining term of 1 to 5 years 194 271
Other financial liabilities 761 805 Remaining term of more than 5 years 2 2
Contractual Liabilities 383 395 Other financial liabilities 761 805
Liabilities for other taxes 336 345
Deferred income 110 141 31 Contract balances
Social security liabilities 12 12
These contract balances are composed as follows:
Liabilities for other charges 8 8
Other 1 1 28.02.2025 2902.2024
Miscellaneous other liabilities 850 902 EURmilion EUR million
Other liabilities 1,611 1,707 Receivables from contracts with customers 923 978
Receivables from contracts with customers
included in assets held for sale 7 0
Contract liabilities 383 395
Contract liabilities included in liabilities 12 0

held for sale
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Receivables from contracts with customers are a component of trade receivables
and receivables from financial services (see Note 19). On 28 February 2025, the allow-
ances recognized on receivables from contracts with customers amounted to
EUR 102 million (29 February 2024: EUR 130 million) and on receivables from con-
tracts with customers included in assets held for sale to EUR 1 million (29 Febru-
ary 2024: EUR O million).

The contract liabilities from contracts with customers generally result from advance
payments from customers, customer loyalty programs, customer vouchers not yet
redeemed, and warranty extensions not yet claimed. The total value of as yet unful-
filled performance obligations expected to be settled in more than twelve months is
EUR 33 million on 28 February 2025 (29 February 2024: EUR 33 million).

In the 2024/25 financial year, EUR 284 million of the contract liabilities reported on
the previous year’s balance sheet date was recognized as revenue (2023/24:
EUR 323 million).

32 Share-based payment programs

There were share-based payment programs for ABOUT YOU Holding SE (hereinafter
About You) and Medgate Holding AG, Basel, Switzerland, in the 2024/25 financial year.

a Share-based payment programs at ABOUT YOU Holding SE

Expenses of EUR 16 million were recorded for About You's existing share-based pay-
ment commitments as of the reporting date (2023/24: EUR 13 million). The share-
based payment commitments that are key to the consolidated financial statements
are divided into the following nine programs, which are explained in detail below. All of
the listed share-based payment commitments for the Executive Board, management
and employees were accounted as equity instruments in the 2024/25 financial year.
The programs follow the basic assumption that their rules apply equally to all
participants.

1. Executive Board Long-Term Incentive (LTI) Program 2021

In addition to non-performance-related remuneration, the members of the Executive
Board were each allocated options in the same amount as a one-time allocation
underthe LTI 2021 program as part of the revision of the Executive Board employment
agreements on 4 June 2021. Each member of the Executive Board was allocated a
total of 1,702,128 (5,106,384 altogether) options based on the following formula:

N =80,000,000/2 x exercise price

The LTI 2021 program is an option program that, in addition to the time component
in the form of continued Executive Board activity (“Time Vesting”), is significantly
linked to the development of key performance indicators of About You and also refers
to target criteria from the area of ESG (Environmental Social Governance) (“Perfor-
mance Vesting”).

The key conditions of the LTI 2021 program are described in detail in the following:
Exercise Price

The exercise price for each option corresponds to the mid-point of the price range for
the offer price per share for the placement of shares in connection with the private

placement. The price range was set at EUR 21.00 to EUR 26.00 on 7 June 2021.
Accordingly, the mean value is EUR 23.50 (“exercise price”).
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Vesting Period - Time Vesting

The options granted to the individual Executive Board member vest after the expiry of
certain periods, provided that the Executive Board member concerned remains with
the company at the expiry of the respective vesting date (time vesting):

e 12% of the options at the end of 28 February 2022
o 14% of the options at the end of 28 February 2023
e 16% of the options at the end of 29 February 2024
e 18% of the options at the end of 28 February 2025
e 20% of the options at the end of 28 February 2026
e 20% of the options at the end of 28 February 2027

Depending on the vesting dates described above, the options are divided into two
tranches, which are subject to different conditions as part of the “Performance Vesting”
described below. Options that vest on or before 28 February 2025 (inclusive) (a total of
3,063,830 options) belong to Tranche 1 (“Tranche 1 Options”). Options that vest on or
before 28 February 2026 and 28 February 2027 (inclusive) (a total of 2,042,554 options)
belong to Tranche 2 (“Tranche 2 Options”).

Vesting Period - Performance Vesting

In addition to the time component, a prerequisite for the vesting of the options is that
certain predefined performance targets are achieved within certain time periods
(“Performance Vesting”). These performance targets were set by the Supervisory
Board prior to the private placement and consist of the average annual growth in
consolidated revenue (“Revenue CAGR”), the development of the adjusted EBITDA of
the About You Group and various ESG parameters. The performance targets are
included with different weightings in both Tranche 1 and Tranche 2, with “Sales CAGR"
being considered at 60%, “Adjusted EBITDA" at 30% and the ESG parameters at 10%
in the respective tranche. The degree of achievement of targets is determined based
on the medium-term target values (“Current Mid-Term Performance Targets”) stipulated

by the Supervisory Board prior to the private placement. If less than 85% of the respec-
tive performance targets are met, the options concerned forfeit without compensation.
If the respective target is met by 85%, 20% of the options forfeit without compensation.
If it is met by 100%, all options shall be deemed performance vested. In the range
between 85% and 100%, the proportion of options that forfeit without compensation
decreases linearly. For the options attributable to ESG criteria, a differentiation is only
made between the achievement and non-achievement of the target: If it is achieved,
all allocable options shall be deemed vested. If it is not achieved, all options allocated
to this performance target forfeit without compensation. Tranche 1 options can be
exercised for the first time after the end of June 30, 2025, Tranche 2 options for the
first time after the end of 30 June 2027. Options that have not been exercised by
30 June 2029 (inclusive) forfeit without compensation. Exercising the options is only
possible within certain exercise windows of two weeks, as defined in greater detail in
the LTI conditions, each falling after the publication of the (preliminary) business figures
for a financial year, half-year or quarter. Options may not be exercised within certain
black-out periods defined in the LTI 2021. Exercising the options vested according to the
above-mentioned conditions is subject to the achievement of a share of the company
(weighted average price per share in XETRA trading within a period of three months
prior to the relevant date) of 200% of the exercise price, i.e., EUR 47.00, no later than
28 February 2027 and additionally either (i) at the beginning of the respective exercise
window or (i) on at least three trading days on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange within a
previous exercise window (“exercise threshold”).

Settlement of options

Upon the exercise of the options, a number of shares corresponding to the settlement
value of the exercised options shall be delivered by the Company to the respective
member of the Executive Board from the conditional capital. The settlement value of
the exercised options corresponds to the amount by which the share price exceeds
the exercise price upon exercising them but is limited to 200% of the exercise price
(that is, EUR 47.00 per option - “Cap”).
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Instead of delivering shares from the conditional capital, the company may make a
cash payment (cash settlement) to the respective member of the Executive Board in
the amount of the settlement value per option (less wage taxes and any other statutory
levies to be withheld by the company) or fulfil its obligation to deliver shares from existing

treasury shares.

Programs for managers and employees

In addition to the management programs from the 2021/22 financial year and the
2022/23 financial year (as described below), About You implemented the STI RSUP 2023
planinthe 2023/24 financial year, effective as of 1 October 2023. All historical and new
programs are outlined in the following: A distinction is made here between programs
that are ongoing, granted once and completed. Within these sections, the programs
are arranged chronologically by when the program was introduced.

Ongoing programs

2. Restricted Stock Unit Plan (RSUP) & Stock Option Plan (SOP) 2021

In the 2021/22 financial year, About You implemented the Restricted Stock Unit
Plan 2021 (RSUP 2021) and Stock Option Plan (SOP 2021) management programs,
effective as of 1 October 2021. The programs may be issued continuously, with two
tranches per financial year and grant dates of 1 April and 1 October in each financial
year. The RSUP & SOP management programs follow on the heels of the VESOP pro-
gramin 2017 - 2021, which is explained in the “Completed programs” section.

The Restricted Stock Unit Plan (RSUP) is aimed at About You managers and selected
high-performers within the organization. The Stock Option Plan (SOP) is primarily
aimed at the About You management team employees in the 1st and 2nd level below
the Executive Board. They are able to split their annual share-based payments

between restricted stock units (“RSUs") and virtual stock options (“SOs") according to

the following distributions:

¢ Option 1: 100% SOP, 0% RSUP
e Option 2: 75% SOP, 25% RSUP
e Option 3: 50% SOP, 50% RSUP
e Option 4: 25% SOP, 75% RSUP
e Option 5: 0% SOP, 100% RSUP

Restricted Stock Unit Plan (RSUP) 2021

RSUP 2021 entitles managers and selected top performers within the company to
receive a remuneration component with a long-term incentive effect. A total of
828,744 RSUs were granted under this program on 1 April 2024 and a total of
2,177,903 RSUs on 1 October 2024. The calculated issue prices of the RSUs on the
grant dates were determined according to the volume-weighted average closing
price (commercially rounded to two decimal places) of the ABOUT YOU Holding SE
share in XETRA trading during the last 90 trading days prior to the grant dates and
amounted to EUR 4.24 issued on 1 April 2024 and EUR 3.25 on 1 October 2024. All
eligible employees receive an individual grant amount in euros. The number of RSUs is
determined by dividing the grant value by the respective issue price. The RSUs granted
are subject to a vesting period of three years from the date on which they are granted.
One third of the RSUs granted vest at the end of each year during the three-year vesting
period. The sum of all payments of one tranche is limited to 350% of the grant value.
The value of the vested RSUs are settled in real About You shares. Alternatively, the
Executive Board of About You may decide to settle the payment in cash. The payment
is made with the payroll for the month following the announcement of the first finan-
cial report (for a quarter, half-year or financial year) after the end of the respective
vesting date.
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Stock Option Plan (SOP) 2021

The SOP 2021 entitles 1st and 2nd line management employees beneath the Executive
Board to receive a remuneration component with a long-term incentive effect. As
part of this program, no virtual stock options (SOs) were granted as of 1 April 2024,
and no virtual stock options (SOs) were granted as of 1 October 2024. The calculated
exercise price of the virtual SOs depending on the grant date was determined accord-
ing to the volume-weighted average closing price (commercially rounded to two dec-
imal places) of the ABOUT YOU Holding SE share in XETRA trading during the last
90 trading days prior to the grant date. All eligible employees receive an individual
grant amount in EUR. In order to convert the granted virtual SOs into a number of
virtual share options, the grant value allocated to the SOP is first converted into a
number of RSUs by dividing the amount by the exercise price. The determined number
of RSUs is then multiplied by an exchange factor to determine the number of granted
virtual SOs. The exchange ratio may vary from tranche to tranche, even within a year
if several SOs are granted in a year, depending on the determination of the option
price on the respective reporting date. The fair value of the stock options was calcu-
lated using the Monte Carlo simulation; individual parameters for calculating the fair
value can be found in the consolidated table “Valuation of newly granted options”.
The virtual SOs granted are subject to a vesting period of three years from the date of
their being granted. One third of the virtual SOs granted vest at the end of each year
during the three-year vesting period. The virtual share options may be exercised for
the first time after a period of four years following the grant date. The waiting period
following the vesting is three years for shares vesting on the first vesting date, two
years for shares vesting on the second vesting date and one year for shares vesting on
the third vesting date. The sum of all payments of one tranche is limited to 350% of
the grant value. The value of the vested SOP will be settled in real About You shares.
Alternatively, the Executive Board of About You may decide to settle the payment in
cash. Subject to any insider trading rules and any lock-up periods, all vested virtual
SOs may only be exercised after the expiry of the relevant vesting period and before the

expiry of the relevant end date no more than four years after the expiry of the relevant
vesting period and only within four weeks in each case commencing on the third
business day after the announcement of the financial report for the relevant quarter
or financial year.

3. Long-Term Incentive Program (LTIP) 2022

About You implemented the LTIP 2022 management program with the 2022/23
financial year. In addition to the annual share-based remuneration for managers at
About You defined in more detail below, the LTIP was granted to selected members of
the management team in the 1st and 2nd level below the Executive Board. As part of
this program, a total of 2,963,385 virtual stock options (SOs) were granted on
1 April 2024, and no virtual stock options (SOs) were granted on 1 October 2024. This
program represents a performance-related remuneration component, the terms of
which basically follow a similar logic to the LTIP 2021 management program, differing
from it in two key respects:

Exercise Price

The exercise price for each virtual option corresponds to the volume-weighted aver-
age price (commercially rounded to two decimal places) of the ABOUT YOU Holding SE
share in XETRA trading during the last 30 trading days prior to the grant date. Accord-
ingly, the exercise price was EUR 4.29 on 1 April 2024. The exercise of the virtual
options is subject to the achievement of a share price threshold of the company
(weighted average price per share in XETRA trading within a period of three months
priorto the relevant date) of 200% of the exercise price no later than on the last day of the
vesting period of the Tranche 2 options and additionally either (i) at the beginning of the
respective exercise window or (ii) on at least three trading days on the Frankfurt Stock
Exchange within a previous exercise window (“Exercise Threshold”). However, the max-
imum value of the virtual options is limited to 300% of the exercise price (“Cap”).
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Vesting period - Time vesting

The virtual options granted are allocated after certain periods expire. The vesting
period begins on 1 April and 1 October of the respective calendar year. The vesting
period ends no later than the end of the last day of a 72-month vesting period since
the grant date:

e 12% of the virtual options are allocated at the end of the last day of a
12-month vesting period since the grant date.

o 14% of the virtual options are allocated at the end of the last day of a
24-month vesting period since the grant date.

o 16% of the virtual options are allocated at the end of the last day of a
36-month vesting period since the grant date.

e 18% of the virtual options are allocated at the end of the last day of a
48-month vesting period since the grant date.

e 20% of the virtual options are allocated at the end of the last day of a
60-month vesting period since the grant date.

e 20% of the virtual options are allocated at the end of the last day of a
72-month vesting period since the grant date.

Virtual options with a vesting date prior to the expiry of 48 months since the grant
date belong to Tranche 1 (“Tranche 1 Options”), and virtual options with a vesting
date 60 or 72 months after the grant date belong to Tranche 2 (“Tranche 2 Options”).
Tranche 1 options can be exercised after a vesting period of 52 months; Tranche 2
options can be exercised after a vesting period of 76 months. The value of the vested
LTIP 2022 will be settled in real About You shares. Alternatively, the Executive Board of
About You may decide to settle the payment in cash.

4.RSUP 2023

Effective as of the 2023/24 financial year, About You introduced the Restricted Stock
Unit Plan (RSUP 2023) as a remuneration component with a short-term incentive
effect and granted the first tranche on 1 October 2023. Atotal of 123,399 RSUs were
granted under this program on 1 April 2024 and 285,779 RSUs were granted on
1 October 2024. The programs may be issued continuously, with two tranches per
financial year and grant dates of 1 April and 1 October in each year. The RSUP 2023 is
divided into various sub-programs that are intended to create incentives for different
stakeholders.

The calculated issue price of the RSUs on the grant date was determined according
to the volume-weighted average closing price (commercially rounded to two decimal
places) of the ABOUT YOU Holding SE share in XETRA trading during the last 90 trad-
ing days prior to the grant date and amounted to an issue price of EUR 4.24 on
1 April 2024 and EUR 3.25 1 October 2024. The number of RSUs is determined by
dividing the grant value by the respective issue price. The RSUs granted are subject to
monthly vesting over a period of one year from the grant date. One twelfth of the
RSUs granted vest at the end of each month within the one-year vesting period. Half
of the RSUs granted are settled after six months, the other half after twelve months.
The value of the vested RSUs are settled in real About You shares. Alternatively, the
Executive Board of About You may decide to settle the payment in cash. The payment
is made with the payroll for the month following the announcement of the first finan-
cial report (for a quarter, half-year or financial year) after the end of the respective
vesting date.

STIRSUP 2023

RSUP 2023 is primarily aimed at About You managers to cover performance-related
salary increases in the organization. RSUP 2023 entitles managers and selected
employees within the organization to receive a remuneration component with a
short-term incentive effect. As part of the STIRSUP 2023, 112,865 RSUs were granted
on 1 April 2024 and 271,965 RSUs were granted on 1 October 2024.
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Employee Share Matching Program (ESMP)

The Employee Share Matching Program (ESMP) gave all permanent employees oppor-
tunity to convert part of their annual gross fixed salary into restricted stock units
(RSUs) in accordance with RSUP 2023 rules. About You subsidizes the value of the
investment as an incentive. As part of the ESMP, 10,534 RSUs were granted on
1 April 2024 and 13,814 RSUs were granted on 1 October 2024.

Programs granted once

5. Long-Term Incentive Program (LTIP) 2021

About You implemented the one-time LTIP 2021 management program as of the
2021/22 financial year. In addition to the annual share-based remuneration payments
for About You managers defined in the previous section, selected members of the
management team in the 1st and 2nd levels beneath the Executive Board were also
granted a management LTIP. This program represents a performance-based com-
pensation component, which in its terms and conditions regarding (a) exercise price,
(b) time vesting, (c) performance vesting and (d) settlement of options was set up
completely analogous to the “LTI 2021 Executive Program,” the performance-based
remuneration system of the Executive Board. No further options were granted under
“"Management LTIP 2021" in the 2024 financial year; 148,937 options were forfeited.
Options that vest on or before 28 February 2025 (inclusive) (a total of 1,607,241 options)
belong to Tranche 1 (“Tranche 1 Options”). Options that vest at the end of 28 Febru-
ary 2026, and 28 February 2027 (a total of 1,071,494 options) belong to Tranche 2
(“Tranche 2 Options”). LTIP 2021 is fulfilled in About You shares. Alternatively, the Exec-
utive Board of About You may decide to settle the payment in cash.

6. Long-Term Incentive Program Restricted Stock Unit Plan (LTI RSUP) 2022

As of the 2022/23 financial year, About You implemented the one-time LTI RSUP 2022
management program for managers in the 1st and 2nd level below the Executive
Board. Atotal of 141,189 restricted stock units (“RSUs”) were allocated under the pro-
gram as of 1 October 2022. The calculated issue price of the RSUs on the grant dates
was determined according to the volume-weighted average closing prices (commer-
cially rounded to two decimal places) of the ABOUT YOU Holding SE share in XETRA
trading during the last 30 trading days prior to the grant dates and amounted to an
issue price of EUR 6.00 on 1 October 2022. All eligible employees receive an individual
grant amount in EUR. The number of RSUs is determined by dividing the grant value by
the respective issue price. The granted RSUs are subject to a non-straight-line vesting
of six years starting on the grant date:

e 12% of the RSUs granted will vest on 30 September 2023.
e 14% of the RSUs granted will vest on 30 September 2024.
o 16% of the RSUs granted will vest on 30 September 2025.
e 18% of the RSUs granted will vest on 30 September 2026.
e 20% of the RSUs granted will vest on 30 September 2027.
e 20% of the RSUs granted will vest on 30 September 2027.

The sum of all payments of one tranche is limited to 350% of the grant value. The value
of the vested RSUs are settled in real About You shares. Alternatively, the Executive
Board of About You may decide to settle the payment in cash. The payment is made
with the payroll for the month following the announcement of the first financial report
(for a quarter, half-year or financial year) after the end of the respective vesting date.
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Completed programs

7.Virtual Employee Stock Option Plan (VESOP) 2017 - 2021

With the 2017/18 financial year, About You granted virtual shares to About You managers
and selected high-performers on an annual basis.

Due to the completion of the IPO of About You on 16 June 2021, individual bonuses of
the employees were converted into virtual About You shares. Under VSOP 2017 - 2021,
a total of 2,033,871 virtual shares were granted.

About You implemented a supplementary program in the 2022/23 financial year,
namely the RSUs, or RSUP 2022. As part of RSUP 2022, further RSUs will be granted to
beneficiaries upon exercise of virtual share options under VESOP 2017 - 2021. In the
2023/24 financial year, a total of 424,153 RSUs were allocated under the program.
The RSUs granted will be settled following the three predefined exercise windows in
which About You grants participants the opportunity to exercise virtual shares. As a
result, 234,038 restricted stock units were distributed on 8 June 2023, 40,106 RSUs on
14 August 2023, followed by 64,367 RSUs on 8 November 2023, and 85,642 RSUs on
13 February 2024. The RSUs granted are not subject to further vesting.

8. Short-Term Incentive Program Restricted Stock Unit Plan (STI RSUP) 2022

With the 2022/23 financial year, About You implemented the one-time STI RSUP 2022
management program for managers at About You and selected high-performers. A
total of 526,811 restricted stock units (“RSUs”) were allocated under the program as
of 1 October 2022, and 11,889 of the RSUs forfeited in the 2023/24 financial year.
The allocated RSUs were subject to a vesting of one year starting on the grant date.
The RSUs vested were issued in real About You shares.

9. Employee Free Share Plan (EFSP) 2021

In the 2021/22 financial year, About You implemented the one-time employee pro-
gram Employee Free Share Plan (“EFSP”), which was aimed at all employees below the
Executive Board level who had been employed by About You for more than six months
as of the grant date of 1 December 2021. Under this plan, 31,703 About You restricted
stock units ("RSUs"”) were granted on the grant date of 1 December 2021. Within the
two-year vesting period, half of the RSUs granted vested at the end of each year.
Accordingly, 50% of the allocated RSUs were vested and issued in shares on the first
vesting date after the end of the first year on 1 December 2022, and the remaining
50% on 1 December 2023.



Notes

Otto Group
2024/25 Annual Report

219

Development of outstanding options

Valuation of newly granted options

LTI 2021 LTIP 2021 LTISOP 2021
Weighted Weighted Weghed  INPUt parameters LTIP 2022
average average average
exercise price exercise price exercise price Grant date April 2024
Number in EUR Number in EUR Number in EUR
. Weighted average exercise price (in EUR) 4.29
Outstanding as of 5,106,384 23.50 2,678,735 2350 715,932 1317 —
1 March 2024 Peer group volatility (in %) 60.70
Granted in the reporting 0 o 0 Expected dividends (in %) 0.00
period (April 2024)
Expected life (in years) 7.50
Granted in the reporting 0 0 0
period (October 2023) Risk-free interest rate (in %) 2.25
Forfei'ged in the o 148937 23.50 7403 619 Fair value (in EUR) 1.31
reporting period
Exercised in the 0 o 0
reporting period b Medgate Holding AG share-based payment programs
Outstanding as of
5,106,384 23.50 2,529,798 23.50 708,529 9.87 L .
1 March 2025 A put/call agreement was concluded on the future acquisition of all non-controlling
interests as part of the acquisition of Medgate Holding AG, Basel, Switzerland, in
LTIP 2022 March 2022. Since the amount of the exercise price is partly dependent on the continued
Weightedaverage  €mployment of management, this component has been classified as cash-settled
exercise price
Number inELR  share-based payment. The resulting obligation is measured at fair value and recognized
Outstanding as of 1 March 2024 19,846,519 5.69 pro rata overthe vesting period, which extends over a total of five years until 28 Febru-
Granted in the reporting period (April 2024) 2963385 499 ary 2027. On the reporting date, the obligation reported under other financial liabilities
] i ] amounts to EUR 26 million (29 February 2024: EUR 20 million), and the personnel expenses
Granted in the reporting period (October 2024) 0 . . . - -
recorded in the 2024/25 financial year amount to EUR 6 million (2023/24: EUR 10 million).
Forfeited in the reporting period -1,386,484 5.80
Exercised in the reporting period 0
Outstanding as of 1 March 2025 21,423,420 5.52
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Notes to the Consolidated
Cash Flow Statement

The cash flow statement is broken down into cash flows from operating, investing

and financing activities.

Since the 2024/25 financial year, payments from and for bridge loans (see Note 20)
have been recorded as part of the change in working capital or the change in receiv-
ables from financial services (gross) in cash flow from operating activities. In the pre-
vious year, by contrast, payments into and out of other financial assets were still part
of the cash flow from investing activities. The net payments for bridge loans included
in cash flow from operating business activities amounted to EUR 26 million in the
2024/25 financial year (2023/24: net disbursements in the amount of EUR 51 million).

33 Components of cash, cash equivalents, and
non-cash transactions

Cash and cash equivalents are made up of the following components:

28.02.2025 29.02.2024
EUR million EUR million
Cash 562 691
Securities with maturities of three months or less 0 1
Cash and cash equivalents 562 692

Of the cash and cash equivalents reported in the consolidated cash flow statement,
EUR 11 million was deposited as collateral (29 February 2024: EUR 23 million). Cash
and cash equivalents include cash in the amount of EUR 124 million (29 Febru-
ary 2024: EUR 47 million) that is not available for use in the entire Group.

Significant non-cash transactions in financing and investing activities refer to the
conclusion of leases within the meaning of IFRS 16 in the amount of EUR 232 million
(2023/24: EUR 175 million).
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Segment Reporting
34 Principles

In accordance with the provisions of IFRS 8, segment reporting is based on the man-
agement approach. This aligns segment reporting with internal reporting to the Exec-
utive Board of Otto Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH. It also provides the information
that is presented to these decision makers as part of regular reporting and then used
to allocate resources for the individual divisions within the Group.

In accordance with the Group's internal management structure, segment reporting is
based on the Group's business segments.

The Platforms segment includes e-commerce platforms whose strategic focus -
besides their own trading business - is also on operating a marketplace solution
where participating partners sell goods and services to end customers. In addition to
the trading business and associated B2C services, B2B services closely related to the
trading business are offered as well.

The Brand Concepts segment involves internationally represented vertical concepts
and product brands that sell both products of their own brands and licensed brands
to end customers. The company mainly uses its own sales channels for this, along with
e-commerce, brick-and-mortar retail, and catalogs.

The Retailer segment consists of multichannel retail concepts that primarily buy and
sell products of their own and third-party brands. E-commerce is also a focal point in
the sales channels here.

The Services segment is made up of the Otto Group's logistics and sourcing services,
which deliver their services both to customers outside the Otto Group as well as to
Group companies from the Platforms, Brand Concepts, and Retailers segments. Logis-
tics services include numerous services along the logistics value chain, from transport
and warehousing to delivery to private and business customers.

The Financial Services segment includes the range of international financial services
within the Otto Group primarily for receivables management.

To supplement the business segments, additional information is provided on the geo-
graphical regions. In addition to Germany, the Otto Group is especially active in the
Rest of Europe and in the USA.

35 Segment information

Segment reporting distinguishes between reportable segments on the one hand and
non-reportable segments and other activities on the other. The reportable segments
include the Platforms, Brand Concepts, Retailers, Services and Financial Services seg-
ments. In addition to the non-reportable Digital Health operating segment, the line
“Non-reportable segments and other activities” also includes the other Group com-
panies that are not allocated to an operating segment within the meaning of IFRS 8.
Other Group companies include venture activities and the real estate companies of
the Forum Group. Segment reporting is broken down as follows:
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Revenue and income from customer financing Internal revenue (inter-segment) Purchased goods and services Operating income and expenses

2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24
EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
Platforms 6,611 6,219 448 503 -4,280 -4,366 -1977 -1,982
Brand Concepts 5,145 5,318 35 51 -2,287 -2414 -1,784 -1,834
Retailers 1,683 2,001 15 22 -991 -1,213 -516 -607
Services 419 374 1,089 976 -677 -567 -332 -272
Financial Services 1,060 1,002 18 20 0 0 -309 -307
Reportable segments 14,818 14,914 1,605 1,572 -8,235 -8,560 -4,918 -5,002
gﬁgrrzzzci;zlse segments and 70 81 61 44 19 21 12 36
Holding/Consolidation 0 0 -1,666 -1,616 656 699 1,069 982
Group 14,888 14,995 0 0 -7,698 -7,882 -3,837 -3,984
Income from associated companies

Personnel expenses and joint ventures EBITDA EBIT
2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24
EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
Platforms -518 -465 -13 -6 247 -8 19 -375
Brand Concepts -780 -705 0 0 345 428 158 239
Retailers -215 -265 0 0 -23 -61 -56 -82
Services -466 -444 -95 -104 -58 -33 -153 -82
Financial Services -296 -291 21 40 493 464 470 420
Reportable segments -2,275 -2,170 -87 -70 1,004 790 438 120
gﬁ:‘e'rrii‘;:;fizge segments and 111 -103 -9 -18 10 24 -32 11
Holding/Consolidation -131 -119 0 0 -98 -73 -130 -101
Group -2,5617 -2,392 -96 -88 916 741 276 8
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Capital expenditure on intangible assets
Segment assets and property, plant and equipment Gross cash flow from operating activities Employees (average number)
2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24
EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Platforms 2,319 3,871 48 79 143 27 5,544 5,753
Brand Concepts 2,281 2,428 57 83 372 439 10,601 11,034
Retailers 1,716 1,717 13 15 -13 -71 2,962 3,658
Services 1431 1,369 97 283 34 72 9,334 10,165
Financial Services 3,249 3,868 9 8 495 452 5,605 5,757
Reportable segments 10,996 13,253 224 468 1,031 919 34,046 36,367
Non-reportable segments and 1,907 1,883 13 39 43 43 1,269 1,086
other activities
Holding/Consolidation -2,285 -2,5650 16 4 -110 -64 989 1,009
Group 10,618 12,586 253 511 964 898 36,304 38,462

Investments in intangible assets and property, plant, and equipment in the Services
segment in the 2023/24 financial year include additions in the amount of EUR 76 million
due to changes in the scope of consolidation.

Depreciation and amortization in the Group amounted to EUR 640 million in the
2024/25 financial year (2023/24: EUR 733 million). Of this amount, the Platforms seg-
ment accounts for EUR 228 million (2023/24: EUR 367 million), the Brand Concepts
segment for EUR 187 million (2023/24: EUR 189 million), the Retailers segment for
EUR 33 million (2023/24: EUR 21 million), the Services segment for EUR 95 million
(2023/24: EUR 49 million), the Financial Services segment for EUR 23 million (2023/24:
EUR 44 million), the non-reportable segments and other activities for EUR 42 million
(2023/24: EUR 35 million) and Holding/Consolidation for EUR 32 million (2023/24:
EUR 28 million). The reversals of impairment losses amount to EUR 156 million
(2023/24: EUR 0 million) and are attributable to the Platforms segment.

Segment data is determined on the basis of accounting and measurement policies
used for preparing the consolidated financial statements. Third-party revenue results

from the sale of merchandise and the provision of services, including financial services.
Internal revenue relates to the exchange of products and services between segments.
Receivables, liabilities, expenses and income resulting from transactions between the
individual segments are eliminated in the Holding/Consolidation line. Such transactions
are conducted on normal market terms.

Gross cash flow corresponds to earnings before interest and tax, adjusted for the profits,
losses and dividends of associated companies and joint ventures and also for material
non-cash income and expenses.

Segment assets include non-current assets for the relevant segment, i.e. intangible
assets (including goodwill), property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
interests in associated companies and joint ventures, as well as current assets. Seg-
ment assets do not include other investments, finance receivables, current income
tax credits, deferred tax assets and cash and cash equivalents. Only in the Financial
Services segment are finance receivables included under segment assets.



Notes

Otto Group

2024/25 Annual Report

224

Segment assets can be reconciled with Group assets as follows:

2802.2025 2902.2024

EUR million EUR million
Segment assets 10,618 12,586
Other financial investments 279 287
Receivables and other assets 13 80
Cash and cash equivalents 562 691
Deferred tax assets 228 181
Assets held for sale 1,752 56
Consolidated assets 13,452 13,881

For geographical information, revenue is ssgmented according to customer location.

Assets are calculated based on the Group company’s location and include the

non-current assets for the geographical regions and thus comprise intangible assets,

property, plant and equipment, and right-of-use assets as well:

Revenue

Income from customer financing

Total revenue and income from

customer financing

Non-current assets

2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million

Germany 8,542 8,394 137 89 8,679 8,483 2,279 3,319
Rest of Europe 3456 3,654 81 82 3,637 3,736 769 730
USA 2,624 2,625 0 0 2,624 2,625 815 773
Other regions 148 151 0 0 148 151 36 40
Group 14,670 14,824 218 171 14,888 14,995 3,899 4,862
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Other Disclosures

36 Financial instruments

a Non-derivative financial instruments

The Otto Group uses a wide range of financial instruments in its various lines of business.

The tables below list the financial assets and liabilities in accordance with the cate-
gories of financial instruments outlined in IFRS 9 based on the carrying amount and
associated fair value as of 28 February 2025. Cash flow hedges and other financial
investments classified as Level 3 are reported separately. The tables do not contain
any information about the fair value of financial assets and liabilities which were not
measured at fair value if the carrying amount represents an adequate approximation
of the fair value.
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Fair value recognized in

Fairvalue through profit  Fair value recognized equity (FVOCI) Not assigned to an
Assets Amortized cost (AC) orloss (FVPL) in equity (FVOCI) without recycling IFRS 9 category Carrying amount
EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
Other financial investments 0 84 0 195 0 279
Trade receivables 850 49 0 0 0 899
Receivables from financial services 2,664 0 0 0 0 2,664
Receivables from related parties 54 0 0 0 0 54
Other financial assets 200 85 0 0 0 285
Securities 0 0 0] 0 0 0
Cash and cash equivalents 562 0 0 0 0 562
Interest rate and currency derivatives 0 10 0 0 0 10
Other derivatives 0 0 0 0 0 0
Cash flow hedges 0 0 0 0 39 39

Balance as of 28 February 2025 4,330 228 0 195 39

Fair value through profit

Not assigned to an

Liabilities Amortized cost (AC) orloss (FVPL) IFRS 9 category Carrying amount

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
Profit and loss participation rights 22 0 0 22
Bonds and other notes payable 388 0 0 388
Bank liabilities 1,225 0 0 1,225
Other financing liabilities 99 0 0 99
Lease liabilities 0 0 944 944
Trade payables 1,856 0 0 1,856
Liabilities to related parties 47 0 0 47
Other financial liabilities 538 0 65 603
Interest rate and currency derivatives 0 7 0 7
Other derivatives 0 118 0 118
Cash flow hedges 0 0 33 33
Balance as of 28 February 2025 4,175 125 1,042
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On the reporting date of the comparative period the carrying amounts and fair val-

ues of financial assets and liabilities were as follows:

Fair value through profit

Fair value recognized

Fair value recognized in
equity (FVOCI)

Not assigned to an

Assets Amortized cost (AC) or loss (FVPL) in equity (FVOCI) without recycling IFRS 9 category Carrying amount®

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
Other financial investments 0 78 0 209 0 287
Trade receivables 939 15 0 0 0 954
Receivables from financial services 2,624 0 0 0 0 2,624
Receivables from related parties 114 0 0 0 0 114
Other financial assets 750 85 0 0 0 835
Securities 1 0 0 0 0 1
Cash and cash equivalents 691 0 0 0 0 691
Interest rate and currency derivatives 0 4 0 0 0 4
Other derivatives 0 0 0 0 0 0
Cash flow hedges 0 0 0 0 28 28
Balance as of 29 February 2024 5,019 182 0 209 28

* Previous year adjusted (see Notes 19 and 21).

Fair value through profit

Not assigned to an

Liabilities Amortized cost (AC) orloss (FVPL) IFRS 9 category Carrying amount

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
Profit and loss participation rights 25 0 0 25
Bonds and other notes payable 714 0 0 714
Bank liabilities 1,567 0 0 1,567
Other financing liabilities 42 0 0 42
Lease liabilities 0 0 1,042 1,042
Trade payables 2,257 0 0 2,257
Liabilities to related parties 162 0 0 162
Other financial liabilities 621 0 58 679
Interest rate and currency derivatives 0 9 0 9
Other derivatives 0 80 0 80
Cash flow hedges 0 0 37 37
Balance as of 29 February 2024 5,388 89 1,137
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In the 2024/25 financial year and in the previous year, there were no reclassifications

between the various levels of the fair value hierarchy as provided forin IFRS 13.

The fair value hierarchy for financial assets and liabilities is as follows:

Liabilities Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value
Acsots Level 1 Level 2 Lovel 3 FairValue EURmilion  EURmilion ~ EURmilion |  EUR million

EURmilion ~ EURmillion ~ EURmillion |  EUR million Profit and loss participation rights 0 0 o) o)
Other financial investments 0 0 279 279 Bonds and other notes payable 269 100 0 369
Trade receivables 0 0 0 0 Bank liabilities 0 1,265 0 1,265
Receivables from financial services 0 0 0 0 Other financing liabilities 0 0 0 0
Receivables from related parties 0 0 0 0 Lease liabilities 0 0 0 0
Other financial assets 0 0 85 85 Trade payables 0 0 0 0
Securities o] 0 0 0 Liabilities to related parties 0 0 0 0
Cash and cash equivalents 0 0 0 0 Other financial liabilities 0 0 37 37
Interest rate and currency derivatives 0 10 0 10 Interest rate and currency derivatives 0 7 0 7
Other derivatives 0 0 0 0 Other derivatives 0 0 118 118
Cash flow hedges 0 39 0 39 Cash flow hedges 0 33 0 33
Balance as of 28 February 2025 0 49 364 413 Balance as of 28 February 2025 269 1,405 155 1,829
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The following table presents a reconciliation of the respective fair values on the
reporting date for financial instruments that are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis and assigned to Level 3:

Other financial

Other financial

Other financial assets
and other derivatives

Other financial assets

Other derivatives,

Other financial liabilities,
not assigned to an

investments (FVPL) investments (FVOCI) (FVPL) (FvOCl) liabilities (FVPL) IFRS 9 category

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
As of 1 March 2024 78 209 85 0 80 36
Gains or losses due to changes in fair value 3 -25 0 0 38 0
Additions 12 11 0 0 0 1
Disposals from sales/repayments -9 -2 0 0 0 0
Other changes 0 2 0 0 0 0
Balance as of 28 February 2025 84 195 85 0 118 37

Other financial investments classified as Level 3 correspond to investments in com-
panies and in investment funds. The fair value is determined using a measurement
method for which the main input factors are based on unobservable market data.
Measurement is carried out in accordance with the measurement method deemed
most appropriate in each case. In most cases, the best indication is provided by infor-
mation from recent financing rounds. In addition, market multiples are also used to
determine fair value. Due to the large number of investments, sensitivities cannot be
presented in a meaningful way.

Other financial investments assessed at fair value through other comprehensive
income mainly include investments in venture capital funds in innovative companies
with a focus on digital business models, artificial intelligence, sustainable technologies
(impact), data-driven solutions along the customer journey, and technological
infrastructure.

Changes in the fair value of other financial assets measured at fair value through profit
or loss are recognized in other net financial income (expense). The recognized changes

in the fair value of other financial assets measured at fair value through other com-
prehensive income are included in accumulated other comprehensive income and
are reclassified to consolidated retained earnings when realized. The additions and
disposals mainly relate to additional fund investments and sales of fund investments
in the venture activities. The other changes are mainly due to exchange rate effects
and changes in the method of consolidation of Group companies.

In the 2024/25 financial year, no dividends were recognized in the net financial result
from shares in companies measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (2023/24: EUR 2 million). The dividends in the previous year were entirely
related to current venture capital funds on the reporting date. In the reporting period,
income of EUR 0 million (2023/24: EUR 23 million) was reclassified from other compre-
hensive income to consolidated retained earnings in Group equity. They resulted
exclusively from the disposal of investments and were included in Group equity under
other changes recognized directly in equity.
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Changes in the fair value of other financial assets and other derivatives measured at
fair value through profit or loss are recognized in other net financial income (expense).

Other financial assets include a subsequent contingent purchase price component
for a Group company sold in the 2017/18 financial year in the amount of EUR 85 mil-
lion (29 February 2024: EUR 85 million). The retrospective purchase price component
was fully recognized based on an agreement concluded in the 2020/21 financial
year, as it was deemed to be very probable that the conditions would be fulfilled and
the purchase price receivables settled in the 2024/25 financial year, as in the previous

year.

The assets and liabilities from other derivatives classified as Level 3 involve a put/call
agreement regarding shares in associated companies. The fair value was determined
using an option pricing model. Future expected cash flows were taken as the basis for
this and, where available, market parameters were applied. Keeping the other input
factors constant, a 10% increase or decrease in the baseline value of the put/call
agreement would result in no notable increase in financial assets or financial
liabilities.

The additions to other financial liabilities that are not assigned to an IFRS 9 category
relate largely to a share-based remuneration component from a put/call agreement
that was concluded as part of the acquisition of the Medgate Group in March 2022
(see Note 32).

The fair value hierarchy for financial assets and liabilities in the previous financial year
was as follows:

Assets Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
Other financial investments 0 0 287 287
Trade receivables 0 0 0 0
Receivables from financial services 0 0 0 0
Receivables from related parties 0 0 0 0
Other financial assets 0 0 85 85
Securities 0 0 0 0
Cash and cash equivalents 0 0 0 0
Interest rate and currency derivatives 0 4 0 4
Other derivatives 0 0 0 0
Cash flow hedges 0 28 0 28
Balance as of 29 February 2024 0 32 372 404
Liabilities Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value

EURmilion  EURmilion ~ EURmilion |  EUR million
Profit and loss participation rights 0 0 0 0
Bonds and other notes payable 401 279 0 680
Bank liabilities 0 1,682 0 1,682
Other financing liabilities 0 0 0 0
Lease liabilities 0 0 0 0
Trade payables 0 0 0 0
Liabilities to related parties 0 0 0 0
Other financial liabilities 0 0 36 36
Interest rate and currency derivatives 0 9 0 9
Other derivatives 0 0 80 80
Cash flow hedges 0 37 0 37
Balance as of 29 February 2024 401 1,907 116 2,424
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As of the reporting date of the comparative period, the reconciliation for financial

instruments that are regularly measured at fair value and allocated to level 3 was as

follows:
Other Other Other financial assets Other financial liabilities,
financial investments financial investments and other derivatives Other financial assets Other derivatives, not assigned to an
(FVPL) (FVOCI) (FVPL) (FVOCI) liabilities (FVPL) IFRS 9 category
EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
As of 1 March 2023 111 254 85 0] 69 47
Gains or losses due to changes in fair value -41 -70 0 0 11 0
Additions 11 71 0 0 0 2
Disposals from sales/repayments -1 -35 0 0 0 -13
Other changes -2 -11 0 0 0 0
Balance as of 29 February 2024 78 209 85 0 80 36
The net gain/loss from financial instruments after tax (attributable to the Group)
includes effects from value allowances, currency translation, measurement at fair
value and disposal of financial instruments and is broken down into the individual
IFRS 9 measurement categories as follows:
Recognized in equity  Recognized in income Total
EUR million EUR million EUR million
Financial investments measured at amortized cost 0 966 966
Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost 0 -1 -1
Financial investments measured at fair value through profit or loss 0 12 12
Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss 0 -39 -39
Financial investments measured at fair value recognized in equity 0 0 0
Financial investments measured at fair value recognized in equity without recycling -20 0 -20
Net gain/net loss as of 28 February 2025 -20 938 918
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At the reporting date of the comparative period, the breakdown was as follows:

Recognized in equity  Recognized in income Total

EUR million EUR million EUR million
Financial investments measured at amortized cost 0 907 907
Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost 0 -1 -1
Financial investments measured at fair value through profit or loss 0 -30 -30
Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss 0 -40 -40
Financial investments measured at fair value recognized in equity 0 0 0
Financial investments measured at fair value recognized in equity without recycling -43 2 -41
Net gain/net loss as of 29 February 2024 -43 838 795

The financial instruments mentioned above were recognized in revenue, in other
operating income and expenses, in income from equity investments, and in other net
financial income (expense) depending on their effects on income.

b Derivative financial instruments

Owing to its international activities, the Otto Group is particularly exposed to risks
from foreign exchange and interest rate changes. The Group companies of the
Otto Group use derivative financial instruments to limit these risks.

The use of derivative financial instruments within the Otto Group is governed by
specific guidelines and is permitted only for hedging existing underlying transactions,
or forecasted transactions that are sufficiently probable. These binding guidelines
define responsibilities, areas of authority, reporting requirements and the strict

separation of trading, settlement and control functions. According to this guideline,
trading transactions with derivative financial instruments may be entered into only
with banks of sufficient creditworthiness.

The Otto Group uses conditional and unconditional foreign exchange transactions to
hedge completed or forecasted business transactions in a risky currency. As part of
the Group’s interest rate hedging, risks are minimized by concluding interest rate
derivatives in the form of interest rate swaps.

Accordingly, the derivative transactions that the Otto Group enters into are reported
to atrade repository according to the provisions of the European Market Infrastructure
Regulation (EMIR). Where possible, the Otto Group makes use of grounds for exemption
or delegates fulfillment of reporting obligations to its counterparties. Compliance
with EMIR is regularly verified and confirmed by an auditing company.



Notes

Otto Group
2024/25 Annual Report

233

Currency risk

Within the Otto Group, risks arise from foreign currency transactions for receipts and
payments denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the Group
companies. These involve cash flows from highly probable future transactions mainly
from merchandise purchasing and revenue as well as from refinancing. The euro is
the predominant functional currency. The transactions in question are primarily
denominated in the euro, the US dollar, the Swiss franc and the Hong Kong dollar. The
main currency risk exposure is hedged. From the point of view of the individual com-
pany, hedging can cover up to 100% of the estimated foreign currency risks from
highly probable future transactions and already accounted for underlying transac-
tions. Foreign currency risk is hedged using foreign exchange transactions that are
generally classified as cash flow hedges. An overview of the movement of currencies
that have a material and relevant effect on the consolidated financial statements
can be found under Note 2b.

The Otto Group designates the spot component of qualified foreign currency derivatives
as the hedging instrument based on a 1:1 ratio. The forward components of foreign
currency derivatives are not taken into account here. These are reported separately as
hedging costs and are included under consolidated equity.

The existence of an economic relationship between the hedging instrument and the
hedged underlying transaction is established on the basis of currency, amount and
the timing of their respective cash flows. The Group uses the hypothetical derivative
method together with the dollar offset method to assess whether any material inef-
fectiveness has occurred with regard to the designated hedging relationships. Inef-
fectiveness is not expected to occur for these hedging relationships as it is not
assumed that the currency, amount or timing of the corresponding cash flows from
the underlying transaction will change before maturity.

Interest rate risk

The hedging strategy pursued by the Otto Group for loans received involves the
conversion of the majority of variable interest rate loans and bonds to fixed interest
payments by means of corresponding fixed interest rate derivatives.

When preparing the consolidated financial statements, the effectiveness of the
hedging relationships was tested using the critical term match method. Important
criteria (critical terms) used to test the appropriateness of the hedging instrument for
the underlying transaction when hedging interest rate risks include the reference
interest rate, nominal value, interest rate agreement as well as the timing and amount
of the cash flows. The interest rate risk exposure addressed in this way is 100% hedged
using this method.

The Group uses the hypothetical derivative method together with the dollar offset
method to assess whether any material ineffectiveness has occurred with regard to
the designated hedging relationships. The main causes of ineffectiveness in the con-
text of these hedging relationships result from taking into account the credit loss risks
of the corresponding counterparties when determining the fair value of the swaps
included in the hedge as well as the interest rate hedging of variable interest rate
loans through interest rate swaps that already had an intrinsic value when they were
included in the consolidated financial statements for the first time (late designation).
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Cash flow hedging

As of the reporting date, the remaining terms of the nominal values of instruments

held by the Otto Group for the purposes of hedging against exchange rate and inter-

est rate changes were as follows:

Remaining term of

Remaining term Remaining term of

upto 1year of 1to 5years more than 5 years

EUR million EUR million EUR million
Currency derivatives 1176 211 0
Interest rate derivatives o] 83 47
Total assets 1176 294 a7
Currency derivatives 376 237 0
Interest rate derivatives 0 50 0
Total liabilities 376 287 0

In the previous year, the nominal values of interest rate derivatives and currency

derivatives were composed as follows:

Remaining term of

Remaining term of Remaining term of

upto 1 year 1to 5 years more than 5 years

EUR million EUR million EUR million
Currency derivatives 642 147 0
Interest rate derivatives 5 50 82
Total assets 647 197 82
Currency derivatives 732 246 0
Interest rate derivatives 0 50 0
Total liabilities 732 296 0

The Otto Group recognizes certain derivatives that meet the hedging relationship

requirements of IFRS 9 as cash flow hedges. On the balance sheet date, the following

hedging instruments meet these criteria:

28.02.2025 29.02.2024
Nominal Fair value Fair value Nominal Fair value Fair value
value assets liabilities value assets liabilities
EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
Currency derivatives

Revenue 195 1 2 209 1 9
Refinancing 835 3 30 614 8 27
Inventories 610 31 0 567 11 1

Interest rate derivatives
Interest rate swaps 179 4 1 187 8 0
Derivatives in cash flow 1,819 39 33 1,577 o8 37

hedges

Positive fair values are recorded under other assets (see Note 21), while negative fair

values are recorded under other liabilities (see Note 30).
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The amounts relating to items designated as hedging instruments, and the ineffective
portions of the hedging relationships, were as follows:

Designated risk component Cost of hedging
Recognized Reclassified to Reclassified to Recognized Reclassified to Reclassified to
in equity cost of inventory profit or loss in equity cost of inventory profit or loss

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
Currency derivatives
Revenue -8 0 9 3 0 -1
Refinancing 6 0 -6 3 0 0
Inventories 30 -8 0] 7 -8 0
Interest rate derivatives
Interest rate swaps -6 0 3 0 0 0
Change in the fair value of derivatives in cash flow hedges before deduc- 29 s 6 13 s 1
tion of non-controlling interests and deferred tax as of 28 February 2025

Designated risk component Cost of hedging
Recognized Reclassified to Reclassified to Recognized Reclassified to Reclassified to
in equity cost of inventory profit or loss in equity cost of inventory profit or loss

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
Currency derivatives
Revenue -14 0 11 4 0 -1
Refinancing -17 0 17 -2 0 0
Inventories -4 8 0 10 -6 0
Interest rate derivatives
Interest rate swaps -4 0 3 0 0 0
Change in the fair value of derivatives in cash flow hedges before deduc- 39 8 31 12 6 1

tion of non-controlling interests and deferred tax as of 29 February 2024
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Amounts from currency derivatives that were reclassified to profit or loss are recorded
under revenue (see Note 6) or other net financial income (expense) (see Note 12).
Amounts from interest rate swaps that were reclassified at fair value through other
profit and loss are taken into account under net interest income (expense) (see Note 12).

There is no hedging transaction ineffectiveness in currency derivatives in the
2024/25 financial year (2023/24: EUR -1 million). The previous year’s ineffectiveness
related solely to refinancing and was taken into account in the other net financial
result (see Note 12). The existing ineffectiveness of interest rate derivatives amounted
to EUR 1 million in the 2024/25 financial year (2023/24: EUR O million). In addition,
EUR -3 million (2023/24: EUR -3 million) was reclassified from the cash flow reserve
through profit or loss due to the discontinuation of underlying transactions. The
income and expenses arising from both issues are recorded under net interest income
(see Note 12).

As of 28 February 2025, the value of the hedged item changed by EUR -40 million for
currency derivatives (29 February 2024: EUR -34 million) and EUR é million for interest
rate derivatives (29 February 2024: EUR -3 million). The hedged underlying transac-
tion serves as a basis for recording the ineffectiveness of the hedging relationship.
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The following table shows the reconciliation of risk categories of the equity compo-

nents and the corresponding analysis of the items under other comprehensive income

after tax that result from cash flow hedge accounting:

2024/25

2023/24

Designated risk  Cost of hedging forward

Cost of hedging

Designated risk  Cost of hedging forward

Cost of hedging

component  exchange transactions option transactions component  exchange transactions option transactions
EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
Attributable to shareholders of Otto GmbH Co. KGaA after deferred tax
1 2 -7 -2 -1 -1
as of 1 March
Changes in fair values before deduction of non-controlling interests and
before deferred tax
Currency derivatives - inventories 30 8 -1 -4 11 -1
Currency derivatives - revenue -8 3 0 -14 4 0
Currency derivatives - refinancing 6 3 0] -17 -2 0
Interest rate derivatives - interest rate swaps -6 0 0 -4 0 0
Reclassified to profit or loss before deduction of non-controlling interests
and before deferred tax
Currency derivatives - revenue 9 -1 0 11 -1 0
Currency derivatives - refinancing -6 0 0 17 0 0
Interest rate derivatives - interest rate swaps 3 0 0 3 0 0
Reclassified to cost of inventories before deduction of non-controlling
interests and before deferred tax
Currency derivatives - inventories -8 -9 1 8 -11 4
Fair value of derivatives in cash flow hedges before deduction of
L 21 6 -7 -2 0 2
non-controlling interests and before deferred tax
Change in the fair value of derivatives in cash flow hedges attributable to 2 1 0 2 a1 0
non-controlling interests
Fair value of derivatives in cash flow hedges attributable to shareholders 23 5 7 0 1 9
of Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA
Deferred tax effects resulting from changes -10 7 -6 1 3 -9
Fair value of derivatives in cash flow hedges attributable to shareholders 13 12 13 1 2 7

of Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA after deferred tax as of 28/29 February
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The hedging costs concern transaction-related hedged underlying transactions.

The underlying transactions hedged occur in a period of up to 5 years in the case of
currency derivatives and up to 15 years in the case of interest rate derivatives. The
probable cash flow effects will occur in the same period. The nominal volumes of the
hedging transactions are offset by underlying transactions already recognized in the
amount of EUR 1,032 million (29 February 2024: EUR 835 million) for currency deriva-
tives, and in the amount of EUR 179 million (29 February 2024: EUR 187 million) for
interest rate derivatives as well as planned transactions. In regard to underlying trans-
actions accounted for from a hedging relationship with currency derivatives,
EUR -12 million (29 February 2024: EUR -3 million) from the cash flow hedge reserve
is included in the acquisition costs of inventories and from accumulated other com-
prehensive income in revenue. Of this amount, EUR -11 million (29 February 2024

EUR -2 million) is attributable to the designated risk component and EUR -1 million
(29 February 2024: EUR -1 million) to the cost of hedging.

The Otto Group concludes derivative transactions within the scope of the existing
German Master Agreement for Financial Derivatives Transactions (Rahmenvertrag fir
Finanztermingeschafte). If certain credit events occur, such as a payment default or
the termination of transactions concluded under this agreement, all outstanding
transactions relating to the derivative transactions that are in default are terminated
and the value as of the termination date is determined. A single net amount should be
used to offset all transactions. As there is currently no specific credit event such as a
default on a bank loan and, consequently, no legal entitlement to offset the recog-
nized amounts, the agreements concluded do not meet the criteria for offsetting in
the balance sheet.

The following financial instruments are subject to the German Master Agreement for

Financial Derivatives Transactions:

28.02.2025

29.02.2024

Gross and net amount

Gross and net amount

presented in the
balance sheet

Amount not set off
in the balance sheet

Net amount

presented in the
balance sheet

Amount not set off
in the balance sheet

Net amount

EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
Financial assets
Interest rate and currency derivatives 49 10 39 32 17 15
Financial liabilities
Interest rate and currency derivatives 40 10 30 46 17 29
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As of 28 February 2025, the Otto Group holds foreign currency and interest rate

derivatives at the following terms:

Remaining term of Remaining term of Remaining term of

upto 1year 1to5years morethan 5 years
Currency risk

Average forward exchange rate EUR/USD 1.082 1110

Average forward exchange rate EUR/HKD 8167

Average forward exchange rate EUR/CHF 0958 0909

Interest rate risk

Average fixed EUR interest rate (in %) 2.03 2.34

On the reporting date of the comparative period, the Otto Group holds foreign
currency and interest rate derivatives at the following terms:

Remaining term of Remaining term of Remaining term of

upto 1year 1to5years morethan 5 years
Currency risk

Average forward exchange rate EUR/USD 1102 1132

Average forward exchange rate EUR/HKD 8456

Average forward exchange rate EUR/CHF 1.009 0984

Interest rate risk

Average fixed EUR interest rate (in %) 2.76 212 215

¢ Financial risks

Due to its international positioning, the Otto Group is exposed to financial risks. These
include in particular the effects of fluctuations in foreign exchange and interest rates.
These risks are reduced through existing treasury and risk management processes.

All material interest rate change and foreign currency risks are fundamentally limited
by refinancing in the same currency and/or with the same maturity. Any remaining

material incongruities are further reduced by the use of derivatives such as interest
rate swaps and forward exchange transactions.

Owing to the nature of its business activities, the Otto Group is primarily exposed to
currency risks arising from fluctuations in the US dollar (USD), the Hong Kong dollar
(HKD) and the Swiss franc (CHF). In calculating the sensitivities presented below, a
hypothetical revaluation/devaluation of the euro against all currencies by +/- 10%
was carried out as of 28 February 2025. All other variables remain unchanged. Under
these conditions, the major effects on Group earnings before tax (EBT) and the equity
of the Otto Group would have been as follows:

EBT Equity
2024/25 2023/24 [ 28022025| 29022024
EURmillion | EURmillion [~ EURmillion | EUR million
Fluctuation in USD +10% 1 1 -116 -84
-10% -1 -1 119 86
Fluctuation in HKD +10% -5 -6 -3 -4
-10% 4 5 3 4
Fluctuation in CHF +10% 1 4 20 17
-10% -1 -4 -20 -17
Total effects +10% -3 -1 -99 -71
-10% 2 0 102 73

Exchange rate hedges are accounted for in the Otto Group as cash flow hedges to
the greatest extent possible, in accordance with IFRS 9. The associated fluctuationsin
market value are shown under Group equity.

The reported effects on earnings primarily result from fluctuations in the measurement
of derivatives that have been concluded to hedge cash flows for business operations
and internal financing but not designated as a hedging relationship in the balance
sheet in accordance with IFRS 9. These derivatives are also associated with contracts
that are planned but not yet concluded in which the currency exchange risk follows a
counter trend. When calculating the earnings effects, these cash flows are not
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included in the underlying operating transactions. The actual risk of the net position is
thus much lower.

The Otto Group is also exposed to interest rate risks from variable interest-bearing
receivables and liabilities.

A hypothetical increase/reduction in the market interest rate of 50 base points for all
currencies (parallel shift of the interest rate curve) with all other variables remaining
constant would result in the following effects on the earnings before tax (EBT) and

equity of the Otto Group:
EBT Equity
2024/25 2023/24 28.02.2025 29.02.2024
EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
Shift in level of interest +50 bp 0 0 5 4
-50 bp 0 0 -5 -4

There is no risk concentration relating to the above-mentioned financial risks.

d Default risk

The Otto Group is exposed to the risk of its business partners not being able to meet
their obligations. Within the Group, a financial asset is considered to be in default if it
is expected that the financial partner will not fully meet their obligations to the
Otto Group or if the financial asset has been handed over to a collection agency.
Credit checks are performed to reduce the default risk, the maximum amount of
which corresponds to the carrying amounts recognized for the relevant financial
assets. For identifiable default risks, especially in trade receivables and receivables
from financial services, appropriate value allowances are made using the model to
be applied to expected credit defaults in accordance with IFRS 9. Cash and cash
equivalents are also subject to IFRS 9 impairment rules; however, the impairment loss
is not significant.

Trade receivables and receivables from financial services are essentially due from end
customers and are normally not hedged by special instruments, with the exception of
the usual retention of title typical for the retailing business. Because receivables are
widely spread, only small amounts are actually allotted to individual customers. The
risk of maximum default is thus highly improbable.

Deposits at banks and financial assets are only ever held with partners that have a
sufficient creditworthiness on a par with ratings from an internationally recognized
rating agency.

Overdue loans and receivables are monitored intensively in the various lines of busi-
ness. In the Platforms, Brand Concepts, Retailers and Financial Services segments,
credit management is a crucial element in operational processes.

The determination as to whether or not the default risk of other financial assets has
increased significantly is based on a regular assessment of the probability of default,
which takes into account external rating information as well as internal information
on the credit quality of the counterparty. Other financial assets are derecognized if
they are assumed to be uncollectible, for example due to the insolvency or death of
the contractual partner.

Receivables that are not impaired or overdue solely due to renegotiation, and over-
due other financial assets that are not impaired, exist only to a very limited extent
with a maturity of up to one year. There are no objective indications that the debtors
are unable to meet their obligations.

The Group uses an impairment matrix to measure the expected credit losses of trade
receivables. Default rates are largely calculated using the roll rate method, which is
based on the probability that a receivable will enter into arrears in successive stages.
The expected default rates are based on the default history over previous years as
well as forecasts in relation to future economic events. The default risk of trade receiv-
ables is explained in Note 20.
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In the Financial Services segment, receivables primarily consist of fiduciary debt col-
lection, receivables purchased and bridge loans provided. In the context of fiduciary
activities, there are no material financial assets or financial instruments that are
classed as overdue but not impaired. Receivables purchased generally relate to
receivables classed as impaired which are already overdue.

In the Financial Services segment, the main default risks result from the purchase of
payment-impaired receivables. Therefore, for managing risks, methods have been
developed in order to systematically manage these risks. Important considerations
when managing risk include contractual arrangements, analysis of portfolio struc-
tures and time series and investment calculations as part of due diligence procedures
as well as the regular calculation of actual costs. The payment behavior of debtors is
also monitored continuously so that structural changes can be identified early and

taken into account.

The recalculation is used to check and further develop the forecast quality of the
receivables management systems on an ongoing basis. Furthermore, structural
changes in payment behavior are monitored by debt collection and reported to risk
management on a continuous basis. This ensures that timely adjustments can be
made to the underlying measurement assumptions and that this information can be
taken into account when analyzing future purchases. The adjustment of underlying
measurement principles ensures that default risks within the scope of existing
accounting and measurement guidelines are already included in the carrying
amounts of the purchased receivables.

Because of the high number of individual receivables in the respective portfolios of
purchased payment-impaired receivables, the risk of default is not tied to a small
number of debtors.

A number of these purchased payment-impaired receivables are materially secured.
Property is disposed of through sale on the open market or through foreclosure, how-
ever this does not always result in full settlement of the receivable in question. The
disposal of property through foreclosure plays a role in supporting debt collection.

The carrying amount of the individual receivables packages purchased are regularly
tested using a standardized measurement model. This measurement model is based
on the estimated net cash receipts from the respective receivable package over the
remaining term as of the measurement date. Future net cash receipts are discounted
using the original effective interest rate.

Expected credit losses are determined based on the respective portfolio level that
applied on purchase. In this respect, there have been no changes to the instrument

summary.

e Liquidity risk

The Otto Group's financial management system ensures that the Group's liquidity is
maintained at all times. It also ensures that the Otto Group has sufficient funds at its
disposal for its operations and investments. Minimising financing costs is an essential
ancillary condition for effective financial management. The basic principle is to
match open positions through natural hedging. Refinancing instruments may include
money and capital market products such as loans, bonds or ABS (asset-backed secu-
rities), along with guarantees, leasing, sale and lease back, and factoring. The requi-
site underlying data is determined using an at least quarterly liquidity budget with a
planning horizon of up to 24 months, a monthly liquidity budget with a planning hori-
zon of 12 months and a daily budget with a horizon of at least four weeks. Both types
of budget are regularly reviewed for variances. There is no risk concentration relating
to the above-mentioned liquidity risks.
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As described in Note 28, the Otto Group offers selected suppliers worldwide the  Asof 29 February 2024, the outflow of funds from financial liabilities fixed by contract
opportunity to participate in reverse factoring programs. The payment terms agreed  were as follows:
upon with suppliers for the trade payables in question are not contractually linked to

Remaining term of Remaining term of Remaining term of

the existence of a reverse factoring program and are within the normal industry upto 1year 1to5years morethan 5 years Total
framework. The programs serve to finance suppliers and therefore do not lead to EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
liquidity or concentration risks for the Otto Group. Bonds and other notes payable 333 200 1992 754
. o Bank liabilities 745 612 356 1,713
The following table shows the outflow of existing contractually agreed funds for
. T 2,286 3 0 2,289
financial liabilities as of 28 February 2025: Trade payables
Liabilities to related parties 163 0 0 163
Remaining term of Remaining term of Remaining term of
up to 1year lto5years morethan 5years Total Lease liabilities 247 641 256 1144
EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million Other finoncing liabilities 24 10 8 42
Bonds and other notes payable 11 292 118 #4211 Other financial liabilities 532 271 2 805
Bank liabilities 418 687 232 1,337 A ] .
fchereof derivative financial 2% 31 0 57
Trade payables 1,866 5 0 1,871 instruments
Liabilities to related parties 51 0 0 51
Lease liabilities 215 591 283 1,089
Other financing liabilities 59 22 18 99
Other financial liabilities 565 194 2 761
_thereof derivative financial o 30 0 54
instruments
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37 Cash and non-cash changes to liabilities arising from
financing activities

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities as of the closing date were as

follows:
Non-cash changes
Effects from the

Effects from changes Effects from conclusion of new Effects from accrued

in the scope of exchange rate and adjusted lease interests/
01.03.2024 Cash changes  consolidation/IFRS 5 changes contracts compounding 28.02.2025
EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
Profit and loss participation rights 25 -3 0 0 0 0 22
Bonds and other notes payable 714 -329 0 0 0 3 388
Bank liabilities 1,667 -344 0 0 0 2 1,225
Lease liabilities 1,042 -257 -102 29 187 45 944
Other financing liabilities 42 55 0 2 0 0 99
Liabilities from financing activities 3,390 -878 -102 31 187 50 2,678

On the previous reporting date, the liabilities arising from financing activities changed

as follows:
Non-cash changes
Effects from the

Effects from changes Effects from conclusion of new Effects from accrued

inthe scope of exchange rate and adjusted lease interests/
01.03.2023 Cash changes  consolidation/IFRS 5 changes contracts compounding 29.02.2024
EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million EUR million
Profit and loss participation rights 26 -1 0 0 0 0 25
Bonds and other notes payable 777 -62 0 0 0 -1 714
Bank liabilities 1,345 214 11 0 0 -3 1,567
ABS financing liabilities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Lease liabilities 1157 -256 -27 -11 139 40 1,042
Other financing liabilities 36 6 0 0 0 0 42
Liabilities from financing activities 3,341 -99 -16 -11 139 36 3,390
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38 Leases

In particular, leases identified as important leases within the Otto Group involve the
leasing of retail space (chain stores) and logistics facilities and the corresponding
equipping of Group companies in the Services and Brand Concepts segments. Important
leases also arise from the leasing of office space and office buildings by a large number
of Group companies across all sesgments.

The contractual arrangement of the leases is generally carried out by the individual
Group companies, taking into account country-specific practices. The basic term of
current leases varies according to the lease class; and in the case of property, accord-
ing to the respective location.

As a rule, leases for property include renewal options that can be extended up to a
certain point in time before expiry of the non-cancellable basic term. The exercising of
extension options that are not recognized in the lease liabilities on 28 February 2025
would result in a potential lease payment of EUR 1,178 million (29 February 2024:
EUR 1,094 million). When concluding new leases, the inclusion of renewal options
should be agreed wherever possible to ensure a high level of operational flexibility.

The remaining terms for reported lease liabilities are as follows:

2802.2025 29.02.2024

EUR million EUR million
Remaining term of up to 1 year 178 238
Remaining term of 1 to 5 years 509 601
Remaining term of more than 5 years 257 203
Lease liabilities 944 1,042

Reference is made to Note 16 for information on the amount of depreciation and
amortization of right-of-use assets.

In accordance with the provisions of IFRS 16, the consolidated income statement for
the 2024/25 financial year includes expenses for short-term leases in the amount of
EUR 3 million (2023/24: EUR 6 million) and expenses for leases for low-value assets in
the amount of EUR 6 million (2023/24: EUR 2 million) under other operating expenses.
In addition, income from the subleasing of right-of-use assets in the amount of
EUR 3 million (2023/24: EUR 2 million) is recognized under other operating income.
Interest expenses from lease liabilities included in net financial result amount to
EUR 45 million (2023/24: EUR 40 million).

For leases accounted for in accordance with IFRS 16, total cash outflows in the
2024/25 financial year amounted to EUR 257 million (2023/24: EUR 256 million) and
are shown under cash flow from financing activities. Of this amount, EUR 212 million
(2023/24: EUR 216 million) is attributable to repayments and EUR 45 million (2023/24:
EUR 40 million) to interest payments. Remaining in the gross cash flow from operating
activities are payments for short-term leases, for leases for low-value assets, and for
variable lease payments in the amount of EUR 17 million in total (2023/24:
EUR 13 million).



Notes

Otto Group
2024/25 Annual Report

39 Related party transactions

Related parties of the Otto Group, as defined in IAS 24, are persons or companies who
control the Group or exercise significant influence overit, or overwhom the Otto Group
has control or exercises significant influence. Accordingly, the members of the Otto
family and Michael Otto Stiftung, the businesses controlled or subject to significant
influence by this family and the Foundation (Stiftung), the members of the manage-
ment of Otto Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH and the members of the Executive Board
of the former OTTO Aktiengesellschaft fir Beteiligungen, the members of the Executive
Board of Verwaltungsgesellschaft Otto mbH along with the Group companies of the
Otto Group, its associated companies, and joint ventures are defined as related par-
ties. Verwaltungsgesellschaft Otto mbH was the general partner of the former Otto
(GmbH & Co KG), meaning that its Executive Board is also considered a related party.

The previous year's figures have been adjusted accordingly.

In addition to transactions with Group companies that are fully consolidated in the
consolidated financial statements, there were the following transactions with related

parties:
Consolidated income statement 2024/25 2023/24
EUR million EUR million
Revenue and income from customer financing 35 60
Financing expenses from factoring -149 -106
Other operating income 13 11
Purchased goods and services 46 84
Personnel expenses 19 1
Other operating expenses 512 513
Net financial income (expense) -5 -9

Consolidated balance sheet 28.02.2025 29.02.2024

EUR million EUR million
Receivables from related parties 54 114
Cash and cash equivalents 3 3
Pension obligations to related parties 59 55
Liabilities to related parties 47 162

a Transactions with associated companies and joint ventures

Revenue and income from customer financing with associates and joint ventures
totaled EUR 33 million in the 2024/25 financial year (2023/24: EUR 55 million) and
result mainly from revenues from factoring settlements with the Hanseatic Bank
GmbH & Co KG, Hamburg, in the amount of EUR 4 million (2023/24: EUR 25 million)
and revenue from Hermes Germany GmbH, Hamburg, in the amount of EUR 27 million
(2023/24: EUR 17 million). As of the second half of the 2023/24 financial year, factoring
was carried out with Hanseatic Bank GmbH & Co KG via OTTO Payments GmbH,
Hamburg, as a transaction partner. Financing costs from the factoring of the installment
loan business are reported in this context. The income pertaining to the transaction and
derived from customer financing is not shown with regard to associated companies
but to the end customers. The net amount from these items is shown in the income
from customer financing (see Note 6).

Other operating income from associates and joint ventures amounted to EUR 13 million
inthe 2024/25 financial year (2023/24: EUR 11 million) and results mainly from income
in the amount of EUR 8 million (2023/24: EUR 9 million) with Hermes Germany GmbH.
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Otheroperating expenses forthe 2024/25 financial yearinthe amount of EUR 512 mil-
lion (2023/24: EUR 509 million) include expenses of EUR 481 million (2023/24:
EUR 487 million) from transactions with Hermes Germany GmbH.

Various Group companies in the Platforms and Retailers segments sell trade receiv-
ables to Hanseatic Bank GmbH & Co KG. The receivables are transferred under nor-
mal market conditions and are fully derecognized from the balance sheets of the
Group companies selling the receivables. In the 2024/25 financial year, corresponding
receivables were sold with a total value of EUR 2,252 million (2023/24: EUR 2,204 mil-
lion). The value of these receivables as of the reporting date is EUR 1,725 million
(29 February 2024: EUR 1,698 million). On 28 February 2025 cash and cash equiva-
lents at Hanseatic Bank GmbH & Co KG amounted to EUR 3 million (29 February 2024
EUR 3 million).

Information regarding the amount of the receivables and liabilities from associated
companies and joint ventures is set out in Notes 20 and 29. The receivables and liabil-
ities result mainly from transactions in goods and services and from short-term
financing between Group companies of the Otto Group and from associated com-
panies and joint ventures.

b Related party transactions with shareholders

On 28 February 2025 and on 29 February 2024, no loans had been granted to share-
holders of Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA.

c Related party transactions with other companies
Otto Group companies have concluded various agreements under normal market

terms for the leasing of properties and land owned by subsidiaries of ECE Group
GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg.

On 28 February 2025, there were receivables from other related parties in the amount
of EUR 17 million (29 February 2024: EUR 26 million). Receivables from other related
parties mainly result from financial receivables.

d Related party transactions with individuals

In the 2024/25 financial year, the total remuneration of the Executive Board of
Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA and Verwaltungsgesellschaft Otto mbH recognized as an
expense for the financial year amounted to EUR 12.1 million (2023/24: EUR 9.7 mil-
lion), with EUR 12.2 million (2023/24: EUR 6.5 million) due in the short term and
EUR -0.1 million (2023/24: EUR 3.2 million) due in the long term as a result of an adjust-
ment in the current financial year. The total remuneration of EUR 13.3 million granted
during the 2024/25 financial year (2023/24: EUR 6.5 million) consists of variable remu-
neration elements with long-term incentives contingent on all conditions being met
by the balance sheet date. EUR 5.3 million (2023/24: EUR 5.0 million) of it is attribut-
able to fixed components and EUR 8.0 million (2023/24: EUR 1.5 million) to variable
components. In the 2017/18 financial year, a long-term incentive agreement was
concluded for directors of Verwaltungsgesellschaft Otto mbH based on rolling annual
tranches. Effective from 1 March 2018, each of the tranches comprises three finan-
cial years and consists of a combination of two variable elements. The elements are
based on a fixed threshold value and then increase on a linear basis. The benchmarks
are revenue and income from customer financing and the Otto Group's return on
capital employed (ROCE), which puts EBIT in relation to average capital employed.
The change in remuneration recorded as an expense for the long-term incentive
amounted to EUR -0.2 million in the reporting year (2023/24: EUR 1.5 million). On the
balance sheet date, a liability totaling EUR 1.0 million (29 February 2024: EUR 3.2 mil-
lion) was recognized for this.
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Pension obligations to members of the Executive Board amount to EUR 9.0 million
(29 February 2024: EUR 13.0 million). Allocations to pension provisions amount to
EUR 3.0 million (2023/24: EUR 2.0 million).

Remuneration of former members of the Executive Board and their surviving depen-
dents amounts to EUR 3.1 million (2023/24: EUR 3.0 million). EUR 50.0 million has been
recognized as provisions for the pension obligations toward former members of the
Executive Board and their surviving dependents (29 February 2024: EUR 42.0 million).

The total remuneration of the Supervisory Board of Verwaltungsgesellschaft
Otto mbH in the 2024/25 financial year amounts to EUR 0.3 million (2023/24:
EUR 0.3 million). The total remuneration of the Supervisory Board of Otto GmbH & Co.
KGaA in the 2024/25 financial year amounts to EUR 0.02 million (2023/24:
EUR 0.02 million).

40 Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

The Otto Group's contingent liabilities are composed of guarantees and other obliga-
tions that, together, amount to EUR 253 million (29 February 2024: EUR 178 million)
and are mainly made up of financial obligations toward associated companies in the
Services segment. This financing obligation increased by a further EUR 170 million
after the balance sheet date.

The Otto Group has a contingent asset of EUR 8 million from the identification of a
tax matter (29 February 2024: EUR O million).

41 Auditors’ fees

Total fees paid to Otto Group auditors are broken down as follows:

2024/25 2023/24

EUR million EUR million
Fees for auditing the financial statements 31 0.2
Fees for other auditing services 10 0.0
Fees for tax consultancy services 09 0.0
Fees for other services 2.3 0.0
Auditors’ fees 7.3 0.2

The fee for the auditing services in the 2024/25 financial year is attributable to KPMG
AG Wirtschaftsprufungsgesellschaft and also includes fees for the audit services of
German Group companies. The fee for auditing services in the previous year is attrib-
utable to BDO AG Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft. The fees for auditing services,
other confirmation services, tax advisory services, and other services provided by
KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaft for the former Otto (GmbH & Co KG) are
not included in the previous year’s fees.

42 List of shareholdings

The list of Otto Group shareholdings on 28 February 2025, including those Group
companies exempt from publishing their financial statements in accordance with the
provisions of Section 264 (3) and Section 264b HGB is published on the Otto Group's
website at www.ottogroup.com/konzerngesellschaften.
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43 Executive bodies of Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA

The existing executive bodies of Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA are made up as follows:

Supervisory Board

Alexander Birken, Hamburg

Chairman, Businessman

Birgit Rossig, Hittbergen™®

Deputy Chairwoman, Works Council Member
Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA

Frederic Arndts, Hamburg

Managing Director KG CURA
Vermogensverwaltung G.m.b.H. & Co.

Jens Gerrit Becker, Hamburg*

Joint Works Council Hermes Germany GmbH

Torsten Furgol, Magdeburg*

Division Manager verdi Trade Union Saxony,
Saxony-Anhalt, Thuringia

Oliver Grund, Heinsberg*

Chairman of the General Works Council
Hermes Germany GmbH

Dr. Rainer Hillebrand, Hamburg

Independent management and strategy consultant

Dr. Nicolai Johannsen, Hamburg*

Vice President Consumer Interactions Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA

Thomas Korn, Hamburg

Chief of Staff Benjamin Otto

Shareholders’ Council

Prof. Dr. Michael Otto, Hamburg

Chairman, Entrepreneur

Alexander Birken, Hamburg

Deputy Chairman, Businessman

Frederic Arndts, Hamburg

Managing Director KG CURA
Vermogensverwaltung G.m.b.H. & Co.

Marius Marschall von Bieberstein,

Berlin

Managing Partner evoreal
Holding GmbH & Co. KG

Thomas Korn, Hamburg

Chief of Staff Benjamin Otto

Alexander Otto, Hamburg

Chairman of the Executive Board ECE
Group GmbH & Co. KG

Benjamin Otto, Hamburg

Chairman of the Holistic Foundation Board

Executive Board of Otto Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH

Petra Scharner-Wolff, Hamburg

Chairwoman of the Executive Board and
Chief Executive Officer (CEO)

Heike Lattekamp, Hamburg*

Deputy Regional Manager ver.di Trade Union Commerce
Hamburg

Dr. Marcus Ackermann, Hamburg

Member of the Executive Board,
Multichannel Distance Selling

Frauke Mispagel, Hamburg

Management Consultant and Business Coach

Sergio Bucher, Hamburg

Member of the Executive Board, Brands and Retail

Thomas Mort, Luhe-Wildenau®

Deputy Chairman of the Works Council Witt Group

Katy Roewer, Hamburg

Chief Financial Officer (CFO), Member of the Executive Board,

Finance, Controlling, Human Resources

Alexander Otto, Hamburg

Chairman of the Executive Board ECE Group GmbH & Co. KG

Kay Schiebur, Hamburg

Member of the Executive Board, Services

Benjamin Otto, Hamburg

Chairman of the Holistic Foundation Board

Sarah Reitemeyer, Bad Segeberg

Managing Director BPO Capital GmbH & Co. KG

Lars-Uwe Rieck, Grinau*

Regional Specialist ver.di Trade Union Post and Logistic
Hamburg/North

Benjamin Schaper, Hamburg

Managing Director GFH Gesellschaft fir
Handelsbeteiligungen m.b.H.

Dr. Winfried Steeger, Hamburg

Attorney

Monika Vietheer-Grupe, Barsbiittel*

Chairwoman of the Works Council bonprix
Handelsgesellschaft mbH

Inka Wolff, Gutenswegen®

Works Council Member Hermes Fulfilment GmbH

* Employee representative
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44 Events after the reporting period

On 12 March 2025, the Otto Group announced that it would fully redeem the sub-
ordinate bond with an outstanding nominal volume in the amount of EUR 248 million
placed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange in July 2018. The repayment was made

on 17 April 2025.

No other events of major significance to the Otto Group occurred after the balance
sheet date of 28 February 2025.

Hamburg, 13 May 2025

Executive Board of Otto Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH

P o Mo,

Petra Scharner-Wolff Dr. Marcus Ackermann Sergio Bucher

by s 7 f/%

Katy Roewer Kay Schiebur
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Independent Auditor’s Report*

To Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA, Hamburg
Opinions

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA,
Hamburg, and its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated balance
sheet as at 28 February 2025, and the consolidated income statement, consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the financial year from 1 March 2024 to
28 February 2025, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
significant information on the accounting policies. In addition, we have audited the
group management report of Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA for the financial year from
1 March 2024 to 28 February 2025.

In accordance with German legal requirements, we have not audited the content of
those components of the group management report specified in the “Other Information”
section of our auditor’s report.

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in the audit,

e the accompanying consolidated financial statements comply, in all material
respects, with the IFRS Accounting Standards issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB) (hereinafter referred to as “IFRS Accounting Standards”) as
adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements of German commercial law
pursuant to Section 315e (1) HGB [Handelsgesetzbuch: German Commercial Code]
and, in compliance with these requirements, give a true and fair view of the assets,
liabilities, and financial position of the Group as at 28 February 2025, and of its
financial performance for the financial year from 1 March 2024 to 28 February 2025,
and

e the accompanying group management report as a whole provides an appropriate
view of the Group's position. In all material respects, this group management
report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements, complies with
German legal requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities and
risks of future development. Our opinion on the group management report does
not cover the content of those components of the group management report
specified in the "Other Information” section of the auditor’s report.

Pursuant to Section 322 (3) sentence 1 HGB, we declare that our audit has not led to
any reservations relating to the legal compliance of the consolidated financial
statements and of the group management report.

Basis for the Opinions

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements and of the group
management report in accordance with Section 317 HGB and the German Generally
Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der
Wirtschaftsprifer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW). Our responsibilities
under those requirements and principles are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements and of the
Group Management Report” section of our auditor’s report. We are independent of
the group entities in accordance with the requirements of German commercial and
professional law, and we have fulfilled our other German professional responsibilities
in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions on the con-
solidated financial statements and on the group management report.

! The English language text is a translation provided for information purposes only. The original German text shall prevail
in the event of any discrepancies between the English translation and the German original. We do not accept any lia-
bility for the use of, or reliance on, the English translation or for any errors or misunderstandings that may arise from
the translation.
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Other Information

Management and/orthe Supervisory Board are/is responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the following components of the group management
report, whose content was not audited:

e information extraneous to management reports and marked as unaudited.

The otherinformation also includes the remaining parts of the annual report. The other
information does not include the consolidated financial statements, the group man-
agement report information audited for content and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the group management
report do not cover the other information, and consequently we do not express an
opinion or any other form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in

so doing, to consider whether the other information

e is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements, with the
group management report information audited for content or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or

e otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated
Financial Statements and the Group Management Report

Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that comply, in all material respects, with IFRS Accounting Standards as adopted by the
EU and the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Section
315e (1) HGB and that the consolidated financial statements, in compliance with these
requirements, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position, and
financial performance of the Group. In addition, management is responsible for such
internal control as they have determined necessary to enable the preparation of consol-
idated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud (i.e., fraudulent financial reporting and misappropriation of assets) or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for
assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. They also have the respon-
sibility for disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern. In addition, they
are responsible for financial reporting based on the going concern basis of accounting
unless there is an intention to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or there is no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Furthermore, management is responsible for the preparation of the group management
report that, as a whole, provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position and is, in all
material respects, consistent with the consolidated financial statements, complies with
German legal requirements, and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of
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future development. In addition, management is responsible for such arrangements and
measures (systems) as they have considered necessary to enable the preparation of a
group management report that is in accordance with the applicable German legal
requirements, and to be able to provide sufficient appropriate evidence for the asser-
tions in the group management report.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial reporting pro-
cess forthe preparation of the consolidated financial statements and of the group man-
agement report.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements and of the Group Management
Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and whether the group management report as a whole provides an
appropriate view of the Group’s position and, in all material respects, is consistent
with the consolidated financial statements and the knowledge obtained in the audit,
complies with the German legal requirements and appropriately presents the oppor-
tunities and risks of future development, as well as to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the group
management report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with Section 317 HGB and in compliance with
German Generally Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits promulgated
by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprifer (IDW) will always detect a material misstate-
ment. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, indi-
vidually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial state-
ments and this group management report.

We exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism through-
out the audit.

We also:

o |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements and of the group management report, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
the risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal controls.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit of the consoli-
dated financial statements and of arrangements and measures relevant to the
audit of the group management report in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control or of these arrange-
ments and measures.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by management and
the reasonableness of estimates made by management and related disclosures.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management'’s use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a mate-
rial uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in the auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and in
the group management report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our respective opinions. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or condi-
tions may cause the Group to cease to be able to continue as a going concern.
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Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements present the underlying transactions and events in a manner
that the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets,
liabilities, financial position and financial performance of the Group in compli-
ance with IFRS Accounting Standards as adopted by the EU and the additional
requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Section 315e (1) HGB.

Plan and perform the audit of the consolidated financial statements to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business segments within the Group to provide a basis for our opinions
on the consolidated financial statements and on the group management report.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our opinions.

Evaluate the consistency of the group management report with the consolidated
financial statements, its conformity with [German] law, and the view of the Group's
position it provides.

Perform audit procedures on the prospective information presented by manage-
ment in the group management report. On the basis of sufficient appropriate
audit evidence we evaluate, in particular, the significant assumptions used by
management as a basis for the prospective information, and evaluate the proper
derivation of the prospective information from these assumptions. We do not
express a separate opinion on the prospective information and on the assumptions
used as a basis. There is a substantial unavoidable risk that future events will
differ materially from the prospective information.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Hamburg, 14 May 2025

KPMG AG
Wirtschaftspriufungsgesellschaft

Kest '

Heckert Lippmann
Wirtschaftsprifer Wirtschaftsprifer
[German Public Auditor] [German Public Auditor]
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Assurance Report of the
Independent German Public
Auditor on a Limited Assurance
Engagement in Relation to
Selected Disclosures on
Greenhouse Gas Emissions?

To Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA, Hamburg
Assurance Conclusion

We have performed a limited assurance engagement on selected disclosures on green-
house gas emissions, included in the chapter “Corporate responsibility”, section “Sustain-
ability” of the Group management report 2024/25 of Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA, Hamburg
(hereinafter “Company”), for the period from March 1, 2024 to February 28, 2025.

Those selected disclosures are marked with [l within the Group management report.

Based on the procedures performed and evidence obtained, nothing has come to our
attention to cause us to believe that the selected disclosures on greenhouse gas emis-
sions for the period from March 1, 2024 to February 28, 2025 are not prepared, in all
material respects, in accordance with the reporting criteria. The Company applies the
criteria of the Science Based Targets Initiative (Corporate Net-Zero Standard Criteria,
Version 1.2) in conjunction with internal guidelines (hereinafter “reporting criteria”).

Our conclusion does not extend to any other information that accompanies or contains
the selected disclosures on greenhouse gas emissions and is marked as unassured.

Basis for the Conclusion

We conducted our engagement in accordance with International Standard on Assur-
ance Engagements (ISAE) 3000 (Revised), Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information issued by the International Auditing and
Assurance Standards Board (IAASB).

The procedures performed in a limited assurance engagement vary in nature and
timing from, and are less in extent than for, a reasonable assurance engagement.
Consequently, the level of assurance obtained in a limited assurance engagement is
substantially lower than the assurance that would have been obtained had a reason-
able assurance engagement been performed.

Our responsibilities are further described in the “"Responsibility of the Assurance Practi-
tioner for the audit of the selected disclosures on greenhouse gas emissions” section.

We are independent in accordance with the independence requirements of the
German commercial and professional law and we have fulfilled our other German
professional responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Our firm applies the IDW Standard on Quality Management: Requirements for Quality
Management in Audit Firms (IDW QMS 1 (09.2022)), issued by the Institute of Public
Auditors in Germany. This standard requires the firm to design, implement and operate
a system of quality management, including policies and procedures regarding com-
pliance with ethical requirements, professional standards and applicable legal and
regulatory requirements.

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to pro-
vide a basis for our conclusion.

Y our engagement applied to the German version of the selected disclosures on greenhouse gas emissions for the
period from March 1, 2024 to February 28, 2025. This text is a translation of the assurance report of the independent
German Public Auditor issued in German language, whereas the German text is authoritative.
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Responsibilities of Management for the Selected
Disclosures on Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The Management of Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA, Hamburg is responsible for:

e designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the prepa-
ration of the selected disclosures on greenhouse gas emissions such that they are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;

e selecting or developing suitable criteria for preparing the selected disclosures on
greenhouse gas emissions and appropriately referring to or describing as well as
disclosure of the criteria used; and

e preparing the selected disclosures on greenhouse gas emissions in accordance
with the reporting criteria.

Responsibility of the Assurance Practitioner for the Audit
Selected Disclosures on Greenhouse Gas Emissions

We are responsible for:

e planning and performing the engagement to obtain limited assurance about
whether the selected disclosures on greenhouse gas emissions are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error;

¢ forming an independent conclusion, based on the procedures we have performed
and the evidence we have obtained; and

e reporting our limited assurance conclusion on the selected disclosures on green-
house gas emissions to Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA, Hamburg.

Summary of the Work we Performed as the Basis for our
Conclusion

We exercised professional judgment and maintained professional skepticism through-
out the engagement. We designed and performed our procedures to obtain evidence
about the selected disclosures on greenhouse gas emissions that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our conclusion.

Our procedures selected depended on our understanding of the selected disclosures
on greenhouse gas emissions and other engagement circumstances, and our consid-
eration of areas where material misstatements are likely to arise. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresen-
tations, or the override of internal control. In carrying out our engagement, the proce-
dures we perform also consist of:

e Evaluation of the methods and processes used to assess material aspects and
corresponding reporting boundaries.

e Arisk analysis, including media research, to identify relevant information on the
sustainability performance of Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA, in particular aspects
regarding the emissions in the reporting period.

e Evaluation of the design and implementation of systems and processes for the
identification, collection and validation of the selected disclosures on greenhouse
gas emissions (Scope 1, Scope 2 and material Scope 3 emissions and supplier
engagement), including the consolidation of data.

e Inspection of selected internal and external documents.
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e Analytical procedures for the evaluation of consolidated data and trends reported
by all sites.

e Evaluation of the data collection, validation and reporting processes as well as the
reliability of the reported data based on a sample of one site (physical site visit).

e Assessment of the overall presentation of the selected disclosures on greenhouse
gas emissions within the scope of our engagement.

Restriction of Use/General Engagement Terms
This assurance report is solely addressed to Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA.

The engagement, in the performance of which we have provided the services
described above on behalf of Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA, was carried out on the basis
of the General Engagement Terms for Wirtschaftspriuferinnen, Wirtschaftsprifer
und Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaften (Allgemeine Auftragsbedingungen fir
Wirtschaftspriiferinnen, Wirtschaftsprifer und Wirtschaftsprifungsgesellschaften)

dated as of January 1, 2024 (www.kpmg.de/AAB_2024). By taking note of and using
the information as contained in our report each recipient confirms to have taken note
of the terms and conditions stipulated in the aforementioned General Engagement
Terms (including the liability limitations specified in item No. 9 included therein) and
acknowledges their validity in relation to us.

Hamburg, 14 May 2025
KPMG AG

Wirtschaftsprufungsgesellschaft
[Original German version signed by:]

el ~;

Heckert Edelmann
Wirtschaftsprufer Wirtschaftspruferin
[German Public Auditor] [German Public Auditor]
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The Annual Report contains forward-looking statements which are
based on the opinions and estimations of the management. Although
management assumes that the expectations expressed in these forward-
looking statements are realistic, it cannot guarantee that its expecta-
tions will actually prove to be correct. Assumptions may entail risks and
uncertainties that may cause actual results to differ materially from
those expressed in forward-looking statements. Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA
accepts no liability and offers no warranty against the possibility of

the Annual Report containing editorial errors or otherwise being incom-
plete. Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA has no plans to update forward-looking
statements or to provide any corrections or supplements to this
Annual Report, nor does it undertake any obligation to do so. However,
Otto GmbH & Co. KGaA does reserve the right to update the Annual
Report at any time without notice. In the event of contradictions
between the German and English versions of this Annual Report, the
German version shall be final and definitive.
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